The Dartmouth Atlas Project works

to accurately describe how medical resources are distributed and used in the United States. The project offers comprehensive information and analysis about national, regional, and local markets, as well as individual hospitals and their affiliated physicians, in order to provide a basis for improving health and health systems. Through this analysis, the project has demonstrated glaring variations in how health care is delivered across the United States.

The Dartmouth Atlas Project is funded by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and the California Healthcare Foundation.

The Dartmouth Atlas

The Dartmouth Institute for Health Policy and Clinical Practice Center for Health Policy Research

Contact: Annmarie Christensen (603) 653-0897 Annmarie.Christensen@dartmouth.edu

www.dartmouthatlas.org

01212015_dap1.2 Copyright 2015 by the Trustees of Dartmouth College

The Dartmouth Atlas Working Group

Leadership

Elliott S. Fisher, MD, MPH, Dartmouth Atlas Co-Principal Investigator David C. Goodman, MD, MS, Dartmouth Atlas Co-Principal Investigator Jonathan S. Skinner, PhD, Senior Scholar John E. Wennberg, MD, MPH, Founder of the Dartmouth Atlas Kristen K. Bronner, MA, Managing Editor

Senior Authors and Faculty

John Erik-Bell, MD Shannon Brownlee, MS Julie P.W. Bynum, MD, MPH Chiang-Hua Chang, PhD Philip P. Goodney, MD, MS Nancy E. Morden, MD, MPH Jeffrey C. Munson, MD, MS Thérèse A. Stukel, PhD James N. Weinstein, DO, MS

Analytic and Administrative Staff

Thomas A. Bubolz, PhD Donald Carmichael, MDiv Julie Doherty, BA Jennifer Dong, MS Daniel J. Gottlieb, MS Jia Lan, MS Martha K. Lane, MA Stephanie R. Raymond, BA Sandra M. Sharp, SM Jeremy Smith, MPH Yunjie Song, PhD Dean T. Stanley, RHCE Yin Su, MS Stephanie Tomlin, MPA Rebecca Zaha, MPH Weiping Zhou, MS

Design and Production

Jonathan Sa'adah and Elizabeth Adams







th Atlas of Health Care



Variation in the Care of Surgical Conditions

A Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care Series







Variation in the Care of Surgical Conditions

A Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care Series



Variation in the Care of Surgical Conditions

A Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care Series

The Dartmouth Institute of Health Policy & Clinical Practice

Philip R. Goodney, MD, MS Nino Dzebisashvili, PhD David C. Goodman, MD, MS Kristen K. Bronner, MA





ISBN 978-0-9815862-1-2

Copyright 2015 The Trustees of Dartmouth College

All rights reserved. The reproduction or use of this report in any form or in any information storage or retrieval system is forbidden without the express written permission of the publisher.

Table of Contents

Introduction	I.1
Variation in decision-making for surgical conditions	
New developments that have influenced surgical decision-making	
Challenges to improving surgical decision-making and the goals of this series	I.6
Influencing the key decision-makers: Patients, primary care physicians, surgeons, and policymakers	I.8
Chapter 1. Obesity	
The burden of obesity in the United States	
Before surgery	
Trends and variation in the prevalence of obesity and related comorbidities	
Treatment options and success rates	1.8
Reaching the right decision	1.11
During surgery	1.14
Choosing surgical care, and the type of surgical care	1.14
Trends in utilization	1.14
Policy influence on procedure utilization.	1.16
Technical guality: the role of centers of excellence in bariatric surgery	1.19
After surgery	
Revond surgery	1.24
Spending on surgery – or spending on prevention?	1 24
Using guality improvement to limit variation	
Decision aids and shared decision-making	1.25
Conclusions	1.25
Chapter 2, Cerebral Aneurysms	2.1
Cerebral aneurysms: frequency and variation	
Before surgery	
Competing treatment options	
During surgery	2.11
Impact of randomized trials and database studies on practice patterns	2.11
Regional variation in treatment decisions	2.14
After surgery	2.16
Mortality	
Length of stay	
Discharge to renabilitation facility	2.10 2.18
Cost	
Bevond surgery	2 20
The present	
The future for physicians	2.21
The future for patients	2.21
Conclusion	2.23
Chapter 3. Diabetes and Peripheral Arterial Disease	3.1
Diabetes and peripheral arterial disease: Putting patients at high risk for amputation	3.3
Before surgery	3.4
Regional variation in the risk of amputation	
Decision quality and shared decision-making	3.10
The Society for Vascular Surgery's Vascular Quality Initiative (VQI)	3.12

During surgery	3.14
Cross sectional rates of competing treatments	3.14
Risk factors associated with poor outcomes after surgical revascularization	3.18
After surgery	3.19
Readmission or re-intervention following treatment for peripheral arterial disease	3.19
Quality and results: outcomes that matter to patients	3.20
Long-term effects of treatment on patients with diabetes and peripheral arterial disease	3.21
Beyond surgery	
How variation in treatments for diabetes and PAD reflects opportunities for improvement	3.26
Chapter 4. Spinal Stenosis	
Back pain in the United States	
Before surgery	4 5
Patient decisions about back pain: challenges in treatment choices	4.5
Non-surgical options for the treatment of spinal stenosis	
During surgery	4.8
Older treatments or newer methods? Trends and geographic variation in surgical treatments for spinal stenosis	4.8
After surgery	4 12
Complications	4 12
Bevond surgery	4 16
The need for shared decision-making	4 16
Conclusions	
Chanter F. End Store Banal Disease	E 1
Chapter 5. End-Stage Renal Disease	5. 1
Kioney failure	5.3
Before surgery	5.4
History of ESRD treatment in the U.S.	
Current epidemiology of ESRD	
Factors that influence the quality of ESRD care	
During surgery	
Arteriovenous fistulas	
Kioney transplantation	
After surgery	
Beyond surgery	
Quality initiatives in ESRD care	5.24
Chapter 6. Prostate Cancer	6.1
Prostate cancer	6.3
Before surgery	6.4
Screening/PSA controversy: Deciding before a diagnosis	6.4
Treatment options: Effectiveness, trade-offs, and knowledge gaps	6.12
During surgery	6.13
Variation among treatment strategies in Medicare patients	6.13
Deciding which treatments are best when treatment is necessary	6.14
After surgery	6.18
Post procedure care and long-term outcomes	6.18
Beyond surgery	6.20
How to reduce variation?	6.20
Summary and next steps	6.23
Methods	M.1
References	

Variation in the Care of Surgical Conditions

A Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care Series

Introduction

Twenty-first century surgery is among the great accomplishments of medicine. Surgeons have led some of the most important improvements in care quality, safety, and efficiency. Surgical methods are now highly effective for some of the most serious and previously intractable medical conditions, ranging from arthrosclerosis to obesity to chronic back pain. Today, surgical procedures work better and entail lower risk, less pain, and less time in the hospital.

As the scope and quality of surgical care continues to advance, there is still much that remains to be done to optimize care for patients. For many conditions, surgery is one of several care options, and in some instances, there are several types of surgical procedures available. Research into the effectiveness and adverse effects of a surgical procedure compared to alternatives is often incomplete. While quality has generally improved over time, outcomes can differ across hospitals and surgeons. Too often, treatment options, whether medical or surgical, are recommended without patients fully understanding the choices and participating in the decision; and these recommendations can vary markedly from one physician to the next. Finally, the costs of care continue to rise and often differ across health care systems, even the most reputable and prestigious. Why can the "best" surgical care at one academic medical center cost twice as much as another?

This Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care series reports on unwarranted regional variation in the care of several conditions for which surgery is one important treatment option. Unwarranted variation is the differences in care that are not explained by patient needs or preferences. Each report begins with an examination of the underlying condition, the available treatment options before surgery, and the role of shared decision-making. The care during surgery is then presented, including aspects of quality, risks, and costs. The next section is concerned with the care of patients after surgery, including hospital readmissions and ambulatory care.

The bottom line is that the greatest promise of surgery still lies before us. These reports show that quality is often excellent, but not in all places. Variation in surgical rates is high and represents both gaps in outcomes research and poor patient decision quality. Outcomes differ from place to place even when controlling for patient differences. The opportunities for better and more efficient care are substantial and will require renewed efforts in research and clinical quality improvement.

Variation in decision-making for surgical conditions

Experienced leaders and educators in surgery often emphasize to their trainees and students that performing an operation is easy: choosing the right patients for surgery is much more difficult. Over the last decade, important changes have occurred related to how surgeons and patients decide whether, when, where, and how to best perform surgery. In the past, surgeons commonly played a paternalistic role, and many surgeons made decisions for their patients, relying on their own training and experience.

When surgeons—and more importantly, patients—face a decision regarding surgery, making the "right" choice can be clear and straightforward in certain situations. For example, patients with hip fracture almost always need to undergo surgery. For nearly every patient, surgical repair offers better pain control, improved functional status, and lower mortality when compared to treatment with conservative measures. Further, most patients who experience hip fracture are over the age of 65 and have access to surgical care, as they receive their health care benefits through Medicare. Because of this important constellation of circumstances—the treatment works well, is readily available, and is actively sought by both physicians and patients—hip fracture care is fairly uniform and regional rates vary relatively little, as shown in previous work by the Dartmouth Atlas and others (Figure I.1).^{1,2}



Figure I.1. Variation profiles of 11 surgical procedures among hospital referral regions (2010)

Each point represents the ratio of observed to expected (national average) Medicare rates in the 306 U.S. hospital referral regions. Rates are adjusted for age, sex, and race. High and low outlier regions are distinguished by dotted lines.



For many other illnesses, the choice of surgery is much less clear. For example, patients with asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis have a small but measurable risk of stroke as a result of narrowing within the carotid artery (the blood vessel in the neck that supplies the brain).³ For certain patients with carotid disease, the risk of surgery to remove the plaque is fairly low, and removal of plaque can reduce the patient's risk of stroke over time. However, in patients with other illnesses, the chance of complications from surgery may be higher than the risk of stroke from the plaque itself.⁴

Because of this uncertainly about who should undergo carotid revascularization, treatment decisions vary considerably. Unlike hip fracture treatment, carotid surgery varies dramatically across the United States, as the Dartmouth Atlas has previously shown.⁵ Carotid procedures are performed commonly in some regions, but rarely in others, resulting in marked regional differences in the use of revascularization. Many of these differences appear to be explained by differences in local medical opinion of the value of surgical care (Map I.1).

New developments that have influenced surgical decision-making

How can surgeons and patients make the best decisions? In the past, many investigators reasoned that the surgeons who achieved the best results were likely to have the largest practices, and using this seemingly simple metric would ensure that patients received good surgical care. However, this assumption ignored the fact that it is difficult for surgeons to know who really achieves the "best" results. Many outcomes (such as death after carotid surgery) occur uncommonly, and a single surgeon has little ability to compare his or her results to those of other surgeons.

Given this challenge, over the last two decades, efforts to organize, measure, and improve results in surgical practice via quality improvement initiatives have developed, despite substantial obstacles. Patterns of surgical practice vary broadly across different regions of the United States, making it challenging to study and compare patients and outcomes. Further, the process of collecting, studying, and improving surgical outcomes represented a formidable challenge a decade ago, when most medical information lived in paper records, arranged in leaning stacks of bulging charts.

One important development in measuring care has been the development of clinical registries. These registries are used to study the clinical characteristics and outcomes of patients undergoing surgery and have supported many quality improvement initiatives, such as those shown in Table I.1.

Table I.1. Surgical registries and quality improvement organizations					
Quality Improvement Initiative	Organization	Surgical Specialty	Focus	Funding	
American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Initiative (ACS-NSQIP)	American College of Surgeons	Many	Measuring and reporting patient characteristics and outcomes	Hospitals	
Veterans Affairs National Surgical Quality Improvement Program	Veterans Affairs	Many	Measuring and reporting patient characteristics and outcomes	Federal	
Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Database (STS)	Society of Thoracic Surgeons	Thoracic surgery	Limiting risk with cardiac and thoracic procedures	Surgeons	
Vascular Quality Initiative (VQI)	Society for Vascular Surgery	Vascular surgery	Improving care of patients with vascular disease	Surgeons and hospitals	

Surgeons interested in measuring and improving their surgical results collaborated by systematically tracking patient outcomes. In many ways, these new efforts represented an important and novel strategy toward reducing variation by using clinically derived information to improve surgical decisions and care (Figure I.2). As information for surgeons and patients increased (the green arrow), uncertainty for patients decreased (the red arrow). This simple but effective approach helped to limit variation in surgical treatments.



Figure I.2. How information and uncertainty can affect variation in surgical care

Three other changes occurred during this time that helped create a spirit of engagement and excitement for quality improvement efforts and surgical outcomes research. While there were some differences, these general changes are outlined below:

1. Less invasive methods became commonly available in surgery. In recent years, across nearly every surgical specialty, rapid advances in surgical technology have helped offer patients the ability to undergo major surgery without the need for a major recovery. Several examples illustrate this trend. Working inside body cavities no longer requires large abdominal or chest incisions, and surgeons instead use video cameras and small instruments in laparoscopic and endoscopic surgery. In vascular surgery, the blood vessels themselves are often the pathway to perform procedures (i.e., endovascular techniques). And finally, with the development of radiofrequency ablation, locally acting chemotherapeutics, and laser thermablation, the key objectives of a surgical procedure can be accomplished using a much less invasive approach. Patients rapidly learned about many of these approaches and sought out these less invasive procedures, and surgeons retrained to offer these new approaches. **2.** Surgeons learned about data management and quality improvement. In places like Northern New England,^{6,7} the Veterans Administration,⁸ and others,⁹ leaders in surgical outcomes assessment built the systems necessary to study and improve surgical care. These regional and national quality improvement efforts grew to become the infrastructure that allowed surgeons and patients to know when, how, where, and why surgical procedures were being performed. These initiatives set the stage for an emphasis on achieving the best outcomes.

3. Surgeons, patients, and payers put a new emphasis on measuring and reporting. Armed with gigabytes of data and advanced analytic systems, surgeons were now able to quickly analyze their outcomes. The ability to determine the structural and process measures associated with the best outcomes allowed surgeons new insights into what works and what does not. For example, surgeons used information from studies based on registries to demonstrate the benefits of processes of care, such as perioperative antibiotic administration, or of evolving procedures, such as bariatric surgery for patients with morbid obesity. Payers' and patients' expectations grew; they demanded the best operation, at the right time, with the highest quality.

Challenges to improving surgical decision-making and the goals of this series

Of course, several challenges accompanied these new developments. Who will pay for continued efforts to organize and measure surgical practice? How should results be shared and compared, especially among competitors? Would efforts to use the newest, latest, or most profitable device win out over the goal of improving quality and efficiency? Would surgeons, a group steeped in tradition and often slow to change, adopt these new approaches?

These questions have different answers in different settings. In some cases, such as in coronary bypass surgery, cardiac surgeons adopted outcomes assessment and quality improvement broadly, quickly, and enthusiastically. However, in other settings, such as surgery for prostate cancer or lower extremity vascular disease, efforts toward quality measurement and outcomes assessment have been taken up more slowly, and the impact of these initiatives remains less striking.

Why might some surgeons improve their decisions using these new strategies while other surgeons choose not to try these approaches? In this series of reports, we will use several examples to illustrate the challenges. We will describe, across a broad spectrum of conditions, advances in surgical decision-making, including shared decision-making, which have resulted in less variation in care, improved patient satisfaction, and better outcomes. We will also describe settings wherein these strategies have been less successful, and variations in surgery rates and

surgical decision-making remain. In these latter cases, we will outline the potential to improve surgical practice by refining the methods we use to select patients for intervention.

This series will study these conditions and their challenges in much the same way that surgeons approach these problems: by considering the challenges in care that occur before surgery, during surgery, after surgery, and beyond surgery. Within each condition, we will follow the patient along these choices and decisions and learn where the greatest challenges, most important uncertainties, and best evidence lie in making decisions about surgery. Further, we will examine the implications of these uncertainties and identify settings where more effective choices surrounding surgical care could result in healthier populations and potentially even lower costs.

Table I.2. Structure of each report		
	Determinants of condition and treatment decisions	
Before surgery	Incidence of condition	
	Regional variation in condition/covariates related to the condition	
	Treatment options - effectiveness, trade-offs, and knowledge gaps	
	Issues related to decision quality and shared decision-making	
	Examples of quality improvement efforts or attempts to limit variation in treatments for condition	
During surgery	Technical quality and outcomes	
	Variation in procedure rates	
	Cross-sectional rates of competing treatments	
	Technical quality and results (short-term outcomes related to treatments)	
	Example where regional quality improvement efforts may hold potential benefits in improving care	
	Post-procedure care and long-term outcomes	
After surgery	Downstream effects of treatment on condition	
	Readmission or re-interventions after treatments for condition	
Beyond surgery	Implications for surgeons, patients, and society	
	How variation in treatments for the condition reflects opportunities for quality and efficiency gains	
	How, why, and where efforts to limit variation are needed and might help	
	How to move ahead in limiting variation or improving care in surgical treatments for condition	

Influencing the key decision-makers: Patients, primary care physicians, surgeons, and policymakers

In the past, when it came to making a decision about surgery, the surgeon's recommendation was considered the most important opinion. His or her perspective was often critical in determining the use of a particular surgical procedure, especially for "preference-sensitive" care: care for conditions where there is no single "right" rate for every population or patient.

Current models of care suggest that better outcomes occur when full information about treatment options is shared with patients, who are then assisted in sharing the decision with the physician. This information often needs to come not only from surgeons, but also from primary care physicians who help patients choose among the different options, each with their likely outcomes and trade-offs. (For more information about patient-centered medical decision-making, please visit the Dartmouth Center for Informed Choice at http://tdi.dartmouth.edu/research/ engaging/informed-choice and the Informed Medical Decisions Foundation at www.informedmedicaldecisions.org). In addition to reaching patients, the best information needs to reach policymakers who make decisions about how we spend our health care dollars, such that our resources provide the most effective care for patients with surgical conditions.

Shared Decision-Making

Dale Collins Vidal, MD

Professor of Surgery, Geisel School of Medicine; Director, Center for Shared Decision Making, Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Much of the striking variation in the use of surgical procedures reported in this Dartmouth Atlas series can be attributed to differing physician opinions about the value of one surgery over another, or a single surgical option compared to other treatments such as medication, active surveillance, or physical therapy. Each option can have different potential benefits as well as short and long-term side effects. For a given condition, any of the options may be a reasonable alternative. The decision is often further complicated by incomplete evidence regarding both benefit and harm.

It is particularly important to note that many informed patients have different perspectives than their physicians about the benefits and trade-offs of treatment options. The final choice of treatment should be made by patients who have been informed about the choices, including the pros and cons of each approach and any uncertainty about the evidence that supports each option. In addition, the health care team needs to help patients clarify their own goals and partner with patients to make joint decisions.

This process of engaging patients in decisions about their care is known as shared decision-making. Shared decision-making is a collaborative process that allows patients and their providers to make health care treatment decisions together, taking into account the best scientific evidence available, as well as the patient's values and preferences. The right choice for one patient may not be the same as the next. In this series, Dartmouth Atlas investigators will consider many clinical situations where there is no single "right" choice and highlight areas where shared decision-making may have an important role for patients with surgical conditions. In summary, this series of Atlas reports is intended to help patients, physicians, and policymakers recognize where improvements in science have helped to limit variation and improve surgical care; but more importantly, for each of the surgical conditions we study, we hope to identify specific clinical settings and situations where variation in the treatment of surgical condition remains, and outline the best opportunities for improvement in surgical care that lie ahead.



Variation in the Care of Surgical Conditions: Obesity

The Michigan Bariatric Surgery Collaborative Bradley N. Reames, MD, MS Nancy J. Birkmeyer, PhD Justin B. Dimick, MD, MPH

The Dartmouth Institute of Health Policy & Clinical Practice

Philip R. Goodney, MD, MS Nino Dzebisashvili, PhD David C. Goodman, MD, MS Kristen K. Bronner, MA





The burden of obesity in the United States

Obesity is now an epidemic in the United States. Currently, more than one-third of U.S. adults (35.7%) and one-sixth of U.S. children and adolescents (16.9%) are obese.¹ Obesity substantially increases the risks of hypertension, dyslipidemia (high blood fats), heart disease, stroke, obstructive sleep apnea, type II diabetes, and osteoarthritis. It also increases the risks of endometrial, breast, prostate, and colon cancer, and is associated with higher mortality from all causes.² The annual medical cost of obesity is striking; estimates have increased from \$78.5 billion in 1998 to \$147 billion in 2008, accounting for almost 10% of all medical spending.³ While many Americans attempt lifestyle modification and pharmacologic therapy to lose weight, these treatments are often unsuccessful and, on average, produce modest weight loss at best. While bariatric surgery—or modification of the digestive system to limit caloric intake—is invasive and has risks, it has been shown to reliably produce significant and sustainable weight loss in most patients.

This report discusses the growing problem of obesity in the U.S. population and shows different approaches to its treatment over time and by region. It focuses on the surgical treatment of obesity, including the decision to use surgery, the technical quality of surgical care, and patient outcomes. The trends and regional variation presented in this report reflect a combination of factors: the rise of obesity rates; the development of new therapies, particularly less invasive and more effective surgical techniques; and evolving policies related to safety and insurance coverage. Most importantly, regional variation raises questions about a lack of consensus within the medical community regarding the use of bariatric surgery and the role of patients in making fully informed decisions about their care. And finally, while progress has been made in understanding the best ways to limit obesity using surgical and medical approaches, areas in need of further improvement are highlighted.

Before surgery

Trends and variation in the prevalence of obesity and related comorbidities

The prevalence of obesity in the United States has steadily increased over the past two decades (Map 1.1). While less than 15% of the population was obese in each state in 1990, by 2010, all 50 states had rates greater than 20%, and 39 had rates greater than 25%. Moreover, in 15 states in the eastern and central U.S., more than 30% of the population was obese.



Figure 1.1. Burden of obesity among Americans (2009-10) Source: The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES).





Map 1.1. Obesity trends among U.S. adults

BMI ≥30, or about 30 lbs. overweight for 5'4" person.

Source: The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS).



Just as rates of obesity differ across the United States, the rates of other illnesses associated with obesity also vary across the country. For example, the incidence of type II diabetes varies across the United States (Figure 1.2), with the highest rates of diabetes evident in southeastern regions (Map 1.2), where rates of obesity are also high. The national average rate of type II diabetes during 2010-11 was 23%. Less than 15% of Medicare beneficiaries living in the Colorado hospital referral regions of Grand Junction (14.1%) and Boulder (14.1%) had type II diabetes during 2010-11. The incidence of type II diabetes was more than twice as high among Medicare beneficiaries living in the Texas hospital referral regions of McAllen (38.5%), Harlingen (38.5%), and Corpus Christi (30.3%).

Figure 1.2. Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with type II diabetes among hospital referral regions (2010-11)

Each blue dot represents the rate of type II diabetes in one of 306 hospital referral regions in the U.S. Red dots indicate the regions with the 5 lowest and 5 highest rates.



Map 1.2. Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with type II diabetes (2010-11) Rates are adjusted for age, sex, and race.

Treatment options and success rates

Treatments for obesity can be classified into medical and surgical therapies. Medical therapies include lifestyle modification or medications that limit fat absorption, such as orlistat. The long-term effectiveness of these therapies is modest for most patients. Medical therapies generally lead to an initial loss of 3-10% of body weight,⁴⁻⁸ but sustained weight loss requires the indefinite continuation of therapy, which can be difficult for many patients.

Surgical therapy, while more invasive, is also more efficacious. In bariatric surgery, the gastrointestinal tract (the stomach and/or intestines) is modified or reconstructed to promote weight loss. Many of the initial procedures performed by surgeons—such as jejunocolic bypass, jejunoileal bypass, and vertical banded gastroplasty—had significant adverse effects and have been abandoned.⁹ Currently, the most common bariatric, or weight-loss, procedures currently offered to patients are adjustable gastric banding, sleeve gastrectomy, and Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (Figure 1.3). In the past, a traditional open surgical approach was used for these procedures, but the overwhelming majority of bariatric surgery today is performed via laparoscopy, using small cameras and instruments inserted into the abdomen in a less invasive approach.

Bariatric procedures vary in complexity. Adjustable gastric banding—the least complex option—involves the placement of a synthetic, inflatable band around the stomach to create a small gastric pouch and a restricted gastric outlet, which limits food and caloric intake (Figure 1.3A). A sleeve gastrectomy, in contrast, removes part of the stomach, leaving a narrow sleeve, which preserves gastrointestinal continuity but restricts food and caloric intake (Figure 1.3B). In Roux-en-Y gastric bypass—the most complex of the three commonly offered procedures—the stomach is divided to create a small gastric pouch, the small intestine is divided, and the distal segment of small intestine (the part of the intestine further away from the stomach) is surgically connected to the gastric pouch to bypass the proximal segment (the part of the intestine closest to the stomach) (Figure 1.3C). This not only restricts food and caloric intake, but also decreases the amount of small intestine available for nutrient absorption.



A. ADJUSTABLE GASTRIC BANDING	B. SLEEVE GASTRECTOMY	C. ROUX-EN-Y GASTRIC BYPASS
Relative Use		
Performed in this country since 2001, it initially rose in popularity but has recently been surpassed by sleeve gastrectomy in the U.S.	Originally was a component of the duodenal switch procedure, has now gained in popularity as a stand-alone operation.	Among the most frequently used procedures in the U.S., accounting for a significant portion of the bariatric surgery performed in recent years.
Procedure Description		
Involves the laparoscopic placement of an adjustable silicone band around the upper part of the stomach.	Involves removal of 85% of the stomach, leaving a tubular shaped stomach.	Involves the use of a stapler to create a small gastric pouch and a length of resected bowel to bypass a portion of the digestive tract.
Weight Loss Mechanism		
Limits the amount of food that can be eaten at any one time and slows rate of emptying from the stomach to the intestines.	Limits the amount of food that can be eaten at any one time and secretion of hormones that cause hunger.	Restricts both the intake and the absorption of food.
Procedure Reversible?		
Fully reversible with band.	Not reversible.	Not easily or fully reversible.

Figure 1.3. Three commonly performed bariatric procedures

Source: Caiazzo R, Pattou F. Adjustable gastric banding, sleeve gastrectomy or gastric bypass. Can evidence-based medicine help us to choose? J Visc Surg. (2013);150:85-95. Previously cited in: Caiazzo R, Arnalsteen L, Pattou F. Principes du traitement chirurgical de l'obésité sévère. Médecine des Maladies Métaboliques. (2008);2(5):468-472.

Numerous reviews of bariatric surgery outcomes report that substantial and sustained weight loss can be achieved following surgery in most study patients.¹⁰⁻¹³ Further, a majority of bariatric surgery patients experience complete resolution of many weight-related comorbidities, including diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and obstructive sleep apnea. Patients have also reported improvements in their quality of life, especially in aspects such as depression, functional status, and self-esteem. However, surgery is not without risk. A small number of patients do not experience sustained weight loss. While most patients have few problems related to surgery, nearly 10% are readmitted to the hospital in the period following the procedure. Risks of two complications after surgery are shown in Figure 1.4. A small number of patients (3-5%) experience infection at the surgical site; many of these patients will need another surgical procedure. Mortality after bariatric surgery is very low, occurring on average in 1 out of 300 patients. Helping patients to understand these risks—especially the uncommonly low ones—is a major goal of the visual display in Figure 1.4.



300 --270 --240 --2

Figure 1.4. Risks of complications from bariatric surgery

Reaching the right decision

Bariatric surgery is not always the best choice for treating obesity. Some patients do not feel that their weight is a problem or may not want to take steps to lose weight. Some patients prefer medical therapy and are successful in maintaining their weight loss. For other patients, their expectations of improvement in physical or emotional health resulting from surgery may not be realistic, or their concurrent medical problems may increase the risk of death or another adverse outcome. Bariatric surgery programs and insurers usually require that patients undergo a supervised course of medical therapy before considering surgery. Physical and psychological screenings are also necessary, and some programs require that patients take a knowledge exam to demonstrate that they understand the likely benefits and possible risks. The latter is particularly important because most bariatric surgery patients have a poor understanding of the outcomes.

When bariatric surgery is medically appropriate, the next question is whether it is the right choice for a patient. Arriving at an informed, high-quality decision involves three requirements: 1) the patient receives balanced information in a format that is understandable; 2) the patient has the opportunity to clarify his or her values and preferences related to the options; and 3) the patient is invited into the decision-making process. Together, this process is known as shared decision-making and is often facilitated by decision aids.

A growing body of literature, including numerous publications from the Dartmouth Institute of Health Policy and Clinical Practice, supports the use of decision aids and shared decision-making for preference-sensitive surgical decisions.^{14,15} The decision faced by morbidly obese patients considering elective bariatric surgery is complex and must take into account numerous factors: patient preferences, procedure characteristics, surgical risks, surgeon experience, insurance coverage,

	Decisio			
Treatment Options	Patient Needs	Decision Support	Decision Quality	Patient Outcomes
Medical therapy Adjustable gastric band Sleeve gastrectomy	Clarification of individual values and preferences Knowledge of procedure risks, benefits, and other considerations	Continuously updated, patient- specific data regarding risks and benefits Guidance for the patient/surgeon interaction	Assessment of patient knowledge and understanding Assessment of congruence with pre-specified values and preferences	Measurement of: Weight loss Patient satisfaction Quality of life
bypass Duodenal switch		Other considerations	P.0.0.0.000	

Figure 1.5. Conceptual model for novel bariatric surgery decision support tool

To learn more about the Michigan Bariatric Surgery Collaborative initiative, please visit umchop.org/programs/mbsc.html.

and potential for success. Given this complexity, patients can easily become overwhelmed with information. As a result, decision support tools are ideally suited for patients considering bariatric surgery. Previous evaluations of decision aids in this population have reported significant improvements in knowledge, value concordance, decisional conflict, decisional self-efficacy, and treatment choice.¹⁶ Decision aids typically provide a broad range of information to patients, including discussion of potential treatment options (diet-based, medical therapies, and surgical treatments), and offer shared decision-making as a tool to improve decision quality. The Michigan Bariatric Surgery Collaborative (MBSC) is also developing a new decision support tool for the treatment of morbid obesity. The tool will be continuously updated by registry data to ensure that information about procedures, as well as patient-specific data regarding risks and benefits, are accurate and current (Figure 1.5). This will allow patients to make personalized treatment decisions that are better informed by the latest evidence and more congruent with their individual preferences. The tool will be disseminated throughout the state and will be rigorously studied to evaluate both clinical effectiveness and subjective patient experience. If proven effective, it will be made available nationally so that organizations may use this experience as a blueprint to develop similar decision support tools for other preference-sensitive conditions.

Patients who are considering bariatric surgery may want to visit the following web sites for more information:

American Society for Metabolic and Bariatric Surgery (ASMBS) Patient Learning Center: asmbs.org/patients

Weight-control Information Network from the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases: www.win.niddk.nih.gov/publications/gastric.htm

Laparoscopic Surgery for Severe (Morbid) Obesity Patient Information from the Society of American Gastrointestinal and Endoscopic Surgeons (SAGES): www.sages.org/publications/patient-information/patient-information-for-laparoscopic-surgery-for-severe-morbid-obesity-from-sages

The Strategies to Overcome and Prevent (STOP) Obesity Alliance: www.stopobesityalliance.org

Metabolic and Bariatric Surgery Accreditation and Quality Improvement Program (MBSAQIP): www.facs.org/ quality-programs/mbsaqip

Ethicon: images and animations of bariatric procedures: www.ethicon.com/healthcare-professionals/specialties/ bariatric/patient-education

During surgery

Choosing surgical care, and the type of surgical care

The patient and his or her physician must choose not only whether or not to proceed with surgery, but also the specific procedure that is best for the patient. Procedure choice is influenced by several factors: the patient's preferences, procedure availability, insurance coverage, the surgeon's preference, and the current evidence regarding a procedure's clinical effectiveness. The risk of complications and potential for weight loss also differ with each procedure and change over time. As outcomes research has developed, information about surgical outcomes has become essential to inform patient and provider preferences. Historic and current trends in bariatric procedure utilization reflect the evolution of these factors.

Trends in utilization

The rise in rates of obesity, along with increasing interest in surgical options, has resulted in a dramatic increase in utilization of bariatric surgery in recent years. Figure 1.6 illustrates the increasing utilization of bariatric surgery from 2001 to 2011. The national average rate of bariatric surgery increased nearly sixfold between 1990 and 2000, and this rise has continued through 2011.^{17,18} Moreover, the shift in surgical approach from more invasive open procedures (more than 85% of all bariatric surgery in 2000) to a less invasive laparoscopic approach (more than 90% of all bariatric surgery in 2008) over the decade led to a further striking increase in utilization. Rates of overall procedure use reached a high of nearly 40 per 100,000 Medicare patients in 2009.¹⁹



Figure 1.6. Bariatric surgery utilization trends among Medicare beneficiaries (2001-11)

The choice of procedure also shifted during this 20-year period. As gastric bypass gained popularity, increasing from 55% of all bariatric procedures in 1990 to 99% in 2003, vertical banded gastroplasty fell out of favor, decreasing from more than 40% to 7% during the same period.¹⁸⁻²⁰

Additional changes in utilization during this decade reflected emerging research in support of novel procedures and the policy changes that followed. The Food and Drug Administration approved adjustable gastric banding for use in the United States in 2001 following multiple reports of successful outcomes in Europe and Australia.^{21,22} In the ensuing years, utilization of adjustable gastric banding grew substantially due to its ease of reversibility, adjustability, and overall safety profile.²³⁻²⁵

Policy influence on procedure utilization

Based on the growing body of literature supporting bariatric surgery as a treatment for morbidly obese patients, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) announced in 2006 that gastric bypass, laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding, and biliopancreatic diversion with duodenal switch would be covered for Medicare patients meeting certain criteria.²⁶ Though overall rates of bariatric surgery had started to decline after 2004, this expansion of coverage increased the availability and use of these procedures. Between 2005 and 2010, as the popularity of adjustable gastric banding grew, the relative utilization of gastric bypass slowly decreased. In 2008, laparoscopic gastric bypass accounted for 69% of all bariatric procedures, while laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding accounted for 29%.¹⁹

Laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy was introduced to the field in 2003. Select private insurers began to cover the procedure in the years following, although CMS chose not to cover the procedure until 2006. This increased insurance coverage was followed by the rise in utilization observed in Figure 1.6. During this same period, new research on adjustable gastric banding reported increased late complications and high long-term failure rates (poor weight loss and band removal),^{27,28} and consequently, utilization of adjustable gastric banding decreased.



Figure 1.7. Bariatric surgery among 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries among hospital referral regions (2007-11)

Each blue dot represents the rate of bariatric surgery in one of 306 hospital referral regions in the U.S. Red dots indicate the regions with the 5 lowest and 5 highest rates.


Map 1.3. Bariatric surgery among 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries (2007-11) Rates are adjusted for age, sex, and race.

Geographic variation in bariatric procedure utilization is indicative of the complexity of the decision faced by morbidly obese patients. Rates of bariatric surgery varied by a factor of more than twenty during the period from 2007 to 2011, from fewer than 9 procedures per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries in San Francisco (4.0), San Mateo County (7.9), and Santa Rosa, California (8.4) to more than 80 per 100,000 in Muskegon, Michigan (110.9) and Kettering, Ohio (83.7) (Figure 1.7). In general, rates of bariatric surgery were higher in the Midwest and northwestern regions than in the southern states (Map 1.3). The national average rate of bariatric surgery during the period from 2007 to 2011 was 32.8 per 100,000 enrollees.



Figure 1.8A. Relationship between obesity rates and bariatric surgery among hospital referral regions

Figure 1.8B. Relationship between type II diabetes and bariatric surgery among hospital referral regions

Each dot represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions across the United States. Regional rates of obesity and diabetes were unrelated to rates of bariatric surgery. Obesity rates were estimated using data from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

Figure 1.8 shows a hospital referral region's rates of obesity (Figure 1.8A) or diabetes (Figure 1.8B) on the horizontal axis, while the vertical axis shows the same region's rate of bariatric surgical procedures. Regional rates of obesity and diabetes have virtually no relationship to the rates of bariatric surgery ($R^2 = 0.03$ and 0.01, respectively). Rather, differences in procedure characteristics, safety profiles, and the evidence supporting clinical effectiveness each contribute to these variations. Provider preferences, reflecting their training and experiences, are also a major contributor. Given the lack of shared decision-making in most health systems, it is hard to argue that patient preferences are a dominant cause of regional variation in utilization.

The notion that surgery might be an effective population-based solution for obesity should be met with some skepticism. Given the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimates for 2010, more than 10 million Americans are extremely obese, to the extent that their obesity would exceed body mass index (BMI) criteria for bariatric surgery (BMI > 40). However, in 2010, fewer than 150,000 bariatric surgical procedures were performed in the United States, suggesting that an eighty-fold increase in the number of bariatric procedures would be needed to "treat" obesity surgically in the U.S., at a cost that would exceed \$17 billion (based on an average Medicare payment of \$1,700 for a single bariatric procedure). These estimates are decidedly conservative, as they only include the payments made to surgeons for the procedure. Even under a conservative assumption wherein only 10% of eligible obese Americans—about 1 million people—were ultimately treated with bariatric surgery, payments to hospitals, surgical centers, and physicians could potentially exceed \$15 billion.

Using regional collaboratives to study comparative effectiveness

Our knowledge about the relative effectiveness of different bariatric procedures is incomplete. For example, randomized trials comparing gastric bypass to sleeve gastrectomy are limited to small, single-center studies with short follow-up intervals, and the results may not apply to the general obese population.²⁹⁻³⁶ Most large observational studies utilize administrative data limited to perioperative periods, examine nonspecific surgical outcomes, and often lag behind current practice. Observational studies with longer follow-up periods—that report detailed bariatric surgery-specific clinical risk factors and outcomes—are usually single-center studies. As a result, uncertainty remains regarding the outcomes associated with certain patients. Within the state of Michigan, however, a unique environment exists to allow for more detailed evaluation of these issues.

The Michigan Bariatric Surgery Collaborative (MBSC), formed in 2006, is a voluntary regional consortium of all surgeons who perform bariatric surgery and the hospitals where it is performed within the state. The timely collection and distribution of MBSC data—along with detailed bariatric-specific risk factors and outcomes—allows for a more accurate understanding of current trends in the utilization, safety, and effectiveness of bariatric procedures. For example, trends in procedure utilization in Michigan over time parallel those seen nationally. Figure

1.9 illustrates the utilization of gastric bypass, adjustable gastric banding, and sleeve gastrectomy in Michigan during the period from 2006 to 2012. In 2006, gastric bypass accounted for 61% of all bariatric surgery in the state, and adjustable gastric banding accounted for 37%. Utilization of sleeve gastrectomy began in 2007 and increased rapidly in the ensuing years, while rates of gastric bypass decreased moderately and rates of adjustable gastric banding decreased substantially. In 2012, 45% of bariatric procedures performed in Michigan were sleeve gastrectomies, while 43% were gastric bypasses, and only 11% were adjustable gastric banding procedures.



Figure 1.9. Trends in utilization of gastric bypass, adjustable gastric banding, and sleeve gastrectomy in Michigan (2006-12)

BPD/DS = biliopancreatic diversion with duodenal switch. AGB = adjustable gastric banding. RYBG = Roux-en-Y gastric bypass.

Source: Michigan Bariatric Surgery Collaborative.

Technical quality: the role of centers of excellence in bariatric surgery

Ensuring safe, high-quality bariatric surgical care became a public health priority as utilization increased dramatically during the 2000s. Initial studies of the modern bariatric surgical experience reported varying mortality rates across hospitals and surgeons. A meta-analysis of case series and early population-based analyses of administrative data reported 30-day mortality rates between 0.2 and 1.9%, ^{10,20,37,38} while examination of Medicare patients revealed mortality rates of 2.0% at 30 days and 4.6% at 1 year.³⁹ Many of these studies linked surgeon and hospital volume to surgical outcomes: "low-volume" centers exhibited two to threefold increased odds of mortality, and this effect was most pronounced in older, high-risk patients.^{40,41}

Consequently, the American Society for Bariatric Surgery established a "centers of excellence" program in 2003 to implement national standards for institutions performing bariatric surgery.^{42,43} A similar program was developed by the American College of Surgeons.⁴⁴ When CMS issued its national coverage decision in 2006, the criteria limited coverage to certified centers of excellence only.²⁶ However, subsequent research evaluating the effect of the CMS policy on bariatric surgical outcomes revealed mixed results. Several studies evaluating centers of excellence compared to other hospitals failed to identify improvements in outcomes, despite increased hospital volumes at centers of excellence.^{45,46} One such study found that rates of serious complications varied widely regardless of the "center of excellence" designation. In contrast, multiple studies examining outcomes in Medicare patients before and after the CMS policy revealed beneficial effects: 90-day mortality, complications, readmissions, and length of stay were all reported to decrease following the restriction of coverage.^{47,48} However, these studies could not distinguish the effect of the policy from general trends toward improved outcomes during the study period.

To clarify these conflicting studies, Dimick and colleagues used hospital discharge data to evaluate the effect of the CMS policy on Medicare patients undergoing bariatric surgery compared to a control group of non-Medicare patients. To isolate improvements in outcomes after the coverage decision from coincident temporal trends, the authors applied an econometric technique—difference-in-difference-es—commonly used to evaluate the effect of policy changes. This evaluation determined that, after controlling for temporal trends, there was no benefit to the coverage restriction.⁴⁹ Following the CMS policy, rates of any complication, serious complications, and reoperation decreased substantially in both Medicare and non-Medicare patients, but trends toward improved outcomes were present in both groups well before the policy was implemented (Figure 1.10). Difference-in-differ



Figure 1.10. Trends in adverse outcomes before and after the implementation of the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services bariatric surgery national coverage decision

Each data marker represents two quarters within each year. The national policy restricting coverage to centers of excellence was implemented starting in the first quarter of 2006.

Though this evaluation failed to identify a benefit of the CMS policy, subsequent analyses demonstrated restrictions to access, particularly among minority beneficiaries.⁵⁰ While rates of bariatric surgery remained stable among non-Medicare minorities, rates in Medicare minority patients declined by 17% after the February 2006 national coverage decision. Publication of these findings had a substantial impact on CMS policy. In September of 2013, CMS decided to eliminate the "facility certification requirement," allowing beneficiaries fulfilling appropriate criteria to pursue bariatric surgery at the institution of their choice.^{51,52}

These examples of policy change clearly illustrate the importance of outcomes research to the field of bariatric surgery. Patients and providers have all benefited from the ongoing evaluation of bariatric surgical quality and access to care. Future health services research must build on these successes through continued evaluation of current techniques, surgical outcomes, systems of care, and health policy.

After surgery

New attention has been focused on the events that follow surgery, especially among patients undergoing surgical care for obesity. Hospital readmission rates are carefully scrutinized, as are events that occur after discharge, such as close follow-up with primary care physicians or the surgical team itself. Tables 1.1 and 1.2 show the variations in readmission risk and in follow-up with a primary care physician for Medicare patients treated with surgical therapy for obesity. The national average 30-day readmission rate following bariatric surgery was 8.3% during 2007-11; during that same period, on average, 39.5% of patients had a follow-up visit with a primary care physician within 30 days of bariatric surgery.

However, several pertinent outcomes of bariatric surgery in Medicare patients remain undefined: how much weight they lose, their functional health status, and their satisfaction with their care and outcomes. Nearly every randomized trial has studied weight loss as an outcome, yet this outcome is not routinely available at long-term follow-up in large studies of aged Medicare patients using claims data. Patient-centered outcomes, such as satisfaction with the procedure and the level of functional improvement after the operation, remain incompletely described. Studying these important outcomes remains a target for physicians and policymakers across the United States.

Table 1.1. Percent of M following bariatric sur	ledicare bene gery by hosp	eficiaries readmitted within 30 days ital referral region (2007-11)
HRR	State	Percent readmitted within 30 days following bariatric surgery (2007-11)
10 highest HRRs		
Cleveland	ОН	13.3%
Orlando	FL	13.0%
Oklahoma City	OK	10.8%
Boston	MA	10.7%
Nashville	TN	10.2%
Fort Lauderdale	FL	10.0%
Minneapolis	MN	9.9%
Knoxville	TN	9.8%
St. Louis	MO	9.5%
New Haven	СТ	9.5%
10 lowest HRRs		
Manhattan	NY	7.2%
Columbus	OH	7.2%
East Long Island	NY	7.1%
Los Angeles	CA	6.9%
Grand Rapids	MI	6.9%
Allentown	PA	6.9%
Jacksonville	FL	6.6%
Hartford	СТ	6.1%
Birmingham	AL	4.8%
San Antonio	ТХ	4.3%

The tables show the hospital referral regions with the 10 highest and 10 lowest rates for clinical events following discharge after bariatric surgery.

Beyond surgery

Spending on surgery – or spending on prevention?

Nationally, health care costs related to bariatric surgery were estimated at just under a billion dollars in 2002 and had grown to nearly \$3 billion by 2011. While the surgical treatment of obesity is efficacious, this clinical effectiveness comes at a relatively steep price, and extrapolation of this treatment to the true "epidemic" of obesity would come at an impractical and implausible cost.

Should we spend our efforts—and financial resources—on alternatives to surgery for patients with obesity? Progress has been made in preventing childhood obesity; a recent CDC report showed that childhood obesity rates declined in 19 of the 43 states where obesity prevention programs were introduced.⁵³ Many might argue that directing some of the resources currently allocated to surgical care toward preventing childhood obesity might have more impact. How resources are—or should be—allocated between preventive measures aimed at younger obese Americans and surgical treatment of older patients remains an open question.

Using quality improvement to limit variation

While the examples above illustrate improved outcomes for patients undergoing bariatric surgery—and the vital role health services research has played—opportunities for continued improvement exist. Wide variations persist in hospital processes, surgical outcomes, and procedure utilization despite these improvements. Patients considering bariatric surgery are faced with complex decisions and can become overloaded with information. In addition to these issues, current health care reform efforts require providers at all levels to increase quality of care while simultaneously decreasing costs. Going forward, there is no doubt that health services research will be essential to continued improvements in outcomes and quality.

Within the Michigan Bariatric Surgery Collaborative (MBSC), research is currently under way to better understand these challenges and develop novel strategies for quality improvement. Numerous publications have highlighted the benefits of regional quality collaboratives.^{46,54-57} Collaboratives have been shown to lead to decreased complications, mortality, resource utilization, and costs. For bariatric surgery, the MBSC provides an example of the success that can be achieved through regional quality collaboratives: the standardization of venous thromboembolism (VTE) prophylaxis in MBSC hospitals.⁵⁸ After evaluation of VTE prophylaxis regimens revealed wide variations across MBSC hospitals in 2008, the collaborative used registry data to develop a VTE risk-prediction tool and identify optimal prophylaxis strategies for each risk cohort. This and other examples illustrate how further improvements for bariatric surgery patients can be achieved on a national scale.

Decision aids and shared decision-making

As described previously, decision support tools can be valuable aids for patients considering bariatric surgery. The MBSC's work developing a new decision support tool for the treatment of morbid obesity (Figure 1.5) will allow patients to make personalized treatment decisions that are better informed by the current evidence and more congruent with their individual preferences.

Conclusions

Despite many achievements in treating obesity, future work is needed to determine the outcomes of treatment choices in terms that are meaningful to patients. These efforts, which will likely emanate from regional quality improvement initiatives, will focus on weight loss, functional status, cost effectiveness, and other patientcentered outcomes to ensure that the significant expenditures on surgical care for obese patients in the United States provide the most return on this investment.

Health services research is playing a critical role in advancing the field of treatment for obesity and bariatric surgery. Publications reporting on new techniques, surgical outcomes, and the impact of policy decisions have influenced procedure utilization over time, improved insurance coverage, and resulted in better access to surgical care for obese patients. Better evaluation of these treatments remains a priority, along with the incorporation of the findings into shared decision-making.

Chapter 1 Table. Rates of obes	sity, type	Il diabetes, bariatric surger	y, and events occurring fol	lowing surgical discharge a	among hospital referral reg	ions
HRR Name	State	Percent of population that is obese (BMI of 30 or more) (2010)	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with type II diabetes (2010-11)	Bariatric surgery per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries (2007-11)	Percent having primary care visit within 30 days following bariatric surgery (2007-11)	Percent readmitted within 30 days following bariatric surgery (2007-11)
Birmingham	AL	31.7	24.7	48.8	34.3	4.8
Dothan	AL	32.6	25.6	25.1	41.1	
Huntsville	AL	30.8	24.5	44.4	49.2	
Mobile	AL	30.1	23.3	60.7	35.0	8.9
Montgomery	AL	32.8	23.2	28.1	39.7	
Tuscaloosa	AL	33.2	25.1	53.9	36.0	
Anchorage	AK	27.8	18.4	35.8	46.8	
Mesa	AZ	23.4	21.0	32.6	35.9	
Phoenix	AZ	23.4	19.5	27.2	37.6	
Sun City	AZ	22.9	19.5	36.4		
Tucson	AZ	21.6	17.4	35.2	38.5	
Fort Smith	AR	29.2	24.1	33.0	19.5	
Jonesboro	AR	30.0	24.7	11.6		
Little Rock	AR	29.3	21.1	19.1	39.0	
Springdale	AR	26.6	20.5	32.8	45.4	
Texarkana	AR	30.9	23.6	56.8	30.3	
Orange County	CA	19.4	22.0	36.9	35.6	
Bakersfield	CA	28.6	27.0	27.8	48.6	
Chico	CA	25.2	21.4	31.8	40.8	
Contra Costa County	CA	22.7	18.6	14.2		
Fresno	CA	25.9	27.2	34.7	45.3	
Los Angeles	CA	20.1	25.1	32.1	39.0	6.9
Modesto	CA	28.0	25.6	51.7	45.7	
Napa	CA	21.4	17.6	13.5		
Alameda County	CA	19.0	20.8	9.3		
Palm Springs/Rancho Mirage	CA	25.5	16.8	35.6	42.5	
Redding	CA	24.6	19.4	16.0		
Sacramento	CA	23.9	19.9	20.8	51.3	
Salinas	CA	22.0	23.6	40.7	28.4	
San Bernardino	CA	26.4	24.4	34.3	36.5	
San Diego	CA	22.4	21.6	27.4	35.1	
San Francisco	CA	18.1	18.3	4.0		
San Jose	CA	19.1	23.5	18.0	39.4	
San Luis Obispo	CA	22.0	17.5	23.6		
San Mateo County	CA	17.3	16.3	7.9		
Santa Barbara	CA	22.0	19.4	26.8		
Santa Cruz	CA	18.1	18.4	21.2		
Santa Rosa	CA	20.0	15.6	8.4		
Stockton	CA	28.6	23.8	31.1	39.3	
Ventura	CA	22.9	21.5	36.4	33.9	
Boulder	CO	13.4	14.1	17.8		
Colorado Springs	CO	19.8	18.3	19.5	38.3	
Denver	CO	18.9	16.9	37.8	50.2	
Fort Collins	CO	19.4	16.4	55.6	40.7	



Chapter 1 Table. Rates of obes	ity, type	II diabetes, bariatric surger	y, and events occurring fol	lowing surgical discharge a	among hospital referral reg	ions
HRR Name	State	Percent of population that is obese (BMI of 30 or more) (2010)	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with type II diabetes (2010-11)	Bariatric surgery per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries (2007-11)	Percent having primary care visit within 30 days following bariatric surgery (2007-11)	Percent readmitted within 30 days following bariatric surgery (2007-11)
Grand Junction	CO	17.7	14.1	20.8		
Greeley	CO	20.8	19.6	40.8	27.2	
Pueblo	CO	22.6	22.6	16.0		
Bridgeport	CT	18.0	19.7	36.4	44.2	
Hartford	CT	22.1	22.1	45.9	31.3	6.1
New Haven	CT	22.6	22.2	45.7	32.2	9.5
Wilmington	DE	27.8	23.4	34.0	34.0	
Washington	DC	26.0	21.7	14.9	41.6	
Bradenton	FL	23.0	20.9	24.0		
Clearwater	FL	26.0	20.6	23.6		
Fort Lauderdale	FL	20.3	20.4	33.9	41.0	10.0
Fort Myers	FL	23.9	20.0	25.8	40.4	
Gainesville	FL	27.8	23.2	45.0	34.8	
Hudson	FL	24.4	25.6	29.2	42.2	
Jacksonville	FL	27.5	24.2	39.0	37.8	6.6
Lakeland	FL	29.2	27.0	24.2		
Miami	FL	21.0	27.4	46.4	38.2	9.5
Ocala	FL	25.4	23.7	31.1	40.1	
Orlando	FL	24.3	24.7	24.7	37.1	13.0
Ormond Beach	FL	24.7	22.8	50.0	43.0	
Panama City	FL	25.5	24.7	20.2		
Pensacola	FL	26.8	25.2	40.4	29.7	
Sarasota	FL	21.3	18.9	24.0	57.6	
St. Petersburg	FL	26.0	21.0	39.8	49.7	
Tallahassee	FL	29.2	24.3	16.5	38.7	
Tampa	FL	24.9	24.4	18.2	52.7	
Albany	GA	30.4	23.0	9.7		
Atlanta	GA	26.3	22.3	21.5	42.0	7.5
Augusta	GA	31.4	22.7	41.9	35.6	
Columbus	GA	31.2	26.1	15.0		
Macon	GA	30.9	25.1	14.6	42.9	
Rome	GA	29.2	27.3	19.0		
Savannah	GA	28.0	21.9	17.4	31.3	
Honolulu	HI	21.2	23.7			
Boise	ID	25.4	19.5	54.1	48.6	
Idaho Falls	ID	26.4	23.7	25.1		
Aurora	IL	26.1	24.0	19.3		
Blue Island	IL	24.1	22.9	21.7	35.8	
Chicago	IL	24.0	23.4	16.8	34.7	
Elgin	IL	25.5	22.5	44.9	42.5	
Evanston	IL	24.0	19.4	24.9	35.6	
Hinsdale	IL	24.5	20.9	21.8		
Joliet	IL	26.8	24.4	47.6	31.9	
Melrose Park	IL	24.2	22.5	23.2	43.0	

Chapter 1 Table. Rates of obes	ity, type	II diabetes, bariatric surger	y, and events occurring fol	lowing surgical discharge a	among hospital referral reg	ions
HRR Name	State	Percent of population that is obese (BMI of 30 or more) (2010)	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with type II diabetes (2010-11)	Bariatric surgery per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries (2007-11)	Percent having primary care visit within 30 days following bariatric surgery (2007-11)	Percent readmitted within 30 days following bariatric surgery (2007-11)
Peoria	IL	27.3	22.1	25.5	38.5	
Rockford	IL	26.4	23.3	25.2	33.5	
Springfield	IL	27.7	23.7	17.1	45.3	
Urbana	IL	27.7	22.9	25.8	39.3	
Bloomington	IL	27.0	22.2	20.1		
Evansville	IN	28.2	24.9	38.1	34.2	
Fort Wayne	IN	29.2	24.6	33.3	35.1	
Gary	IN	30.6	24.2	29.1	45.1	
Indianapolis	IN	28.6	24.9	49.4	36.1	9.4
Lafayette	IN	28.1	25.6	38.7		
Muncie	IN	30.4	26.4	56.2	37.1	
Munster	IN	29.9	26.2	24.6		
South Bend	IN	29.2	23.8	27.0	29.4	
Terre Haute	IN	30.0	26.5	69.5	41.0	
Cedar Rapids	IA	28.6	22.7	9.3		
Davenport	IA	27.1	22.2	17.1		
Des Moines	IA	27.2	21.6	27.0	38.4	
Dubuque	IA	27.3	20.8			
Iowa City	IA	25.9	22.2	27.6		
Mason City	IA	27.1	21.9	72.9	39.9	
Sioux City	IA	28.6	22.8	17.7		
Waterloo	IA	27.2	23.7	20.1		
Торека	KS	28.8	21.9	51.2	28.4	
Wichita	KS	29.0	22.5	19.5	39.1	
Covington	KY	28.4	25.2	40.8	42.7	
Lexington	KY	31.1	26.9	45.4	39.3	8.5
Louisville	KY	29.0	24.2	58.4	34.6	9.0
Owensboro	KY	29.6	28.5	52.9	39.8	
Paducah	KY	30.0	24.9	24.1	43.9	
Alexandria	LA	30.4	24.4	38.7	32.2	
Baton Rouge	LA	29.4	23.6	33.7	30.4	
Houma	LA	30.2	25.8	31.0		
Lafayette	LA	28.7	24.4	37.0	23.4	
Lake Charles	LA	31.6	24.2	59.0	33.7	
Metairie	LA	29.0	23.4	53.4	37.6	
Monroe	LA	30.0	23.5	31.0		
New Orleans	LA	28.3	22.6	34.8	27.7	
Shreveport	LA	29.0	22.1	19.9	25.8	
Slidell	LA	28.0	24.3	67.3	40.9	
Bangor	ME	27.9	24.4	34.7	31.1	
Portland	ME	24.2	21.7	27.8	39.7	
Baltimore	MD	27.5	22.4	19.1	38.2	
Salisbury	MD	29.7	24.7	19.7	36.6	
Takoma Park	MD	25.3	21.6	11.0		

Chapter 1 Table. Rates of obes	ity, type	II diabetes, bariatric surger	y, and events occurring fol	lowing surgical discharge a	among hospital referral reg	ions
HRR Name	State	Percent of population that is obese (BMI of 30 or more) (2010)	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with type II diabetes (2010-11)	Bariatric surgery per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries (2007-11)	Percent having primary care visit within 30 days following bariatric surgery (2007-11)	Percent readmitted within 30 days following bariatric surgery (2007-11)
Boston	MA	22.1	21.5	39.3	37.7	10.7
Springfield	MA	24.6	23.1	24.4	42.9	
Worcester	MA	23.8	22.5	32.8	39.1	
Ann Arbor	MI	29.6	23.3	42.1	55.0	7.8
Dearborn	MI	33.2	29.3	37.2	59.2	
Detroit	MI	31.4	25.1	41.5	54.2	7.3
Flint	MI	33.0	25.3	48.2	70.1	
Grand Rapids	MI	28.2	23.6	54.7	43.4	6.9
Kalamazoo	MI	28.9	23.9	35.5	41.5	
Lansing	MI	29.5	24.4	52.9	43.6	
Marquette	MI	29.5	22.6	77.7	54.9	
Muskegon	MI	29.8	24.7	110.9	70.9	
Petoskey	MI	29.8	23.5	57.4	45.8	
Pontiac	MI	26.0	22.7	48.1	48.8	
Royal Oak	MI	26.3	23.2	45.7	60.9	
Saginaw	MI	31.0	25.1	51.0	59.9	
St. Joseph	MI	28.9	23.6	28.1		
Traverse City	MI	28.7	23.2	61.6	41.1	
Duluth	MN	26.3	20.7	55.4	35.5	
Minneapolis	MN	25.6	19.0	41.7	39.3	9.9
Rochester	MN	27.3	19.3	34.9	27.3	
St. Cloud	MN	27.2	19.5	51.4		
St. Paul	MN	26.3	19.4	36.7	45.3	
Gulfport	MS	31.0	23.3	46.4	33.8	
Hattiesburg	MS	33.9	24.6	34.0	34.9	
Jackson	MS	33.7	22.7	18.6	37.6	
Meridian	MS	34.0	24.5	20.3		
Oxford	MS	33.0	23.5	28.2		
Tupelo	MS	31.8	24.9	23.9	33.8	
Cape Girardeau	MO	29.8	26.7	36.1	51.1	
Columbia	MO	29.3	23.2	44.9	42.3	
Joplin	MO	30.2	24.7	21.7	46.9	
Kansas City	MO	28.9	22.4	44.0	41.0	7.5
Springfield	MO	29.0	22.1	37.9	37.9	
St. Louis	MO	28.9	23.8	43.5	39.9	9.5
Billings	MT	23.9	17.8	28.4	44.3	
Great Falls	MT	25.9	20.5	75.3	27.5	
Missoula	MT	21.1	16.6	49.0	43.0	
Lincoln	NE	27.9	20.9	45.5	54.4	
Omaha	NE	28.1	21.4	38.4	62.8	
Las Vegas	NV	25.2	22.0	56.2	32.8	7.8
Reno	NV	22.8	16.6	38.6	38.4	
Lebanon	NH	25.1	19.4	10.7		
Manchester	NH	24.2	21.1	18.8	27.1	

Chapter 1 Table. Rates of obesity, type II diabetes, bariatric surgery, and events occurring following surgical discharge among hospital referral regions

HRR Name	State	Percent of population that is obese (BMI of 30 or more) (2010)	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with type II diabetes (2010-11)	Bariatric surgery per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries (2007-11)	Percent having primary care visit within 30 days following bariatric surgery (2007-11)	Percent readmitted within 30 days following bariatric surgery (2007-11)
Camden	NJ	24.7	24.4	40.7	34.8	8.2
Hackensack	NJ	21.8	24.1	42.0	36.2	
Morristown	NJ	21.6	20.3	29.9	31.5	
New Brunswick	NJ	23.0	24.4	28.7	35.4	
Newark	NJ	23.6	24.7	44.5	36.9	
Paterson	NJ	24.2	23.8	38.1	32.5	
Ridgewood	NJ	22.8	21.7	39.3	29.3	
Albuquerque	NM	21.5	21.7	11.3	46.5	
Albany	NY	25.4	22.0	30.8	43.8	9.2
Binghamton	NY	26.6	22.6	20.8		
Bronx	NY	24.6	25.6	20.2	27.0	
Buffalo	NY	27.1	22.5	29.7	29.5	
Elmira	NY	25.1	25.0	39.4	26.3	
East Long Island	NY	22.4	22.6	25.3	36.1	7.1
Manhattan	NY	21.7	23.2	19.5	32.9	7.2
Rochester	NY	26.1	23.2	29.1	37.4	
Syracuse	NY	27.0	23.6	29.6	33.3	
White Plains	NY	20.7	20.9	36.5	39.1	
Asheville	NC	25.1	20.9	13.6	31.2	
Charlotte	NC	27.1	24.6	11.6	46.2	
Durham	NC	29.5	23.8	17.5	32.1	
Greensboro	NC	28.7	23.2	15.7		
Greenville	NC	31.6	25.8	41.0	41.5	
Hickory	NC	27.5	27.1	15.7		
Raleigh	NC	29.8	24.6	26.0	41.3	8.6
Wilmington	NC	27.2	24.8	23.2	28.3	
Winston-Salem	NC	27.3	24.9	9.4		
Bismarck	ND	27.8	22.0	58.3	33.5	
Fargo/Moorhead MN	ND	27.4	21.1	66.5	34.8	
Grand Forks	ND	29.0	20.9	58.3		
Minot	ND	27.2	23.2			
Akron	OH	27.9	24.8	25.0	39.3	
Canton	OH	29.9	25.4	23.0	39.6	
Cincinnati	OH	28.2	23.9	41.6	34.0	9.3
Cleveland	OH	28.2	23.1	29.5	37.3	13.3
Columbus	OH	29.9	26.3	28.2	50.5	7.2
Dayton	OH	29.9	25.3	63.6	43.6	9.1
Elyria	OH	29.1	26.5	30.7		
Kettering	OH	29.9	24.2	83.7	41.7	
Toledo	OH	29.8	29.0	26.4	46.3	
Youngstown	OH	28.5	26.1	34.9	42.9	
Lawton	OK	29.5	25.9	57.3	29.8	
Oklahoma City	OK	28.9	22.7	35.4	24.8	10.8
Tulsa	OK	29.3	23.3	32.0	31.2	

Chapter 1 Table. Rates of obes	ity, type	II diabetes, bariatric surger	y, and events occurring fol	lowing surgical discharge a	among hospital referral reg	ions
HRR Name	State	Percent of population that is obese (BMI of 30 or more) (2010)	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with type II diabetes (2010-11)	Bariatric surgery per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries (2007-11)	Percent having primary care visit within 30 days following bariatric surgery (2007-11)	Percent readmitted within 30 days following bariatric surgery (2007-11)
Bend	OR	20.6	17.2	73.9	37.7	
Eugene	OR	27.5	20.4	64.4	43.7	
Medford	OR	24.1	19.3	33.0	39.9	
Portland	OR	25.8	20.1	41.0	36.0	7.5
Salem	OR	30.2	21.5	62.0		
Allentown	PA	27.2	24.8	54.9	45.2	6.9
Altoona	PA	29.4	27.2	34.3		
Danville	PA	27.3	25.7	55.9	78.6	
Erie	PA	29.2	24.9	54.6	54.0	
Harrisburg	PA	28.3	24.9	38.6	44.7	
Johnstown	PA	30.0	25.6	29.4		
Lancaster	PA	25.9	23.2	22.0		
Philadelphia	PA	25.5	20.9	24.0	42.3	8.2
Pittsburgh	PA	27.4	23.2	30.7	39.7	9.4
Reading	PA	27.8	24.3	36.0	42.9	
Sayre	PA	28.4	24.1	39.9		
Scranton	PA	25.6	23.7	24.6		
Wilkes-Barre	PA	27.1	24.8	27.4		
York	PA	28.7	24.9	49.9	55.0	
Providence	RI	23.1	22.3	23.6	39.3	
Charleston	SC	28.9	22.7	33.7	35.6	
Columbia	SC	31.1	23.5	39.7	37.2	7.3
Florence	SC	32.6	25.4	19.0		
Greenville	SC	26.2	23.8	30.3	29.2	
Spartanburg	SC	29.8	23.5	43.8	30.7	
Rapid City	SD	26.7	18.5	29.0		
Sioux Falls	SD	27.8	20.4	37.7	43.7	
Chattanooga	TN	29.2	25.8	19.5	43.1	
Jackson	TN	30.7	25.7	13.0		
Johnson City	TN	28.8	24.2	27.5		
Kingsport	TN	29.3	27.5	25.1	42.6	
Knoxville	TN	29.5	25.9	35.4	45.2	9.8
Memphis	TN	33.3	23.2	15.0	37.5	
Nashville	TN	29.7	24.5	30.8	48.6	10.2
Abilene	ТΧ	26.6	22.0	29.1		
Amarillo	ТΧ	27.5	20.2	23.1		
Austin	ТΧ	23.1	21.4	48.1	34.7	
Beaumont	ТΧ	29.7	26.1	34.5	41.8	
Bryan	ТΧ	26.6	22.1	28.8		
Corpus Christi	ТΧ	26.9	30.3	29.2	41.8	
Dallas	ТХ	26.9	22.6	55.8	36.8	8.4
El Paso	ТΧ	23.9	27.4	25.2	33.3	
Fort Worth	ТΧ	26.6	24.2	47.5	36.6	8.2
Harlingen	ТΧ	26.1	38.5	28.3		

Chapter 1 Table. Rates of obesity, type II diabetes, bariatric surgery, and events occurring following surgical discharge among hospital referral regions						
HRR Name	State	Percent of population that is obese (BMI of 30 or more) (2010)	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with type II diabetes (2010-11)	Bariatric surgery per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries (2007-11)	Percent having primary care visit within 30 days following bariatric surgery (2007-11)	Percent readmitted within 30 days following bariatric surgery (2007-11)
Houston	ТΧ	26.5	22.7	41.7	28.9	7.3
Longview	ТΧ	29.1	22.9	49.8	36.8	
Lubbock	ТΧ	26.7	23.8	17.0	36.0	
McAllen	ТΧ	28.5	38.5	52.5	63.5	
Odessa	ТΧ	27.3	23.4	9.7		
San Angelo	ТΧ	26.6	24.1	18.1		
San Antonio	ТΧ	26.3	26.9	30.1	36.3	4.3
Temple	ТΧ	27.5	24.2	31.1	40.4	
Tyler	ТΧ	27.5	23.2	64.2	32.5	
Victoria	ТΧ	27.6	28.0	54.3		
Waco	ТΧ	30.3	22.8	30.1		
Wichita Falls	ТΧ	26.6	24.8	72.9	20.1	
Ogden	UT	25.0	23.1	31.9		
Provo	UT	24.8	21.7	36.5		
Salt Lake City	UT	23.9	20.4	32.5	38.5	
Burlington	VT	23.5	22.6	24.7	28.8	
Arlington	VA	23.2	18.6	12.2	42.7	
Charlottesville	VA	26.4	23.6	16.7		
Lynchburg	VA	28.4	24.0	14.2		
Newport News	VA	29.5	21.8	23.6	35.5	
Norfolk	VA	27.6	24.6	32.7	40.3	
Richmond	VA	28.2	22.6	20.5	42.1	
Roanoke	VA	27.6	25.5	12.8	41.6	
Winchester	VA	29.6	24.2	21.3		
Everett	WA	27.0	19.7	36.8	46.5	
Olympia	WA	29.2	19.9	28.6	30.8	
Seattle	WA	22.8	18.7	30.7	43.8	9.5
Spokane	WA	26.7	21.2	37.1	36.3	9.4
Tacoma	WA	29.0	21.1	33.6	41.3	
Yakima	WA	28.1	23.4	27.9		
Charleston	WV	31.1	28.0	33.0	32.6	
Huntington	WV	32.7	28.8	49.9	36.4	
Morgantown	WV	30.0	26.4	23.8	56.6	
Appleton	WI	27.4	22.8	24.2		
Green Bay	WI	27.8	22.2	19.9		
La Crosse	WI	27.0	20.7	31.0		
Madison	WI	26.3	20.5	22.9	30.7	
Marshfield	WI	28.0	22.3	39.9	57.0	
Milwaukee	WI	27.7	21.9	26.7	33.4	8.2
Neenah	WI	26.9	22.0	31.8		
Wausau	WI	27.6	21.8	42.7		
Casper	WY	25.5	17.4	58.2	50.1	
United States average		25.9	23.0	32.8	39.5	8.3



Variation in the Care of Surgical Conditions: Cerebral Aneurysms

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center Kimon Bekelis, MD

The Dartmouth Institute of Health Policy and Clinical Practice

Philip R. Goodney, MD, MS Nino Dzebisashvili, PhD David C. Goodman, MD, MS Kristen K. Bronner, MA





Cerebral aneurysms: frequency and variation

Cerebral aneurysms are a common and potentially serious problem.¹ Cerebral aneurysms (Figure 2.1) are disorders in which a weakness of the wall of the arteries in the brain causes a localized dilatation or ballooning of the blood vessel. The overall frequency in the general adult population ranges from 0.2% to 9.9%,^{2,3} suggesting that 10 to 15 million people in the United States have a cerebral aneurysm. Due to the widespread availability and increasing use of imaging techniques, including computed tomography (CT) scanning, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), CT angiography, and MR angiography, a rising number of unruptured cerebral aneurysms are being diagnosed.⁴



Figure 2.1. Most frequent locations of cerebral aneurysms Percentages indicate the incidence of intracranial aneurysms. Source: Brisman JL, Song JK, Newell DW. Cerebral aneurysms. *N Engl J Med* 2006;355:928-39.

There was considerable variation in the incidence of cerebral aneurysms detected in elderly Medicare patients in the United States during the period from 2007 to 2012 (Figure 2.2). Rates of unruptured cerebral aneurysms varied more than fivefold among hospital referral regions, from 16.7 per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries in Sioux City, Iowa to 99.0 per 10,000 in Tuscaloosa, Alabama. The national average rate was 48.7 per 10,000. Rates of unruptured cerebral aneurysms were relatively low among regions in the Midwest and Great Plains states, including Rapid City, South Dakota (23.1), Dubuque, Iowa (23.3), and Great Falls, Montana (23.4). The rates were nearly four times higher in Wilmington, Delaware (91.5), Royal Oak, Michigan (90.6), and the Bronx, New York (87.3) (Map 2.1). The reasons behind the observed variation are unclear. However, differences in the aggressiveness of aneurysm detection through imaging studies could explain this phenomenon.



Figure 2.2. Rates of unruptured cerebral aneurysms per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries among hospital referral regions (2007-12)

Each blue dot represents the rate of unruptured cerebral aneurysms in one of 306 hospital referral regions in the U.S. Red dots indicate the regions with the 5 lowest and 5 highest rates.



Map 2.1. Rates of unruptured cerebral aneurysms per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries (2007-12) Rates are adjusted for age, sex, and race.

Most aneurysms cause no symptoms until they rupture (burst), causing subarachnoid hemorrhage, or bleeding in the brain.⁵⁻⁷ Roughly one in one hundred patients with cerebral aneurysms will experience a rupture every year.^{1,8,9} In population-based studies in Western countries, subarachnoid hemorrhage comprises 0.8% to 7% of all strokes.¹⁰ The annual incidence of rupture is 8 to 10 per 100,000 in the overall population.⁴ Among elderly Medicare beneficiaries, the rate of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage during 2007-12 averaged 12.2 per 10,000. The rate varied more than threefold, from less than 6 per 10,000 in Rapid City, South Dakota (5.0) and York, Pennsylvania (5.5) to more than 17 per 10,000 in the Illinois regions of Hinsdale (17.9), Aurora (17.5), and Elgin (17.5) (Figure 2.3). Rates were generally lower in the northern Great Plains and Mountain states than in other parts of the country (Map 2.2).





Each blue dot represents the rate of subarachnoid hemorrhage in one of 306 hospital referral regions in the U.S. Red dots indicate the regions with the 5 lowest and 5 highest rates.



Map 2.2. Rates of subarachnoid hemorrhage per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries (2007-12) Rates are adjusted for age, sex, and race.

Subarachnoid hemorrhage is a devastating event associated with significant morbidity and mortality.^{7,11,12} The blood from subarachnoid hemorrhage on the brain disturbs its ability to perform its vital functions. Symptoms of rupture include a severe headache with a very rapid onset, often characterized by patients as "the worst headache of their lives." Vomiting, confusion, and sometimes seizures quickly follow. About 10-15% of these patients will collapse and die before reaching the hospital.⁵⁻⁷ Patients who survive are subject to long hospitalizations (sometimes months) that start with treatment of the aneurysm to prevent further bleeding.^{5,6} Frequently, patients spend long periods in the intensive care unit and their breathing is supported with a breathing tube. Some undergo additional procedures to have drains placed temporarily inside their brains (external ventricular drain) to relieve the increased pressure caused by build-up of fluid (hydrocephalus), a common complication of subarachnoid hemorrhage.^{5,6} Patients are often dependent on these drains and need to have a permanent shunt placed in the operating room. A significant portion of the hospitalization is spent monitoring the patient for secondary strokes (through a phenomenon called vasospasm), which might require additional procedures to reverse them.^{5,6} Overall, even despite optimal care in the hospital, about one-third of the patients die and more than one-third of those who survive have major neurological deficits.7

The cause of cerebral aneurysm rupture remains poorly understood. Larger aneurysms and those in certain locations—such as the back part of the brain—are more likely to rupture,^{1,8,9} but it remains difficult to predict the possibility of rupture for an individual aneurysm. Smoking has been associated with subarachnoid hemorrhage in some studies.^{1,9} However, the exact relationship between smoking status and the risk of rupture of cerebral aneurysms remains unclear. The role of high blood pressure is also unclear, given the inconclusive evidence so far.^{8,9,13-18} Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage in younger patients is often the result of cocaine use.¹⁹ Physical activity or other behaviors have not been associated with a higher risk of rupture.



Before surgery

Competing treatment options

Cerebral aneurysms are common and potentially very dangerous. However, there are important treatment choices that may prevent bleeding and stroke before aneurysm rupture. After aneurysm rupture, the same treatments can be used to secure the aneurysm and prevent further catastrophic bleeding.

Current procedural options are clipping and endovascular coiling. Clipping (Figure 2.4) involves removal of part of the skull through a craniotomy and obstruction of the blood flow to the aneurysm externally with a clip. This procedure, even when performed electively, requires a hospitalization that typically lasts 2 to 5 days.⁵ The recovery period after clipping is often lengthy, and patients typically require 4 to 6 weeks to return to their pre-operative quality of life.⁵



Figure 2.4. Clipping of an aneurysm

Figure A shows the typical skin incision and craniotomy needed to access the aneurysm. Figure B shows the application of the clip blade to the neck of the aneurysm. Source: Brisman JL, Song JK, Newell DW. Cerebral aneurysms. *N Engl*

J Med 2006;355:928-39.

Advances in endovascular techniques, which use catheters, wires, and devices placed within the blood vessels themselves, have allowed a less invasive treatment option to be offered to patients. Called endovascular coiling (Figure 2.5), this treatment involves access to the femoral artery through a puncture wound in the patient's groin. Subsequently, the surgeon, under X-ray guidance, directs a catheter into the sac of the aneurysm and fills it with coils.⁵ These coils form a clot inside the aneurysm, excluding it from the circulation and preventing the possibility of a subarachnoid hemorrhage. The anatomy of most aneurysms is amenable to either treatment. However, a small number of patients can only be treated with one technique. Some asymptomatic patients elect to have their aneurysms managed non-operatively through serial imaging and symptom monitoring.



Figure 2.5. Occlusion of an aneurysm with detachable coils

Figure A and the inset show the route of the microcatheter into the aneurysm through the right femoral artery, aorta, and left carotid artery and the beginning of the coil deployment. Figure B shows the final occlusion of the aneurysm with coils.

Source: Brisman JL, Song JK, Newell DW. Cerebral aneurysms. N Engl J Med 2006;355:928-39.

The different options for treatment of cerebral aneurysms, coupled with an exponential increase in the use of radiologic imagingleading to the discovery of small, asymptomatic cerebral aneurysms-have introduced significant uncertainty in determining the best treatments for this condition. This is further complicated by the development of promising (but less well-studied) endovascular devices, such as several types of stents²⁰ (metal sheaths that act as braces inside a blood vessel), which are constantly changing the way endovascular therapy is delivered. Patients and physicians alike have found it difficult to know when and how to best treat cerebral aneurysms, especially small ones where the risks of treatment might outweigh the risks of aneurysm rupture. This report examines the trends and developments that have affected how physicians, patients, and policymakers have studied variation in the care of this potentially devastating disease. Further, it outlines why, where, and how efforts to improve the care of patients with cerebral aneurysms are under way.



During surgery

Impact of randomized trials and database studies on practice patterns

In 2002, investigators from multiple European centers published the International Study for Aneurysm Treatment (ISAT),¹¹ which compared clipping and coiling in the treatment of ruptured cerebral aneurysms. They found that treatment with endovascular coiling provided patients with longer survival and less disability one year after rupture when compared with open surgical clipping. However, critics²¹ of this study have expressed concerns about the generalizability of its findings, as the majority of the patients selected for this trial had small aneurysms, mainly at one location in the brain. Despite the uncertainty regarding the procedure's benefits, these findings resulted in a change in the treatment of ruptured cerebral aneurysms in the United States, with greater use of coiling.²²



Figure 2.6. Increase in use of endovascular therapies for ruptured and unruptured cerebral aneurysms, 2002 to 2006

Based on assessment of the AHRQ NIS database. SAH=subarachnoid hemorrhage.

Source: Adapted from Smith GA, Dagostino P, Maltenfort MG, Dumont AS, Ratliff JK. Geographic variation and regional trends in adoption of endovascular techniques for cerebral aneurysms. *J Neurosurg.* 2011;114(6):1768-1777.

In 2009, the publication of the long-term follow-up data from the ISAT study¹² demonstrated no difference in mortality between the two treatment options, while coiling was associated with a slightly higher risk of rebleeding. These findings curbed the initial enthusiasm for coiling, and resulted in a renewed interest in clipping for patients with ruptured cerebral aneurysms. This study led to a decline in the use of coiling for Medicare beneficiaries (Figure 2.7), evident by 2010, and then a stabilization of the rate to approximately 60% of the total procedures in recent years.



Figure 2.7. Trends in annual rates of coiling and clipping for ruptured aneurysms among Medicare beneficiaries, 2007 to 2012

These trends in the treatment of ruptured cerebral aneurysms have been paralleled by similar practices for unruptured cerebral aneurysms (Figure 2.8), despite the lack of randomized studies comparing the results of clipping and coiling in this population. Following the initial enthusiasm for coiling, there was a decrease in the rate of the procedure to below 70% around 2009. The reduced invasiveness of coiling (especially for patients that have no symptoms from bleeding) and the need for minimal hospitalization (most often just an overnight stay) could explain the new surge in coiling now exceed 70% of all treatments for unruptured cerebral aneurysms.



Figure 2.8. Trends in annual rates of coiling and clipping for unruptured aneurysms among Medicare beneficiaries, 2007 to 2012

While large database studies²³⁻²⁶ have provided some evidence in favor of coiling for patients with unruptured aneurysms, uncertainty remains as to which approach is optimal. Table 2.1 demonstrates the relative advantages of each technique. The potential durability of clipping has been used as an argument in favor of using this technique for younger patients. On the other hand, the less invasive nature of coiling (which does not require a craniotomy) is attractive for a lot of patients. For aneurysms amenable to treatment with either option (the majority of cases), the patient should be fully informed of the relative benefits and drawbacks of each technique in order to reach a decision, ideally guided by the process of shared decision-making.

Table 2.1. Relative advantages and disadvantages of endovascular coiling and surgical clipping for cerebral aneurysm treatment							
Surgical clipping	Endovascular coiling						
Well-established procedure	Newer technique						
Minor improvements in currently used instruments; long experience with their use and safety profile	New devices are developed constantly; while some hold promise, there is limited experience with their use and safety profile						
No invasive follow-up required	Requires follow-up angiograms, which carry additional risk of stroke						
More durable	May require retreatment in case of recurrence						
Requires a craniotomy	Less invasive; performed with a groin puncture						
Higher infection risk	Infection is extremely rare						
Longer postoperative stay in the hospital	Typically a single-night postoperative stay						
More postoperative pain	Minimal, if any, postoperative pain						
Similar rate of procedural complications	Similar rate of procedural complications						

Regional variation in treatment decisions

Despite an increasing number of studies, there is still significant controversy regarding the best ways to treat patients with cerebral aneurysms. As such, regional variation in the predominant treatment modality for unruptured and ruptured cerebral aneurysms is common and expected. For example, there was wide variation in rates of coiling among a cohort of Medicare patients with cerebral aneurysms who underwent treatment (Figure 2.9), ranging from regions where clipping was performed almost exclusively to regions where coiling was the predominant treatment modality. Nationally, an average of 71% of patients with unruptured aneurysms and 63% of patients with ruptured aneurysms were treated with coiling during 2007-12. Less than 40% of patients treated for unruptured aneurysms received coiling in Modesto, California (35.0%), Madison, Wisconsin (36.0%), and Manchester, New Hampshire (39.0%), while nearly all of these patients were treated with coiling in Tacoma, Washington (98.6%), Evansville, Indiana (97.4%), Des Moines, Iowa (96.8%), and Duluth, Minnesota (96.2%). Among those treated for ruptured aneurysms, rates of coiling ranged from less than half of patients in Atlanta, Georgia (36.3%), Phoenix, Arizona (48.3%), and San Antonio, Texas (48.7%) to more than 90% of patients in Fort Lauderdale, Florida (98.8%), Nashville, Tennessee (96.6%), and Providence, Rhode Island (93.2%).



Figure 2.9. Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for ruptured and unruptured cerebral aneurysms using coiling (2007-12) Each blue dot represents the percent of Medicare beneficiaries who were treated for cerebral aneurysms with coiling in one of 306 hospital referral regions in the U.S. Red dots indicate the regions with the 5 lowest and 5 highest rates.

Although socioeconomic disparities²⁷ and patient preferences could factor into this variation, such wide disparities can more likely be attributed to physician training—not all surgeons are trained in both techniques—and preferences based on the personal experience of the treating physician. For example, some surgeons promote coiling for frail patients that would be too sick to undergo a craniotomy. Others are concerned that coiling has inferior durability in comparison to clipping. Although such an effect has not been clearly demonstrated,^{11,28} with only one study¹² supporting it, the short follow-up time in the published literature prevents definitive conclusions.

Whether clipping or coiling is associated with the best outcome is an important gap in knowledge, for both patients and physicians, and would be an ideal question to answer through further research (i.e., a registry investigation). However, the available databases lack the necessary clinical information, since they focus mainly on crude outcomes such as mortality. An ideal prospective registry would include anatomic details of the aneurysms, the initial neurologic condition of the patient, the number and type of coils, clips, or new devices used, and longterm angiographic follow-up results. Additionally, while it would be helpful for the details of procedures and outcomes to be recorded in a registry, the data would still leave a gap in understanding how patients—especially those with unruptured, intact cerebral aneurysms-feel about their treatment options. Patients are faced with complex decisions revolving around whether treatment is needed and what approach should be taken, particularly as they age and develop other illnesses. The current decision-making process can generate significant frustration and, to some degree, mistrust toward the consulting physician. The need for decision aids that will assist in shared decision-making is paramount.

After surgery

Use of data to improve practice patterns is associated with benefits in patient mortality and wellbeing and can also lower costs. Especially with the development of accountable care organizations,²⁹ several regulatory bodies are monitoring outcome metrics and penalizing inferior performance. Benchmarks are being developed for mortality, rate of discharge to rehabilitation facilities, length of stay, rate of 30-day readmission, and cost in all areas of medicine. However, there are currently no discrete efforts to pursue these measures for the treatment of patients with cerebral aneurysms, an obvious opportunity for practice improvement in the immediate future.

Mortality

The ISAT study¹¹ demonstrated that 30.6% of subarachnoid hemorrhage patients allocated to clipping were dead or care-dependent at the end of one year. By comparison, 22.6% of the patients allocated to coiling had similar outcomes (Figure 2.10). Among elderly Medicare patients treated for ruptured aneurysms, the one-year mortality rates after coiling or clipping for subarachnoid hemorrhage were 37.5% and 33.2%, respectively. The one-year mortality rates for unruptured aneurysms (3.9% and 4.0%, respectively) were much lower. The higher mortality rate associated with coiling in this cohort is most likely related to the selection of patients for coiling—those who are too sick to undergo a craniotomy. A large database study of unruptured aneurysms demonstrated that coiled patients had lower in-hospital mortality (0.6%) compared to clipped patients (1.2%).²⁴ In-hospital mortality rates would be expected to be lower than one-year mortality rates, since the latter capture complications that occur after discharge following surgery (both coiling and clipping).





Figure 2.10. One-year mortality or dependence after coiling and clipping for subarachnoid hemorrhage patients

Length of stay

The median lengths of stay after admission for coiling or clipping of an aneurysm in a subarachnoid hemorrhage patient were 15 days and 20.2 days, respectively, in recent large database studies.^{30,31} As expected, this metric was significantly lower for patients with unruptured aneurysms (1 day and 6.6 days, respectively).^{30,31} Subarachnoid hemorrhage patients are hospitalized for long periods postoperatively (usually more than 2 weeks) in order to be monitored for the development of complications such as vasospasm: a subarachnoid hemorrhage-related problem characterized by constriction of the brain arteries, which increases the risk of stroke.⁶ The observed difference in length of stay in favor of coiling reflects its less invasive nature, allowing fast postoperative recovery and early discharge home.

Discharge to rehabilitation facility

Discharge to a rehabilitation facility was used as an indicator of disability for patients undergoing treatment for their aneurysms. The average rates of discharge to rehabilitation after coiling or clipping for subarachnoid hemorrhage among elderly Medicare patients during 2007-12 were 26.1% and 30.0%, respectively. A relatively high rate (in comparison to unruptured aneurysms) would be expected in this population because subarachnoid hemorrhage patients have long hospitalizations and often suffer neurologic deficits from aneurysm rupture, increasing the need for rehabilitation services.⁶ The average rates of discharge to rehabilitation facilities after coiling or clipping of unruptured cerebral aneurysms were 5.1% and 19.4%, respectively.

30-day readmission

The goal of minimizing readmissions has been at the forefront of recent changes in health care policy. Average 30-day readmission rates after coiling and clipping for subarachnoid hemorrhage among elderly Medicare patients during 2007-12 were 2.4% and 1.3%, respectively. The respective rates for unruptured aneurysms were 4.2% and 1.4%. The higher number of all-cause readmissions associated with coiling is more likely related to the fact that coiling patients tend to have more competing illnesses—and, therefore, are more susceptible to developing medical complications after discharge—than to the procedure itself.

Cost

Several regulatory bodies are taking measures to moderate costs in all areas of medicine. Expenditures for new and evolving technology, such as coiling, compare favorably to already established options (clipping). Table 2.2 demonstrates the hospitalization cost for patients undergoing clipping and coiling for ruptured and unruptured cerebral aneurysms in a cohort of patients from the Nationwide Inpatient Sample.^{30,31} The table shows a lower hospitalization cost for coiling in comparison to clipping. The high costs of the technology involved in this new procedure may be offset by shorter hospital stays.

Table 2.2. Inflation-adjusted hospitalization cost of patients with cerebral aneurysms undergoing endovascular coiling or surgical clipping									
Technique	Ruptured cerebral aneurysms				Unruptured cer	Unruptured cerebral aneurysms			
	Mean	95% CI	Median	IQR	Mean	95% CI	Median	IQR	
Coiling	\$87,001	\$85,071- 88,931	\$69,304	\$36,750- 101,858	\$31,264	\$30,673- 31,856	\$25,594	\$15,679- 35,509	
Clipping	\$93,180	\$90,701- 95,660	\$73,694	\$46,270- 115,128	\$32,872	\$32,068- 33,677	\$24,398	\$17,079- 38,249	

The mean value represents the average cost per hospitalization for each technique. The 95% confidence interval (CI) indicates that the probability of the mean value falling outside of this range is less than 5%. The median indicates the middle value; half of all hospitalizations were more costly and half were less costly than the median value. The interquartile range (IQR) indicates the difference between the lowest and highest hospitalization cost in the middle 50% of the data range (25th to 75th percentile).

Beyond surgery

The present

The impact of randomized trials and large database studies has been profound in swinging the pendulum toward more coiling procedures for patients with both intact and ruptured cerebral aneurysms. However, significant uncertainty still exists regarding the best treatment option, or even whether intervention is always the best option for some patients with unruptured aneurysms. This uncertainty in how best to treat patients with cerebral aneurysms has important implications. It has resulted in significant regional variation in the way in which cerebral aneurysms are treated throughout the United States. These wide differences, especially in the rates of coiling for patients with intact aneurysms, are not justified.

How should we move forward? The treatment decisions are not simple, as not all aneurysms are amenable to either clipping or coiling, and each choice has its own trade-offs. How the benefits and trade-offs are valued varies across different patients, and, therefore, the right treatment decision needs to include greater patient participation. This starts with better communication of the probabilities associated with the outcomes of each option in terms that can be understood by patients. Equally important is helping the patients clarify their own treatment goals, as well as legitimizing patients' partnership in the decision-making process. Tools (e.g., decision aids) to achieve shared decision-making, are needed to assist patients and their clinicians (Figure 2.11). In addition, new trials and studies are needed to assess how these tools can be most effectively used to guide patients through these complex decisions.

	Decisio	n Support Tool Comp	onents	
Treatment Options	Patient Needs	Decision Support	Decision Quality	Patient Outcomes
Observation Surgical clipping Endovascular coiling	Clarification of individual values and preferences Knowledge of procedure risks, benefits, and other considerations	Continuously updated, patient- specific data regarding risks and benefits Guidance for the patient/surgeon interaction Other considerations	Assessment of patient knowledge and understanding Assessment of congruence with pre-specified values and preferences	Measurement of: Mortality Neurologic compromise Durability Patient satisfaction Quality of life

Figure 2.11. Conceptu	al model for decis	ion support process
-----------------------	--------------------	---------------------
The future for physicians

Variation in the treatment of cerebral aneurysm is a sign of local practice styles that may not always provide the care that patients need or want. An effort to benchmark neurosurgical procedures and limit the associated variation is ongoing. The National Neurosurgery Quality and Outcomes Database (N²QOD),³² by the NeuroPoint Alliance (NPA),³³ is intended to track quality of care and practice patterns. The recently launched "cerebrovascular module" is starting to be adopted by several institutions and will track factors that are not reflected in the existing national registries. These will include neurological status, development of vasospasm, durability of coiling, and the use of new endovascular devices. These parameters can further assist practitioners in helping patients make decisions, while allowing focused research that will address questions that current databases and randomized trials have not been able to answer.

N²QOD will also be a reliable clinical outcomes platform that, through accurate risk-adjustment (to account for the sicker patients treated in some centers of excellence, or the tendency to treat patients with more comorbidities with less invasive options such as coiling), will allow head-to-head comparison of practices and treatment techniques (such as coiling and clipping). This will supplement the national effort to minimize disparities and reward excellence. It will also facilitate targeted quality improvement, practice-based learning, shared decision-making, and effective resource utilization.

This initiative will provide a reliable tool for patients, physicians, hospitals, and payers in an effort to define value in the treatment of cerebral aneurysms. Patients will have current, real-time data on which to base their treatment decisions. Physicians will be able to monitor their practice and alter their performance to align with centers of excellence. Hospitals and payers will be able to design cost-effective policies and promote best practices based on the real-time data provided.

The future for patients

Improving patients' understanding of the treatment options and incorporating their preferences should be a priority in improving patient care. Patients receiving a new diagnosis of cerebral aneurysm are faced with several hurdles that can be difficult to overcome without appropriate support. They are introduced to new concepts and complex medical terminology, which can be difficult to comprehend and interpret even for the most sophisticated individuals outside the medical profession. Additional obstacles to comprehension are created by patients' frustration and fear over the cause of the disease and the possibility of death. If watchful waiting is elected, some patients restrict their daily activities, despite what they are told by clinicians, for fear of causing their aneurysms to rupture. Their follow-up visits can produce anxiety in anticipation of imaging results. If a decision is made to treat

the aneurysm, the next decision is the choice between clipping and coiling. All of this can be further complicated when these procedures are offered by different specialists.

Neurosurgeons should encourage patients to play an active role in decision-making. Audiovisual and written decision aids should have a prominent role, and should include the experiences of similar patients. Ideally, patients should have access to reliable web sites that provide interactive feedback regarding the available options. N²QOD can have a major impact in this phase by providing real-time simplified data that can be easily interpreted by the patient. The data would need to be tailored toward the patients' needs and common questions, as mapped by prior surveys. Regional centers should also develop support groups, comprising patients who have undergone both treatment options as well as those who are following a conservative approach, as well as physicians and nurses actively involved in the treatment of this population. These groups should meet regularly, and new patients should be offered the option to participate and be actively engaged. To minimize despair and feelings of helplessness while dealing with this diagnosis, patients should be provided with a contact person, like a nurse practitioner or physician assistant, with whom they can communicate for additional questions or concerns.

Patients who are considering brain aneurysm surgery may want to visit the following web sites for more information:

The American Association of Neurological Surgeons: www.aans.org/Patient%20Information/Conditions%20 and%20Treatments/Treatment%20Options%20for%20Cerebral%20Aneurysms.aspx

The Brain Aneurysm Foundation: www.bafound.org/patient-resources

The American Stroke Association: www.strokeassociation.org/STROKEORG/AboutStroke/TypesofStroke/HemorrhagicBleeds/What-You-Should-Know-About-Cerebral-Aneurysms_UCM_310103_Article.jsp

Conclusion

There is considerable regional variation in the United States in the treatment of ruptured and unruptured cerebral aneurysms. These wide differences suggest that patients do not always receive the most optimal treatment, which has implications for both quality and cost. Patients who receive a new diagnosis of cerebral aneurysm (especially unruptured) face a difficult road to informed decision-making. Understanding their needs, addressing their concerns, and creating new quality-promoting registries will be central to the process of minimizing variability and orchestrating a patient-centered approach to cerebral aneurysm treatment.

Chapter 2 Table. Rates of unrug	otured ce	rebral aneurysm, subarachi	noid hemorrhage, and coilir	ng among patients with unru	ptured and ruptured cerebi	ral aneurysms (2007-12)
HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries	Unruptured cerebral aneurysms per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Subarachnoid hemorrhage per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for unruptured cerebral aneurysms using coiling	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for subarachnoid hemorrhage using coiling
Birmingham	AL	309,770	57.4	12.1	68.0%	
Dothan	AL	64,901	40.7	8.3		
Huntsville	AL	90,635	46.3	10.5	70.9%	
Mobile	AL	104,462	35.4	10.1		
Montgomery	AL	57,649	45.5	10.0		
Tuscaloosa	AL	37,568	99.0	13.6		
Anchorage	AK	63,054	45.1	9.5	49.8%	
Mesa	AZ	96,007	76.6	13.3	52.8%	
Phoenix	AZ	310,545	62.9	12.8	60.5%	48.3%
Sun City	AZ	58,148	57.8	10.8	64.5%	
Tucson	AZ	127,346	58.3	15.1	68.2%	
Fort Smith	AR	56,578	34.1	8.6		
Jonesboro	AR	38,738	37.1	11.4		
Little Rock	AR	252,938	38.1	11.1	53.7%	72.7%
Springdale	AR	62,893	38.1	10.3	56.6%	
Texarkana	AR	42,984	44.1	13.2		
Orange County	CA	235,738	43.3	14.4	75.6%	63.6%
Bakersfield	CA	87,131	32.6	14.1	53.8%	
Chico	CA	55,389	26.6	12.3		
Contra Costa County	CA	73,963	33.9	13.1	69.6%	
Fresno	CA	103,103	36.8	14.4		
Los Angeles	CA	670,889	39.6	13.4	70.9%	61.7%
Modesto	CA	84,584	33.3	11.3	35.0%	
Napa	CA	42,539	25.1	9.7		
Alameda County	CA	98,169	29.3	12.7		59.1%
Palm Springs/Rancho Mirage	CA	51,236	67.1	12.2		
Redding	CA	64,546	26.5	10.4	56.5%	
Sacramento	CA	216,069	40.6	11.4	58.5%	62.6%
Salinas	CA	48,126	26.4	12.9		
San Bernardino	CA	147,595	31.2	12.5	57.9%	
San Diego	CA	262,164	44.0	13.6	47.5%	
San Francisco	CA	123,402	42.7	16.2		
San Jose	CA	125,965	42.4	13.0	77.1%	86.4%
San Luis Obispo	CA	40,766	38.5	9.2	71.9%	
San Mateo County	CA	65,879	40.2	9.9		
Santa Barbara	CA	55,071	37.2	10.7	79.4%	
Santa Cruz	CA	32,051	28.4	7.1		
Santa Rosa	CA	48,780	28.5	9.0		
Stockton	CA	49,835	29.2	10.2		
Ventura	CA	82,554	50.7	11.8	83.5%	



Chapter 2 Table. Rates of unrup	ptured ce	rebral aneurysm, subarachi	noid hemorrhage, and coilin	g among patients with unru	ptured and ruptured cereb	ral aneurysms (2007-12)
HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries	Unruptured cerebral aneurysms per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Subarachnoid hemorrhage per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for unruptured cerebral aneurysms using coiling	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for subarachnoid hemorrhage using coiling
Boulder	CO	23,240	32.8	11.3		
Colorado Springs	CO	89,295	29.5	14.0	51.8%	
Denver	CO	188,307	45.5	13.4	59.5%	
Fort Collins	CO	38,473	31.4	9.4		
Grand Junction	CO	38,633	34.0	8.2		
Greeley	CO	41,906	35.1	10.2		
Pueblo	CO	23,736	32.8	13.1		
Bridgeport	CT	84,676	40.8	12.0		
Hartford	CT	214,262	41.9	14.5	88.7%	68.6%
New Haven	CT	201,077	44.8	14.9	62.1%	
Wilmington	DE	113,579	91.5	16.5	76.1%	75.5%
Washington	DC	303,962	39.7	13.3	51.8%	57.9%
Bradenton	FL	54,307	39.3	9.9		
Clearwater	FL	79,808	48.5	11.5		
Fort Lauderdale	FL	367,948	62.5	11.0	87.9%	98.8%
Fort Myers	FL	238,007	49.0	11.1	75.6%	67.9%
Gainesville	FL	86,233	49.8	10.8		
Hudson	FL	71,438	47.1	13.9	77.4%	
Jacksonville	FL	203,502	70.7	12.8	85.6%	65.8%
Lakeland	FL	46,521	37.0	9.8		
Miami	FL	248,690	56.7	11.7	82.8%	84.1%
Ocala	FL	147,301	40.6	10.2	66.8%	
Orlando	FL	489,891	58.3	12.0	80.0%	77.5%
Ormond Beach	FL	68,795	71.0	9.6	87.0%	
Panama City	FL	36,044	50.5	13.1		
Pensacola	FL	120,750	43.4	9.8	63.9%	
Sarasota	FL	115,349	35.1	10.2	62.5%	
St. Petersburg	FL	57,209	41.3	10.4	84.5%	
Tallahassee	FL	94,150	35.4	10.7		
Tampa	FL	123,739	48.7	13.2	82.3%	
Albany	GA	28,116	32.9	12.0		
Atlanta	GA	582,514	46.9	10.8	62.9%	36.3%
Augusta	GA	89,046	30.1	9.7		
Columbus	GA	42,651	41.2	11.5		
Macon	GA	96,902	41.3	12.4	91.1%	
Rome	GA	43,392	48.1	11.0		
Savannah	GA	113,647	60.0	8.5	66.5%	
Honolulu	HI	121,712	71.6	14.5	82.2%	88.8%
Boise	ID	89,364	36.8	7.3	68.4%	
Idaho Falls	ID	24,481				
Aurora	IL	27,339	63.6	17.5	73.6%	

Chapter 2 Table. Rates of unrug	otured ce	rebral aneurysm, subarachi	noid hemorrhage, and coilir	ng among patients with unru	uptured and ruptured cereb	ral aneurysms (2007-12)
HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries	Unruptured cerebral aneurysms per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Subarachnoid hemorrhage per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for unruptured cerebral aneurysms using coiling	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for subarachnoid hemorrhage using coiling
Blue Island	IL	125,424	60.2	13.9	86.1%	70.6%
Chicago	IL	246,594	56.5	14.7	84.5%	55.3%
Elgin	IL	86,944	57.6	17.5	65.0%	
Evanston	IL	153,969	55.5	15.9	66.2%	
Hinsdale	IL	57,330	70.6	17.9	62.1%	
Joliet	IL	86,811	50.5	12.3	78.5%	
Melrose Park	IL	166,408	59.0	14.2	84.1%	64.8%
Peoria	IL	105,259	49.4	14.4	55.5%	
Rockford	IL	109,219	35.5	12.5		
Springfield	IL	155,562	42.2	15.0	67.9%	
Urbana	IL	61,985	55.5	12.0		
Bloomington	IL	23,802	51.2	10.9	94.5%	
Evansville	IN	112,983	34.4	12.2	97.4%	
Fort Wayne	IN	104,136	33.0	9.3	88.5%	
Gary	IN	80,700	64.1	14.9	60.0%	
Indianapolis	IN	381,175	42.1	12.1	67.9%	61.8%
Lafayette	IN	27,953	39.0	13.3		
Muncie	IN	29,325	42.0	11.8		
Munster	IN	47,380	54.6	15.5		
South Bend	IN	95,419	34.2	9.4		
Terre Haute	IN	30,633	41.4	15.4		
Cedar Rapids	IA	42,079	28.5	9.8		
Davenport	IA	83,543	41.0	13.7	94.6%	
Des Moines	IA	165,135	25.7	9.6	96.8%	
Dubuque	IA	19,773	23.3	12.3		
Iowa City	IA	49,964	39.0	9.8	86.9%	
Mason City	IA	30,205	26.5	6.1		
Sioux City	IA	41,286	16.7	11.9		
Waterloo	IA	36,853	33.7	7.2		
Торека	KS	69,373	32.0	9.6		
Wichita	KS	202,643	26.3	9.6	67.5%	70.1%
Covington	KY	43,791	43.9	15.0		
Lexington	KY	204,613	46.5	14.2	81.1%	63.1%
Louisville	KY	242,765	64.5	15.6	90.6%	77.8%
Owensboro	KY	24,019	61.6	10.9		
Paducah	KY	72,003	42.9	9.8	87.9%	
Alexandria	LA	45,416	39.5	10.3		
Baton Rouge	LA	84,980	42.7	11.9	70.8%	
Houma	LA	34,470	28.6	14.7		
Lafayette	LA	86,101	41.1	12.4	82.7%	
Lake Charles	LA	37,296	53.0	10.1		



Chapter 2 Table. Rates of unrug	ptured ce	rebral aneurysm, subarachi	noid hemorrhage, and coilin	g among patients with unru	ptured and ruptured cereb	ral aneurysms (2007-12)
HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries	Unruptured cerebral aneurysms per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Subarachnoid hemorrhage per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for unruptured cerebral aneurysms using coiling	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for subarachnoid hemorrhage using coiling
Metairie	LA	45,566	31.9	9.1		
Monroe	LA	42,660	40.1	13.9		
New Orleans	LA	41,920	40.0	11.0		
Shreveport	LA	104,472	27.9	11.6		
Slidell	LA	22,001	50.1	8.0		
Bangor	ME	76,763	32.1	11.9		
Portland	ME	177,326	33.3	11.5	68.3%	
Baltimore	MD	342,591	48.7	14.2	60.5%	57.5%
Salisbury	MD	92,689	59.5	13.5	56.5%	
Takoma Park	MD	90,420	39.3	15.2	76.5%	
Boston	MA	630,906	71.4	16.2	59.3%	58.1%
Springfield	MA	100,593	40.9	13.5	78.9%	
Worcester	MA	69,392	56.2	14.2	81.0%	
Ann Arbor	MI	182,766	58.2	11.4	70.3%	
Dearborn	MI	75,354	68.2	13.1		
Detroit	MI	243,876	83.7	12.8	75.0%	81.0%
Flint	MI	82,997	60.2	11.1	54.0%	
Grand Rapids	MI	124,753	35.1	9.7	71.8%	
Kalamazoo	MI	98,344	76.1	10.4	69.3%	
Lansing	MI	94,657	79.7	11.8	91.8%	
Marquette	MI	39,544	45.7	9.2		
Muskegon	MI	38,760	33.9	9.5		
Petoskey	MI	36,537	41.0	9.9		
Pontiac	MI	59,298	78.6	11.0	86.9%	
Royal Oak	MI	103,415	90.6	11.2	81.5%	
Saginaw	MI	129,251	51.7	8.7	61.6%	
St. Joseph	MI	24,347	65.3	8.7	79.7%	
Traverse City	MI	49,137	31.8	10.0		
Duluth	MN	51,383	29.3	8.5	96.2%	
Minneapolis	MN	278,470	52.7	12.2	85.5%	
Rochester	MN	59,246	41.1	9.4		
St. Cloud	MN	23,726	42.0	8.5		
St. Paul	MN	80,367	74.7	12.7	67.5%	
Gulfport	MS	25,987	49.0	13.2		
Hattiesburg	MS	46,397	43.8	10.5		
Jackson	MS	150,069	47.5	11.5	76.3%	
Meridian	MS	33,996	41.3	12.8		
Oxford	MS	22,465	63.4	12.1		
Tupelo	MS	62,914	38.9	10.6		
Cape Girardeau	MO	48,131	43.4	9.9		
Columbia	MO	114,291	39.3	11.6	57.2%	

Chapter 2 Table. Rates of unrug	ptured ce	rebral aneurysm, subarachi	noid hemorrhage, and coilin	g among patients with unru	ptured and ruptured cerebi	ral aneurysms (2007-12)
HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries	Unruptured cerebral aneurysms per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Subarachnoid hemorrhage per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for unruptured cerebral aneurysms using coiling	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for subarachnoid hemorrhage using coiling
Joplin	MO	64,526	34.3	8.5	86.5%	
Kansas City	MO	296,526	43.5	11.9	78.1%	81.0%
Springfield	MO	130,285	45.4	9.8	61.8%	
St. Louis	MO	439,656	43.9	11.7	85.0%	76.9%
Billings	MT	87,728	38.0	7.6	66.0%	
Great Falls	MT	23,493	23.4	8.4		
Missoula	MT	63,709	38.1	9.4		
Lincoln	NE	93,289	25.2	7.5	91.9%	
Omaha	NE	181,668	31.4	11.4	88.3%	
Las Vegas	NV	170,438	69.4	16.1	82.2%	
Reno	NV	99,497	38.9	13.4	75.9%	
Lebanon	NH	76,181	41.5	12.1		
Manchester	NH	131,701	44.6	11.3	39.0%	
Camden	NJ	446,088	63.1	12.7	73.4%	88.9%
Hackensack	NJ	173,852	38.3	12.9	79.9%	
Morristown	NJ	143,057	42.5	12.8	87.4%	73.4%
New Brunswick	NJ	130,872	79.4	15.8	73.8%	
Newark	NJ	167,202	41.0	13.9	73.8%	64.7%
Paterson	NJ	51,055	40.2	13.2		
Ridgewood	NJ	58,562	40.0	8.7		
Albuquerque	NM	176,166	28.0	11.8		
Albany	NY	258,987	46.3	9.4	84.3%	
Binghamton	NY	61,375	35.0	13.6		
Bronx	NY	86,385	87.3	12.4		
Buffalo	NY	125,732	73.4	8.5	67.7%	
Elmira	NY	50,864	37.6	10.4		
East Long Island	NY	539,197	58.0	12.7	65.1%	55.3%
Manhattan	NY	450,471	56.6	13.0	79.2%	72.0%
Rochester	NY	98,051	35.2	9.5		
Syracuse	NY	147,797	48.5	12.3	74.3%	81.3%
White Plains	NY	149,409	47.2	12.4	70.1%	
Asheville	NC	129,637	37.8	9.7	76.3%	
Charlotte	NC	298,021	67.3	11.3	79.9%	
Durham	NC	189,171	41.5	11.7	70.1%	78.9%
Greensboro	NC	67,024	57.0	12.3	64.5%	
Greenville	NC	131,290	43.5	14.1	64.3%	64.4%
Hickory	NC	47,045	29.8	6.6		
Raleigh	NC	225,210	48.4	15.2	62.6%	58.6%
Wilmington	NC	76,691	41.6	7.7		
Winston-Salem	NC	135,653	45.5	11.5	74.6%	76.9%
Bismarck	ND	39,077	28.9	7.8		



Chapter 2 Table. Rates of unrup	otured ce	rebral aneurysm, subarachi	noid hemorrhage, and coilin	g among patients with unru	ptured and ruptured cereb	ral aneurysms (2007-12)
HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries	Unruptured cerebral aneurysms per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Subarachnoid hemorrhage per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for unruptured cerebral aneurysms using coiling	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for subarachnoid hemorrhage using coiling
Fargo/Moorhead MN	ND	72,899	29.3	8.9		
Grand Forks	ND	24,133	28.8	7.0		
Minot	ND	21,707	27.4	10.0		
Akron	OH	80,878	50.3	9.7	58.8%	
Canton	OH	81,025	52.9	10.6		
Cincinnati	OH	190,191	49.4	13.5	72.9%	
Cleveland	OH	286,216	53.6	11.2	69.1%	81.8%
Columbus	OH	362,249	57.2	15.3	80.1%	76.3%
Dayton	OH	150,832	51.5	12.5	80.4%	
Elyria	OH	37,236	50.4	15.9		
Kettering	OH	55,772	52.7	11.1	66.7%	
Toledo	OH	137,567	37.3	12.8	78.4%	
Youngstown	OH	94,905	40.3	10.6	55.8%	
Lawton	OK	30,599	34.2	8.8		
Oklahoma City	OK	259,993	57.1	11.4	84.0%	65.9%
Tulsa	OK	180,109	39.7	12.3	70.8%	
Bend	OR	32,102	43.2	8.8		
Eugene	OR	90,548	28.6	10.0	69.0%	
Medford	OR	75,699	23.6	8.9		
Portland	OR	199,303	37.0	11.5	66.6%	
Salem	OR	21,326	24.6	8.8		
Allentown	PA	182,451	60.0	15.9	61.5%	
Altoona	PA	37,817	35.9	11.3		
Danville	PA	74,508	33.4	9.2	79.7%	
Erie	PA	106,034	44.2	11.9	89.0%	
Harrisburg	PA	144,526	40.1	10.6	85.9%	
Johnstown	PA	22,340	64.9	8.1		
Lancaster	PA	89,905	31.2	10.1		
Philadelphia	PA	440,460	56.2	12.1	85.7%	81.8%
Pittsburgh	PA	282,079	48.2	11.6	63.5%	71.9%
Reading	PA	82,007	69.9	13.0	86.2%	
Sayre	PA	33,391	29.5	10.3		
Scranton	PA	57,441	53.6	13.1		
Wilkes-Barre	PA	44,333	43.5	14.7		
York	PA	60,951	36.2	5.5		
Providence	RI	126,546	44.6	14.3	79.6%	93.2%
Charleston	SC	157,108	61.6	12.9	76.9%	75.7%
Columbia	SC	165,820	38.4	11.8	85.3%	
Florence	SC	57,482	43.3	13.3		
Greenville	SC	127,431	33.5	8.8	87.3%	
Spartanburg	SC	54,237	42.1	10.6		

Chapter 2 Table. Rates of unrup	ptured ce	rebral aneurysm, subarachr	noid hemorrhage, and coilin	g among patients with unru	ptured and ruptured cerebr	al aneurysms (2007-12)
HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries	Unruptured cerebral aneurysms per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Subarachnoid hemorrhage per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for unruptured cerebral aneurysms using coiling	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for subarachnoid hemorrhage using coiling
Rapid City	SD	33,116	23.1	5.0		
Sioux Falls	SD	136,534	27.2	9.1		
Chattanooga	TN	101,778	42.3	11.8	66.2%	
Jackson	TN	60,953	57.9	11.5		
Johnson City	TN	38,106	37.4	13.3		
Kingsport	TN	68,578	63.1	15.5	79.3%	
Knoxville	TN	187,268	53.9	13.5	89.1%	87.5%
Memphis	TN	226,526	61.2	11.5	81.2%	65.1%
Nashville	TN	329,552	52.0	12.9	81.9%	96.6%
Abilene	ТΧ	53,238	39.2	10.9		
Amarillo	ТΧ	64,106	30.6	8.5		
Austin	ТΧ	152,041	54.2	11.6	67.7%	
Beaumont	ТΧ	65,348	39.6	11.9	84.8%	
Bryan	ТΧ	27,274	35.3	16.3		
Corpus Christi	ТΧ	60,453	30.7	14.7		
Dallas	ТΧ	446,407	60.8	14.6	66.4%	51.4%
El Paso	ТΧ	112,930	32.8	12.7		
Fort Worth	ТΧ	190,444	52.1	15.8	74.0%	58.5%
Harlingen	ТΧ	59,200	27.1	11.5		
Houston	ТΧ	544,283	62.9	14.6	73.2%	61.7%
Longview	ТΧ	31,783	46.9	8.3		
Lubbock	ТΧ	95,214	39.3	13.6		
McAllen	ТΧ	60,506	18.7	16.0		
Odessa	ТΧ	44,338	47.6	10.2		
San Angelo	ТΧ	27,666	37.3	10.7		
San Antonio	ТΧ	276,930	45.6	12.6	60.5%	48.7%
Temple	ТΧ	39,094	63.1	12.8		
Tyler	ТΧ	97,977	45.9	8.8	67.0%	
Victoria	ТΧ	26,178	31.9	14.0		
Waco	ТΧ	46,689	46.1	12.0		
Wichita Falls	ТΧ	35,383	60.8	13.5		
Ogden	UT	36,534	48.3	7.9		
Provo	UT	33,676	76.0	9.7		
Salt Lake City	UT	173,441	85.5	10.0	60.0%	
Burlington	VT	100,314	43.7	11.3	70.3%	
Arlington	VA	187,334	71.4	13.6	80.7%	78.8%
Charlottesville	VA	88,687	59.0	16.2	83.5%	
Lynchburg	VA	43,517	23.9	8.3		
Newport News	VA	79,768	39.2	8.4	94.9%	
Norfolk	VA	157,474	71.8	12.3	74.4%	
Richmond	VA	223,342	43.2	11.9	79.5%	75.0%



Chapter 2 Table. Rates of unruptured cerebral aneurysm, subarachnoid hemorrhage, and coiling among patients with unruptured and ruptured cerebral aneurysms (2007-12)							
HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries	Unruptured cerebral aneurysms per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Subarachnoid hemorrhage per 10,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for unruptured cerebral aneurysms using coiling	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries treated for subarachnoid hemorrhage using coiling	
Roanoke	VA	120,639	41.0	13.2	80.4%		
Winchester	VA	63,081	40.6	11.9	94.1%		
Everett	WA	67,390	36.8	9.6			
Olympia	WA	50,715	38.7	12.0			
Seattle	WA	297,820	43.4	11.0	69.8%		
Spokane	WA	213,757	39.2	11.4	69.2%	77.7%	
Tacoma	WA	83,171	53.6	11.8	98.6%		
Yakima	WA	37,116	27.1	11.9			
Charleston	WV	129,320	54.8	11.7	77.8%		
Huntington	WV	56,719	71.8	10.0	80.1%		
Morgantown	WV	57,420	64.4	17.3			
Appleton	WI	33,451	38.6	8.0			
Green Bay	WI	69,790	41.7	8.4	83.0%		
La Crosse	WI	43,597	26.0	7.2			
Madison	WI	140,742	46.0	9.8	36.0%		
Marshfield	WI	55,125	34.0	6.9			
Milwaukee	WI	318,624	46.5	11.3	80.3%	77.4%	
Neenah	WI	26,621	40.4	9.4			
Wausau	WI	29,848	35.6	8.5			
Casper	WY	32,487	28.3	9.8			
United States	US	36,169,055	48.7	12.2	71.0%	63.3%	



Variation in the Care of Surgical Conditions: Diabetes and Peripheral Arterial Disease

The Dartmouth Institute of Health Policy & Clinical Practice Philip P. Goodney, MD, MS Nino Dzebisashvili, PhD David C. Goodman, MD, MS Kristen K. Bronner, MA







Diabetes and peripheral arterial disease: Putting patients at high risk for amputation

Patients with diabetes (high blood sugar) and peripheral arterial disease (PAD, or blockages in the arteries of the legs and other locations) are at high risk for major limb amputation at rates several times the national average for patients without diabetes.^{1,2} Nearly 100,000 major leg amputations are performed annually in Medicare patients, and more than half of them occur as a result of diabetes.³⁻⁵ Co-occurrence of these two illnesses—diabetes and peripheral arterial disease—has a negative synergistic effect, leaving patients at a higher risk for amputation than either of the two diseases alone.

In the context of these two diseases, a seemingly simple event, such as a small ulcer or break in the integrity of the skin of the foot, can result in a life or limb-threatening infection. When infection manages to breach the barrier of the skin of the lower limb, it often finds its way into the soft tissue, and occasionally into the bony structures of the foot. Given the poor ability of patients with diabetes to heal, the poor blood supply caused by arterial insufficiency known to occur in PAD, and the inability of antibiotic therapy to be delivered effectively through narrowed blood vessels, a "perfect storm" for uncontrolled infection results.

Once infection has spread into the foot, it can be exceedingly difficult to eradicate.⁶ The patient's blood sugar must be well controlled, which can be very difficult for many patients with diabetes. Measures to keep the patient's foot wounds clean and to keep the patient from bearing weight directly on the wounds are absolutely essential, but this is not easy when the wound is on the bottom of the foot. Patients with diabetes and PAD also need the best preventive medical treatments, such as statin therapy and smoking cessation counseling, to ensure the best outcomes. Therefore, for patients with diabetes and PAD, strategies for prevention and revascularization are of the utmost importance.⁷⁻⁹

Coordinating this complex care for diabetes and PAD can be challenging for patients and physicians. While plausible for patients with good financial and social resources, the task is daunting for the many patients with limited resources. This report examines how Medicare patients with diabetes and PAD are treated across the United States. It describes how, when, and why they may (or may not) be treated with preventive measures, as well as invasive treatments aimed at limiting amputation. By examining these treatment patterns, and outlining the ways in which physicians have attempted to study and improve the care of these complex patients, we hope to highlight opportunities to reduce amputations for patients at the highest risk for limb loss.



Figure 3.1. Arterial outline showing atherosclerosis

Source: The Society for Vascular Surgery, 2005.

Before surgery

Regional variation in the risk of amputation

While the processes of care for patients with diabetes and PAD are complex, one outcome that matters is easily measurable: major leg amputation, or loss of the leg above or below the knee. In many regions of the United States, amputation rates are quite low, especially in parts of the country where diabetes is uncommon, and among patients who are unlikely to be poor or black (Figure 3.2).¹⁰⁻¹² However, in other regions—for example, rural areas of the southeastern United States—amputation rates, especially among black patients with diabetes, are high (Map 3.1). In these regions, the risks of major amputation are often three to four times the national average.

During the period from 2007 to 2011, the national average rate of leg amputation was 2.4 per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD. This rate varied more than fivefold across hospital referral regions, from 1.2 per 1,000 patients in Royal Oak, Michigan and Sarasota, Florida, to more than 6 per 1,000 patients in Tupelo, Mississippi (6.2) and Appleton, Wisconsin (6.1). Nationally, the amputation rate among black patients—5.6 per 1,000—was nearly three times higher than the



Figure 3.2. Leg amputation per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD by race among hospital referral regions (2007-11)

Each blue dot represents the rate of leg amputation among patients with diabetes and PAD in one of 306 hospital referral regions in the U.S. Rates are adjusted for age and sex.

rate among other beneficiaries (2.0). The amputation rate varied by a factor of more than seven among black patients, from about 2 per 1,000 in San Diego (2.1) and Las Vegas (2.2) to 14 or more per 1,000 in Lynchburg, Virginia (14.0), Meridian, Mississippi (14.2), and Tupelo (16.1). Among non-black patients (including white, Hispanic, Asian, and others), the amputation rate was less than 1 per 1,000 in Takoma Park, Maryland (0.9) and Royal Oak (0.9) and more than 4 per 1,000 in Lynchburg (4.1) and Tupelo (4.7).

While amputation rates among black patients were higher than others in each of the 306 hospital referral regions, the differences in some were small. For example, in San Antonio, Texas, amputation rates among black and non-black patients were nearly identical during 2007-11 (3.2 and 3.0 per 1,000, respectively). This was a result of the San Antonio region having relatively high amputation rates for non-black patients and below average rates for black patients. By contrast, in Monroe, Louisiana, amputation rates among black patients (7.9) were more than five times higher than among non-black patients (1.5). Tupelo had the highest amputation rates for both black and non-black patients, but the rate among black patients was more than three times higher (16.1 versus 4.7 per 1,000).

The results shown highlight one of the major persistent findings in the care of patients at risk for amputation. Across the United States, the risk of amputation averages between 2 and 3 per 1,000 patients with diabetes and peripheral arterial disease. However, this rate can be up to eight times higher in some places, especially among black patients. In fact, when comparing black and non-black patients, the lowest-risk black patients have higher risk of amputation than nearly all non-black patients. Further, the extent of variation—the distance from the bottom dots, indicative of the regions with the lowest amputation risk, to the top dots, indicative of the regions with the highest amputation risk—is much more dramatic among black patients when compared to other patients (Figure 3.2). These data leave little doubt where the focus on amputation prevention needs to be directed.



Map 3.1. Leg amputation per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD (2007-11) Rates are adjusted for age, sex, and race.

Treatment options: Effectiveness, trade-offs, and knowledge gaps about preventive and invasive approaches

Several approaches are available to limit the risk of amputation for patients with severe diabetes and PAD. Wounds on the feet and poor circulation carry a sizeable potential risk of amputation for these patients and require interventions focused on improving blood flow to the legs to allow wounds the best possible chance to heal. At the same time, patients are in need of preventive treatments aimed at treating the complications of diabetes and PAD. First and foremost, preventive measures, such as those outlined in the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS), can help to prevent problems such as foot ulceration or cellulitis that may lead to amputation.¹³⁻¹⁵ These preventive treatments are simple, inexpensive, and vital to the care of patients with diabetes, not just with respect to their legs, but in terms of their overall lives.^{15,16} These measures focus on four key goals: tests to examine the quality of blood sugar control; foot care aimed at limiting the presence of ulcerations; testing and treatment of high cholesterol; and smoking cessation. All have been shown to limit the risk of limb loss. However, the use of these preventive measures by patients faced with limb amputation varies widely.



Figure 3.3. Percent of diabetic Medicare beneficiaries receiving cholesterol testing by race among hospital referral regions (2010)

Each blue dot represents the rate of blood lipids testing among patients age 65-75 with diabetes in one of 306 hospital referral regions in the U.S. Rates are unadjusted.

Given that preventive treatments are evidence-based, nearly universally available, and inexpensive, one might expect that their use would be high. However, as shown in Maps 3.2 and 3.3, there are marked differences in the use of these basic services in different regions of the United States. For example, while an average 80.7% of diabetic patients had at least one blood lipids test to check their cholesterol in 2010, testing levels were much lower in hospital referral regions in the central and mountain states-including Casper, Wyoming (53.9%) and Albuquerque, New Mexico (60.9%)-than in the Northeast and in Florida regions such as Ocala (89.4%) and Clearwater (88.7%) (Map 3.2). Rates of hemoglobin A1c testing, a measure of the quality of blood glucose control, averaged 83.8% during 2010. Testing rates were relatively low in southern and western regions, including Albuquergue (66.9%), Anchorage, Alaska (69.8%), and Lawton, Oklahoma (73.8%), compared to regions in the upper Midwest, including Dubuque, Iowa (92.8%), Rochester, Minnesota (92.7%), and Marshfield, Wisconsin (92.3%) (Map 3.3).



Map 3.2. Percent of diabetic Medicare beneficiaries receiving cholesterol testing (2010) Rates are unadjusted.

Two major findings are evident in these maps and Figures 3.3 and 3.4. First, there are broad differences in the best and worst performing regions, in terms of the provision of preventive measures for patients with diabetes. Second, while there is variation by region, there are also differences by race; black patients are less likely to be treated with preventive measures, on average, across the country. While 81.5% of non-black diabetic patients received a blood lipids test in 2010, only 75.2% of black diabetic patients had this test. Similarly, 84.2% of non-black patients had hemoglobin A1c tests in 2010, while 80.9% of black patients had them.



Map 3.3. Percent of diabetic Medicare beneficiaries receiving hemoglobin A1c testing (2010) Rates are unadjusted.



Figure 3.4. Percent of diabetic Medicare beneficiaries receiving hemoglobin A1c testing by race among hospital referral regions (2010)

Each blue dot represents the rate of hemoglobin A1c testing among patients age 65-75 with diabetes in one of 306 hospital referral regions in the U.S. Rates are unadjusted. Preventive measures are not the only beneficial services available for patients with diabetes and PAD. After the preventive strategies have been optimized, patients with diabetes, PAD, and wounds or ulcerations generally improve most rapidly if blood flow to their feet is improved. The strategies that are available for increasing blood flow vary, but can be combined into two basic categories: endovascular treatments such as balloons or stents, or open surgical procedures such as bypass surgery (Figure 3.5).



Which of the treatment strategies is the most effective? Do the different treatments complement one another, or is there a synergy effect? These questions are still debated, and patients, providers, and payers remain uncertain as to which strategy-or combination of strategies-is the most effective at limiting the risk of amputation.^{17,18} Each of these strategies brings trade-offs for patients, physicians, and society. While preventive measures are inexpensive and non-invasive, they may not arrest the most severe disease in an advanced state. Conversely, if invasive procedures are overused in low-risk patients, the risks may outweigh the potential benefits and result in increased costs that society must bear in the care of these chronically ill patients. Invasive vascular treatments are expensive. Balloons, stents, and catheter-based treatments, especially atherectomy devices, range in cost from a few hundred to several thousand dollars for each treatment, and some procedures can involve several treatments per artery. Similarly, surgical procedures, such as lower extremity bypass surgery, can involve a long hospital stay and complex recovery, resulting in costs that can extend above tens of thousands of dollars.

Figure 3.5. Types of revascularization Source: The Society for Vascular Surgery, 2004-05.

Decision quality and shared decision-making

Which of these treatment strategies is the best and how should physicians and caregivers advise patients and families who are faced with potential limb loss from diabetes and PAD? Significant gaps in knowledge exist in terms of which of these strategies will offer patients the best outcomes at the lowest risk.^{11,19} The variation in the treatment of these conditions indicates that many physicians and patients choose vastly different treatment strategies, introducing potentially wasteful, and at times even potentially harmful, variation in treatment.

Patients with diabetes and peripheral arterial disease are faced with difficult decisions regarding their health care. "How should I care for my diabetes? Is my blood sugar well controlled? Do I need an invasive procedure to keep me from losing my leg?" When important questions such as these are faced by patients and their health care providers, decision aids can offer guidance and consistency, and often improve the quality of a patient's decision.

	Decisio	onents		
Treatment Options	Patient Needs	Decision Support	Decision Quality	Patient Outcomes
 Preventive care a. Blood sugar monitoring b. Diabetic foot care c. Smoking cessation d. Cholesterol monitoring Surgical and diagnostic interventions a. Diagnostic endovascular procedure b. Endovascular procedure c. Open bypass surgery 	Clarification of individual values and preferences Knowledge of procedure risks, benefits, and other considerations	Continuously updated, patient- specific data regarding risks and benefits Guidance for the patient/surgeon interaction Other considerations	Assessment of patient knowledge and understanding Assessment of congruence with pre-specified values and preferences	Measurement of: Adherence to preventive care Patient satisfaction Quality of life

Figure 3.6. Conceptual model for decision support process

Many groups and societies have established web sites and resources aimed at helping patients make the best decisions about their care, especially care related to diabetes and peripheral arterial disease. For example, the American Diabetes Association has created patient information sites aimed at improving understanding about the care of foot wounds among patients with diabetes (www.americandiabetesassociation.org). Similarly, the Society for Vascular Surgery has web-based information available for patients who need treatments for vascular disease (www. vascularweb.org). But while educational tools improve patients' understanding of their disease and its treatments, work is still needed to help patients better understand what treatments will offer them the best results.

As outlined in this report, patients with diabetes and peripheral arterial disease are at risk for foot problems that may lead to amputation. While successfully navigating these health problems is difficult, resources are available at:

The Society for Vascular Surgery: www.vascularweb.org/vascularhealth/Pages/diabetic-vascular-disease.aspx

The American Diabetes Organization: www.diabetes.org/living-with-diabetes/complications/foot-complications/

The Diabetic Foot Blog, from the Southern Arizona Limb Salvage Alliance (SALSA): diabeticfootonline.blogspot.com/

The Society for Vascular Surgery's Vascular Quality Initiative (VQI)

Determining the outcomes of treatments is complex when the illnesses are as broad and complex as diabetes and PAD. Few resources exist to provide the most current information to patients. To address this gap, in 2002, vascular surgeons in New England began a regional vascular quality improvement initiative called the Vascular Study Group of New England, modeled after similar regional quality improvement initiatives started by the Northern New England Cardiovascular Study Group. This regional effort in New England has expanded to become the National Vascular Quality Initiative (www.vascularqualityinitiative.org), or VQI. The VQI records outcomes across the country for hundreds of thousands of patients with vascular disease. While many questions still remain, these efforts have made important contributions toward a better understanding of vascular care. Early efforts have seen the VQI achieve success in limiting length of stay after vascular operations and helping to standardize approaches to post-operative care after surgery.



Map 3.4. The Society for Vascular Surgery's fifteen regional quality groups participating in Vascular Quality Initiative (VQI)



Figure 3.7. Example of a VQI benchmarking graph

The VQI benchmarking graph allows a center to compare its results to other participants across several criteria, including pre-operative risk factors, intra-procedural variables, post-procedural outcomes, and one-year follow-up data.

During surgery

Cross sectional rates of competing treatments

For patients with diabetes and PAD, preventive measures are underused, especially for black patients, and their use varies nationwide. Similarly, the use of revascularization treatments also varies dramatically for patients with diabetes and PAD. An examination of cohorts of patients at high risk for limb loss—patients with diabetes, PAD, and severe wounds on their feet requiring hospitalization—revealed that, in some regions of the United States, invasive vascular care was rarely provided, while in other regions, vascular interventions, including interventional procedures and surgical bypass operations, were common.^{10,11} The use of these procedures also varied markedly by patient race. Further, while the rates of revascularization were higher among black patients in many regions, the extent of variation for both endovascular procedures and open bypass surgery was much more dramatic among black patients, indicative of a poorer understanding of what works best to limit amputation risk for these high-risk patients.

The average rate of therapeutic endovascular interventions for Medicare patients with diabetes and PAD in the United States during the period from 2007 to 2011 was 14.1 per 1,000 beneficiaries. The rate varied more than sixfold across hospital referral regions, from fewer than 6 procedures per 1,000 patients in Columbus, Georgia (4.8), Boulder, Colorado (5.4), and Honolulu (5.5) to more than 30 in Petoskey, Michigan (33.5) and Munster, Indiana (32.0) (Map 3.5). The national average rate among black patients (19.7) was nearly 50% higher than the rate



among non-black patients (13.3). Rates among black patients also varied dramatically, from fewer than 5 procedures per 1,000 in Columbus, Georgia (4.8) to more than 40 in Lafayette, Louisiana (42.9), Amarillo, Texas (41.7), and Hattiesburg, Mississippi (41.7). Among non-black patients, the rate varied less—but still more than fivefold—from fewer than 6 per 1,000 in Columbus (5.6) and Rochester, New York (5.9) to more than 30 in Munster (33.0) (Figure 3.8).

Figure 3.8. Therapeutic endovascular interventions per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD by race among hospital referral regions (2007-11)

Each blue dot represents the rate of therapeutic endovascular procedures among patients with diabetes and PAD in one of 306 hospital referral regions in the U.S. Rates are adjusted for age and sex.



Map 3.5. Therapeutic endovascular interventions per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD (2007-11) Rates are adjusted for age, sex, and race.

During 2007-11, the average rate of open leg bypass surgery was 4.1 per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD. This rate varied from fewer than 2 to more than 9 procedures per 1,000 among hospital referral regions. Open leg procedures occurred relatively infrequently in the Ogden, Utah (1.4), Houma, Louisiana (1.5), and Provo, Utah (1.6) hospital referral regions. These procedures were much more common in the Medford, Oregon (9.4), Corpus Christi, Texas (8.6), and Wausau, Wisconsin (8.2) regions (Map 3.6). Rates of open leg bypass were about 30% higher among black patients than other patients (5.2 versus 4.0 procedures per 1,000). Among black patients, the rate varied from fewer than 3 procedures per 1,000 in several regions—including Winston-Salem, North Carolina (2.1), Tupelo, Mississippi (2.5), Jackson, Tennessee (2.6), and Lexington, Kentucky (2.7)—to



more than 10 per 1,000 in Mobile, Alabama (13.5), Portland, Oregon (11.2), Corpus Christi (10.4), and Bridgeport, Connecticut (10.4). There was less variation among non-black patients, but the rate still varied more than fourfold, from 1.8 procedures per 1,000 in Meridian, Mississippi to 8.3 per 1,000 in Corpus Christi (Figure 3.9).

Figure 3.9. Open leg procedures per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD by race among hospital referral regions (2007-11)

Each blue dot represents the rate of open leg procedures among patients with diabetes and PAD in one of 306 hospital referral regions in the U.S. Rates are adjusted for age and sex.



Map 3.6. Open leg procedures per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD (2007-11) Rates are adjusted for age, sex, and race.

Risk factors associated with poor outcomes after surgical revascularization

Within the Vascular Quality Initiative, vascular surgeons have worked to improve the information available to physicians and patients about outcomes, as well as the processes of care that occur during surgery. For example, for patients faced with lower extremity bypass surgery, the risks of amputation or death may seem hard to quantify. Recent research in the Vascular Quality Initiative has identified specific patient characteristics, such as lack of an available conduit to construct a new artery, that are important determinants of success. But the relationships are exceedingly complex, and many clinical factors interact with other factors such as race to determine outcomes. Research to identify the benefits and risks of revascularization is complicated but promising.



Figure 3.10. Risk factors associated with poor outcomes after surgical revascularization



After surgery

Readmission or re-intervention following treatment for peripheral arterial disease

Hospital readmission is a common complication among patients with complex illnesses, and patients undergoing vascular procedures have among the highest rates of hospital readmission within 30 days of discharge. The national rate of readmission following revascularization procedures was 17.9% during 2007-11. In some regions, such as Sioux City, Iowa, hospital readmission after revascularization was common, happening to nearly one out of three patients who underwent a revascularization procedure. In other regions, such as Redding, California, readmission was much less common; about one in ten patients who underwent a revascularization procedure were readmitted within 30 days.

Table 3.1. Thirty-day readmission rates after any revascularization procedure among patients with diabetes and PAD (2007-11)					
HRR	State	Percent of patients with diabetes/PAD readmitted within 30 days following any procedure (2007-11)			
10 highest HRRs					
Sioux City	IA	30.7%			
Sioux Falls	SD	29.4%			
Paducah	КҮ	28.8%			
Roanoke	VA	27.6%			
Neenah	WI	27.3%			
Johnson City	TN	26.3%			
Worcester	MA	25.9%			
St. Cloud	MN	25.8%			
Montgomery	AL	25.4%			
Appleton	WI	24.9%			
10 lowest HRRs					
Fort Collins	СО	12.6%			
Owensboro	КҮ	12.3%			
Winchester	VA	12.3%			
Kettering	OH	12.1%			
Tupelo	MS	12.1%			
Ogden	UT	11.8%			
St. Joseph	MI	11.5%			
Ocala	FL	10.9%			
Rapid City	SD	10.5%			
Redding	CA	10.4%			

Quality and results: outcomes that matter to patients

The most important outcomes after revascularization procedures to patients with peripheral arterial disease and diabetes are simple and clear. "Have I had to suffer amputation? Can I live independently? Can I walk?" These are the questions that are central to patients' health goals. Procedure rates and the amount of preventive care received by patients are important to measure, for physicians and policymakers alike. However, what matters most to patients is to keep their legs and to walk. The ability to walk—even if it is only for short distances, such as from the bed to the restroom or the bed to the kitchen table to eat—is vital for independent living. Therefore, a key outcome of surgery to improve blood supply to the limbs of diabetic patients is ambulatory status. A patient who retains the ability to walk when faced with foot wounds, diabetes, and peripheral arterial disease is a success story.^{20,21}



Figure 3.11. Conceptual model for amputation as a quality measure

Vascular care in the year prior to amputation can provide insight about the overall quality of vascular care.

The ability to walk, however, cannot be measured easily using Medicare billing data. For this reason, members of the Vascular Quality Initiative studied how common it was for patients faced with limb-threatening situations to be able to continue walking. The study found that, if they survived the challenges associated with their diabetes and PAD, most patients retained their ability to walk and live independently within the first year after lower extremity revascularization.²² However, the analysis also found that patients who were unable to walk before surgery-such as those who were bedridden, often living in nursing homeswere almost always unable to walk after surgery. The importance of acting to provide revascularization while there is still a

chance to keep the person walking was an important lesson for both surgeons and patients. In combination with preventive measures, the treatment of these patients with revascularization offers an excellent likelihood of a good outcome; the patient has the chance to retain the ability to walk and live independently, as long as he or she begins the process in reasonably good health.

Even if patients with diabetes and PAD are treated with revascularization, they remain at risk for amputation. Sometimes the increased blood flow after revascularization is not sustained. Despite revascularization, preventive care, and other treatments, factors like continued smoking and poor medical compliance might lead patients to lose their legs. Unfortunately, because these risks remain, the failure of "limb salvage"—the goal of preventing the patient from losing their limb—among patients with diabetes and PAD is common.²³



Long-term effects of treatment on patients with diabetes and peripheral arterial disease

Patients face complex treatment choices that involve the likelihood that they will survive after revascularization with an intact limb, as well as whether or not they are likely to need repeated interventions if their revascularization treatment does not prove durable. Because many of these events may happen at a distant time in the future, it can often be difficult for patients to understand the chances of these events occurring. A better understanding of these risks will help patients and surgeons make the best treatment choices—both before surgery (e.g., whether to have a blood vessel operation at all) and after surgery (e.g., whether to undergo revisions, repairs, and surveillance of existing bypass operations).



Figure 3.12. Risks of complications two years following a vascular procedure

Figures 3.13A and 3.13B show the likelihood of amputation within the first two years after revascularization. These figures provide an illustration of the long-term effectiveness of revascularization procedures—both open surgical bypass, as well as endovascular interventions—in helping patients avoid amputation. Four out of five patients will still be alive and avoid amputation two years after their initial treatment for wounds that threaten them with limb loss. The results are worse for black patients when compared to non-black patients. Table 3.2 lists the hospital referral regions with the 10 highest and 10 lowest rates of amputation-free survival following revascularization for both black and non-black patients.







Figure 3.13B. Amputation-free survival after endovascular therapeutic or open surgery procedures among black and non-black patients with diabetes and PAD (2007-11)

Table 3.2. Amputation-free survival after any vascular procedure among black and non-black patients with diabetes and PAD (2007-11)							
Black patients			Non-black patients				
10 highest HRRs			10 highest HRRs				
Gary	IN	76.2%	Yakima	WA	83.4%		
Boston	MA	73.7%	Owensboro	KY	83.2%		
Washington	DC	73.6%	Sarasota	FL	82.9%		
Wilmington	NC	73.4%	Ocala	FL	82.8%		
Detroit	MI	72.4%	St. Joseph	MI	82.6%		
Beaumont	ТХ	71.9%	Davenport	IA	82.6%		
Birmingham	AL	71.8%	Tupelo	MS	82.0%		
Pensacola	FL	71.6%	Texarkana	AR	81.9%		
Wilmington	DE	71.1%	Traverse City	MI	81.9%		
Little Rock	AR	70.7%	Wichita Falls	ТХ	81.9%		
10 lowest HRRs			10 lowest HRRs				
Philadelphia	PA	64.4%	Ridgewood	NJ	68.2%		
Louisville	KY	63.6%	Lynchburg	VA	68.1%		
Manhattan	NY	63.6%	Honolulu	HI	67.9%		
St. Louis	MO	63.1%	Akron	OH	67.8%		
Charleston	SC	62.2%	Roanoke	VA	67.7%		
Arlington	VA	62.2%	Canton	OH	67.5%		
Dallas	ТХ	61.0%	Olympia	WA	67.2%		
Jackson	MS	60.6%	Bronx	NY	67.0%		
Macon	GA	60.5%	Salinas	CA	66.7%		
Savannah	GA	53.7%	Appleton	WI	64.9%		

Once patients undergo revascularization, there is a risk that improved blood flow will not continue. Patients may need a second procedure to reestablish adequate blood flow to the legs, called a "re-intervention." Figures 3.14A and 3.14B demonstrate that this is a fairly common occurrence. The likelihood of this complication occurring is higher among black patients than others.



Figure 3.14A. Re-intervention-free survival after any vascular procedure among black and non-black patients with diabetes and PAD (2007-11)



Figure 3.14B. Re-intervention-free survival after endovascular therapeutic or open surgery procedures among black and non-black patients with diabetes and PAD (2007-11)
Table 3.3. Re-intervention-free survival after any vascular procedure among black and non-black patients with diabetes and PAD (2007-11)										
Black patients			Non-black patients							
10 highest HRRs			10 highest HRRs							
Florence	SC	55.0%	Owensboro	KY	68.5%					
Orlando	FL	53.1%	Kingsport	TN	65.2%					
Charlotte	NC	52.8%	Texarkana	AR	65.0%					
Charleston	SC	52.5%	Santa Cruz	CA	65.0%					
Columbia	SC	52.1%	Tupelo	MS	62.4%					
Wilmington	NC	51.6%	Billings	MT	61.3%					
Milwaukee	WI	51.2%	Abilene	ТХ	61.3%					
Boston	MA	51.2%	Yakima	WA	61.2%					
Birmingham	AL	51.0%	Wichita Falls	ТХ	60.5%					
Greenville	NC	50.2%	Winston-Salem	NC	60.4%					
10 lowest HRRs			10 lowest HRRs							
Cleveland	OH	40.3%	Corpus Christi	ТХ	43.6%					
Lafayette	LA	40.0%	Sioux City	IA	43.0%					
Takoma Park	MD	39.7%	Muskegon	MI	42.8%					
Baton Rouge	LA	39.7%	Olympia	WA	42.1%					
Dallas	ТХ	39.1%	El Paso	ТХ	41.0%					
East Long Island	NY	38.3%	Bronx	NY	41.0%					
Augusta	GA	38.1%	Appleton	WI	40.7%					
Indianapolis	IN	36.0%	Terre Haute	IN	40.5%					
Bronx	NY	36.0%	Munster	IN	40.1%					
Manhattan	NY	34.8%	Medford	OR	37.9%					

Beyond surgery

How variation in treatments for diabetes and PAD reflects opportunities for improvement

This report reveals significant variation in the approaches to the treatment of diabetes and PAD chosen by patients and physicians. These differences are striking, not only for preventive treatments, but also in the use of invasive treatments designed to limit the devastating effects of these diseases. Depending on a variety of influential factors—race, the part of the country in which they live, as well as the choices made by the physicians caring for them—patients may or may not receive important preventive care.

The findings of this report suggest that there are areas of "low-hanging fruit" that reflect opportunities for improvement, especially in poorer regions of the United States and among black patients, where increases in the use of preventive care and vascular treatments are likely to have an immediate impact. Further, while most of these procedures are effective when utilized for patients whom they are likely to help, more work is necessary to identify precisely which patients are most likely to benefit from invasive and non-invasive strategies. Finally, improving prevention, focusing on variation in procedure rates, and limiting the need for re-intervention are three areas where improving the care of patients with diabetes and vascular disease can make a real difference in the lives of these high-risk patients.

These efforts are needed most, and will have the greatest impact, in the regions of the United States where the amputation risk is the highest. There are many regions where amputation is common, such as the rural southeastern states. In these regions, especially among black patients, the risk of amputation is several times higher than in nearly all other regions of the country. This report suggests that, while a comprehensive approach is necessary, focusing on black patients in poor, rural regions of the United States is likely to be the best place to start. This approach will have the most impact—and likely the greatest challenge towards implementation—as high limb loss rates have been a part of life for many years in rural portions of the southern United States.

An integrated, multifaceted approach will be the most effective tool in improving care and limiting amputation risk for high-risk patients. Primary care physicians must engage patients with preventive measures and educate them about risk factor modification. Surgeons and interventionalists should aim to limit invasive treatment to patients who have received proper medical management in order to achieve the best possible outcomes. Finally, continued attention to the measurement and improvement of the quality of vascular care, especially to measuring patient-centered outcomes that demonstrate the long-term value of vascular care, will be a major focus for regional registries, physicians, and payers in the years to come.

HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD			Leg amputation pe diabetes and PAD	er 1,000 Medicare b	eneficiaries with	Therapeutic endovascular interventions per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD		
		Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black
Birmingham	AL	141,039	26,044	114,995	2.7	5.9	2.3	16.2	22.7	15.3
Dothan	AL	30,100	5,886	24,214	3.1	8.6	2.2	15.9	24.4	14.6
Huntsville	AL	41,051	5,222	35,829	2.9	7.5	2.3	14.7	18.6	14.2
Mobile	AL	43,842	9,806	34,036	3.4	8.8	2.6	21.4	27.2	21.0
Montgomery	AL	25,361	8,657	16,704	2.6	7.0	1.7	8.6	13.3	7.5
Tuscaloosa	AL	16,920	5,267	11,653	3.9	9.8	2.9	22.1	23.7	24.1
Anchorage	AK	18,541	734	17,807	2.3			11.5		
Mesa	AZ	39,750	1,266	38,484	1.5			18.3	22.4	17.5
Phoenix	AZ	111,852	3,393	108,459	2.0	3.3	1.7	17.0	29.3	15.9
Sun City	AZ	24,450	575	23,875	1.9			14.3		
Tucson	AZ	40,429	1,258	39,171	2.7			13.1	14.5	12.5
Fort Smith	AR	21,493	505	20,988	4.9			9.9		
Jonesboro	AR	14,541	306	14,235	2.9			15.3		
Little Rock	AR	90,541	13,395	77,146	3.5	8.7	2.7	19.8	28.1	18.7
Springdale	AR	21,498	95	21,403	3.0			15.2		
Texarkana	AR	17,819	3,168	14,651	3.9	11.6	2.7	11.6	13.9	11.5
Orange County	CA	107,926	1,732	106,194	1.4			7.5	14.6	7.1
Bakersfield	CA	44,038	1,537	42,501	3.1			20.4	30.0	19.3
Chico	CA	21,337	304	21,033	1.6			13.9		
Contra Costa County	CA	25,035	1,937	23,098	1.9			14.2	19.4	13.5
Fresno	CA	51,920	2,829	49,091	2.5	6.3	2.0	12.1	15.2	11.6
Los Angeles	CA	381,344	37,056	344,288	1.7	4.5	1.3	10.8	21.0	9.6
Modesto	CA	39,114	1,489	37,625	2.0			20.2	20.3	19.5
Napa	CA	11,797	187	11,610	2.1			24.1		
Alameda County	CA	38,909	6,491	32,418	2.3	6.1	1.7	11.7	10.6	12.2
Palm Spa/Rancho Mirage	CA	16,976	400	16,576	2.5			10.6		
Redding	CA	20,728	163	20,565	1.3			20.9		
Sacramento	CA	81,816	4,875	76,941	1.8	4.7	1.5	11.0	16.1	10.4
Salinas	CA	22,073	1,206	20,867	3.8			10.2	15.5	9.6
San Bernardino	CA	68,378	6,989	61,389	1.9	3.0	1.7	11.1	12.1	10.9
San Diego	CA	113,518	5,648	107,870	2.0	2.1	1.8	16.3	23.1	15.4
San Francisco	CA	42,399	5,070	37,329	2.2	5.9	1.7	8.8	11.0	8.5
San Jose	CA	53,107	1,186	51,921	1.8			11.7	15.2	11.1
San Luis Obispo	CA	12,532	113	12,419	1.4			7.4		
San Mateo County	CA	19,700	895	18,805	2.1			18.9	22.1	18.1
Santa Barbara	CA	19,362	626	18,736	2.6			10.6		
Santa Cruz	CA	10,270	125	10,145	3.4			14.0		
Santa Rosa	CA	13,687	194	13,493	2.9			15.2		
Stockton	CA	20,751	1,862	18,889	1.5			17.0	22.5	16.3
Ventura	CA	35,102	880	34,222	1.9			16.5	18.7	15.7
Boulder	CO	5,764	56	5,708	2.7			5.4		
Colorado Springs	CO	28,373	1,541	26,832	2.5			8.2	11.6	7.7

Open leg bypass provide the second se	ocedures per 1,000 M AD	edicare beneficiaries	Percent of diabetic N receiving blood lipids	Medicare beneficiaries s testing	(age 65-75)	Percent of diabetic N receiving hemoglobi	Nedicare beneficiaries n A1c testing	(age 65-75)
Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black
4.3	6.3	3.9	80.2	74.9	81.5	83.8	81.5	84.4
3.4	3.6	3.4	79.7	76.6	80.5	84.4	84.4	84.5
3.3	3.6	3.3	79.9	72.8	81.2	85.1	80.2	86.0
7.7	13.5	6.3	76.1	71.0	77.7	80.3	79.5	80.6
4.7	6.3	4.3	78.0	73.8	80.3	82.8	81.6	83.5
5.8	6.8	5.9	82.9	80.9	83.9	84.3	84.8	84.0
2.8			66.0	58.7	66.3	69.8	64.6	70.0
3.9			82.4	79.7	82.5	83.1	83.5	83.1
3.5	4.6	3.4	73.9	78.8	73.8	76.3	78.7	76.2
3.3			82.9	82.2	83.0	84.4	86.1	84.4
5.1			75.5	61.4	76.1	78.7	68.7	79.1
3.2			67.5	61.2	67.6	75.4	82.8	75.2
3.1			76.7	64.3	77.0	83.9	79.8	84.0
4.5	6.9	4.1	75.6	68.7	76.8	82.5	81.4	82.7
3.4			75.7			80.8	81.3	80.8
4.9	5.9	4.7	78.1	72.9	79.2	81.9	81.6	81.9
2.5			84.9	76.1	85.0	82.8	78.7	82.9
4.0	7.5	3.8	80.2	76.9	80.3	79.0	73.9	79.2
5.0			78.3	71.4	78.4	77.9	78.6	77.9
3.5			77.8	66.3	79.0	79.6	67.6	80.9
3.5	4.6	3.4	78.9	76.1	79.0	81.3	76.6	81.6
2.9	5.4	2.7	80.3	72.1	81.2	79.0	71.8	79.8
5.2	7.7	5.0	79.5	74.9	79.6	82.6	83.8	82.5
5.5			77.8	86.8	77.6	81.9	86.8	81.8
3.9	8.1	3.2	77.8	66.8	80.3	78.0	70.0	79.7
4.0			82.4	68.2	82.8	79.6	71.6	79.8
4.6			78.1	76.5	78.1	82.7	88.2	82.7
4.4	6.7	4.2	79.6	73.0	80.0	81.0	76.3	81.3
4.2			83.8	72.9	84.3	82.3	74.9	82.7
3.3	3.6	3.3	78.3	74.6	78.7	76.9	73.8	77.2
4.5	6.8	4.3	81.0	72.7	81.5	82.3	75.5	82.7
4.4	7.6	3.9	75.7	64.2	77.5	79.9	74.1	80.8
3.0			75.6	64.6	75.9	85.3	85.0	85.3
4.7			82.1	88.5	82.0	85.4	84.6	85.4
4.3			82.1	75.7	82.4	83.7	82.9	83.8
3.8			83.4	80.6	83.5	86.7	84.3	86.7
2.4			80.7	84.4	80.6	82.9	87.5	82.8
5.3			77.4	65.0	77.6	80.0	75.0	80.1
4.6			81.9	78.4	82.2	82.0	79.7	82.2
5.2			79.8	71.1	80.1	82.4	77.4	82.6
			80.6	81.3	80.6	83.7	81.3	83.7
4.3			70.7	59.2	71.4	77.0	68.2	77.6

HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD			Leg amputation pe diabetes and PAD	er 1,000 Medicare b	eneficiaries with	n Therapeutic endovascular interventions per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD		
		Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black
Denver	CO	55,321	3,507	51,814	2.5	4.7	2.1	9.7	14.5	9.1
Fort Collins	CO	10,859	126	10,733	1.3			15.4		
Grand Junction	CO	7,540	12	7,528	2.9			8.4		
Greeley	CO	13,204	27	13,177	3.2			11.6		
Pueblo	CO	9,354	157	9,197	2.0			7.0		
Bridgeport	СТ	33,657	4,616	29,041	2.3	6.8	1.6	18.5	31.5	16.6
Hartford	СТ	90,626	6,631	83,995	2.7	6.1	2.3	8.6	11.3	8.2
New Haven	СТ	92,616	6,846	85,770	2.8	6.9	2.3	11.8	18.5	11.0
Wilmington	DE	59,663	11,786	47,877	2.5	5.3	2.1	13.2	15.8	13.2
Washington	DC	150,419	53,229	97,190	2.2	4.6	2.1	14.0	21.2	12.4
Bradenton	FL	25,024	1,147	23,877	1.3			26.5	36.6	25.1
Clearwater	FL	34,540	1,000	33,540	2.3			18.6	23.2	17.7
Fort Lauderdale	FL	180,908	13,822	167,086	1.4	5.1	1.1	11.7	20.3	10.7
Fort Myers	FL	103,603	4,310	99,293	1.7	5.0	1.4	14.1	16.7	13.5
Gainesville	FL	40,436	6,263	34,173	2.3	7.4	1.5	18.7	22.3	18.5
Hudson	FL	40,030	935	39,095	1.8			12.8		
Jacksonville	FL	104,844	19,630	85,214	1.7	4.7	1.3	16.3	22.5	15.5
Lakeland	FL	24,661	2,152	22,509	1.3			12.6	14.1	12.3
Miami	FL	160,910	15,710	145,200	1.8	4.4	1.4	9.0	16.7	8.1
Ocala	FL	71,290	3,442	67,848	1.5	3.7	1.2	24.0	22.3	23.2
Orlando	FL	256,687	23,878	232,809	2.3	6.4	1.8	14.7	17.6	14.3
Ormond Beach	FL	33,451	2,930	30,521	1.7	3.6	1.5	14.6	17.7	14.1
Panama City	FL	16,549	1,846	14,703	2.7	6.0	2.3	20.0	19.1	20.0
Pensacola	FL	61,571	7,681	53,890	1.8	5.6	1.3	18.5	24.3	17.8
Sarasota	FL	45,670	1,674	43,996	1.2			16.3	25.2	15.4
St. Petersburg	FL	24,875	2,561	22,314	2.9	9.0	2.1	15.1	19.4	14.5
Tallahassee	FL	42,556	11,349	31,207	2.4	6.0	1.9	15.0	23.2	13.5
Tampa	FL	61,247	6,166	55,081	1.6	2.9	1.4	13.9	18.8	13.2
Albany	GA	12,395	4,446	7,949	3.3	7.2	3.0	19.1	34.2	14.1
Atlanta	GA	244,088	49,793	194,295	2.3	6.3	1.7	13.4	18.2	12.8
Augusta	GA	38,957	11,531	27,426	2.2	6.1	1.4	15.2	23.4	13.6
Columbus	GA	24,733	8,585	16,148	2.0	3.9	2.1	4.8	4.8	5.6
Macon	GA	50,418	14,386	36,032	2.6	6.6	2.0	13.8	22.5	11.8
Rome	GA	19,441	1,433	18,008	3.8	11.2	2.9	15.1	18.9	14.4
Savannah	GA	48,196	13,107	35,089	3.0	7.9	2.1	14.8	21.8	13.6
Honolulu	HI	53,722	354	53,368	2.8			5.5		
Boise	ID	24,945	88	24,857	2.5			8.6		
Idaho Falls	ID	9,314						8.1		
Aurora	IL	11,776	953	10,823	2.0			21.3	27.2	20.4
Blue Island	IL	62,029	15,946	46,083	1.5	2.6	1.5	15.4	17.9	15.8
Chicago	IL	128,243	57,095	71,148	1.7	3.4	2.0	11.9	14.1	13.4
Elgin	IL	36,097	677	35,420	2.4			18.9	32.4	17.8

Open leg bypass prowith diabetes and P	ocedures per 1,000 Me AD	edicare beneficiaries	Percent of diabetic M receiving blood lipid	Medicare beneficiaries s testing	(age 65-75)	Percent of diabetic I receiving hemoglob	Aedicare beneficiaries n A1c testing	(age 65-75)
Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black
3.3	4.6	3.2	76.5	68.1	77.1	81.8	75.4	82.3
3.2			75.4	63.0	75.5	82.3	81.5	82.4
4.3			71.2			85.4		
3.1			74.1			83.7		
2.6			74.2	75.7	74.1	83.4	86.5	83.3
7.0	10.4	6.5	81.8	73.8	83.7	81.4	78.2	82.2
5.9	7.7	5.6	84.0	77.7	84.7	86.9	84.8	87.1
5.2	5.9	5.1	82.3	71.7	83.5	84.6	80.7	85.0
5.1	5.7	5.1	82.1	76.9	83.7	82.4	80.4	83.0
4.1	6.3	3.2	81.8	77.5	84.4	82.9	79.6	84.7
2.2			84.4	72.6	85.2	83.8	73.8	84.4
3.6			88.7	80.9	89.1	87.1	79.8	87.3
3.1	4.8	2.9	87.2	80.6	88.2	85.2	81.9	85.7
3.4	3.4	3.4	87.8	80.3	88.3	86.4	81.5	86.6
3.8	4.7	3.6	80.6	74.6	81.7	83.0	82.7	83.1
3.1			88.3	87.4	88.3	85.3	81.4	85.4
3.5	3.8	3.5	83.5	79.5	84.4	82.7	80.9	83.2
3.6			87.0	80.9	87.6	85.1	80.4	85.6
2.8	3.2	2.7	88.2	80.0	89.5	84.3	79.8	85.0
3.6			89.4	83.9	89.6	87.7	86.6	87.7
4.0	4.3	4.0	86.5	82.1	87.0	84.6	82.6	84.8
4.6	6.2	4.4	88.2	84.7	88.6	85.1	84.0	85.3
3.2			77.0	74.1	77.4	77.0	76.9	77.0
6.1	9.3	5.7	80.7	76.0	81.3	79.8	78.8	80.0
4.2			86.7	77.1	87.1	87.4	83.3	87.6
5.0	8.9	4.5	84.0	80.7	84.6	83.2	83.4	83.1
3.5	5.0	3.2	79.6	75.1	81.2	82.5	80.2	83.4
4.5	4.2	4.5	84.6	76.1	85.7	83.5	80.6	83.9
4.0	5.1	3.8	78.0	72.7	81.3	77.1	73.8	79.2
3.9	4.8	3.8	82.7	78.3	83.9	85.7	84.6	86.1
2.9	4.3	2.5	76.4	72.0	78.4	80.6	78.7	81.4
4.2	4.0	4.8	76.4	72.7	78.6	80.6	78.9	81.6
3.0	3.5	3.1	76.8	72.3	78.6	81.4	80.8	81.6
4.3			82.3	78.0	82.7	86.0	84.6	86.2
3.3	3.1	3.5	82.8	78.4	84.4	85.3	83.6	85.9
3.7			83.2	64.4	83.3	83.3	65.5	83.4
4.6			77.3	78.3	77.3	83.1	78.3	83.1
2.5			72.5			79.3		
3.2			85.7	79.2	86.4	87.9	88.3	87.8
3.8	3.2	4.2	80.3	76.6	82.0	81.6	80.1	82.3
4.7	5.2	5.1	76.7	73.1	79.9	76.6	73.0	79.7
3.4			83.1	82.0	83.1	85.3	80.4	85.4

HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD			Leg amputation pe diabetes and PAD	er 1,000 Medicare b	eneficiaries with	Therapeutic endovascular interventions per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD		
		Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black
Evanston	IL	61,876	1,766	60,110	1.6			11.1	10.3	10.7
Hinsdale	IL	23,466	1,105	22,361	1.8			22.7	20.3	22.1
Joliet	IL	42,804	3,457	39,347	1.7			19.5	18.4	19.3
Melrose Park	IL	73,355	6,001	67,354	2.1	3.9	1.8	22.1	19.5	22.0
Peoria	IL	41,802	1,874	39,928	2.6	7.5	2.1	25.7	34.4	24.4
Rockford	IL	44,561	2,055	42,506	2.0			14.5	17.2	13.9
Springfield	IL	60,369	2,384	57,985	2.9	8.3	2.3	11.9	16.9	11.3
Urbana	IL	24,289	1,531	22,758	2.0			16.2	11.1	16.2
Bloomington	IL	9,216	246	8,970	1.4			19.9		
Evansville	IN	47,338	1,328	46,010	2.9			11.9	17.3	11.2
Fort Wayne	IN	41,984	1,696	40,288	2.0			15.0	29.6	13.8
Gary	IN	41,785	9,411	32,374	1.8	4.0	1.5	22.2	30.2	21.2
Indianapolis	IN	166,889	14,337	152,552	2.0	5.0	1.6	13.1	18.3	12.5
Lafayette	IN	11,938	114	11,824	3.5			13.1		
Muncie	IN	13,495	584	12,911	3.7			14.1		
Munster	IN	27,666	3,843	23,823	1.5	3.5	1.3	32.0	28.3	33.0
South Bend	IN	40,195	2,262	37,933	3.2	6.0	2.7	14.0	22.6	13.1
Terre Haute	IN	15,076	474	14,602	1.9			23.4		
Cedar Rapids	IA	15,996	235	15,761	2.4			21.2		
Davenport	IA	33,706	1,367	32,339	2.6			25.9	25.3	25.0
Des Moines	IA	60,623	1,098	59,525	2.4			12.7	10.8	12.2
Dubuque	IA	6,315			3.6			13.7		
Iowa City	IA	17,304	152	17,152	3.0			17.7		
Mason City	IA	11,158	18	11,140	2.3			9.6		
Sioux City	IA	14,812	81	14,731	1.4			12.0		
Waterloo	IA	14,568	678	13,890	2.1			14.6	19.1	13.9
Торека	KS	26,160	1,464	24,696	2.9			16.8	27.1	15.7
Wichita	KS	76,209	2,905	73,304	2.1			24.1	28.9	23.0
Covington	KY	18,732	321	18,411	2.8			18.7		
Lexington	KY	95,377	4,192	91,185	2.5	4.3	2.1	15.9	15.9	15.4
Louisville	KY	107,798	9,824	97,974	3.0	7.3	2.4	12.8	18.6	12.0
Owensboro	KY	13,872	452	13,420	2.4			13.8		
Paducah	KY	32,872	1,650	31,222	3.6			11.0	12.7	10.6
Alexandria	LA	21,256	5,072	16,184	3.7	9.2	2.9	20.0	28.1	18.9
Baton Rouge	LA	39,637	14,603	25,034	3.0	7.3	2.3	17.6	23.2	17.5
Houma	LA	17,660	2,803	14,857	3.0	6.2	2.7	23.1	26.5	23.0
Lafayette	LA	44,911	13,328	31,583	2.6	6.7	1.8	26.2	42.9	22.3
Lake Charles	LA	17,044	3,541	13,503	2.1	4.6	1.8	18.5	24.7	17.8
Metairie	LA	21,664	3,727	17,937	2.9	8.0	2.2	23.7	39.1	21.2
Monroe	LA	19,678	5,679	13,999	2.7	7.9	1.5	19.4	26.3	18.8
New Orleans	LA	21,539	10,499	11,040	3.0	6.8	2.6	14.6	21.5	12.9
Shreveport	LA	46,189	15,204	30,985	2.6	7.0	1.7	16.1	22.8	15.1

Open leg bypass prowith diabetes and P	ocedures per 1,000 Me AD	edicare beneficiaries	Percent of diabetic N receiving blood lipid	Medicare beneficiaries s testing	(age 65-75)	Percent of diabetic I receiving hemoglobi	Aedicare beneficiaries n A1c testing	(age 65-75)
Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black
3.6	8.6	3.3	84.5	75.9	84.8	87.1	82.9	87.3
2.3			84.8	78.4	85.3	85.9	83.4	86.0
3.0			81.4	76.7	81.8	84.0	80.6	84.3
3.7	4.1	3.7	82.6	76.0	83.4	84.1	77.8	84.9
3.8			83.4	77.2	83.7	86.6	84.3	86.7
4.7			81.6	75.3	82.0	86.4	83.1	86.6
3.9			79.8	73.5	80.1	86.5	84.6	86.6
5.2	7.1	5.0	82.2	74.6	82.8	87.0	82.6	87.3
3.5			86.5	83.9	86.6	88.9	90.3	88.9
4.7			79.3	62.3	79.8	80.7	78.5	80.7
4.1			78.8	70.0	79.2	85.1	81.6	85.2
5.3	7.0	5.1	74.1	70.6	75.1	80.0	75.3	81.4
5.0	7.0	4.8	76.0	63.4	77.2	84.0	82.7	84.1
4.8			55.7	54.3	55.8	86.2	82.9	86.2
4.4			80.1	74.5	80.4	86.9	83.2	87.1
4.2	7.1	3.8	78.6	73.5	79.7	80.4	75.9	81.3
4.4			79.7	74.8	80.0	85.1	81.6	85.3
4.0			78.4	66.7	78.8	83.4	80.2	83.5
4.2			83.5	62.7	83.8	90.7	78.4	90.9
2.4			84.3	75.6	84.7	88.4	87.1	88.4
4.5			82.4	75.5	82.5	89.6	85.2	89.7
3.7			84.9			92.8		
3.3			77.2	65.0	77.3	88.3	95.0	88.3
4.6			73.3			87.1		
7.2			80.0	86.4	80.0	87.4	90.9	87.4
5.9			82.8	78.0	83.1	91.4	93.1	91.2
2.0			76.6	73.4	76.8	88.0	85.2	88.2
4.0	3.7	4.0	73.2	69.1	73.4	86.4	85.1	86.5
4.1			81.8	72.0	82.0	82.1	84.9	82.1
3.8	2.7	3.8	79.8	74.6	80.1	83.9	87.1	83.8
4.5	6.0	4.4	81.2	76.7	81.6	84.2	83.2	84.3
2.8			86.9	81.4	87.0	84.7	83.7	84.8
5.4	9.0	5.1	80.0	72.2	80.3	83.3	82.4	83.3
3.3	4.3	3.1	76.9	74.3	77.7	79.9	79.8	79.9
5.9	7.8	5.4	79.2	76.7	80.7	81.8	81.4	82.1
1.5			83.1	78.4	84.1	84.6	80.7	85.4
4.1	5.0	4.0	80.2	77.3	81.4	78.8	78.3	79.1
2.9	5.3	2.3	81.5	76.7	82.8	83.2	81.4	83.7
4.3	6.0	4.1	79.3	74.7	80.6	81.0	81.8	80.8
4.0	3.3	4.6	78.8	77.8	79.2	80.5	82.0	79.9
3.5	4.7	3.1	75.5	73.3	78.2	78.9	77.9	80.0
2.4	2.7	2.4	75.7	72.0	77.6	80.6	79.3	81.3

HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD			Leg amputation pe diabetes and PAD	er 1,000 Medicare b	eneficiaries with	h Therapeutic endovascular interventions per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD		
		Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black
Slidell	LA	9,610	1,127	8,483	3.6	9.8	2.8	17.4	23.8	16.6
Bangor	ME	26,822	71	26,751	4.0			10.7		
Portland	ME	63,045	223	62,822	2.2			11.2		
Baltimore	MD	173,846	47,304	126,542	2.2	4.8	2.0	15.3	21.3	14.6
Salisbury	MD	46,480	7,740	38,740	2.4	6.4	1.8	13.6	16.6	13.4
Takoma Park	MD	45,513	15,344	30,169	1.6	4.6	0.9	12.6	20.4	10.4
Boston	MA	258,931	14,465	244,466	2.1	4.0	1.8	12.0	14.8	11.5
Springfield	MA	44,936	2,830	42,106	3.5	6.6	3.0	11.0	10.9	10.8
Worcester	MA	27,782	634	27,148	2.8			8.5		
Ann Arbor	MI	74,955	8,264	66,691	1.7	2.6	1.5	14.3	17.4	13.9
Dearborn	MI	44,312	2,390	41,922	1.8			16.8	23.3	15.9
Detroit	MI	146,699	59,883	86,816	1.6	3.1	1.7	16.9	24.6	15.4
Flint	MI	43,292	8,201	35,091	1.8	3.1	1.7	9.1	10.8	9.1
Grand Rapids	MI	45,608	2,398	43,210	2.6	5.3	2.2	16.5	13.6	16.1
Kalamazoo	MI	38,601	2,789	35,812	1.7			15.1	24.1	14.0
Lansing	MI	37,354	1,753	35,601	1.8			16.6	16.5	16.1
Marquette	MI	12,678	25	12,653	3.7			20.4		
Muskegon	MI	14,943	1,192	13,751	2.5			13.2	14.3	12.9
Petoskey	MI	13,168	11	13,157	3.7			33.5		
Pontiac	MI	26,013	3,413	22,600	1.5			15.5	22.9	14.5
Royal Oak	MI	51,078	8,012	43,066	1.2	3.1	0.9	11.0	16.1	10.3
Saginaw	MI	57,165	3,495	53,670	3.0	3.9	2.7	18.5	14.9	18.2
St. Joseph	MI	10,764	1,989	8,775	1.9			18.5	20.3	18.8
Traverse City	MI	17,577	29	17,548	1.9			27.1		
Duluth	MN	16,233	62	16,171	2.9			10.7		
Minneapolis	MN	82,566	1,672	80,894	2.8			11.6	19.9	10.9
Rochester	MN	18,200	48	18,152	3.3			12.2		
St. Cloud	MN	6,658	18	6,640	3.1			9.3		
St. Paul	MN	24,862	748	24,114	2.8			10.8		
Gulfport	MS	11,563	2,166	9,397	4.2	10.3	3.3	15.6	16.8	15.9
Hattiesburg	MS	20,098	4,557	15,541	3.0	7.8	2.3	26.1	41.7	23.2
Jackson	MS	62,582	25,474	37,108	3.5	8.9	2.5	13.2	17.7	12.9
Meridian	MS	14,988	5,168	9,820	5.5	14.2	3.8	9.7	13.5	9.2
Oxford	MS	9,739	2,915	6,824	2.1			12.8	16.6	12.6
Tupelo	MS	24,996	5,259	19,737	6.2	16.1	4.7	13.5	11.0	14.9
Cape Girardeau	MO	21,198	1,444	19,754	3.6	9.0	2.9	14.3	17.8	13.7
Columbia	MO	47,372	1,633	45,739	3.1			17.5	18.4	16.8
Joplin	MO	27,389	222	27,167	3.3			17.7		
Kansas City	MO	115,769	10,989	104,780	2.3	6.3	1.8	14.4	19.6	13.7
Springfield	MO	45,084	253	44,831	2.7			13.8		
St. Louis	MO	203,732	26,272	177,460	2.6	6.7	2.1	14.5	17.3	14.1
Billings	MT	24,146	49	24,097	2.6			9.9		

Open leg bypass prowith diabetes and P	ocedures per 1,000 Me AD	edicare beneficiaries	Percent of diabetic M receiving blood lipids	Aedicare beneficiaries s testing	(age 65-75)	Percent of diabetic Medicare beneficiaries (age 65-75) receiving hemoglobin A1c testing			
Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	
5.2			76.6	71.9	77.2	82.1	79.7	82.5	
4.9			83.7	83.3	83.7	87.7	83.3	87.7	
6.2			84.0	78.8	84.0	88.1	92.3	88.1	
6.0	6.9	6.0	81.1	76.2	83.3	83.7	81.1	84.8	
4.2	4.7	4.2	83.9	77.5	85.1	84.8	83.3	85.1	
3.4	5.9	2.4	83.7	80.2	86.0	84.1	81.5	85.7	
4.8	4.4	4.8	83.4	77.5	83.8	89.1	88.0	89.2	
5.2	7.6	4.9	85.1	82.1	85.4	88.1	87.4	88.2	
6.2			84.5	75.2	84.8	87.3	83.4	87.4	
4.3	4.9	4.2	81.9	75.1	82.8	86.5	82.5	87.1	
4.0			82.6	72.4	83.3	83.6	76.6	84.0	
3.8	5.0	3.4	75.0	64.0	82.3	83.2	78.0	86.6	
2.9	2.9	3.0	83.0	80.1	83.6	85.7	84.6	85.9	
3.8			82.8	72.9	83.4	88.1	83.5	88.4	
7.3	9.1	7.0	81.8	72.4	82.5	86.3	80.7	86.7	
2.5			83.6	78.8	83.9	88.3	86.4	88.4	
7.8			82.4			87.0			
6.5			85.4	81.4	85.8	90.3	87.6	90.6	
7.7			79.8			87.9			
3.6	4.6	3.5	76.7	70.3	77.7	84.7	82.2	85.1	
2.9	3.6	2.8	81.9	74.3	83.6	83.9	82.8	84.1	
5.4			81.7	74.8	82.1	85.1	75.7	85.7	
4.3			80.8	76.0	81.9	86.1	83.4	86.7	
6.9			83.3			88.9			
5.8			82.0	80.0	82.0	87.8			
4.6			82.7	72.1	83.0	86.9	84.0	87.0	
3.7			86.7	88.2	86.6	92.7	94.1	92.7	
6.7			81.8			88.6			
4.2			85.5	72.4	86.0	90.1	89.0	90.1	
5.0			69.9	64.8	71.1	75.6	77.3	75.2	
3.8	4.9	3.6	76.9	75.1	77.5	82.4	81.3	82.7	
3.5	4.9	3.0	72.1	67.1	75.7	81.7	79.2	83.6	
2.3	3.8	1.8	70.0	69.6	70.3	79.4	84.0	76.6	
5.4	7.6	4.8	74.6	74.1	74.8	83.1	86.1	81.8	
3.8	2.5	4.3	79.2	77.7	79.7	86.8	87.9	86.4	
5.3			74.9	70.6	75.2	87.0	84.8	87.2	
3.4			76.3	67.7	76.7	84.6	83.6	84.6	
3.6			75.3	73.9	75.3	81.3	87.0	81.2	
4.9	7.3	4.6	80.1	74.8	80.7	85.1	80.6	85.6	
5.1			81.2	78.2	81.2	86.1	87.3	86.1	
3.8	4.9	3.6	79.2	71.9	80.3	84.4	82.6	84.7	
4.1			68.3			79.4			

HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD			Leg amputation pe diabetes and PAD	er 1,000 Medicare b	eneficiaries with	th Therapeutic endovascular interventions per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD		
		Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black
Great Falls	MT	7,459	40	7,419	3.3			10.3		
Missoula	MT	15,559	25	15,534	2.5			11.2		
Lincoln	NE	31,064	259	30,805	4.1			17.3		
Omaha	NE	63,427	2,520	60,907	2.8	4.8	2.4	12.7	16.7	12.1
Las Vegas	NV	77,317	8,512	68,805	1.3	2.2	1.2	9.9	13.7	9.4
Reno	NV	26,089	380	25,709	2.8			14.4		
Lebanon	NH	22,188	64	22,124	2.9			17.2		
Manchester	NH	46,624	303	46,321	2.1			10.0		
Camden	NJ	257,693	27,657	230,036	2.1	4.0	1.9	12.1	18.4	11.3
Hackensack	NJ	97,862	6,616	91,246	1.9	2.7	1.7	11.2	11.8	10.9
Morristown	NJ	63,664	5,435	58,229	1.6	4.2	1.3	9.8	10.0	9.6
New Brunswick	NJ	73,185	6,164	67,021	1.9	3.8	1.6	10.3	12.7	9.9
Newark	NJ	102,065	31,276	70,789	2.1	4.5	1.8	12.9	19.8	11.4
Paterson	NJ	28,000	3,515	24,485	1.5	4.4	1.1	13.7	28.9	11.5
Ridgewood	NJ	28,907	1,703	27,204	2.1			10.2	8.7	10.0
Albuquerque	NM	62,692	1,005	61,687	2.9			9.1	14.6	8.6
Albany	NY	112,185	5,131	107,054	2.1	4.9	1.8	8.6	10.7	8.2
Binghamton	NY	24,840	385	24,455	2.5			12.7		
Bronx	NY	52,117	17,243	34,874	2.7	4.9	3.0	15.6	22.3	14.6
Buffalo	NY	54,131	6,441	47,690	1.9	2.6	1.8	12.3	17.1	11.7
Elmira	NY	25,753	783	24,970	1.7			9.7		
East Long Island	NY	302,921	33,330	269,591	2.0	4.5	1.6	10.4	16.9	9.6
Manhattan	NY	266,610	48,551	218,059	1.9	5.4	1.3	14.1	22.9	12.6
Rochester	NY	39,043	3,642	35,401	2.6	8.2	1.9	6.1	7.9	5.9
Syracuse	NY	66,813	2,471	64,342	1.8			12.7	17.3	12.0
White Plains	NY	70,622	9,963	60,659	1.9	5.0	1.4	9.7	15.7	8.8
Asheville	NC	42,561	1,632	40,929	2.8			7.3	10.5	6.9
Charlotte	NC	134,069	24,994	109,075	2.6	6.1	2.1	14.3	18.3	13.9
Durham	NC	77,030	22,388	54,642	2.9	7.2	2.3	13.3	19.6	12.2
Greensboro	NC	27,065	5,630	21,435	3.8	10.9	2.5	8.6	11.2	8.4
Greenville	NC	64,352	21,619	42,733	2.5	4.9	2.5	9.7	10.2	10.9
Hickory	NC	19,985	1,239	18,746	3.3			18.5	19.6	17.9
Raleigh	NC	105,005	32,329	72,676	2.8	6.4	2.3	14.3	19.3	13.9
Wilmington	NC	36,688	8,827	27,861	2.2	5.5	1.6	17.9	21.6	18.0
Winston-Salem	NC	55,031	7,038	47,993	2.1	4.5	1.8	8.3	12.5	7.7
Bismarck	ND	13,872	22	13,850	2.7			11.6		
Fargo/Moorhead MN	ND	26,311	44	26,267	3.8			16.1		
Grand Forks	ND	7,595	44	7,551	4.5			15.2		
Minot	ND	8,143	23	8,120	4.0			10.1		
Akron	OH	36,706	4,330	32,376	2.3	5.8	1.8	6.6	8.0	6.4
Canton	OH	35,608	1,824	33,784	1.6			10.7	10.3	10.3
Cincinnati	OH	78,179	10,168	68,011	2.6	6.9	2.0	14.8	22.6	13.7

Open leg bypass prowith diabetes and P	ocedures per 1,000 Me AD	edicare beneficiaries	Percent of diabetic M receiving blood lipids	Aedicare beneficiaries s testing	(age 65-75)	Percent of diabetic M receiving hemoglobi	Aedicare beneficiaries n A1c testing	(age 65-75)
Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black
7.9			67.7			76.4		
3.0			73.7			80.5		
6.0			75.3	64.5	75.4	86.3	81.6	86.3
4.7	4.2	4.7	77.0	67.9	77.4	85.5	85.1	85.5
3.7	5.3	3.5	77.7	72.4	78.4	77.3	72.8	77.8
5.9			76.9	73.8	77.0	78.4	80.4	78.3
6.8			79.2	93.3	79.2	88.4	100.0	88.4
6.1			85.5	79.8	85.6	89.0	79.8	89.0
3.6	3.9	3.5	84.5	75.1	85.8	82.6	76.8	83.4
3.6	3.2	3.6	86.2	80.4	86.7	82.9	80.2	83.2
3.8	5.6	3.5	82.7	77.9	83.2	81.8	79.1	82.1
3.6	4.0	3.5	83.8	77.6	84.5	82.6	77.7	83.1
3.9	5.4	3.6	80.4	73.4	84.2	78.7	74.3	81.1
4.1	6.5	3.8	82.3	75.2	83.6	82.1	80.0	82.5
3.8	8.1	3.5	88.1	85.9	88.3	86.6	84.3	86.8
2.1			60.9	71.1	60.8	66.9	81.6	66.7
7.6	9.3	7.3	85.0	79.3	85.3	86.4	81.0	86.8
5.1			80.7	73.4	80.8	85.6	81.9	85.6
5.5	7.7	4.9	75.8	73.3	77.2	78.4	78.0	78.6
4.2	5.2	4.1	83.7	76.7	84.9	85.6	80.3	86.5
2.8			82.0	69.5	82.5	87.0	80.9	87.3
4.0	4.0	4.0	87.2	80.9	88.2	84.7	81.4	85.2
2.8	4.2	2.6	84.7	77.6	86.8	83.4	78.8	84.8
4.5	5.9	4.3	81.9	75.3	82.9	86.6	84.8	86.9
6.5	6.9	6.3	84.9	79.9	85.2	87.7	88.8	87.6
3.5	4.2	3.4	86.5	82.2	87.4	85.4	83.0	85.9
3.8			77.2	69.3	77.4	86.4	88.1	86.3
3.0	3.7	2.9	84.4	80.5	85.4	87.5	86.2	87.8
3.1	3.8	3.0	82.4	79.1	83.8	87.4	86.2	87.9
4.0	6.5	3.4	82.0	79.0	83.0	87.7	84.3	88.8
3.9	3.9	4.3	80.1	77.5	81.5	87.5	87.8	87.4
3.8			85.2	80.7	85.5	89.5	92.3	89.4
3.7	4.7	3.5	82.5	78.8	84.3	87.8	86.3	88.5
4.4	4.3	4.6	87.6	83.1	89.0	90.2	88.6	90.7
2.6	2.1	2.6	83.3	80.4	83.7	88.9	88.1	89.0
3.9			75.1			83.7		
4.2			80.2			86.8		
4.3			72.7			80.8		
3.5			80.2			87.2		
3.4	3.8	3.4	79.0	74.8	79.7	83.0	82.8	83.0
3.0			84.9	75.7	85.4	86.3	78.5	86.7
4.4	6.3	4.2	80.8	73.9	82.0	85.0	82.4	85.4

HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD			Leg amputation pe diabetes and PAD	er 1,000 Medicare b	eneficiaries with	h Therapeutic endovascular interventions per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD		
		Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black
Cleveland	OH	127,532	21,954	105,578	2.7	5.6	2.3	14.6	18.8	14.1
Columbus	OH	155,927	11,998	143,929	2.4	5.9	2.0	18.8	25.2	17.9
Dayton	OH	68,323	8,440	59,883	2.2	4.9	1.8	15.6	17.4	15.5
Elyria	OH	18,725	1,401	17,324	1.9			19.3	21.0	18.7
Kettering	OH	23,109	1,043	22,066	2.5			13.4	19.0	12.7
Toledo	OH	70,903	6,028	64,875	2.5	6.4	2.0	11.9	13.6	11.6
Youngstown	OH	47,596	4,516	43,080	2.1	5.6	1.7	11.2	18.9	10.2
Lawton	OK	15,805	1,413	14,392	2.0			10.5	17.1	9.7
Oklahoma City	OK	98,638	6,376	92,262	2.2	4.4	1.9	14.5	21.2	13.6
Tulsa	OK	67,448	4,032	63,416	2.4	3.5	2.1	16.2	17.6	15.7
Bend	OR	8,138	32	8,106	4.1			7.2		
Eugene	OR	26,735	112	26,623	2.6			10.7		
Medford	OR	22,877	105	22,772	3.6			10.8		
Portland	OR	57,742	1,135	56,607	3.2			10.9		
Salem	OR	6,366	24	6,342				10.7		
Allentown	PA	98,634	2,333	96,301	2.8	7.2	2.3	13.2	13.9	12.6
Altoona	PA	20,723	171	20,552	2.1			13.6		
Danville	PA	36,250	231	36,019	3.7			14.0		
Erie	PA	51,690	922	50,768	2.8			12.3	22.0	11.6
Harrisburg	PA	67,230	2,489	64,741	2.7	4.6	2.3	13.5	25.7	12.5
Johnstown	PA	11,109	177	10,932	3.4			11.3		
Lancaster	PA	44,800	1,506	43,294	1.8			8.5	14.5	8.0
Philadelphia	PA	206,281	39,805	166,476	2.2	5.5	1.7	11.6	17.2	10.8
Pittsburgh	PA	122,201	7,206	114,995	2.5	4.1	2.2	13.7	15.6	13.2
Reading	PA	39,896	752	39,144	4.2			16.4	31.9	15.3
Sayre	PA	14,944	111	14,833	3.3			9.7		
Scranton	PA	29,073	229	28,844	2.4			11.0		
Wilkes-Barre	PA	24,973	183	24,790	3.0			10.2		
York	PA	29,831	869	28,962	2.8			13.3	15.7	12.7
Providence	RI	52,356	1,716	50,640	2.2			11.8	16.5	11.2
Charleston	SC	69,956	17,728	52,228	2.5	7.4	1.6	8.5	12.8	7.8
Columbia	SC	75,718	24,821	50,897	2.9	7.5	2.1	11.7	16.2	11.1
Florence	SC	30,112	11,771	18,341	2.7	6.5	2.2	14.9	21.3	13.9
Greenville	SC	54,384	6,592	47,792	2.1	6.3	1.5	14.3	21.4	13.4
Spartanburg	SC	21,266	2,922	18,344	3.1	6.7	2.7	11.3	21.9	9.7
Rapid City	SD	9,756	25	9,731	2.2			14.1		
Sioux Falls	SD	42,337	83	42,254	2.0			17.9		
Chattanooga	TN	46,846	4,645	42,201	2.9	5.9	2.5	17.6	24.5	16.6
Jackson	TN	29,148	4,898	24,250	2.9	5.9	2.5	18.0	27.9	16.5
Johnson City	TN	14,767	282	14,485	2.0			7.5		
Kingsport	TN	30,765	453	30,312	2.4			9.6		
Knoxville	TN	85,029	3,486	81,543	2.5	4.2	2.2	13.3	17.8	12.6

Open leg bypass prowith diabetes and P	ocedures per 1,000 Me AD	edicare beneficiaries	Percent of diabetic M receiving blood lipids	Aedicare beneficiaries s testing	(age 65-75)	Percent of diabetic Medicare beneficiaries (age 65-75) receiving hemoglobin A1c testing			
Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	
5.2	7.4	4.8	78.2	70.4	80.0	82.9	79.5	83.6	
4.2	5.5	4.1	79.6	74.9	79.9	84.6	82.7	84.8	
3.4	4.6	3.2	77.7	70.2	78.7	82.2	77.7	82.7	
5.5			81.6	80.3	81.7	82.9	80.3	83.1	
3.2			84.6	78.1	84.9	86.1	83.6	86.2	
5.3	5.2	5.2	75.8	66.0	76.8	74.8	67.8	75.4	
4.1	7.8	3.7	81.0	71.9	82.0	83.7	79.5	84.2	
4.1			70.5	68.9	70.7	73.8	69.5	74.3	
3.4	4.7	3.2	75.3	74.5	75.4	79.5	82.2	79.3	
3.2			72.0	72.9	72.0	78.0	81.0	77.9	
2.9			81.0			87.7			
5.5			80.4	83.3	80.4	86.5	88.9	86.5	
9.4			80.6	71.4	80.6	85.8	71.4	85.9	
6.5	11.2	6.2	80.7	75.4	80.8	86.6	87.7	86.6	
3.9			81.1			79.8			
5.0	5.8	4.8	81.8	78.4	82.0	83.6	79.7	83.7	
3.3			83.7	75.0	83.8	87.8	81.3	87.9	
3.3			77.3	54.4	77.5	83.5	70.2	83.6	
4.9			79.4	74.8	79.5	84.1	82.3	84.1	
2.9			80.8	72.8	81.1	86.9	79.7	87.2	
3.6			78.2	75.0	78.3	81.8	71.4	81.9	
4.0			84.9	76.6	85.3	87.7	80.2	88.1	
3.6	4.5	3.4	81.4	73.0	83.9	83.5	78.7	84.9	
5.5	5.1	5.4	77.6	65.8	78.5	81.1	74.3	81.6	
6.6			84.6	70.3	85.0	87.2	75.1	87.6	
3.8			75.9			86.0	68.2	86.2	
3.7			73.7	78.6	73.7	76.2	83.9	76.1	
5.1			68.3	53.3	68.5	72.6	66.7	72.6	
4.1			87.6	82.0	87.9	90.2	85.7	90.4	
4.6	9.0	4.3	83.1	74.2	83.5	85.0	83.1	85.1	
3.3	3.9	3.3	82.7	78.1	84.3	85.8	85.2	86.0	
2.8	3.1	2.9	80.2	77.1	81.8	83.4	82.3	84.0	
4.0	5.0	3.9	80.0	78.2	81.2	84.5	84.5	84.5	
2.7	4.6	2.5	82.0	77.0	82.7	84.5	80.1	85.1	
4.5	5.9	4.3	80.5	77.1	81.1	84.6	84.2	84.7	
3.3			66.3			76.4			
3.5			78.4	70.8	78.5	87.0	95.8	87.0	
3.5	2.8	3.5	81.9	75.6	82.6	85.6	85.0	85.6	
2.3	2.6	2.2	81.5	77.9	82.1	87.3	87.5	87.2	
3.5			79.1	81.0	79.1	84.9	75.9	85.1	
2.1			83.0	80.9	83.0	86.5	88.3	86.5	
3.4			83.5	80.3	83.6	86.9	89.1	86.8	

HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD			Leg amputation pe diabetes and PAD	er 1,000 Medicare b	eneficiaries with	Therapeutic endovascular interventions per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD		
		Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black
Memphis	TN	100,612	35,294	65,318	2.8	6.8	2.2	18.2	24.3	17.8
Nashville	TN	145,892	14,095	131,797	3.0	7.6	2.4	12.4	17.6	11.7
Abilene	ТΧ	21,181	888	20,293	3.9			22.2	30.7	21.1
Amarillo	ТΧ	21,387	664	20,723	2.0			21.3	41.7	19.8
Austin	ТΧ	62,995	6,086	56,909	2.5	4.7	2.2	15.2	16.3	14.9
Beaumont	ТΧ	37,641	8,035	29,606	2.2	5.6	1.8	13.0	24.5	10.6
Bryan	ТΧ	10,765	2,029	8,736	3.1	8.1	2.4	16.3	23.7	15.3
Corpus Christi	ТΧ	37,882	1,163	36,719	3.5			22.4	13.0	21.8
Dallas	ТΧ	194,759	30,793	163,966	3.0	6.9	2.4	16.3	22.5	15.5
El Paso	ТΧ	62,684	1,604	61,080	1.9			22.6	27.8	21.5
Fort Worth	ТΧ	87,283	9,481	77,802	2.9	6.3	2.5	12.6	17.5	12.0
Harlingen	ТΧ	50,153	198	49,955	3.7			18.9		
Houston	ТΧ	244,810	43,523	201,287	2.6	6.5	2.1	17.0	24.7	15.9
Longview	ТΧ	12,968	2,340	10,628	3.0	7.9	2.3	16.2	27.5	14.3
Lubbock	ТΧ	36,724	1,752	34,972	2.7			23.0	33.6	21.7
McAllen	ТΧ	53,269	180	53,089	3.7			23.3		
Odessa	ТΧ	15,254	800	14,454	3.0			15.8		
San Angelo	ТΧ	11,333	399	10,934	3.3			18.2		
San Antonio	ТΧ	149,072	7,745	141,327	3.3	3.2	3.0	17.3	20.4	16.6
Temple	ТΧ	17,022	2,681	14,341	2.9	4.6	2.8	14.8	11.4	15.7
Tyler	ТΧ	42,843	6,387	36,456	3.9	8.6	3.2	16.7	22.8	15.9
Victoria	ТΧ	13,811	1,052	12,759	4.7			11.1		
Waco	ТΧ	17,405	2,483	14,922	3.1	7.9	2.4	23.4	26.0	23.3
Wichita Falls	ТΧ	16,456	1,063	15,393	1.6			13.0	17.7	12.4
Ogden	UT	14,864	188	14,676	1.6			10.2		
Provo	UT	12,660	11	12,649	1.5			6.4		
Salt Lake City	UT	56,700	289	56,411	1.9			8.2		
Burlington	VT	38,210	174	38,036	2.9			10.3		
Arlington	VA	69,277	8,599	60,678	1.7	5.5	1.1	13.8	23.1	12.5
Charlottesville	VA	36,431	4,155	32,276	2.0	5.1	1.6	11.3	18.8	10.3
Lynchburg	VA	17,801	3,493	14,308	5.4	14.0	4.1	15.3	20.0	14.8
Newport News	VA	35,060	10,456	24,604	2.7	7.4	1.7	14.8	20.9	13.9
Norfolk	VA	83,755	26,213	57,542	2.3	5.7	1.8	13.7	17.6	13.6
Richmond	VA	93,994	29,058	64,936	3.1	7.1	2.6	15.3	22.4	14.1
Roanoke	VA	53,077	4,113	48,964	2.5	4.5	2.1	7.8	10.3	7.5
Winchester	VA	27,622	1,235	26,387	1.9			17.0	12.0	16.7
Everett	WA	21,836	222	21,614	2.9			15.7		
Olympia	WA	15,677	147	15,530	3.4			11.4		
Seattle	WA	94,933	3,596	91,337	2.6	6.1	2.2	14.8	22.3	14.0
Spokane	WA	74,537	598	73,939	2.9			10.9		
Tacoma	WA	33,240	1,817	31,423	1.9			9.3	12.5	8.9
Yakima	WA	13,069	144	12,925	1.4			14.3		

Open leg bypass prowith diabetes and P	ocedures per 1,000 M AD	edicare beneficiaries	Percent of diabetic N receiving blood lipids	Medicare beneficiaries s testing	(age 65-75)	Percent of diabetic N receiving hemoglobi	Percent of diabetic Medicare beneficiaries (age 65-75) receiving hemoglobin A1c testing			
Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black		
3.7	5.0	3.3	78.2	72.9	81.0	83.1	82.2	83.6		
4.8	7.3	4.5	82.1	76.1	82.7	85.6	83.8	85.7		
3.8			74.1	67.6	74.4	79.5	78.7	79.6		
4.9			80.0	79.2	80.0	82.3	79.9	82.4		
2.7	3.7	2.6	82.5	74.5	83.4	84.3	78.5	84.9		
4.4	6.1	4.1	81.9	79.1	82.7	82.4	83.0	82.2		
3.3	5.7	2.8	80.7	77.2	81.4	80.8	78.1	81.4		
8.6	10.4	8.3	84.6	78.7	84.8	84.8	83.6	84.9		
4.4	5.3	4.2	82.2	77.3	83.1	83.8	80.7	84.4		
2.4			75.5	69.9	75.7	76.0	66.3	76.3		
4.4	4.9	4.3	80.3	74.7	81.0	82.8	79.6	83.2		
2.6			85.4	91.4	85.3	82.6	82.9	82.6		
4.6	6.6	4.3	80.0	75.5	81.0	81.4	79.0	81.9		
3.1			81.7	78.8	82.4	85.0	86.0	84.8		
4.6	6.3	4.4	76.9	71.4	77.1	80.4	77.0	80.5		
3.1			87.5	71.4	87.6	80.0	77.1	80.1		
6.7			74.7	67.8	75.1	79.0	77.4	79.1		
3.1			77.2	70.9	77.5	86.2	88.4	86.1		
4.6	4.3	4.6	80.9	73.5	81.3	81.2	77.2	81.4		
3.1			76.5	68.9	77.8	80.3	79.6	80.5		
5.8	7.5	5.6	78.8	76.7	79.2	83.5	84.0	83.5		
3.2			82.9	78.6	83.3	85.0	85.2	85.0		
3.5			78.4	76.6	78.7	80.2	78.1	80.6		
1.9			76.1	74.4	76.3	78.2	78.6	78.2		
1.4			76.3	70.2	76.4	85.0	87.2	85.0		
1.6			72.1			82.1				
2.5			73.4	72.9	73.4	83.2	89.8	83.2		
5.7			82.4	70.7	82.5	88.8	80.5	88.8		
2.7	5.2	2.4	82.5	76.7	83.3	83.7	79.7	84.3		
3.3	6.2	3.0	82.4	77.6	83.0	88.2	86.4	88.4		
3.3	4.0	3.3	84.3	81.6	85.0	87.1	86.2	87.4		
3.8	4.4	3.8	79.6	73.4	82.5	85.0	80.5	87.1		
4.4	5.4	4.3	80.3	76.4	82.0	83.9	82.6	84.5		
5.8	8.3	5.1	83.1	78.3	85.4	85.9	84.4	86.7		
7.2	8.6	7.0	83.3	77.6	83.7	87.1	84.3	87.3		
2.7			83.2	79.0	83.4	85.3	87.2	85.2		
4.8			81.2	72.6	81.3	86.9	80.6	87.0		
4.7			77.3	56.9	77.6	83.5	56.9	83.9		
4.3	7.4	4.1	81.1	70.2	81.6	87.4	82.3	87.6		
4.9			79.9	75.2	79.9	86.6	83.5	86.7		
2.1			79.1	65.7	79.9	84.1	71.8	84.8		
3.6			78.7	61.5	78.9	85.8	73.1	85.9		

with diabetes and PAD (2007-11), overall and by race, among hospital referral regions												
HRR Name	State	Number of Medica PAD	are beneficiaries with	n diabetes and	Leg amputation pe diabetes and PAD	er 1,000 Medicare b	eneficiaries with	Therapeutic endovascular interventions per 1,000 Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD				
		Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black		
Charleston	WV	65,383	2,017	63,366	2.5			15.4	19.3	14.7		
Huntington	WV	28,753	495	28,258	3.1			23.7				
Morgantown	WV	25,078	417	24,661	3.1			10.8				
Appleton	WI	12,082	13	12,069	6.1			16.4				
Green Bay	WI	25,181	65	25,116	4.0			19.8				
La Crosse	WI	16,026	62	15,964	3.5			7.7				
Madison	WI	46,285	912	45,373	2.3			14.1	12.9	13.5		
Marshfield	WI	22,141	25	22,116	2.6			8.8				
Milwaukee	WI	132,717	12,471	120,246	2.2	4.9	1.8	14.5	15.2	14.3		
Neenah	WI	9,991	27	9,964	4.2			10.7				
Wausau	WI	12,500			2.6			13.4				
Casper	WY	8,534	24	8,510	4.1			10.5				
United States	US	15,937,763	1,861,061	14,076,702	2.4	5.6	2.0	14.1	19.7	13.3		

Chapter 3 Table A. Rates of preventive services among patients with diabetes (2010), leg amputation, and revascularization procedures among patients with diabetes and PAD (2007-11), overall and by race, among hospital referral regions

Open leg bypass pro with diabetes and PA	cedures per 1,000 Me D	edicare beneficiaries	Percent of diabetic Medicare beneficiaries (age 65-75) receiving blood lipids testing			Percent of diabetic Medicare beneficiaries (age 65-75) receiving hemoglobin A1c testing			
Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	Overall	Black	Non-black	
4.7			81.0	77.9	81.0	82.8	81.1	82.9	
3.1			78.3	71.6	78.4	83.0	82.1	83.0	
5.8			78.6	68.9	78.7	82.6	80.0	82.6	
7.4			87.6			89.4			
6.3			84.3	70.0	84.4	89.5	75.0	89.6	
3.2			83.4			90.8			
3.1			82.7	72.7	83.0	89.7	82.4	89.8	
4.3			86.5			92.3			
4.0	4.7	3.9	83.9	78.8	84.5	88.4	87.0	88.6	
5.7			87.2			92.1			
8.2			85.0			90.3			
3.6			53.9			73.6			
4.1	5.2	4.0	80.7	75.2	81.5	83.8	80.9	84.2	

Chapter 3 Table B. Thirty-day re	admissio	n rates, amputation-free survival, and re-i	ntervention-free survival	following surgical disch	arge among hospital refe	erral regions (2007-11)
HRR Name	State	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with	Amputation-free survival af	ter any vascular procedure	Re-intervention-free surviva	al after any vascular
		following revascularization procedure	among patients with diabet		procedure among patients	with diadetes and PAD
Birminghom	A1	15.0		TROT-DIACK	DIACK	FR O
Birmingnam	AL	10.4	/1.0	77.9	51.0	50.9
Doman	AL	19.4		70.2		50.3
Huntsville	AL	14.0	00.0	78.0	40.4	50.9
Modile	AL	19.8	69.3	//.0	40.4	53.9
montgomery	AL	25.4		74.0		47.0
Iuscaloosa	AL	18.2		74.0		47.3
Anchorage	AK	14.9		72.3		50.2
Mesa	AZ	15.8		76.3		52.2
Phoenix	AZ	18.2		78.2		53.0
Sun City	AZ	18.5		/3.6		48.4
Tucson	AZ	20.8		69.2		46.9
Fort Smith	AR	16.6		74.2		58.2
Jonesboro	AR	16.9		79.0		53.5
Little Rock	AR	17.0	70.7	77.9	44.7	53.1
Springdale	AR	17.5		74.8		53.3
Texarkana	AR	18.4		81.9		65.0
Orange County	CA	18.3		73.0		51.6
Bakersfield	CA	18.1		71.8		44.3
Chico	CA	13.8		79.5		51.6
Contra Costa County	CA	15.5		69.9		46.2
Fresno	CA	18.1		74.1		52.0
Los Angeles	CA	19.1	69.4	74.3	42.0	48.8
Modesto	CA	14.3		79.6		49.0
Napa	CA	15.3		74.6		45.9
Alameda County	CA	16.7		73.4		48.6
Palm Springs/Rancho Mirage	CA	16.3		70.3		56.0
Redding	CA	10.4		79.3		54.1
Sacramento	CA	16.6		73.6		50.2
Salinas	CA	15.3		66.7		48.8
San Bernardino	CA	15.6		74.2		49.9
San Diego	CA	17.0		74.0		50.9
San Francisco	CA	18.7		75.4		51.2
San Jose	CA	14.1		74.8		49.1
San Luis Obispo	CA	17.3				
San Mateo County	CA	19.2		72.4		44.7
Santa Barbara	CA	15.5		74.3		55.1
Santa Cruz	CA	12.6		76.3		65.0
Santa Rosa	CA	15.0		76.4		54.6
Stockton	CA	15.9		80.1		46.2
Ventura	CA	16.2		77.5		48.7
Colorado Springs	CO	15.1		74.2		56.6
Denver	CO	18.0		70.3		51.7
Fort Collins	CO	12.6				
Greeley	CO	15.9				



Chapter 3 Table B. Thirty-day re	admissio	on rates, amputation-free survival, and re-i	ntervention-free surviva	following surgical disch	arge among hospital ref	erral regions (2007-11)	
HRR Name	State	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD readmitted within 30 days	Amputation-free survival at among patients with diabet	iter any vascular procedure tes and PAD	Re-intervention-free survival after any vascular procedure among patients with diabetes and PAD		
		following revascularization procedure	Black	Non-black	Black	Non-black	
Pueblo	CO	20.7					
Bridgeport	СТ	16.0		70.1		46.2	
Hartford	CT	20.1		70.8		47.6	
New Haven	CT	19.9		68.2		46.7	
Wilmington	DE	18.1	71.1	73.9	46.5	47.1	
Washington	DC	16.7	73.6	73.4	41.8	51.1	
Bradenton	FL	16.1		79.7		44.5	
Clearwater	FL	14.1		79.5		52.1	
Fort Lauderdale	FL	17.6	66.5	75.9	44.6	52.5	
Fort Myers	FL	14.9		78.4		57.7	
Gainesville	FL	15.2		80.9		51.5	
Hudson	FL	17.8		75.5		56.0	
Jacksonville	FL	15.7	70.1	75.3	46.5	52.3	
Lakeland	FL	15.7		73.7		51.4	
Miami	FL	19.1	67.4	70.5	42.7	48.2	
Ocala	FL	10.9		82.8		56.3	
Orlando	FL	15.6	67.3	77.2	53.1	54.4	
Ormond Beach	FL	14.5		76.7		53.4	
Panama City	FL	13.4		77.2		46.1	
Pensacola	FL	18.0	71.6	80.1	42.4	45.7	
Sarasota	FL	15.1		82.9		56.6	
St. Petersburg	FL	16.0		78.8	10.0	57.9	
Tallanassee	FL	16.3	67.9	78.0	46.0	54.7	
Tampa	FL	19.2		79.6		59.2	
Albany	GA	18.0	67.0	70.4	40 F	50.0	
Allania	GA	10.2	07.0	76.4	43.5	52.3 49.7	
Columbus	GA	19.5	03.7	75.0	30.1	46.7	
Macon	GA	15.0	60.5	70.2	41.0	40.0	
Rome	GA	17.0	00.5	71.5	41.2	50.7	
Savannah	GA	14.3	53.7	71.0	/1 8	50.1	
Honolulu	н	24.2	33.7	67.9	1.0	48.0	
Boise	ID	17.8		71.7		53.9	
Idaho Falls	ID	13.9					
Aurora	IL	16.3		75.9		44.9	
Blue Island	IL	23.6	67.6	77.2	48.2	48.7	
Chicago	IL	23.6	67.9	76.5	47.4	50.4	
Elgin	IL	24.3		74.6		46.8	
Evanston	IL	23.0		72.4		51.4	
Hinsdale	IL	16.0		76.8		48.8	
Joliet	IL	20.9		76.5		49.1	
Melrose Park	IL	19.1		75.2		47.0	
Peoria	IL	14.0		76.2		49.0	
Rockford	IL	18.0		81.8		57.8	

Chapter 3 Table B. Thirty-day rea	admissio	n rates, amputation-free survival, and re-i	ntervention-free survival	tollowing surgical disch	arge among hospital refe	erral regions (2007-11)	
HRR Name	State	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD readmitted within 30 days	Amputation-free survival af among patients with diabet	ter any vascular procedure es and PAD	Re-intervention-free survival after any vascular procedure among patients with diabetes and PAD		
		nonowing revasediarization procedure	Black	Non-black	Black	Non-black	
Springfield	IL	16.8		78.9		54.6	
Urbana	IL	17.3		76.7		48.6	
Bloomington	IL	13.8		73.5		50.5	
Evansville	IN	20.7		69.9		50.0	
Fort Wayne	IN	16.4		72.1		48.8	
Gary	IN	20.3	76.2	75.2	41.6	43.7	
Indianapolis	IN	21.6	65.1	76.8	36.0	46.6	
Lafayette	IN	20.0		76.3		51.8	
Muncie	IN	24.0		74.3		52.7	
Munster	IN	24.3		78.4		40.1	
South Bend	IN	17.7		71.9		48.7	
Terre Haute	IN	19.0		81.5		40.5	
Cedar Rapids	IA	12.7		73.5		51.7	
Davenport	IA	14.4		82.6		51.4	
Des Moines	IA	18.4		75.8		54.5	
Dubuque	IA	13.9					
Iowa City	IA	14.2		78.2		56.9	
Mason City	IA	17.1					
Sioux City	IA	30.7		69.7		43.0	
Waterloo	IA	16.2					
Торека	KS	15.8		76.8		55.1	
Wichita	KS	15.3		79.6		50.3	
Covington	KY	19.7		72.0		55.5	
Lexington	KY	16.0		77.6		56.6	
Louisville	KY	20.4	63.6	74.4	43.4	53.4	
Owensboro	KY	12.3		83.2		68.5	
Paducah	KY	28.8		74.5		48.6	
Alexandria	LA	15.8		75.1		49.4	
Baton Rouge	LA	17.1	64.4	73.8	39.7	50.9	
Houma	LA	12.9		77.4		56.5	
Lafayette	LA	18.5	70.6	76.9	40.0	46.3	
Lake Charles	LA	19.7		80.5		48.5	
Metairie	LA	18.2		73.6		50.9	
Monroe	LA	16.9		77.5		53.3	
New Orleans	LA	13.9	70.5	70.1	49.0	48.5	
Shreveport	LA	19.8	68.4	75.0	46.5	47.2	
Slidell	LA	20.4					
Bangor	ME	16.7		71.3		52.2	
Portland	ME	21.5		76.9		49.5	
Baltimore	MD	23.6	66.3	73.6	42.0	47.2	
Salisbury	MD	15.9		78.0		53.1	
Takoma Park	MD	19.1	68.5	76.2	39.7	51.7	
Boston	MA	20.7	73.7	74.5	51.2	50.1	
Springfield	MA	20.4		70.1		51.2	



Chapter 3 Table B. Thirty-day re	admissio	on rates, amputation-free survival, and re-i	ntervention-free survival	following surgical disch	arge among hospital ref	erral regions (2007-11)
HRR Name	State	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD readmitted within 30 days	Amputation-free survival af among patients with diabet	iter any vascular procedure tes and PAD	Re-intervention-free survive procedure among patients	al after any vascular with diabetes and PAD
		ionowing revascularization procedure	Black	Non-black	Black	Non-black
Worcester	MA	25.9		70.0		46.8
Ann Arbor	MI	14.3		77.9		50.6
Dearborn	MI	17.4		77.8		48.6
Detroit	MI	19.6	72.4	73.6	40.6	49.3
Flint	MI	16.0		72.9		52.1
Grand Rapids	MI	15.5		74.4		47.7
Kalamazoo	MI	17.6		75.4		49.9
Lansing	MI	15.5		76.8		52.3
Marquette	MI	14.4		75.6		52.2
Muskegon	MI	19.8		75.0		42.8
Petoskey	MI	13.8		77.0		46.6
Pontiac	MI	17.6		77.7		53.4
Royal Oak	MI	19.0		75.3		50.0
Saginaw	MI	15.7		77.1		49.1
St. Joseph	MI	11.5		82.6		57.8
Traverse City	MI	17.3		81.9		50.6
Duluth	MN	16.4		73.7		55.4
Minneapolis	MN	22.0		73.8		54.1
Rochester	MN	15.1		71.8		56.4
St. Cloud	MN	25.8				
St. Paul	MN	20.2		72.6		52.5
Gulfport	MS	20.6		75.6		56.6
Hattiesburg	MS	13.8		76.5		56.4
Jackson	MS	16.6	60.6	75.2	48.1	54.3
Meridian	MS	13.8				
Oxford	MS	21.3				
Tupelo	MS	12.1		82.0		62.4
Cape Girardeau	MO	17.6		75.6		57.5
Columbia	MO	20.1		77.3		53.7
Joplin	MO	20.7		72.4		51.4
Kansas City	MO	18.1	68.6	75.2	47.7	52.6
Springfield	MO	17.6		79.0		51.6
St. Louis	MO	18.7	63.1	75.2	45.7	53.4
Billings	MT	19.1		75.8		61.3
Great Falls	MT	22.6				
Missoula	MT	12.8		76.7		60.2
Lincoln	NE	19.9		71.5		48.0
Umaha	NE	19.4		/5.2		56.5
Las Vegas	NV	15.3		/9.2		56.4
Heno	NV	12.9		/7.5		49.5
Lebanon	NH	18.0		72.5		53.2
Manchester	NH	17.9		77.9		54.2
Camden	NJ	18.4	69.3	73.4	47.5	50.7
Hackensack	NJ	17.9		70.8		47.9

Chapter 3 Table B. Thirty-day rea	admissio	n rates, amputation-free survival, and re-i	ntervention-free surviva	following surgical disch	arge among hospital refe	erral regions (2007-11)	
HRR Name	State	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD readmitted within 30 days	Amputation-free survival at among patients with diabet	fter any vascular procedure tes and PAD	Re-intervention-free survival after any vascular procedure among patients with diabetes and PAD		
		ionowing revascularization procedure	Black	Non-black	Black	Non-black	
Morristown	NJ	19.1		71.4		50.1	
New Brunswick	NJ	18.6		73.2		54.1	
Newark	NJ	19.2	67.2	69.2	44.9	49.2	
Paterson	NJ	15.1		73.7		46.5	
Ridgewood	NJ	20.1		68.2		46.3	
Albuquerque	NM	17.0		70.9		53.1	
Albany	NY	23.1		73.4		44.7	
Binghamton	NY	15.7		72.6		51.2	
Bronx	NY	22.4	64.9	67.0	36.0	41.0	
Buffalo	NY	16.8		70.2		49.1	
Elmira	NY	19.9		71.6		49.7	
East Long Island	NY	18.7	67.1	72.6	38.3	46.5	
Manhattan	NY	20.6	63.6	73.9	34.8	43.6	
Rochester	NY	18.1		69.6		54.5	
Syracuse	NY	16.9		76.4		47.7	
White Plains	NY	19.3		69.5		46.1	
Asheville	NC	21.1		75.0		59.1	
Charlotte	NC	16.0	69.4	78.5	52.8	57.1	
Durham	NC	16.1	64.7	74.4	46.4	53.9	
Greensboro	NC	17.8		72.1		53.0	
Greenville	NC	16.2	65.7	73.2	50.2	53.8	
Hickory	NC	15.8		72.9		51.0	
Raleigh	NC	16.2	67.8	77.0	44.1	53.6	
Wimington	NC	14.7	/3.4	78.5	51.6	55.2	
winston-Salem	NC	21.3		76.0		60.4	
BISMARCK		18.1		77.0		59.8	
Fargo/Moornead MN		22.8		70.8		48.0	
Minot		20.1					
Akron	OH	10.0		67.8		/0.1	
Canton	ОН	21 7		67.5		49.1	
Cincinnati	ОН	18.6	67.4	73.3	A1 A	47.0	
Cleveland	ОН	21.2	67.0	69.4	40.3	44.8	
Columbus	ОН	20.0	68.6	74.8	43.7	48.6	
Davton	ОН	17.4	00.0	76.7	10.1	52.9	
Elvria	ОН	23.9		77.8		49.5	
Kettering	OH	12.1		75.7		54.0	
Toledo	OH	20.0		75.4		50.0	
Youngstown	OH	19.0		70.9		51.1	
Lawton	OK	15.8		74.4		51.0	
Oklahoma City	OK	16.8		75.2		56.2	
Tulsa	OK	17.7		72.2		51.9	
Bend	OR	19.7					
Eugene	OR	19.7		75.0		52.7	



Chapter 3 Table B. Thirty-day re	admissio	on rates, amputation-free survival, and re-i	ntervention-free survival	following surgical disch	arge among hospital refe	erral regions (2007-11)
HRR Name	State	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD readmitted within 30 days	Amputation-free survival af among patients with diabet	Amputation-free survival after any vascular procedure among patients with diabetes and PAD		al after any vascular with diabetes and PAD
		ionowing revascularization procedure	Black	Non-black	Black	Non-black
Medford	OR	23.1		74.8		37.9
Portland	OR	20.4		73.4		48.1
Salem	OR	18.6				
Allentown	PA	19.3		70.4		47.3
Altoona	PA	12.8		73.7		53.8
Danville	PA	21.5		70.2		49.4
Erie	PA	15.0		73.3		53.6
Harrisburg	PA	16.0		72.2		52.0
Johnstown	PA	17.4				
Lancaster	PA	16.1		76.1		53.3
Philadelphia	PA	20.1	64.4	73.4	43.1	50.3
Pittsburgh	PA	20.5		70.1		46.4
Reading	PA	18.9		73.1		47.0
Sayre	PA	19.9		80.9		58.7
Scranton	PA	18.8		77.4		53.0
Wilkes-Barre	PA	18.1		73.5		50.4
York	PA	12.8		74.9		54.4
Providence	RI	18.9		69.4		49.8
Charleston	SC	17.6	62.2	78.7	52.5	58.5
Columbia	SC	14.1	66.6	79.8	52.1	59.7
Florence	SC	14.5	68.9	70.5	55.0	50.1
Greenville	SC	14.8		79.8		59.8
Spartanburg	SC	16.7		71.8		55.3
Rapid City	SD	10.5				
Sioux Falls	SD	29.4		73.2		47.4
Chattanooga	TN	15.8		74.7		50.9
Jackson	TN	14.1		73.9		53.8
Johnson City	TN	26.3		79.4		58.0
Kingsport	TN	16.2		75.3		65.2
Knoxville	TN	17.0		73.5		52.8
Memphis	TN	15.1	70.1	78.1	42.8	53.8
Nashville	TN	19.8	67.9	75.9	48.9	51.7
Abilene	ТΧ	12.8		77.8		61.3
Amarillo	ТΧ	17.5		79.7		52.2
Austin	ТΧ	14.5		77.6		59.1
Beaumont	ТΧ	13.3	71.9	77.7	47.6	52.4
Bryan	TX	16.2				
Corpus Christi	ТΧ	16.4		75.4		43.6
Dallas	ТХ	17.1	61.0	73.6	39.1	49.7
El Paso	TX	17.9		72.6		41.0
Fort Worth	ТΧ	16.8	68.3	74.4	49.4	51.2
Harlingen	TX	13.6		73.1		49.5
Houston	TX	16.8	65.3	74.7	45.5	52.3
Longview	ΤX	15.3				

Chapter 3 Table B. Thirty-day readmission rates, amputation-free survival, and re-intervention-free survival following surgical discharge among hospital referral regions (2007-11)								
HRR Name	State	Percent of Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes and PAD readmitted within 30 days	Amputation-free survival a among patients with diabe	fter any vascular procedure tes and PAD	Re-intervention-free surviv procedure among patients	al after any vascular with diabetes and PAD		
		following revascularization procedure	Black	Non-black	Black	Non-black		
Lubbock	ТΧ	17.8		77.5		53.9		
McAllen	ТΧ	14.6		79.8		52.5		
Odessa	ТΧ	17.8		73.2		52.6		
San Angelo	ТΧ	19.0		77.3		52.3		
San Antonio	ТΧ	20.5		70.5		46.2		
Temple	ТΧ	16.4		77.7		53.8		
Tyler	ТΧ	19.1		75.6		45.8		
Victoria	ТΧ	19.8		74.1		59.0		
Waco	ТΧ	14.3		78.8		58.0		
Wichita Falls	ТΧ	14.3		81.9		60.5		
Ogden	UT	11.8						
Provo	UT	17.2						
Salt Lake City	UT	15.1		73.4		53.9		
Burlington	VT	20.7		75.0		54.3		
Arlington	VA	16.1	62.2	72.6	41.0	51.5		
Charlottesville	VA	23.7		79.1		54.9		
Lynchburg	VA	19.0		68.1		53.6		
Newport News	VA	13.6	67.1	75.2	45.4	52.9		
Norfolk	VA	15.3	65.9	75.6	49.5	52.8		
Richmond	VA	17.6	65.7	74.8	40.5	55.2		
Roanoke	VA	27.6		67.7		44.2		
Winchester	VA	12.3		80.0		59.2		
Everett	WA	19.3		71.6		46.6		
Olympia	WA	21.1		67.2		42.1		
Seattle	WA	17.1		76.1		46.9		
Spokane	WA	20.4		72.8		47.7		
Tacoma	WA	15.8		72.1		55.1		
Yakima	WA	16.2		83.4		61.2		
Charleston	WV	17.9		74.4		53.1		
Huntington	WV	16.1		76.9		53.9		
Morgantown	WV	22.0		75.9		51.8		
Appleton	WI	24.9		64.9		40.7		
Green Bay	WI	20.1		73.1		46.8		
La Crosse	WI	20.3						
Madison	WI	17.0		74.1		54.3		
Marshfield	WI	22.9		76.7		53.7		
Milwaukee	WI	18.8	67.2	73.5	51.2	50.1		
Neenah	WI	27.3						
Wausau	WI	20.0		77.7		52.2		
Casper	WY	20.4						



Variation in the Care of Surgical Conditions: Spinal Stenosis

The Dartmouth Institute of Health Policy & Clinical Practice and Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center

Brook I. Martin, PhD, MPH Anna N.A. Tosteson, ScD Jon D. Lurie, MD, MS Sohail K. Mirza, MD, MPH

The Dartmouth Institute of Health Policy & Clinical Practice

Philip R. Goodney, MD, MS Nino Dzebisashvili, PhD David C. Goodman, MD, MS Kristen K. Bronner, MA







Back pain in the United States

Back pain is a leading cause of morbidity and disability in the United States.¹ It is estimated that up to 80% of people will experience low back pain at some point during their lifetimes.^{2,3} At any given point in time, about 26% of U.S. adults have low back pain, and 14% have neck pain.^{4,5} Back pain that lasts at least two weeks occurs in 13.8% of the U.S. population annually, accounting for 2-3% of all physician visits, and is the second most common reason for hospitalizations.^{4,6-8}

About 30 million people in the United States receive professional medical care for a spine problem each year.⁹ The prevalence of back pain under treatment remained stable from 1997 to 2005 and then declined slightly between 2006 and 2008, possibly due to a decrease in the use of elective procedures during the economic recession.^{9,10} However, while the prevalence of back pain has remained fairly stable over time, the percentage of patients who describe their back pain as "chronic" has increased, from less than 5% in 1992 to more than 10% of all patients with back pain in 2006.^{11,12}

Economic burden of low back pain

Low back pain is a leading cause of both lost productivity and medical expenditures. In 2004, over \$100 billion was spent in the United States on medical care associated with spine problems—approximately the same amount spent treating cancer, diabetes, or arthritis.⁹ On average, patients with back pain have 73% higher health care expenses than patients without back pain (Figure 4.1).

Wide regional variation in back surgery rates has been reported previously by the Dartmouth Atlas Project.¹³ More recently, marked variation in Medicare costs for an average episode of care (a series of health care encounters related to an occurrence of back pain) has been reported across the United States. Much of the variation was explained by the type of operation chosen; for example, admissions involving a spinal fusion operation were more expensive than those involving a decompression alone. Decisions about how to treat patients in the short period of time after they were discharged were also highly variable. Whether patients were discharged to skilled nursing facilities, referred to home health agencies, sent home with instructions for self-care, or used rehabilitation services was an important factor in explaining differences in costs.¹⁴





Source: Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS).

A focus on lumbar spinal stenosis

Back pain is a complex problem, but a specific type of back pain, lumbar spinal stenosis, provides a good example that helps to summarize the treatment options, epidemiology, and evidence of effectiveness of treatment. Simply defined, lumbar spinal stenosis is a narrowing of the space within the vertebrae (backbone) where spinal nerves pass. This is caused by an abnormal thickening of the tissues surrounding the spinal cord and vertebral bodies (Figure 4.2). The hallmark of this condition is neurogenic claudication—pain in the leg that occurs while walking—which is relieved by sitting down or bending forward. Symptoms due to stenosis typically progress slowly. However, unlike pain from a disc herniation, symptoms from stenosis rarely resolve, but typically wax and wane over time.¹⁵ Among older adults, spinal stenosis is common, thought to affect about 30% of people age 60 and over.¹⁶



Figure 4.2. Spinal stenosis

Thickening of the tissue surrounding the spinal cord is shown in purple. © Department of Orthopaedic Surgery at Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center. Used with permission.

The role of imaging: too much or too little?

Spinal stenosis can be difficult to diagnose definitively, in part because there is no reliable test. The diagnosis requires consideration of clinical symptoms, as well as imaging that shows a narrow spinal canal. However, in some patients, a narrow spinal canal causes no symptoms. When combined with a clinical evaluation, imaging studies, such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), may help diagnose spinal stenosis. However, radiographic and clinical definitions of stenosis lack consensus, 17-19 and these classifications often correlate poorly with patient reports of pain and disability.²⁰⁻²² In fact, spinal abnormalities revealed by imaging are surprisingly common even among asymptomatic people; studies have shown that, among patients without symptoms of back pain, 21% had spinal stenosis, 17% had spine joint problems, and 19% had other abnormalities of the bones and tissues of the spinal canal.^{23,24} Although the narrowing of the spinal canal can be measured with imaging, the degree of constriction predicts poorly which patients will benefit from surgery.



Before surgery

Patient decisions about back pain: challenges in treatment choices

There are multiple treatment options for people with lumbar spinal stenosis, including medication and physical therapy, steroid injections, and surgery. While the use of tests and treatments for spinal stenosis has grown in recent years, this increase does not appear to be caused by higher prevalence of the disease;²⁵ rather, patients are receiving higher intensity care.

Given the many different treatment options for spinal stenosis, many patients would benefit from shared decision-making, a formal process of educating patients about the risks and benefits of treatment options and engaging them in decisions that promote care consistent with their values and preferences. The Spine Center at Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center and Dr. James Weinstein led a National Institutes of Health-funded trial, the Spine Patient Outcomes Research Trial (SPORT), that studied ways to give patients the best information possible about the different treatments for back pain and which decisions were associated with the best outcomes (www.dartmouth-hitchcock.org/spine/sport.html). Similar efforts to help patients make the best, most informed decisions—even in the context of a brief clinic visit—have been undertaken by The Decision Laboratory, led by Dr. Glyn Elwyn (www.optiongrid.org). These decision support tools aim to help patients and providers compare alternative treatment options, even with complex conditions such as back pain and spinal stenosis (Figure 4.3).

As outlined in this report, patients with spinal stenosis often suffer from chronic pain and disability. While successfully navigating these health problems is difficult, resources are available at:

The American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons: orthoinfo.aaos.org/topic.cfm?topic=A00575

National Institute of Arthritis and Musculoskeletal and Skin Diseases: www.niams.nih.gov/Health_Info/Back_Pain/

Anthem BlueCross BlueShield: www.anthem.com/wps/portal/ahpprovider?content_path=provider/noapplication/f1/s0/t0/pw_b156442. htm&state=in&rootLevel=1&label=Low%20Back%20Pain%20Tools%20for%20Patients%20and%20Providers

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center: www.dartmouth-hitchcock.org/medical-information/health_encyclopedia/aa121240#zx3768



Spinal stenosis

Use this grid to help you and your healthcare professional talk about how best to treat spinal stenosis. It is for people diagnosed with spinal stenosis who have experienced leg weakness, numbness, or pain that worsens with standing and walking and improves with sitting. It is not for people with loss of bowel and urine control due to pinched nerves in their lower back.

Frequently asked questions	Managing without injections or surgery	Injections (epidural steroids)	Surgery
What does the treatment involve?	Being as active as possible to improve blood flow and taking medicine to relieve pain and swelling around the nerves.	Injection of a local anesthetic and steroid where the nerves are under pressure. This takes around 20 minutes.	A small piece of bone is removed to make a larger space for the nerve(s) in your back. This takes about 2 hours and most people spend 1-2 days in the hospital afterwards.
How soon will I feel better?	6 weeks after the problem starts, about 20 in every 100 people (20%) say they are better.	Studies have had mixed findings. At best, between 15 to 30 in every 100 people (15 to 30%) experience relief. Of those, most feel better in a week or so.	6 weeks after surgery, about 75 in every 100 people (75%) say they feel better.
Which treatment works best in the long-term??	4 years after treatment, about 48 in every 100 people (48%) who manage without surgery say they are better.	It is hard to say. Some studies have shown benefits from steroid injections but others have not.	4 years after surgery, around 59 in every 100 people (59%) say they are better.
What are the main risks/side effects?	The side effects will depend on which pain reliever you use.	Fewer than 1 in every 100 people (>1%) have problems, such as bleeding, headache, and infection.	2 in every 100 people (2%) will get an infection. 1 in every 100 people (1%) will get blood clots. Less than 1 in every 100 people (>1%) will get nerve damage.
How will this treatment impact my ability to care for myself?	You should go about your normal daily activities as much as you are able to.	You will need someone to drive you home after the injection. Most people resume regular activities the day after the injection.	Most people need some help from family and/or friends for 1-2 months following a simple operation. More complex operations require longer healing.
Will I need any other treatment?	No, but you may be asked to see a physical therapist to start an exercise program.	You should take pain relievers as needed and keep active. The injection may be repeated in the future, but usually no more than 2 or 3 times in total.	Most people use pain relievers after the operation. Some need physical therapy after their operation and 15 in every 100 people (15%) need a short stay in a nursing home. Longer term, 6 in every 100 people (6%) need more back operations within 1 year of surgery, 13 in every 100 (13%) within 4 years; and 25 in every 100 (25%) within 10 years.

Editors: Thom Walsh, Ben Dropkin, Sohail Mirza, Michael Lewis, Glyn Elwyn. Evidence document: <u>http://www.optiongrid.org/resources/spinalstenosis_evidence.pdf</u> Last update: 7 October 2014 Next update: 1 November 2015 ISBN: 978-0-9926733-1-4 License: CC BY-NC-ND 4.0 (International) Download the most current version from: <u>http://www.optiongrid.org</u>

Figure 4.3. Option grid for spinal stenosis

Source: The Option Grid Collaborative (www.optiongrid.org).



Non-surgical options for the treatment of spinal stenosis

Medical management: Medications are commonly used as initial therapy for common spinal problems, including spinal stenosis. Typical medications include non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), analgesics, COX-2 inhibitors, muscle relaxants, certain anticonvulsants (e.g., Neurontin), and certain anti-depression medications (e.g., Cymbalta). Systematic reviews highlight a moderate short-term benefit of most of these drugs to relieve pain, but, like nearly all medications, they also have risks.²⁶⁻²⁸

Although the use of opioids (also referred to as narcotics) in the treatment of back pain has been discouraged in clinical guidelines, there was a 423% increase in opioid use among people with back problems from 1997 to 2005.²⁵ The availability of more potent opioid analgesics since 1997 has been accompanied by higher rates of opioid-related complications, leading to emergency department visits, psychiatric conditions, and death.^{26,29-31} It is unclear why these treatment patterns have occurred, as the wide geographic variation in opioid use does not appear to reflect disease prevalence, injury, or surgical procedures.³² Opioid use for the long-term management of chronic spinal problems is not supported by scientific evidence of safety and effectiveness.^{33,34} While more than half of "regular" prescription opioid users have back pain,³⁵ a report from the Cochrane collaboration states that "… opioids for long-term management of chronic [low back pain] remains questionable" and guidelines from the American College of Physicians and the American Pain Society have called for reassessing patients who fail to respond to a time-limited course of opioids.^{26,33,36}

Non-operative therapy: The benefits of medical care, chiropractic care, physical therapy, and other non-surgical interventions to treat spinal stenosis have not been demonstrated.^{16,37,38} There is some evidence that exercise improves leg pain and functioning compared to no treatment, but these measures do not alter the natural progression of stenosis.³⁹ Nevertheless, one-third of the patients in the Spine Patient Outcomes Research Trial (SPORT) study's unstructured non-operative treatment group reported significant improvements in symptoms at four years.⁴⁰ This may be as due to "tincture of time" as any treatment offered.

Epidural steroid injections: Wide geographic variation in epidural steroid injections has also been reported in the United States. Their use does not correlate to evidence-based indications of sciatica or radiculopathy;^{41,42} does not reduce the rate of subsequent surgery;⁴³⁻⁴⁸ and does not appear to obviate the need for opioids, surgery, or medical visits among the elderly U.S. population.^{42,49} One recent large randomized trial found no short-term benefit of epidural steroid injection relative to injection with lidocaine, a short-term anesthetic, in treating patients with lumbar spinal stenosis.⁵⁰

During surgery

Older treatments or newer methods? Trends and geographic variation in surgical treatments for spinal stenosis

Surgical interventions have evolved from traditional decompression—where the tissue compressing the spinal nerves is removed—to include both more invasive types of operations such as spinal fusion, where the spine bones are fixed together, and less invasive procedures such as minimally invasive or percutaneous (through the skin) decompression. Over 94,000 inpatient operations for lumbar stenosis were performed in the United States in 2011, with national hospital costs exceeding \$2.3 billion (according to unpublished data from the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project). There are no recent studies documenting the rate of ambulatory or outpatient decompression operations for spinal stenosis in the United States.

Figure 4.4 shows the rates of initial (incident) inpatient decompression and fusion operations for lumbar spinal stenosis among Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries age 65 and over. These estimates exclude patients who had other spine problems, such as spinal fractures, or a diagnosis of cancer. The rate of spinal fusion operations for stenosis increased 67%, from 31.6 per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries in 2001 to 52.7 per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries in 2011.

Surgical decompression of the spinal canal, such as laminectomy (removing the rear piece of the vertebrae), eliminates pressure on the spinal nerve roots. A variety of surgical techniques is used, with recent advances toward minimally invasive and microscopic techniques.^{51,52} The rates of inpatient decompression among older adults have declined as fusion operations have increased and as decompression is increasingly performed as an outpatient procedure (Figure 4.4).





The rates shown in the figure represent decompression and fusion procedures for patients with a diagnosis of lumbar spinal stenosis among all Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries.

During the period comprising 2001 through 2011, inpatient spinal decompressions for lumbar spinal stenosis were performed at a rate of 80.0 per 100.000 Medicare beneficiaries across the United States. The rate varied more than eightfold among hospital referral regions, from fewer than 35 procedures per 100,000 in the Bronx, New York (25.3), Miami, Florida (31.8), and South Bend, Indiana (34.8) to more than 180 per 100,000 in Mason City, Iowa (216.7), Tacoma, Washington (200.7), and Bloomington, Illinois (186.6) (Figure 4.5). Rates of spinal decompression were generally higher in the Pacific Northwest and northern Mountain states than in other parts of the country (Map 4.1).



Mason City, IA	216.7
Tacoma, WA	200.7
Bloomington, IL	186.6
Slidell, LA	167.3
Monroe, LA	166.8
Newark, NJ	35.8
Manhattan, NY	35.6
South Bend, IN	34.8
Miami, FL	31.8
Bronx, NY	25.3

Figure 4.5. Inpatient spinal decompression per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries among hospital referral regions (2001-11)

Each blue dot represents the rate of spinal decompression for lumbar spinal stenosis in one of 306 hospital referral regions in the U.S. Red dots indicate the regions with the 5 lowest and 5 highest rates.



Map 4.1. Inpatient spinal decompression per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries (2001-11)

Rates are adjusted for age, sex, and race. The average was created based on odd-numbered years from 2001 to 2011.

While decompression procedures are well established for treating stenosis, fusion operations are an increasingly popular, but controversial, treatment option (Figure 4.4).⁵³ Spinal fusion is intended to eliminate back pain by joining together two or more adjacent vertebrae under the theory that stabilization will reduce symptoms. The procedure frequently involves implanting cages, rods, or other instrumentation to join vertebrae together. The evidence of the effectiveness of lumbar fusion surgery for treating spinal stenosis (in the absence of significant curvature, called scoliosis, or slipping of a vertebra, called spondylolisthesis) has not been fully established.⁵⁴ A meta-analysis by Turner et al was among the first to find little evidence supporting fusion surgery for spinal stenosis, reporting large variation in satisfactory results.⁵⁵ On the other hand, a European cohort study found that fusion operations led to better patient-reported outcomes compared to decompression alone, although fusion increased the risk for surgical complications and repeat operations.

The average rate of inpatient spinal fusion for lumbar spinal stenosis during the period from 2001 to 2011 in the United States was 41.1 per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries. The fusion rate varied by a factor of more than fourteen across hospital referral regions, from 9.2 procedures per 100,000 in Bangor, Maine to 127.5 per 100,000 in Bradenton, Florida (Figure 4.6). Regions with relatively low fusion rates included Fresno, California (12.5), Alameda County, California (14.9), and Scranton, Pennsylvania (17.1). More than 80 procedures per 100,000 were performed in Grand Rapids, Michigan (89.9), Mason City, Iowa (89.2), and Tyler, Texas (88.5) (Map 4.2).

127.5

89.9

89.2

88.5

87.4

17.5

17.1

14.9

12.5

9.2



Figure 4.6. Inpatient spinal fusion per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries among hospital referral regions (2001-11)

Each blue dot represents the rate of spinal fusion for lumbar spinal stenosis in one of 306 hospital referral regions in the U.S. Red dots indicate the regions with the 5 lowest and 5 highest rates.


Map 4.2. Inpatient spinal fusion per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries (2001-11) Rates are adjusted for age, sex, and race. The average was created based on odd-numbered years from 2001 to 2011.

After surgery

Two small randomized trials have demonstrated that, on average, surgical decompression improves patient-reported measures of pain, disability, and quality of life compared to non-operative treatments.^{57,58} Other comparative effectiveness studies examining the potential benefits and harms of surgery for spinal stenosis have helped to provide further guidance. Surgical patients with spinal stenosis in the Maine Lumbar Spine Study (MLSS) had greater improvements in patient-reported measures of pain and function through a ten-year follow-up compared to non-surgical patients; however, the surgical advantage narrowed over time.⁵⁹ The SPORT study reported better pain relief and functional recovery with surgical treatment than with non-surgical treatment for patients with spinal stenosis.⁴⁰ Overall, decompression procedures appear to have moderate efficacy for stenosis, but these results lessen with time,⁵³ and many patients still have significant problems. At a median four years of follow-up in one cohort study, 17% of patients had undergone a repeat operation, and 30% reported severe pain.¹⁴

Complications

Compared to decompression procedures alone, complex fusion operations (defined as those involving combined surgical approaches or multiple vertebral levels) are associated with greater risks of life-threatening complications, mortality, and increased health care utilization.⁶⁰ After adjustment for age, comorbidity, previous spine surgery, and other features in a Medicare population, the likelihood of a life-threatening complication with complex fusions compared to decompressions was almost three times higher. Rehospitalizations within 30 days occurred for 7.8% of patients undergoing decompression compared to 13.0% having a complex fusion. Among Medicare patients undergoing any type of spine surgery for lumbar stenosis, with or without spondylolisthesis, the two-year reoperation rate was 17%. In addition, 25% were readmitted to the hospital due to a surgery-related complication.⁶¹







Table 4.1. Surgical safety outcomes following inpatient operation for lumbar spinal stenosis among Medicare beneficiaries			
Outcome	Decompression	Fusion	
Life-threatening complications	1.7%	2.8%	
Wound problems	1.9%	3.4%	
All-cause readmission	6.8%	8.8%	
Reoperation (1 year)	5.2%	4.7%	
Reoperation (5 year)	14.0%	16.0%	
Reoperation (10 year)	17.9%	20.7%	

Adjusted for age group, sex, comorbidity, and previous hospitalization. Analysis based on approach reported in: Deyo RA et al. Trends, major medical complications, and charges associated with surgery for lumbar spinal stenosis in older adults. *JAMA*. 20:303(13);1259-65. Updated with additional years of combined data.

Table 4.1 and Figure 4.8 show the rates of postoperative surgical complications and repeat spine surgeries among Medicare beneficiaries undergoing an initial inpatient lumbar spine operation for spinal stenosis (without spondylolisthesis or scoliosis). On average, during the five-year period after surgery, 16% of patients required a second operation among those with fusion and 14% among those with decompression, even after adjusting for differences in patient age, sex, comorbidity, and hospitalizations in the previous year. Fusion operations were associated with greater risk of wound problems and life-threatening complications within 30 days, as well as a significantly higher rate of all-cause repeat hospitalizations.



Figure 4.8. Cumulative incidence of repeat lumbar spine operations following initial inpatient decompression or fusion for lumbar spinal stenosis among Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries, 2000-11

Source: CMS MedPAR. Estimates based on Kaplan-Meier Failure, following methods reported in: Deyo RA et al. Revision surgery following operations for lumbar stenosis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2011 Nov 2;93(21):1979-86. Updated with additional years of data.

Can less invasive alternatives help? New technology, but what evidence?

Interspinious process devices (such as the X-Stop© device, approved by the FDA in late 2005) have recently emerged as a less invasive alternative to decompression procedures. These devices are inserted between the spinous processes of adjacent vertebrae and spread the vertebrae apart to prevent the nerve canals from pressing on the nerves. While industry-sponsored randomized trials suggest an advantage over non-surgical treatments, there are only a few clinical trials comparing them to decompression.⁶²⁻⁶⁴ While these devices can be placed using only local anesthetics, their use is associated with a higher incidence of reoperation. Interspinous distraction procedures appear to have fewer life-threatening complications at the time of the operation, but lead to more subsequent revision operations.^{65,66} Other minimally invasive decompression techniques are under development, but the evidence necessary to support their use remains limited.

Beyond surgery

Trends and variation in treatments for lumbar spinal stenosis likely reflect an aging population, a lack of consensus about the best treatment options, and changes in surgical technologies. While decompression may remain the gold standard for patients for whom non-operative treatments have failed, it is increasingly performed on an outpatient basis, using minimally invasive techniques, and incorporating spinal spacers. Additionally, some patients may seek to undergo lumbar fusion operations. Some have viewed fusion as obviating the need for additional treatments. Sadly, this does not bear out in observation of readmissions, complications, and repeat spine surgery rates.

The need for shared decision-making

The complex and changing treatment options highlight the need for the development of better tools to help patients to make the best, most informed treatment choices. Prior work by the Dartmouth Atlas Project has shown that the marked regional variation in surgery for back pain reflects the local practice styles of spine surgeons. For the individual patient, there is often not a single "right" treatment choice. Each has the potential to benefit the patient, but benefit is not certain. Each also entails the possibility of harm or the need for further surgery. In ideal settings, patients should be informed about these options and given the opportunity to participate in shared decision-making, allowing their values and preferences to guide them to the best decision for them.

	Decisio			
Treatment Options	Patient Needs	Decision Support	Decision Quality	Patient Outcomes
Medication	Clarification of individual values	Continuously updated, patient-	Assessment of patient knowledge	Measurement of:
Physical therapy	and preferences	specific data regarding risks	and understanding	Pain reduction
Steroid injections	Knowledge of procedure risks,	and benefits	Assessment of congruence with	Quality of life
Surgery - Decompression - Fusion	benefits, and other considerations	Guidance for the patient/surgeon interaction	pre-specified values and preferences	Surgical complications 30-day
		Other considerations		readmission
				Need for repeat surgery

Figure 4.9.	Conceptual	model for	decision	support	process
-------------	------------	-----------	----------	---------	---------

Procedures such as spinal fusion have become increasingly common in recent years. These operations, unfortunately, can result in complications, some requiring readmission to the hospital. These findings point to significant opportunities to improve safety and effectiveness in treating back pain. Long-term surveillance of safety measures and patient-reported outcomes are rare in spine surgery but are critically important for informing patients and other stakeholders about the value of spinal procedures.

Conclusions

Surgery for back pain, especially for patients with spinal stenosis, has changed dramatically in recent years but continues to vary from one region to the next. While surgical outcomes research has provided information about when and how these changes have occurred over time, patients are still subject to the accident of geography. In one region, patients are more likely to be offered decompression; in another, fusion; and in a third, medical management may be more common. We know very little about how the variation in care patterns has affected patients and their lives. While more needs to be done to improve the treatments for spinal stenosis and back pain, there is a more immediate opportunity to improve care by implementing shared decision-making. A higher quality decision-making process would help patients find the choice best aligned with their values and preferences.

Chapter 4 Table. Rates of inpatient lumbar decompression and fusion for lumbar spinal stenosis among hospital referral regions (2001-11)				
HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries	Lumbar decompression per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Lumbar fusion per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries
Birmingham	AL	1,398,742	124.6	44.7
Dothan	AL	282,577	121.3	50.0
Huntsville	AL	402,264	118.5	65.4
Mobile	AL	464,724	119.6	44.8
Montgomery	AL	272,362	96.2	37.2
Tuscaloosa	AL	167,593	82.2	28.0
Anchorage	AK	254,882	63.5	35.5
Mesa	AZ	398,308	74.9	34.2
Phoenix	AZ	1,324,677	76.6	31.9
Sun City	AZ	267,810	93.1	50.0
Tucson	AZ	572,030	97.6	49.7
Fort Smith	AR	250,102	62.8	24.1
Jonesboro	AR	174,688	100.3	24.6
Little Rock	AR	1,130,527	109.5	27.6
Springdale	AR	292,036	61.0	22.5
Texarkana	AR	194,169	128.0	27.4
Orange County	CA	1,061,288	46.7	30.8
Bakersfield	CA	372,840	63.1	18.4
Chico	CA	237,544	80.5	29.7
Contra Costa County	CA	332,781	52.5	25.0
Fresno	CA	465,467	37.0	12.5
Los Angeles	CA	3,308,910	61.7	22.8
Modesto	CA	366,226	74.3	26.1
Napa	CA	183,811	67.6	25.4
Alameda County	CA	480,509	48.3	14.9
Palm Springs/Rancho Mirage	CA	220,793	66.1	36.9
Redding	CA	275,138	54.1	18.9
Sacramento	CA	978,357	67.9	28.9
Salinas	CA	219,866	108.5	39.3
San Bernardino	CA	664,846	54.2	23.0
San Diego	CA	1,205,041	57.7	29.2
San Francisco	CA	611,589	62.2	19.9
San Jose	CA	577,960	60.8	17.6
San Luis Obispo	CA	170,941	63.9	21.2
San Mateo County	CA	327,617	82.8	26.1
Santa Barbara	CA	234,230	153.9	45.0

Rates are adjusted for age, sex, and race. Blank cells indicate that the rate was suppressed due to a small number of events occurring in the region during the study period. The averages were created based on odd-numbered years from 2001 to 2011.

21.6

28.5

40.2

45.9

68.4

41.1

46.1

59.8

140.4

47.6

63.1

121.1

110.6

47.9

89.6

120.5

CA

CA

CA

CA

CO

CO

CO

CO

127,842

214,000

224,961

361,823

101,347

381,179

848,970

168,987

Santa Cruz

Santa Rosa

Stockton

Ventura

Boulder

Denver

Fort Collins

Colorado Springs



Chapter 4 Table. Rates of inpatient lumbar decompression and fusion for lumbar spinal stenosis among hospital referral regions (2001-11)				
HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries	Lumbar decompression per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Lumbar fusion per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries
Grand Junction	CO	159,589	91.0	64.3
Greeley	CO	185,433	146.8	64.0
Pueblo	CO	103,911	44.0	42.5
Bridgeport	CT	419,634	82.7	24.0
Hartford	СТ	1,039,959	70.0	39.5
New Haven	CT	965,608	54.7	34.8
Wilmington	DE	500,184	40.6	30.7
Washington	DC	1,441,278	81.3	39.6
Bradenton	FL	261,124	85.5	127.5
Clearwater	FL	385,591	84.7	48.6
Fort Lauderdale	FL	1,715,571	68.2	65.9
Fort Myers	FL	1,053,852	112.7	47.7
Gainesville	FL	373,306	104.7	49.5
Hudson	FL	349,227	100.8	45.1
Jacksonville	FL	854,278	84.6	35.6
Lakeland	FL	229,025	79.4	43.2
Miami	FL	1,068,243	31.8	31.5
Ocala	FL	637,897	134.9	60.0
Orlando	FL	2,222,114	65.6	54.2
Ormond Beach	FL	301,636	53.9	27.7
Panama City	FL	157,359	46.8	64.6
Pensacola	FL	527,166	102.0	41.5
Sarasota	FL	547,740	77.2	80.5
St. Petersburg	FL	278,090	118.1	36.4
Tallahassee	FL	420,477	69.0	61.2
Tampa	FL	542,844	67.1	30.5
Albany	GA	125,218	53.0	52.9
Atlanta	GA	2,441,602	65.7	32.8
Augusta	GA	396,573	66.7	47.9
Columbus	GA	195,141	125.0	81.7
Macon	GA	435,234	58.7	39.6
Rome	GA	188,040	87.1	35.6
Savannah	GA	488,566	97.3	58.7
Honolulu	HI	576,993	40.3	26.8
Boise	ID	401,406	120.2	86.9
Idaho Falls	ID	110,210	59.6	70.9
Aurora	IL	111,932	43.7	21.5
Blue Island	IL	572,392	59.9	51.9
Chicago	IL	1,238,208	46.4	28.4
Elgin	IL	364,742	68.5	39.1
Evanston	IL	756,091	86.9	51.9
Hinsdale	IL	249,779	73.5	48.0
Joliet	IL	372,502	65.4	36.9
Melrose Park	IL	777,643	69.6	35.0

Chapter 4 Table. Rates of inpatient lumbar decompression and fusion for lumbar spinal stenosis among hospital referral regions (2001-11)					
HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries	Lumbar decompression per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Lumbar fusion per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries	
Peoria	IL	500,641	73.3	33.7	
Rockford	IL	503,483	60.6	42.0	
Springfield	IL	725,016	77.7	79.9	
Urbana	IL	293,657	147.7	33.7	
Bloomington	IL	106,732	186.6	72.5	
Evansville	IN	523,772	83.3	32.0	
Fort Wayne	IN	521,594	67.8	83.5	
Gary	IN	357,341	64.4	53.1	
Indianapolis	IN	1,729,082	69.9	36.2	
Lafayette	IN	120,404	71.7	68.1	
Muncie	IN	133,807	98.4	71.7	
Munster	IN	221,961	82.2	53.9	
South Bend	IN	463,173	34.8	74.3	
Terre Haute	IN	141,641	49.9	32.9	
Cedar Rapids	IA	199,297	74.4	20.4	
Davenport	IA	379,339	107.5	54.3	
Des Moines	IA	785,272	101.8	40.6	
Dubuque	IA	87,363	139.2	32.9	
Iowa City	IA	232,634	118.3	56.8	
Mason City	IA	149,020	216.7	89.2	
Sioux City	IA	206,199	112.6	48.3	
Waterloo	IA	159,472	88.0	44.8	
Торека	KS	321,952	98.3	66.6	
Wichita	KS	974,015	92.7	58.4	
Covington	KY	200,691	83.3	18.0	
Lexington	KY	915,667	50.0	27.9	
Louisville	KY	1,098,043	68.9	39.8	
Owensboro	KY	107,837	116.0	32.0	
Paducah	KY	324,320	63.7	60.4	
Alexandria	LA	204,932	106.4	49.7	
Baton Rouge	LA	370,119	38.0	30.6	
Houma	LA	145,992	73.8	56.4	
Lafayette	LA	378,712	48.9	60.4	
Lake Charles	LA	165,315	94.8	43.1	
Metairie	LA	207,018	53.7	29.3	
Monroe	LA	201,108	166.8	38.5	
New Orleans	LA	235,393	48.6	37.2	
Shreveport	LA	486,473	124.0	35.0	
Slidell	LA	92,030	167.3	42.1	
Bangor	ME	343,868	83.6	9.2	
Portland	ME	813,159	91.6	27.0	
Baltimore	MD	1,598,239	91.3	48.9	
Salisbury	MD	393,863	54.0	38.8	
Takoma Park	MD	440,271	70.0	50.4	

Rates are adjusted for age, sex, and race. Blank cells indicate that the rate was suppressed due to a small number of events occurring in the region during the study period. The averages were created based on odd-numbered years from 2001 to 2011.



Chapter 4 Table. Rates of inp	atient lumb	ar decompression and fusion f	or lumbar spinal stenosis among hospital referral re	egions (2001-11)
HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries	Lumbar decompression per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Lumbar fusion per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries
Boston	MA	2,905,066	85.4	26.8
Springfield	MA	469,764	72.0	33.7
Worcester	MA	307,221	77.4	50.2
Ann Arbor	MI	771,202	83.7	41.1
Dearborn	MI	342,156	73.3	52.1
Detroit	MI	1,108,678	95.1	54.3
Flint	MI	339,333	88.1	39.9
Grand Rapids	MI	605,380	106.3	89.9
Kalamazoo	MI	432,238	96.4	55.4
Lansing	MI	388,435	134.8	27.1
Marquette	MI	171,068	116.6	19.6
Muskegon	MI	178,442	131.9	57.9
Petoskey	MI	153,544	74.0	52.3
Pontiac	MI	239,421	102.5	53.8
Royal Oak	MI	459,439	84.0	69.4
Saginaw	MI	555,906	100.3	68.1
St. Joseph	MI	109,088	100.3	22.4
Traverse City	MI	206,670	117.3	54.6
Duluth	MN	257,760	96.9	36.8
Minneapolis	MN	1,434,362	102.2	45.9
Rochester	MN	298,010	104.1	21.1
St. Cloud	MN	130,611	166.7	20.4
St. Paul	MN	400,552	123.4	41.9
Gulfport	MS	114,522	104.0	41.6
Hattiesburg	MS	195,547	60.6	69.4
Jackson	MS	666,746	75.4	33.3
Meridian	MS	149,597	79.0	20.5
Oxford	MS	97,154	79.6	23.0
Tupelo	MS	269,844	66.5	17.9
Cape Girardeau	MO	218,620	85.5	34.4
Columbia	MO	520,521	70.2	54.2
Joplin	MO	292,890	89.7	50.3
Kansas City	MO	1,338,356	112.7	40.2
Springfield	MO	594,758	56.1	41.7
St. Louis	MO	1,977,157	68.5	32.6
Billings	MT	394,864	125.9	54.7
Great Falls	MT	113,357	79.8	40.5
Missoula	MT	274,625	78.6	48.7
Lincoln	NE	445,555	123.5	43.5
Omaha	NE	847,677	119.1	45.3
Las Vegas	NV	694,803	68.3	40.6
Reno	NV	419,773	81.8	44.9
Lebanon	NH	346,236	71.0	32.3
Manchester	NH	576,524	81.2	35.1

Chapter 4 Table. Rates of inpatient lumbar decompression and fusion for lumbar spinal stenosis among hospital referral regions (2001-11)				
HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries	Lumbar decompression per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Lumbar fusion per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries
Camden	NJ	2,018,098	48.4	24.7
Hackensack	NJ	855,222	43.5	27.2
Morristown	NJ	657,767	64.8	35.7
New Brunswick	NJ	609,813	48.5	23.7
Newark	NJ	828,334	35.8	18.6
Paterson	NJ	242,770	63.4	20.0
Ridgewood	NJ	276,298	60.0	21.6
Albuquerque	NM	798,793	72.0	33.5
Albany	NY	1,232,672	65.9	33.8
Binghamton	NY	297,971	55.2	55.1
Bronx	NY	447,503	25.3	17.5
Buffalo	NY	692,313	71.0	26.9
Elmira	NY	266,299	61.9	20.4
East Long Island	NY	2,629,006	38.5	30.9
Manhattan	NY	2,320,335	35.6	23.2
Rochester	NY	499,889	100.2	37.5
Syracuse	NY	729,887	83.0	27.7
White Plains	NY	712,135	57.6	31.5
Asheville	NC	578,469	74.7	47.2
Charlotte	NC	1,270,661	72.4	65.2
Durham	NC	845,359	91.7	37.1
Greensboro	NC	315,613	84.0	28.3
Greenville	NC	560,227	69.9	31.9
Hickory	NC	203,696	88.7	51.9
Raleigh	NC	938,652	83.1	36.4
Wilmington	NC	306,199	82.7	50.2
Winston-Salem	NC	610,810	66.0	39.2
Bismarck	ND	184,179	130.2	44.4
Fargo/Moorhead MN	ND	375,347	110.3	33.7
Grand Forks	ND	123,966	95.8	25.0
Minot	ND	104,868	88.9	37.3
Akron	OH	376,023	142.0	76.4
Canton	OH	385,753	108.1	54.7
Cincinnati	ОН	879,493	73.4	41.9
Cleveland	OH	1,340,774	76.0	57.2
Columbus	ОН	1,636,441	64.6	55.5
Dayton	OH	711,358	72.9	51.4
Elyria	OH	163,416	95.1	31.7
Kettering	OH	255,125	64.4	65.1
Toledo	ОН	607,040	131.7	51.0
Youngstown	OH	448,648	78.9	55.4
Lawton	ОК	138,559	112.7	47.6
Oklahoma City	OK	1,176,503	95.7	29.3

Rates are adjusted for age, sex, and race. Blank cells indicate that the rate was suppressed due to a small number of events occurring in the region during the study period. The averages were created based on odd-numbered years from 2001 to 2011.

29.3

76.9

OK

788,484

Tulsa



Chapter 4 Table. Rates of inpatient lumbar decompression and fusion for lumbar spinal stenosis among hospital referral regions (2001-11)				
HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries	Lumbar decompression per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Lumbar fusion per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries
Bend	OR	121,059	154.2	33.1
Eugene	OR	391,361	149.8	57.2
Medford	OR	323,665	107.2	60.1
Portland	OR	898,954	149.0	42.3
Salem	OR	100,701	127.5	47.3
Allentown	PA	824,563	89.5	33.5
Altoona	PA	179,896	54.3	50.4
Danville	PA	360,304	70.1	41.6
Erie	PA	512,378	93.6	37.5
Harrisburg	PA	696,969	85.8	64.6
Johnstown	PA	113,991	93.3	44.8
Lancaster	PA	423,965	159.3	54.4
Philadelphia	PA	1,955,482	64.7	27.1
Pittsburgh	PA	1,504,518	111.1	59.1
Reading	PA	394,268	61.5	40.6
Sayre	PA	155,201	67.7	37.5
Scranton	PA	270,765	89.8	17.1
Wilkes-Barre	PA	219,944	47.4	25.2
York	PA	297,112	136.1	62.4
Providence	RI	615,563	55.2	43.1
Charleston	SC	651,793	98.6	71.9
Columbia	SC	726,297	85.9	58.5
Florence	SC	241,915	103.3	74.7
Greenville	SC	564,871	98.0	36.4
Spartanburg	SC	246,860	100.2	26.0
Rapid City	SD	151,118	77.4	51.8
Sioux Falls	SD	652,940	86.3	73.0
Chattanooga	TN	451,315	50.7	31.8
Jackson	TN	267,675	67.5	24.0
Johnson City	TN	174,303	48.5	37.5
Kingsport	TN	307,496	57.8	29.9
Knoxville	TN	846,740	70.6	35.8
Memphis	TN	1,021,060	59.4	23.5
Nashville	TN	1,446,374	88.1	67.9
Abilene	ТХ	246,124	71.2	39.3
Amarillo	ТХ	302,164	132.0	32.8
Austin	ТХ	635,194	79.8	50.0
Beaumont	ТХ	298,469	96.8	32.7
Bryan	ТХ	121,785	155.7	35.1
Corpus Christi	ТХ	278,392	70.5	44.2
Dallas	ТХ	1,913,948	70.3	40.3
El Paso	ТХ	543,167	57.5	35.1
Fort Worth	ТХ	812,985	55.8	47.5
Harlingen	ТΧ	266,872	85.5	40.8

HRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries	Lumbar decompression per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries	Lumbar fusion per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries
Houston	ТХ	2,405,919	103.3	27.7
Longview	ТХ	144,511	118.0	67.9
Lubbock	ТХ	444,739	81.9	34.5
McAllen	ТХ	255,625	73.2	37.9
Odessa	ТХ	206,455	110.9	62.3
San Angelo	ТХ	125,445	85.5	34.7
San Antonio	ТХ	1,184,382	55.4	39.6
Temple	ТХ	156,536	36.8	27.8
Tyler	ТХ	434,016	106.3	88.5
Victoria	ТХ	119,113	78.1	38.0
Waco	ТХ	219,028	44.2	43.8
Wichita Falls	ТХ	163,689	74.3	42.8
Ogden	UT	183,192	94.4	29.2
Provo	UT	161,789	89.9	30.8
Salt Lake City	UT	836,139	80.9	45.7
Burlington	VT	449,412	59.1	30.0
Arlington	VA	866,789	52.5	66.5
Charlottesville	VA	400,815	99.2	48.5
Lynchburg	VA	197,415	151.0	27.9
Newport News	VA	362,626	104.5	87.4
Norfolk	VA	726,543	56.0	67.9
Richmond	VA	1,016,211	82.0	64.3
Roanoke	VA	547,605	95.6	29.0
Winchester	VA	278,536	89.6	44.8
Everett	WA	281,257	110.0	28.9
Olympia	WA	206,427	126.0	57.5
Seattle	WA	1,322,823	112.4	44.3
Spokane	WA	932,111	145.0	52.3
Tacoma	WA	353,221	200.7	63.5
Yakima	WA	168,224	116.0	44.4

Rates are adjusted for age, sex, and race. Blank cells indicate that the rate was suppressed due to a small number of events occurring in the region during the study period. The averages were created based on odd-numbered years from 2001 to 2011.

45.6

62.6

59.0

77.3

121.8

85.9

66.1

50.0

69.1

78.4

40.9

155.8

80.0

21.1 19.6

25.3

50.9

32.1

19.4

35.6

27.0

33.3

47.7

33.8

73.4

41.1

WV

WV

WV

WI

WI

WI

WI

WI

WI

WI

WI

WY

US

616,385

267,118

276,451

179,914

344,975

216,541

643,338

272,431

1,528,985

142,774

145,152

145,133

165,390,225

Charleston

Huntington

Morgantown

Appleton

Green Bay

La Crosse

Madison

Marshfield

Milwaukee

Neenah

Wausau

Casper

United States



Variation in the Care of Surgical Conditions: End-Stage Renal Disease

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center

Devin Zarkowsky, MD Richard Freeman, MD David Axelrod, MD, MBA

Division of Vascular and Endovascular Therapy, The Johns Hopkins Medical Institutes

Mahmoud Malas, MD, MHS

The Dartmouth Institute of Health Policy & Clinical Practice

Philip R. Goodney, MD, MS Nino Dzebisashvili, PhD David C. Goodman, MD, MS Kristen K. Bronner, MA





Kidney Failure

Kidneys perform several essential functions for the body. They maintain normal blood pressure and electrolyte balance, generate signals to create new blood cells, and eliminate waste from the body as urine. Before the 1950s, kidney failure, also called end-stage renal disease (ESRD)—a permanent decline in function of the kidneys—was associated with certain death. Advances in medical technology over the last 60 years have allowed patients to resume nearly normal lives, even when their own kidneys no longer function. Renal replacement therapy, either through dialysis or kidney transplantation, offers a substitute for the patient's own kidney function.

Dialysis and kidney transplantation represent major steps forward in ESRD care. Unfortunately, current systems deliver therapy in a fragmented fashion. Patient care is spread across multiple locations, including primary care and specialist offices, dialysis facilities, and transplant centers. This often results in poor coordination and uneven provision of services.

This report highlights treatments for kidney failure—both dialysis and kidney transplantation—and describes patterns of care for patients in the United States. The evolution of ESRD treatments is first presented, from basic surgical techniques and rudimentary dialysis machines to the complex, multi-specialty model practiced today. Most importantly, the report examines current quality improvement initiatives and identifies areas in need of system-level improvement.

Before surgery

History of ESRD treatment in the U.S.

Transplantation and dialysis were developed in parallel during the 1950s, culminating in successful long-term survival for patients with ESRD for the first time. These techniques translated basic science and clinical research from dedicated surgeons and physicians into a therapeutic reality for ESRD patients.

Development of kidney transplantation

A knife-wielding assassin inspired the surgical techniques for organ transplantation. French President Sadi Carnot died in 1894 after an attack that purportedly left his abdominal blood vessels damaged beyond repair. Alexis Carrel, a young French surgeon, seeking a technique that might have saved Carnot, developed suturing methods enabling blood vessels to be joined. He received a Nobel Prize for these efforts in 1912.

In December of 1954, Joseph Murray, a surgeon at the Peter Bent Brigham Hospital in Boston, employed the vascular surgery techniques developed by Carrel to successfully transplant a kidney from Ronald Herrick to his identical twin brother, Richard. Murray posited that an organ transplanted from one identical twin to the other would survive, based on successful skin-grafting experiments performed weeks before the kidney surgery.¹ Richard's body accepted his brother's kidney as



Figure 5.1. Kidney transplant

Source: National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK), National Institutes of Health (NIH). Accessed October 23, 2014 at: kidney.niddk.nih.gov/kudiseases/ pubs/transplant/

its own, and he lived for eight more years. Because the brothers were identical twins, organ rejection was not a problem. Murray also received the Nobel Prize for this work in 1990.

It is rare that ESRD patients have a twin able to donate an organ. To become more generally useful, transplantation required physicians to understand and suppress the immune system in order to prevent organ rejection from non-identical donors. Peter Medawar's work in immunology characterized a cell's ability to distinguish between self and non-self, forming the basis for immunosuppressive medications.² Subsequently, anti-rejection medications emerged, effectively controlling rejection and allowing organ transplantation to become a durable, broadly-available therapy.³

Subsequent research established kidney transplantation as the most medically and economically efficacious renal replacement therapy.¹ Over 16,000 patients receive transplants from either living or deceased kidney donors every year.⁴ With current immunosuppression methods, over 94% of all kidneys transplanted function after one year, and nearly 75% work at five years.⁵ Compared with dialysis, kidney transplantation costs less and leads to longer survival.⁶

Development of hemodialysis

While transplantation offers thousands of patients an opportunity for a nearly normal life, tens of thousands are not able to receive a kidney, either because they are too ill or as a result of the shortage of available donor organs. For these patients, an alternative therapy—dialysis—is used to support life until either their kidneys recover or a donor organ becomes available. Hemodialysis machines filter the blood to remove toxins, salt, and fluids. Treatments generally occur three times per week, with each dialysis treatment lasting three to five hours.

Choosing whom to dialyze with the limited number of available machines challenged clinicians in the early years, and cost was often prohibitive. In a highly publicized program at the University of Washington, Seattle in the early 1960s, patients seeking dialysis were screened first for medical suitability by a panel of doctors. They were then reviewed by a separate panel, including a pastor, a lawyer, a doctor, and a businessman. This second group approved patients based on their social contributions, choosing 10 of the first 17 ESRD candidates to dialyze.⁴ The remaining patients died from untreated renal failure. These systems persisted until funding for dialysis was incorporated into Medicare in 1972, leading to a dramatic expansion of dialysis capacity in the U.S.

Insurance reform

Despite the existence of reliable methods to treat kidney failure, availability and costs hindered both transplantation and hemodialysis until President Richard Nixon signed Public Law 92-603, which initiated Medicare coverage for people under age 65 affected by ESRD. At the time, 7,000 Americans qualified for either dialysis or kidney transplantation; their treatment was fully reimbursed by the United States government. With this change, ESRD became a chronic, rather than fatal, medical condition. Public and political sentiment supported the expansion of treatment. Demand increased in the 40 years following Medicare coverage. The most recent report from the United States Renal Data System, the *USRDS 2013 Annual Data Report: Atlas of Chronic Kidney Disease and End-Stage Renal Disease in the United States*, showed that, as of December 31, 2010, the ESRD population in the United States comprised 488,938 people and consumed 6.3% of Medicare's total budget.⁵



Figure 5.2. AV fistula

In an AV fistula, the surgeon divides one of the veins in the arm and attaches it directly to the side of the main artery to the arm. This results in a blood vessel with rapid blood flow and thicker walls which can be used for dialysis. The dialysis machine is connected by placing two needles through the skin into the blood vessel to remove the blood, clean it in the dialysis machine, and return it to the patients circulation. Source: Macsata RA, Sidaway AN. Hemodialysis Access: General Considerations. In:

Cronenwett JL, Johnston KW, eds. Rutherford's Vascular Surgery. Vol 1. 7th ed: Elsevier; 2010.



Figure 5.3. Non-tunneled central venous catheter

Source: Blausen.com staff. "Blausen gallery 2014." Wikiversity Journal of Medicine. DOI:10.15347/wjm/2014.010.

Safer dialysis: creating fistulas

Hemodialysis requires durable access to large blood vessels that allow fluid exchange through the dialysis machine. Brescia, Cimino, Appel, and Hurwich described direct artery-vein connections—called arteriovenous (AV) fistulas—for hemodialysis in 1966.⁷ This technique grew in practice and became the primary mode of vascular access in ESRD treatment (Figure 5.2).

Intravascular hemodialysis catheters are large intravenous tubes placed to ensure easy access to patients' blood vessels for hemodialysis (Figure 5.3). While simple to place, it is difficult to maintain them and prevent infection. Dialysis catheters appeared in the 1980s, supplanting fistulas as the dominant access mode and increasing dialysis-associated costs.⁸ Studies have demonstrated inferior survival and increased morbidity associated with the indwelling catheters.⁸⁻¹¹

The National Kidney Foundation-Kidney Dialysis Outcomes Quality Initiative (NKF-KDOQI) published practice guidelines regarding permanent hemodialysis access creation and maintenance in 1997. The NKF set a goal that nearly half (40%) of existing dialysis patients have a fistula, and 50% of new dialysis patients start dialysis with a fistula.³ An update in 2005 reflected the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services' Fistula First Breakthrough Initiative (FFBI).⁸ While overall fistula prevalence doubled to 60% in the seven years after the initiation of the FFBI,¹² in 2005, fewer than 20% of ESRD patients started dialysis through a fistula, a clear opportunity for improvement based on these guidelines.¹³ Patients also have the option of peritoneal dialysis, which, unlike hemodialysis, filters toxins from the blood stream through the lining of the patient's abdominal cavity into fluid instilled and removed through an access port.

Current epidemiology of ESRD

The United States Renal Data System (USRDS) publishes reports on ESRD patients in the U.S. every year (www.usrds.org). According to the *USRDS 2013 Annual Data Report*, 112,788 new patients initiated dialysis in 2011. The number of patients receiving dialysis on December 31, 2011 was 430,273, while 185,626 patients were alive with functional kidney transplants (Figure 5.4).⁵



Figure 5.4. ESRD patients' treatment modalities and transplant waiting list patients

The number of transplants includes all functioning transplants performed since 1978. Source: U.S. Renal Data System, USRDS 2013 Annual Data Report: Atlas of Chronic Kidney Disease and End-Stage Renal Disease in the United States. National Institutes of Health: National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases; Bethesda, MD, 2013.

Regional variation in the prevalence of ESRD

End-stage renal disease care varies by location within the United States. Axelrod et al previously analyzed data from transplant registries to determine where patients living in each ZIP code received their transplant care and then used this information to define 113 transplant referral regions (TRRs) within the United States.¹⁴ These regions have strikingly different care patterns, as the treatment provided to ESRD patients varies among transplant centers. Furthermore, the way transplant care is delivered can dramatically affect both the cost and survival of patients with ESRD.

Figure 5.5 shows the variation in diagnosis of ESRD among patients living in each transplant referral region. On average, 0.21% of Medicare beneficiaries had a diagnosis of ESRD during the period from 2007 to 2010. This rate varied more than twofold across transplant referral regions, from less than 0.15% of beneficiaries in Portland, Maine (0.13%), Honolulu, Hawaii (0.13%), and Fort Myers, Florida (0.14%) to almost 0.30% in Toledo, Ohio (0.29%), Columbus, Ohio (0.28%), and Newark, New Jersey (0.28%). In general, rates of ESRD were high in the Midwest and Texas compared to other regions of the country (Map 5.1).



Figure 5.5. Percent of patients with end-stage renal disease among transplant referral regions (2007-10)

Each blue dot represents the percent of patients with ESRD in one of 113 transplant referral regions in the U.S. Red dots indicate the regions with the 5 lowest and 5 highest rates.



Map 5.1. Percent of patients with end-stage renal disease (2007-10) Rates are adjusted for age, sex, and race.

Disease progression: how and why does kidney failure occur?

Chronic kidney disease describes a slow decline in kidney function, usually from long-standing genetic or acquired diseases such as diabetes and obesity. Figures 5.6 and 5.7 show the relationships between the prevalence of two of these diseases and rates of ESRD. The proportion of patients with ESRD is the highest in regions with elevated rates of diabetes and obesity, although there are many other factors that contribute to renal failure.



Figure 5.6. Relationship between the percent of patients with diabetes and ESRD among transplant referral regions

The Medicare population includes all adult patients ages 18-99 with Medicare coverage for ESRD.



Figure 5.7. Relationship between the percent of patients with obesity and ESRD among transplant referral regions

Obesity: BMI ≥30, or about 30 lbs. overweight for 5'4" person. Source: The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS).

Who cares for patients with kidney failure?

When chronic kidney failure progresses, patients experience fatigue, nausea, and anorexia, indicating the need for renal replacement therapy. Patients whose kidney function declines to this level require multi-disciplinary counseling and an individualized care plan. This process is complex, usually involving a primary care provider, a nephrologist, and a vascular access surgeon, as well as a transplant center in some cases. Each member of the health care team has a distinct yet complementary role, as outlined below:

Primary care provider: Primary care providers, including physicians, nurse practitioners, and physician assistants, may be the first to notice signs, symptoms, and laboratory values suggesting renal dysfunction. Often, patients developing kidney disease are already being actively managed for hypertension and diabetes, the two diseases most responsible for nephropathy leading to ESRD in the United States. While controlling these processes is important, early specialist referral is essential.¹⁵

Nephrologist: A nephrologist is a medical specialist who cares for patients with kidney dysfunction and failure, managing both acute kidney failure—a rapid decline in kidney function after an illness, surgery, or trauma—and chronic kidney disease. When a patient's renal failure approaches ESRD, nephrologists administer dialysis treatments and refer patients for transplant evaluation when appropriate.

Dialysis access surgeon: General, vascular, and transplant surgeons may all be credentialed to place vascular access, including arteriovenous (AV) fistulas, AV grafts, hemodialysis catheters, and peritoneal dialysis catheters. Patients may require additional treatments to maintain the chosen dialysis modality, such as angioplasty or stent placement to preserve function in failing AV fistulas or grafts; such procedures are performed by vascular surgeons or interventional radiologists.

Transplant center team: Transplant centers' multidisciplinary teams include surgeons, nephrologists, social workers, nurse coordinators, and dieticians. Each plays a role along the path of organ transplantation, including pre-transplant social and medical assessment, ESRD care management while awaiting a kidney, performing the surgery, and adjusting medications post-operatively. Transplant centers are generally based within tertiary care academic hospitals.

Factors that influence the quality of ESRD care

Health services researchers have begun to explore the factors that make it more or less—likely that an individual patient will get optimal access to dialysis access surgery and transplantation. For example, early engagement with a nephrologist increases the likelihood that a patient will initiate hemodialysis with a functional fistula—rather than a hemodialysis catheter, where outcomes are much poorer—by a factor of eleven.¹⁶ Patients with longer nephrology follow-up are also more likely to have a functional AV fistula at the start of dialysis (Figure 5.8). Early nephrology care is also associated with a higher rate of listing for a transplant, a significant contributor to improved survival.¹⁷



Figure 5.8. Dialysis access modality utilized during the first outpatient hemodialysis by pre-ESRD nephrology care (2011)

Source: U.S. Renal Data System, USRDS 2013 Annual Data Report: Atlas of Chronic Kidney Disease and End-Stage Renal Disease in the United States. National Institutes of Health: National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases; Bethesda, MD, 2013.



Figure 5.9. Relationship between rates of incident AV fistula use and kidney transplantation among transplant referral regions (2007-10)

Despite recommendations from the National Kidney Foundation, most patients start dialysis with catheters, the least effective and least safe access method. More than 70% of new patients—about 80,000 people—resorted to this strategy in 2011.⁵ Patients who initiate dialysis with catheters have poorer long-term survival than patients who initiate dialysis with AV fistulas, and these patients are less likely to be treated with kidney transplantation. The positive correlation between the use of AV fistulas and transplantation (Figure 5.9) may be a result of greater care coordination, including the early involvement of a nephrologist.

As outlined in this report, patients with ESRD face difficult decisions regarding their care. Resources available to help patients and their loved ones navigate the healthcare system and make well-informed decisions include:

Explore Transplant: exploretransplant.org

The National Kidney Foundation: www.kidney.org/ atoz/content/kidneytransnewlease

Kidney Link: www.kidneylink.org

The National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases: kidney.niddk.nih.gov/kudiseases/pubs/transplant/

Decision quality and shared decision-making

The most important decision ESRD patients face is choosing to either continue dialysis or to receive a transplant. Patients and their families are often anxious about transplantation surgery. The initiative Explore Transplant (www.exploretransplant.org) is a comprehensive patient education program designed to help ESRD patients make well-informed decisions about ESRD care. The program also offers an education module for dialysis providers to facilitate relationships between dialysis and transplant centers and to promote early patient education and referral for transplant evaluation. A separate module educates potential living organ donors about the risks and outcomes of organ donation.

Additional tools are available to help answer patients' questions about renal disease and assess values and preferences related to their care. The Option Grid, shown in Figure 5.11, is one such decision aid. These tools are starting points to help patients better understand ESRD therapy options.

	Decisio			
Treatment Options	Patient Needs	Decision Support	Decision Quality	Patient Outcomes
Dialysis a. AV fistulas and grafts b. Hemodialysis c. Peritoneal dialysis Kidney transplantation a. Living donor transplant b. Deceased donor transplant	Clarification of individual values and preferences Knowledge of procedure risks, benefits, and other considerations Assistance with decision to list for kidney transplantation Access to available deceased donor organs or live donation	Continuously updated, patient- specific data regarding risks and benefits Tracking disease progression and outcomes for dialysis patients via USRDS renal registry Tracking disease progression and outcomes for patients listed for and receiving kidney transplantation via OPTN registry Guidance for the patient/surgeon interaction	Assessment of patient knowledge and understanding Assessment of congruence with pre-specified values and preferences Assessment of organ quality prior to transplantation Assessment of patients' severity of illness prior to transplantation Assessment of organ donor and recipient compatibility	Measurement of: Mortality Patient satisfaction Quality of life Quality of donor organ Organ failure (after kidney transplantation) Post-surgical complications

Figure 5.10. Conceptual model for decision support process

Chronic kidney disease

Dartmouth INSTITUTE

Use this grid to help you and your healthcare team talk about how best to treat chronic kidney disease.

option grid	

Frequently asked questions	Peritoneal dialysis - CAPD/APD	Haemodialysis at a dialysis unit	Haemodialysis at home	Transplantation	Conservative management
	Bags at home	Machine in special unit	Machine at home	Donated kidney	No dialysis or transplant
What does it involve?	Fluid goes in and out of your abdomen four times a day, or by using a machine, overnight.	Your blood is cleaned by a machine in a dialysis unit.	Your blood is cleaned by a machine that is at your home.	You are given a kidney from either a dead or living donor.	You receive medication to keep you well for as long as possible.
How will my kidneys be affected?	Your remaining kidney function will slowly get worse. You may continue to pass urine for a few years.	Your remaining kidney function will slowly get worse, probably more rapidly than on peritoneal dialysis. You eventually stop passing urine.	Your remaining kidney function will slowly get worse, probably more rapidly than on peritoneal dialysis. You eventually stop passing urine.	Your kidney function will come back and you will pass urine as normal.	It is difficult to predict what will happen to your remaining kidney function. It is likely to get worse.
How often will I need this	Continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD) needs four bag changes every day, no days off.	You will have a total of 12 hours of treatment per week. spread over three	You will have a total of 12 hours of treatment per week. usually spread	You will use medication to suppress your immune system, so	You will have regular medication, checks and support.
treatment?	Automated peritoneal dialysis (APD) is carried out by a machine overnight, every night.	days. Each treatment takes four hours and happens on fixed days.	over three days. Treatment times can be flexible.	you will be at higher risk of infections.	:
How will I feel?	This is a gentle treatment. Overall, you should feel better.	You may feel tired after each treatment, but overall you should feel better.	You may feel tired after each treatment, but overall you should feel better.	Once you have recovered from your operation, you should feel well.	If your kidney function gets worse, you will develop kidney failure. Medication is available to control most of these symptoms, but you will eventually need end of life care.
How will my life be affected?	You can continue working and doing your usual activities.	You will have fixed times for dialysis. Work will need to fit around these times.	This kind of dialysis can be made to fit around your work and usual activities.	You will have clinic appointments. You can do your usual activities when you recover from the operation.	You can discuss how regularly you want to come to clinic appointments.
Will I need an operation?	Yes, a small operation to put a tube into your abdomen is done one month before dialysis starts.	You will usually be offered surgery to create a fistula on your arm. This is done 6 weeks before dialysis.	You will usually be offered surgery to create a fistula on your arm. This is done 6 weeks before dialysis.	You will need an operation to transplant the donated kidney.	No operation is required.
Who will do my treatment and who will I see?	You do your own treatment at home. Cleanliness is very important. Expert dialysis nurses will support you.	Expert dialysis nurses will do your treatment. You will have regular contact with other patients having haemodialysis.	You do your own treatment at home. Expert dialysis nurses will support you.	Apart from medication, no ongoing treatment. You won't be in direct contact with other similar patients.	Apart from medication, no ongoing treatment.
How will my diet and fluid intake be affected?	You may have restrictions on what you eat and drink.	You will have restrictions on what you can eat and drink.	You will have restrictions on what you can eat and drink.	You will have restrictions on what you can eat and drink.	You will usually have fewer restrictions than you would if you were on dialysis.
Will I need to store equipment at home?	Dialysis equipment will be delivered to your home and it will need storage space.	No equipment is required at your home.	The dialysis machine will need to be set up in a room in your home. You will need water and electrical connections.	No equipment is required at your home.	No equipment is required at your home.
Can I change from one treatment option to another?	Yes.	Yes, but peritoneal dialysis may be less effective after you have had haemodialysis.	Yes, but peritoneal dialysis may be less effective after you have had haemodialysis.	Yes.	Yes.
Can I still travel?	Yes, but you will need to plan because some restrictions apply. Equipment can be transported by car.	Yes, but your treatment will need to be planned at a dialysis unit at your destination.	Yes, but your treatment will need to be planned at a dialysis unit at your destination.	Yes.	Yes.
How long will this treatment be effective?	Half of the people who start peritoneal dialysis will stay on it for 2 to 3 years. Many go on to have haemodialysis or a transplant.	Some people continue haemodialysis for up to 20 years - but it can be much shorter than that.	Some people continue haemodialysis for up to 20 years - but it can be much shorter than that.	On average, kidney transplants are effective for up to 15 years.	This will depend on many other issues.

Editors: Giyn Elwyn, Allson Prichard, Nerys Thomas, Donal O'Donoghue, Hilary Bekker, Charlie Tomson, Rob Ellas, Amy Lloyd. Evidence document: See www.optiongrid.org/resources/ciroonickdineydisease_evidence.pdf Publication date: 13 January 2014 Expiry date: 13 January 2015 ISBN: 978-0-9571887-5-4 License: CC BY-NC-ND 4:0 (International) Download the most current version from: <u>http://www.optiongrid.org</u>

Source: The Option Grid Collaborative (www.optiongrid.org). Figure 5.11. Option grid for chronic kidney disease

During surgery

In general, vascular access procedures are performed on an outpatient basis. However, patients are occasionally admitted following more extensive surgery. Further, patients often have to wait several days to several weeks before vascular access connections are useable for dialysis, which further complicates the timing and care of these very ill patients.

Arteriovenous fistulas

Patients diagnosed with ESRD require a surgical procedure to allow blood stream access for dialysis therapy or transplantation. AV fistulas and grafts create connections between arteries and veins to create high-flow access sites protected by the skin. Access to the blood stream using this method is achieved by inserting two needles through the skin into the conduit connecting the blood vessels to withdraw and return blood (Figure 5.2). The National Kidney Foundation-Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative (NKF-KDOQI) Practice Guideline 2 recommends autogenous fistulas—those using a patient's own veins—rather than artificial grafts, because the natural fistulas last longer and are less prone to degeneration and infection.¹³ For patients who cannot undergo fistula placement, or who do not have a working fistula, hemodialysis catheters are inserted through the skin into large central veins (Figure 5.3). Patients who choose to receive peritoneal dialysis (PD) require placement of a PD catheter (a tube to carry the fluid) in the abdomen.

Ensuring access to the best surgical treatments for patients with ESRD—especially methods such as fistulas—can be challenging given the complexity of caring for this very ill population. As a result, there is significant variation in the use of these procedures across the United States. Use of AV fistulas varied nearly fourfold across transplant referral regions during the period from 2007 to 2010, from less than 8% of ESRD patients in Lubbock, Texas (6.4%), El Paso, Texas (7.0%), and Jacksonville, Florida (7.6%) to more than 20% in Honolulu, Hawaii (24.4%), Portland, Maine (23.7%), and Springfield, Massachusetts (22.3%) (Figure 5.12). The national average was 13%. Rates of AV fistula use were generally higher in the Northwest and New England than in other regions of the country (Map 5.2).



Map 5.2. Percent of ESRD patients using AV fistulas (2007-10) Rates are unadjusted.



Figure 5.12. Percent of ESRD patients using AV fistulas among transplant referral regions (2007-10) Each blue dot represents the percent of ESRD patients using AV fistulas in one of 113 transplant referral regions in the U.S. Red dots indicate the regions with the 5 lowest and 5 highest rates.

Kidney transplantation

When available, kidney transplantation offers better quality of life, increased survival, and lower cost for most patients compared to continued dialysis. This surgery involves two procedures, one for the donor and one for the recipient. Kidney donors can be either living or deceased. Live donor kidneys are removed through small incisions, with guidance from a camera. Deceased donor organs are recovered from patients who suffer devastating brain injuries, and are generally retrieved along with multiple other organs. Donor kidneys are surgically attached to the artery and vein supplying the leg and pelvis (Figure 5.1). Next, the ureter is connected directly to the bladder. Patients generally stay in the hospital fewer than four days.

For several reasons, not every ESRD patient is able to receive a transplant. Patients' medical comorbidities are a major limitation, as is organ availability; the number of ESRD patients outstrips the donor organ supply. Growing demand has increased waiting list lengths, leading to innovative approaches aimed at increasing transplant rates, as well as attempts to make hemodialysis safer.

Living donor versus deceased donor transplant

Every year, more than 6,000 ESRD patients are able to find friends or family members willing to donate a kidney for transplant. Living donor kidney transplant recipients have the longest survival and the most frequent immediate organ function, as well as flexibility in surgical scheduling. Kidney donors need compatible, though not identical, blood types. They are evaluated to ensure normal pre-donation kidney function, the absence of risk factors for chronic kidney disease—including diabetes or uncontrolled high blood pressure—and normal kidney anatomy. Counseling ensures that both donors and recipients understand that organ gifts are voluntary. Finally, the potential donors and recipients are carefully cross-matched to prevent organ rejection.

Access to living donor transplant also depends on transplant center practices. Some programs are more proactive in seeking and supporting living donation than others. On average, 3.3% of ESRD patients received transplants from living donors within two years of first dialysis during the period from 2007 to 2010. There was more than tenfold variation across transplant referral regions, from about 1% of ESRD patients in Shreveport, Louisiana (1.1%), Augusta, Georgia (1.2%), and Charleston, West Virginia (1.2%) to about 10% of ESRD patients in the Minnesota regions of Rochester (10.1%) and Minneapolis (9.9%) (Figure 5.13). On average, rates were lower in the Southeast and in southern California than in other parts of the country (Map 5.3).



Map 5.3. Percent of ESRD patients receiving living donor transplants within two years of starting dialysis (2007-10)

Rates are unadjusted.



Figure 5.13. Percent of ESRD patients receiving living donor transplants within two years of starting dialysis among transplant referral regions (2007-10)

Each blue dot represents the percent of ESRD patients receiving living donor transplants within two years of starting dialysis in one of 113 transplant referral regions in the U.S. Red dots indicate the regions with the 5 lowest and 5 highest rates.

Patients unable to identify a living kidney donor are listed with the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS), which administrates the national Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network (OPTN). Deceased donor kidneys are allocated to patients based on criteria established by UNOS under the direction of the Health Services and Resources Administration (HRSA) division of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Under current kidney allocation rules, blood type, wait time, match difficulty related to antibody sensitization, and need for other simultaneous, non-renal organ transplants are evaluated. Donor kidneys are initially offered to patients locally, and are only shared more broadly if local transplant centers decline the organs. Consequently, there is significant variation in deceased donor kidney transplant rates due to differences in local and regional organ supply, waiting list size, and organ acceptance decisions (Figure 5.14).¹⁸ Similarly, average waiting times vary significantly across donation service areas, varying from less than 19 months to more than 37 months.¹⁹



Figure 5.14. Deceased donor kidney transplant rates among active adult candidates, by donor service area (2011-12)

Transplant rates are given by donor service area of the listing center, limited to those with active time on the waiting list in 2011 and 2012. Maximum time per listing is two years.

Source: 2004 Annual Report of the U.S. Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network and the Scientific Registry of Transplant Recipients: Transplant Data 1994-2003. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration, Healthcare Systems Bureau, Division of Transplantation, Rockville, MD; United Network for Organ Sharing, Richmond, VA; University Renal Research and Education Association, Ann Arbor, MI.

Options for patients without a compatible kidney donor

Frequently, patients are able to identify a willing donor whose blood type or immunologic profile would preclude transplant. However, several options now exist, including paired donor exchange. In these programs, two or more donor-recipient pairs with incompatible cross-matches are grouped so that compatible organs can be shared. Drs. Segev and Gentry created a mathematical model to apportion kidneys among incompatible ESRD patients and their donors across multiple centers.²⁰ Paired donation accounted for 10%-approximately 500—of the living donor kidney transplants in 2011, a significant increase since the exchange programs were initiated ten years ago.²¹ At this writing, the longest open chain in the United States was under way at the University of Alabama, where twentyone people received kidney paired donations.22

How long will patients live without a transplant?

In general, patients do not live for a long time without transplantation if they simply remain on dialysis. Their overall five-year mortality rate is 47%, meaning that fewer than one in two are still alive within five years of starting dialysis; and, as a result of the long waiting period for transplant, unfortunately, many people on a waiting list for transplantation die prior to receiving a kidney. Long-term survival is even less likely for patients whose age or medical condition preclude transplant. Among patients deemed to ill to undergo transplantation, nearly half—44%—will die within the first year of starting dialysis (Figure 5.15).



Figure 5.15. Risk of mortality within one year of starting dialysis without kidney transplant 133 out of 300 (44%).

After surgery

Surgery—either placing a dialysis access fistula or performing a kidney transplant is only one aspect of managing ESRD. Long-term success requires cooperation between nephrologists, primary care physicians, and patients in a complex, multidisciplinary process.

Kidney transplantation requires several days in the hospital to recover, evaluate organ function, and adjust immunosuppressant medications. Following discharge, patients are seen frequently by a surgeon, and later by a transplant nephrologist to manage the medications necessary to prevent rejection. Treating comorbid diseases, such as diabetes and hypertension, helps to protect a patient's newly transplanted kidney. Patients are often readmitted to the hospital within 30 days of receiving a kidney (Table 5.1), for reasons such as rejection, medication adjustments, or infection.

Table 5.1. Percent of ESRD patients receiving kidney transplants within two years of starting dialysis readmitted within 30 days following transplant among transplant referral regions (2007-10)				
TRR	State	Percent readmitted within 30 days following transplant		
10 highest TRRs				
Wichita	KS	81.3%		
Augusta	GA	78.4%		
Greenville	NC	77.3%		
Allentown	PA	75.0%		
Fort Worth	ТХ	74.2%		
Burlington	VT	73.7%		
New Haven	CT	73.3%		
Toledo	OH	70.0%		
Seattle	WA	64.9%		
Columbia	MO	64.7%		
10 lowest TRRs				
Sacramento	CA	41.9%		
Memphis	TN	41.7%		
Danville	PA	41.4%		
Tulsa	OK	40.7%		
Tucson	AZ	40.7%		
Columbus	OH	40.7%		
Spokane	WA	40.6%		
Knoxville	TN	40.0%		
Fargo/Moorhead MN	ND	40.0%		
Grand Rapids	MI	40.0%		


Figure 5.16. Risk of mortality within one year of kidney transplant 52 out of 300 (17%).

One-year mortality after kidney transplantation among Medicare beneficiaries is 17%, often caused by early post-transplant organ failure (Figure 5.16).

Beyond surgery

Quality initiatives in ESRD care

Priority #1: Increase the use of fistulas rather than catheters

Sustaining patients with kidney failure is an expensive undertaking with two notable shortcomings in current practice. First, most patients initiate dialysis using intravascular catheters, which results in less than optimal survival.²³ The Fistula First Breakthrough Initiative, enacted in 2005, increased the frequency with which patients dialyzing with catheters converted to fistulas.⁸ However, there has been minimal improvement in incident fistula frequency; it increased from 13% to 15% between 2005 and 2010.²⁴ Policy changes aimed at physician awareness appear to have had little effect on this trend. Federal reimbursement policy may be the root cause; Medicare reimburses patients for ESRD-related medical expenses three months after beginning chronic dialysis at a clinic or one month after beginning in-home therapy.²⁵ Pre-emptive fistula creation is not covered,²⁶ even though transplant recipients receive retroactive coverage for costs incurred up to two months prior to surgery.^{26,27} Revising Medicare dialysis access provisions to mirror transplant policy would incentivize improvement in current practices.

Priority #2: Prioritize the most cost-effective treatments

Kidney transplants and fistulas not only improve outcomes; they also save money. In 2011, 430,273 patients comprised the prevalent hemodialysis population.⁵ The estimated cost differential to dialyze a patient with a catheter, as opposed to a fistula, for one year is \$23,808: \$127,677 versus \$103,869 in 2006 dollars.²⁸ With the ESRD population reaching 430,000, 80% of which employed catheter-based access at some point in their care, an enormous potential savings exists. Fistula creation is technically challenging, but clearly represents a laudable goal for both improving outcomes and providing cost-effective care for patients with ESRD.

Further, transplantation should be emphasized whenever possible. Data from the *USRDS 2013 Annual Data Report* describe a distinct cost advantage to transplantation over dialysis. Medicare expenditures for hemodialysis were \$34.3 billion in 2010—6.2% of the total Medicare budget—or \$87,945 per person per year. Comparative renal transplant costs were \$2.8 billion, or \$32,922 per person per year.⁵ Transplant costs are amortized over the organ's functional life span. The breakeven point between living donor kidney transplant and dialysis is 2.3 years, while that for deceased donor kidney transplant and dialysis is 3.6 years.²⁹ Quality-of-life parameters are not factored into this assessment. When they are included, the Medicare savings is projected to be about \$270,000 per transplant in comparison to dialysis.³⁰

High-quality, coordinated ESRD care is evident when patients start dialysis with a fistula and the best candidates receive transplants. These data provide an important emphasis for the second priority: evidence-based transplant care centered on multidisciplinary care coordination and effective, lower-cost treatments, leading to better outcomes for patients.

Priority #3: Emphasize new technology for organ supply and vascular access

The limited donor organ supply restricts transplantation, contributing to excess ESRD-related mortality. Recently, the organ allocation system for deceased donor kidneys has been revised to consider donor age; donor kidneys from younger patients demonstrated improved performance when matched to younger recipients.³¹ The donor pool has also been expanded with organ preservation pumps, which maintain blood flow in organs during transport, particularly kidneys donated after cardiac death. Overall, donation of organs per 100 eligible deaths increased from 69 to 73 between 2009 and 2012.³²

Regenerative medicine offers another hopeful direction. American and Italian scientists have removed cells from pig kidneys, while retaining the fiber lattices that support the organ's shape and blood vessel networks.^{33,34} Subsequent work by the same American group at Wake Forest University in Winston-Salem, North Carolina replicated this technique with a human kidney.³³ A functional organ fit for transplantation is not yet available, but research efforts continue.

Novel technologies are also being developed for dialysis patients. Rather than resorting to synthetic materials, like polyester or polytetrafluoroethylene, current studies are examining the safety of tissue-engineered vascular grafts to use in dialysis.³⁵ Not all ESRD patients have adequate veins for AV fistula creation. For these patients, bioengineered tissues could provide a better-functioning alternative to polymer grafts. Finally, Fissell and colleagues at Vanderbilt University in Nashville, Tennessee envision wearable or implantable continuous dialysis devices that would serve as mechanical alternatives to renal transplant.³⁶

Conclusion

Transplantation is the most efficacious and cost-effective therapy for patients suffering from end-stage renal disease. Applying cost-effective, high-quality care strategies—such as early provision of AV fistulas to patients—requires an integrated and coordinated approach. The best care saves lives and money, a philosophy worth disseminating and implementing in caring for patients everywhere.

Chapter 5 Table. Prevalence of end-stage renal disease, use of AV fistulas, living and deceased donor kidney transplants, and 30-day readmissions following kidney transplant among transplant referral regions (2007-10)

TRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries with ESRD	Percent of patients with end stage renal disease	Percent of ESRD patients using AV fistulas	Percent of ESRD patients receiving living donor transplants within two years of starting dialysis	Percent of ESRD patients receiving deceased donor transplants within two years of starting dialysis	Percent readmitted within 30 days following transplant
Birmingham	AL	8,451	0.20	14.1	2.4	1.7	43.1
Little Rock	AR	3,421	0.19	7.6	1.6	3.6	45.0
Phoenix	AZ	692	0.19	14.9	6.4	2.9	
Sun City	AZ	2,220	0.19	12.0	4.8	2.2	63.5
Tucson	AZ	616	0.15	18.9	4.0	4.0	40.7
Los Angeles	CA	10,361	0.21	10.7	2.0	1.0	49.3
Orange County	CA	905	0.20	12.4	3.1	1.0	60.0
Sacramento	CA	1,217	0.17	15.3	3.8	1.9	41.9
San Bernardino	CA	2,050	0.21	10.0	1.9	1.3	43.5
San Diego	CA	1,912	0.19	12.8	4.3	2.7	48.0
San Francisco	CA	7,771	0.18	14.5	3.2	2.1	48.1
San Jose	CA	222	0.15	14.0	5.4	1.9	
Santa Rosa	CA	61	0.20			2.4	
Denver	CO	2,378	0.15	18.2	6.6	3.6	47.2
Hartford	СТ	1,637	0.20	15.5	4.8	1.9	50.0
New Haven	СТ	1,469	0.19	17.5	4.8	2.1	73.3
Washington	DC	4,080	0.21	12.0	4.4	2.3	59.1
Fort Myers	FL	859	0.14	12.1	2.2	2.4	63.2
Gainesville	FL	3,371	0.19	13.5	2.0	3.6	51.3
Jacksonville	FL	561	0.26	7.6	1.3	3.0	
Miami	FL	4,949	0.21	9.1	2.0	2.7	44.4
Orlando	FL	2,649	0.22	9.9	1.8	3.1	57.4
Ormond Beach	FL	1,148	0.26	12.0	2.2	2.9	55.9
Татра	FL	3,953	0.18	10.2	1.9	3.0	55.6
Atlanta	GA	7,300	0.21	11.5	2.0	1.8	53.2
Augusta	GA	1,592	0.20	12.1	1.2	1.3	78.4
Honolulu	HI	991	0.13	24.4	2.3	1.0	
Des Moines	IA	634	0.19	13.5	6.0	4.3	42.3
Iowa City	IA	1,578	0.18	20.3	4.5	3.8	56.0
Chicago	IL	10,754	0.23	9.3	4.0	2.3	54.0
Peoria	IL	742	0.16	17.9	6.4	3.9	48.4
Springfield	IL	621	0.21	14.1	2.8	2.6	
Indianapolis	IN	6,293	0.25	10.7	3.6	2.9	57.7
Wichita	KS	895	0.16	13.5	3.5	2.2	81.3
Lexington	KY	2,395	0.25	12.5	2.9	3.8	50.0
Louisville	KY	2,534	0.22	16.2	1.5	3.1	42.2
New Orleans	LA	4,931	0.23	14.4	1.6	2.7	53.0
Shreveport	LA	1,938	0.26	13.2	1.1	0.9	
Boston	MA	4,875	0.19	18.8	6.9	2.3	54.7

Rates of ESRD are adjusted for age, sex, and race. The percent using AV fistulas and the percent receiving living and deceased donor transplants are unadjusted. Blank cells indicate that the rate was suppressed due to a small number of events occurring in the region during the study period.



Number of **TRR Name** State Percent of patients with Percent of ESRD Percent of ESRD Percent of ESRD Percent readmitted Medicare end stage renal disease patients using AV patients receiving living within 30 days following patients receiving beneficiaries fistulas donor transplants within deceased donor transplant with ESRD two years of starting transplants within two dialysis years of starting dialysis Springfield MA 920 0.20 22.3 5.3 1.5 467 MA 0.18 20.1 6.3 4.7 57.9 Worcester Baltimore MD 5,927 0.23 3.9 3.7 58.8 11.6 Portland ME 1,028 23.7 5.6 3.2 50.0 0.13 Ann Arbor MI 4,588 0.23 13.4 4.0 2.1 56.3 5,284 Detroit MI 0.23 10.7 2.9 2.0 61.3 1,196 **Grand Rapids** MI 0.18 13.5 6.5 2.3 40.0 2.399 Minneapolis MN 0.16 13.0 9.9 3.9 61.8 1,008 Rochester MN 0.20 15.7 10.1 2.7 Columbia MO 654 0.17 11.9 3.4 4.4 64.7 3,235 Kansas City MO 0.21 11.9 2.3 5.3 45.1 St Louis MO 5,860 0.23 10.2 2.7 2.7 63.2 0.22 MS 659 10.3 2.2 Jackson 2,069 2.3 Charlotte NC 0.17 20.1 3.3 55.6 Durham NC 4,405 0.20 14.5 2.1 1.8 47.5 1,259 Greenville NC 0.19 15.8 2.4 1.1 77.3 Winston-Salem NC 2,255 0.19 15.7 2.1 5.5 53.1 **Bismarck** ND 461 0.18 17.2 5.0 4.0 Fargo/Moorhead MN 667 0.27 5.4 ND 11.4 3.5 40.0 Omaha NE 2,225 0.20 12.1 4.9 3.8 49.2 498 NH 8.5 Lebanon 0.15 21.4 4.0 268 **New Brunswick** NJ 0.24 14.3 6.6 3.1 7,372 Newark NJ 0.28 13.1 4.7 2.0 51.9 1,415 NM 15.6 3.0 2.3 50.0 Albuquerque 0.15 Las Vegas NV 1,345 0.23 9.6 1.3 2.2 46.7 0.24 NY 1,748 15.0 2.2 2.0 55.9 Albany Buffalo NY 1,160 0.23 14.8 4.3 2.8 60.5 East Long Island NY 187 0.19 17.1 6.6 1.7 11,993 2.5 Manhattan NY 0.22 15.2 5.1 51.6 1,084 Rochester NY 0.21 17.6 3.8 1.7 44.1 1,341 NY 0.20 17.0 2.0 1.5 52.2 Syracuse 1,020 White Plains NY 0.22 12.8 6.2 1.5 60.0 Cincinnati OH 2,571 0.28 11.6 4.7 1.4 59.7 Cleveland OH 4,997 0.25 15.7 2.5 1.5 62.6 4,937 Columbus OH 0.28 11.2 3.9 2.6 40.7 OH 885 Dayton 0.23 14.3 3.1 4.1 48.1 1,228 OH Toledo 0.29 7.6 3.6 2.7 70.0

Chapter 5 Table. Prevalence of end-stage renal disease, use of AV fistulas, living and deceased donor kidney transplants, and 30-day readmissions following kidney transplant

among transplant referral regions (2007-10)

Oklahoma City

Tulsa

OK

OK

2,653

1,172

0.21

0.18

10.1

13.0

2.2

1.8

44.0

40.7

2.7

2.1

Chapter 5 Table. Prevalence of end-stage renal disease, use of AV fistulas, living and deceased donor kidney transplants, and 30-day readmissions following kidney transplant among transplant referral regions (2007-10)

TRR Name	State	Number of Medicare beneficiaries with ESRD	Percent of patients with end stage renal disease	Percent of ESRD patients using AV fistulas	Percent of ESRD patients receiving living donor transplants within two years of starting dialysis	Percent of ESRD patients receiving deceased donor transplants within two years of starting dialysis	Percent readmitted within 30 days following transplant
Portland	OR	1,908	0.15	20.8	4.3	3.2	57.4
Allentown	PA	500	0.22	9.4	2.7	5.0	75.0
Danville	PA	848	0.20	15.3	6.3	2.5	41.4
Harrisburg	PA	1,504	0.17	10.3	4.1	2.0	54.8
Philadelphia	PA	8,070	0.23	13.7	2.9	3.2	48.4
Pittsburgh	PA	3,818	0.24	12.6	2.6	2.4	58.6
Providence	RI	749	0.19	14.9	4.1	1.4	60.0
Charleston	SC	4,403	0.19	14.4	1.8	3.1	48.8
Sioux Falls	SD	705	0.15	8.7	6.4	4.2	54.2
Chattanooga	TN	677	0.18	18.7	3.0	1.7	
Johnson City	TN	576	0.17	11.8	2.1	6.2	
Knoxville	TN	1,455	0.25	12.5	1.8	2.2	40.0
Memphis	TN	3,087	0.23	9.8	1.5	2.2	41.7
Nashville	TN	2,128	0.18	13.7	3.3	2.8	53.6
Austin	ТΧ	900	0.18	13.1	4.3	2.1	45.8
Dallas	ТΧ	4,854	0.20	14.5	2.8	3.2	45.0
El Paso	ТΧ	601	0.19	7.0	2.1	1.3	
Fort Worth	ТΧ	1,123	0.23	8.4	2.0	1.7	74.2
Houston	ТΧ	6,807	0.27	8.3	2.3	2.2	50.4
Lubbock	ТΧ	1,175	0.22	6.4	4.7	2.3	
Odessa	ТΧ	523	0.25	9.9	1.9	2.1	
San Antonio	ТΧ	5,713	0.25	10.8	3.2	0.8	52.5
Temple	ТΧ	315	0.17	20.6	3.0	3.2	
Tyler	ТΧ	566	0.19	14.2	1.9	2.9	
Salt Lake City	UT	1,699	0.16	15.1	7.1	4.8	49.0
Charlottesville	VA	2,554	0.22	14.5	3.6	2.4	52.4
Norfolk	VA	1,587	0.19	11.5	2.8	1.0	44.7
Richmond	VA	2,256	0.19	12.6	3.4	3.0	44.4
Burlington	VT	601	0.18	15.2	5.4	7.1	73.7
Seattle	WA	4,065	0.15	20.2	4.6	3.4	64.9
Spokane	WA	1,000	0.18	18.4	3.6	2.4	40.6
Madison	WI	3,030	0.19	15.7	5.9	5.7	50.9
Milwaukee	WI	2,216	0.24	14.4	3.3	5.2	45.8
Charleston	WV	1,303	0.27	9.9	1.2	2.1	60.7
Morgantown	WV	38	0.15	20.4		1.9	
United States	US	282,820	0.21	13.0	3.3	2.5	53.4

Rates of ESRD are adjusted for age, sex, and race. The percent using AV fistulas and the percent receiving living and deceased donor transplants are unadjusted. Blank cells indicate that the rate was suppressed due to a small number of events occurring in the region during the study period.



Variation in the Care of Surgical Conditions: Prostate Cancer

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center Elias S. Hyams, MD

The Dartmouth Institute of Health Policy & Clinical Practice

Philip R. Goodney, MD, MS Nino Dzebisashvili, PhD David C. Goodman, MD, MS Kristen K. Bronner, MA





Prostate Cancer

Cancer of the prostate (a walnut-sized gland in the male genitourinary system) is a common disease that is associated with aging. While most prostate cancer is slow-growing and not likely to cause harm, some men will develop aggressive disease that causes death. Most prostate cancers are detected by screening in otherwise healthy men through blood testing (prostate-specific antigen, or PSA testing) and a prostate exam followed by a biopsy in those with suspicious findings.

The implementation of PSA screening in the late 1980s was associated with a significant increase in prostate cancer diagnoses (Figure 6.1). In 2013, approximately 240,000 men were diagnosed with prostate cancer in the United States, and about 30,000 men died from this condition.¹ The death rate from prostate cancer has gradually decreased in the last 20 years, from 38.6 to 21.8 deaths per 100,000 men from 1990 to 2010. Reasons for this lower death rate are thought to include both the effects of screening and the development of more effective treatments. While prostate cancer remains the second leading cause of cancer-related death in men in the United States, most men die with prostate cancer, but not because of it (Figure 6.2). Notably, black patients are at increased risk of both diagnosis and death from prostate cancer.



Figure 6.2. Diagnosis of prostate cancer on autopsy studies based on age

Source: Welch HG, Schwartz L, Woloshin S. Overdiagnosed: Making People Sick in the Pursuit of Health. Boston, MA: Beacon Press, 2011. Data abstracted from: Sakr WA, Grignon DJ, Haas GP, Heilbrun LK, Pontes JE, Crissman JD. Age and racial distribution of prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia. *Eur Urol.* 1996;30(2):138-44.



Figure 6.1. Trends in prostate cancer incidence (new cases) and deaths, 1975-2010

Source: SEER Stat Fact Sheets: Prostate Cancer. seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/prost.html.

Before surgery

Screening/PSA controversy: Deciding before a diagnosis

At first glance, the rationale for prostate cancer screening seems straightforward. The goal of screening is early detection of prostate cancer to prevent death and suffering from advanced disease. However, our tools for identifying those at risk for more serious cancer are limited. PSA testing is the leading tool for early detection, but while an elevated PSA value reflects a higher risk of cancer, it may be also be elevated due to non-cancerous conditions such as inflammation, urinary tract infection, prostatic enlargement, and urinary retention. Furthermore, there is no PSA value that ensures the presence or absence of cancer; rather, PSA values reflect a spectrum of risk. While elevated PSA levels indicate higher risk of serious cancer, most cancers detected by PSA screening are at an early stage and non-aggressive. Other factors that influence risk of cancer are patient age, ethnicity, family history, and presence or absence of a prostate nodule (a "bump" on the prostate detected by rectal exam). Counseling patients regarding their risk, and determining whether a biopsy is warranted, can be challenging given these nuances and the limitations of screening methods.

Given the high prevalence of prostate cancer and its generally indolent behavior, most men will die *with* rather than *from* their disease. Screening, therefore, identifies a large number of patients with cancer who might never have been harmed, and hence are "overdiagnosed." However, when prostate cancer is aggressive, it may cause significant harm to men; early detection of these more dangerous cancers is a worthwhile aim. A major limitation of PSA screening is that selective identification of more aggressive cancer is not yet possible. For patients and physicians, it is not clear how best to reconcile the competing interests of detecting dangerous cancer while not causing needless worry, as well as potential harm from biopsy and treatment. For these reasons, there is a growing consensus that traditional, systematic screening of asymptomatic men causes more harm than good.

What are the benefits and harms of screening? Evidence suggests that routine screening can reduce the likelihood of cancer-related death and metastatic disease. However, a large number of men need to be screened to achieve this benefit; about 1,000 asymptomatic men need to be screened to save one life.² Potential harms of screening include: 1) Anxiety and uncertainty associated with the screening process ("Do I have cancer? Do I need a prostate biopsy?"); 2) Risks associated with prostate biopsy (e.g., bleeding and infection); 3) Diagnosis of indolent disease that would never have caused harm; and 4) Potential side effects of treatment (e.g., erectile dysfunction, urinary control issues) when patients elect for treatment. Whether screening is worthwhile is often a matter of perspective, and whether the decision-maker is a patient, provider, and/or policymaker.

Table 6.1. Comparing the benefits and harms of screening	
Benefit of Screening	Rate at which it occurs
Avoiding a prostate-cancer related death	1 in 1,000
Harms of Screening	Rate at which it occurs
"False alarm" PSA result leading to a biopsy	150-200 in 1,000
Diagnosis of prostate cancer that was unlikely to cause harm	30-100 in 1,000
Complication from prostate cancer treatment	10-50 in 1,000

Outcomes research has attempted to clarify the effects of screening to guide both policy and clinical decision-making. There have been large prospective registries of cancer patients that have demonstrated a decline in prostate cancer mortality and metastatic disease within the last 20 years,¹ with estimates that 45-70% of the decline in mortality decline can be attributed to screening.^{3,4} Other studies based on registry data have demonstrated, however, that the rate of "overdiagnosis" may exceed 50%.⁵ Long-term comparative studies that have evaluated the effects of screening on prostate cancer mortality and the development of metastatic disease have often reported different results. In part this is the result of studying different screening protocols within different populations.^{2,6} A reasonable conclusion from these studies is that screening does "save lives"—about 1 for every 1,000 screened. Of these 1,000 men, 30 to 40 will develop erectile dysfunction or urinary incontinence, 2 will experience a serious cardiovascular event, and 1 will develop a serious blood clot due to treatment.⁷

Screening and treatment for prostate cancer continue to be controversial. Many people hoped that the two large randomized trials of screening, conducted in the United States and Europe, would settle the question, but the trial results conflicted. At best, the European trial showed a small prostate cancer mortality reduction over 11 years, as well as considerable overdiag-nosis and potential for overtreatment. Subsequently, the U.S. PIVOT study comparing radical prostatectomy with observation showed that, while observation was the optimal strategy for most men, a subset of men with more aggressive cancers had a reduction in overall mortality with surgery. The U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) has now recommended against prostate cancer screening, while other national guideline groups have recommended a shared decision-making approach to screening, focused on men age 55-69 who appeared to experience at least some benefit in the European screening trial.

In this report from the Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care, the reader begins to see how these research results are starting to play out in clinical practice. The rate of PSA testing among "younger" Medicare beneficiaries in 2010 varied from about 4% in Lebanon, New Hampshire (near the home of the Atlas) to almost 60% in Miami! The incidence of prostate cancer and rates of radical prostatectomy varied almost as impressively.

The results presented here cry out for an analysis of time trends and correlations. Are PSA testing rates dropping among 65-74 year olds? Does screening appear to drive incidence and treatment? The finding that Minot, North Dakota, has a low PSA testing rate but a high incidence rate is a curious finding that deserves further exploration. Such differences in screening and treatment create the opportunity for "natural experiments" comparing areas with more or less aggressive approaches. Though the impetus to reduce overdiagnosis is broadly accepted, advocates of screening worry that dropping screening rates will ultimate lead to a reversal of the recent trend toward lower population-based prostate cancer mortality in the United States.

Much thought is being given today to whether most of any small benefit of PSA screening can be maintained with a much less aggressive screening and treatment strategy: fewer tests, higher biopsy thresholds, and treatment for only the most aggressive cancers. This change in mindset will be difficult, if not impossible, for American physicians and patients. And more evidence is coming. The large PROTECT trial in the United Kingdom, a treatment trial (comparing surgery, radiation, and observation) nested within a screening trial, is scheduled to be completed at the end of 2015. I'll look forward to the "next steps" in this complicated and interesting journey.

Michael J Barry MD

President, Informed Medical Decisions Foundation Clinical Professor of Medicine, Harvard Medical School

Given the weak benefits of screening for a disease that leads to over 30,000 deaths a year, it is not surprising that clinical guidelines do not agree on who should be screened for prostate cancer. This is confusing for clinicians and patients alike. In 2012, the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) issued the recommendation, "Do not use prostate-specific antigen (PSA)-based screening for prostate cancer." The Task Force based its decision on the aforementioned data showing a high "number needed to screen" to save one life, weighed against the psychological and physical effects of screening and subsequent treatment.⁷ Other professional groups have been skeptical of these recommendations. The American Urological Association's most recent guidelines state, "For men ages 55 to 69 years the Panel recognizes that the decision to undergo PSA screening involves weighing the benefits of preventing prostate cancer mortality in 1 man for every 1,000 men screened over a decade against the known potential harms associated with screening and treatment. For this reason, the Panel strongly recommends shared decision-making for men age 55 to 69 years that are considering PSA screening, and proceeding based on a man's values and preferences."8

These guidelines (Table 6.2) for screening emphasize a "risk-based" approach screen those with the highest risk of significant cancer, who are most likely to benefit—as well as collaborative decision-making with patients that includes a detailed discussion of benefits and harms. There has also been a growing dialogue between urologists, primary care practitioners, and policy experts to narrow their differences on screening, relying on evidence rather than historical practice.⁹ Indeed, there is evidence that the medical community has done poorly in screening men appropriately, with high rates of screening of older, sicker patients who are least likely to benefit.¹⁰ Most importantly, there are ongoing studies to develop novel tools for early diagnosis that are more specific to dangerous forms of prostate cancer, so that overdiagnosis might be minimized.

Table 6.2. Recommendations for prostate cancer screening]
United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF)	"The USPSTF recommends against the service [prostate cancer screening]. There is moderate or high certainty that the service has no net benefit or that the harms outweigh the benefits."
American Urological Association (AUA)	For men 55-69 years old, there should be shared decision-making and screening based on a man's "values and preferences."
	For men <55 at higher risk (African-American descent, significant family history), decisions should be individualized.
	The Panel does not recommend routine PSA screening in men age 70+ years or any man with less than a 10 to 15 year life expectancy. Some men age 70+ years who are in excellent health may benefit from prostate cancer screening.
American Cancer Society (ACS)	Starting at age 50, men should discuss pros and cons of PSA testing with their doctors.
	If a patient is African-American or has a father or brother diagnosed with prostate cancer before age 65, this conversation should occur at age 45.
American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO)	For men with a life expectancy of <10 years, general screening with PSA should be discouraged because harms seem to outweigh potential benefits.
	For men with life expectancy >10 years, physicians should discuss with their patients whether PSA testing is appropriate.

Not surprisingly, diverse recommendations, an unclear risk-to-benefit ratio, and dogmatic practice have led to significant variation in prostate cancer screening. Prior studies have shown that this regional variation in screening practices reflects provider and local health system practice styles, rather than differences in population risk for prostate cancer.¹¹⁻¹³ Among male Medicare beneficiaries age 68-74, rates of PSA testing varied by a factor of more than fifteen among hospital referral regions during 2010, from 3.6% of men in Lebanon, New Hampshire to 58.4% in Miami. Less than 10% of men in this group were screened for prostate cancer using PSA testing in Mason City, Iowa (5.8%), Burlington, Vermont (6.8%), Minot, North Dakota (7.2%), and Binghamton, New York (7.2%). By contrast, more than 50% of men were screened in Wilmington, North Carolina (55.8%), Sun City, Arizona (55.1%), Paterson, New Jersey (53.7%), and McAllen, Texas (53.5%) (Figure 6.3). The national average rate of PSA testing among men in this cohort was 34.5%. In general, PSA testing rates were higher in the Southeast than in other parts of the country (Map 6.1).





Each blue dot represents the rate of PSA testing in one of 306 hospital referral regions in the U.S. Red dots indicate the regions with the 5 lowest and 5 highest rates.



Map 6.1. Variation in prostate cancer screening (2010) Rates are adjusted for race.

New prostate cancer diagnoses also vary more than twelvefold, even after adjustment for age and race. This variation is concerning as it reflects the lack of a consistent standard of care, with potential for over- and under-detection of prostate cancer depending on individual and regional practice. The national average rate of prostate cancer among Medicare beneficiaries was 7.4 per 1,000 men during the period from 2007 to 2012. Among hospital referral regions, this rate varied from less than 2 per 1,000 men in Longview, Texas (1.8) and Cedar Rapids, Iowa (1.9) to more than 24 per 1,000 in Mason City, Iowa (25.9), Fargo, North Dakota/ Moorhead, Minnesota (24.8), and Minot, North Dakota (24.7) (Figure 6.4). Rates of prostate cancer diagnosis were generally higher in the northern Midwest and mountain states than in other regions (Map 6.2).





Each blue dot represents the incidence of prostate cancer in one of 306 hospital referral regions in the U.S. Red dots indicate the regions with the 5 lowest and 5 highest rates.



Map 6.2. Incidence of prostate cancer (2007-12) Rates are adjusted for age and race.

Treatment options: Effectiveness, trade-offs, and knowledge gaps

When prostate cancer is detected through biopsy, it is assigned a risk category (low, intermediate, or high) based on microscopic inspection of the tumor, PSA level, and the presence or absence of a prostate nodule on physical exam. This category reflects the likelihood of aggressive behavior and is central to discussions about whether treatment is required. Specifically, "low-risk" cancer is often observed rather than treated immediately, while higher risk categories are generally treated with surgery or radiation therapy. Decision-making regarding treatment is complex and involves diverse factors such as disease risk, patient age, health status, urinary and sexual function, and personal preferences.

For low-risk (non-aggressive) cancer, there has been growing support for observational strategies rather than treatment. A common approach to observation is "active surveillance," or AS, which involves monitoring the cancer for signs of progression through PSA testing, physical exam, and periodic follow-up biopsy. Treatment is pursued only if there is disease progression or if patients desire treatment. For younger men, the purpose of AS is to delay side effects of treatment, such as impotence and urinary leakage, without compromising cancer cure. For older men, treatment may be obviated entirely if they reach a certain age without progression. Studies have demonstrated that surveillance is safe; in large prospective studies of men with low-risk cancer, there were very low rates of cancer death.^{14,15}

Despite the fact that most low-risk cancer can be safely observed, there has been a high rate of treatment with radiation or surgical therapy,^{16,17} especially as advanced treatment options have been introduced. These are concerning trends, as these patients often incur the side effects of treatment without a clinical benefit. Impediments to the adoption of observational strategies include the anxiety related to a cancer diagnosis, lack of education among patients and providers regarding the nuances of disease risk, medico-legal concerns among providers, and others.



During surgery

Variation among treatment strategies in Medicare patients

When diagnosed with prostate cancer, men can choose from four distinct treatment strategies: prostatectomy, radiation therapy, hormone treatments, and active surveillance. The treatment that men receive varies not only by region, but also by individual factors such as age. For example, among men age 65 to 70, about 24% receive surgery, 28% radiation, 13% hormone therapy, and, for 35%, treatment is deferred or they receive active surveillance (Figure 6.5). While these data are affected by the stage of patients' cancer, age has a distinct impact on treatment choices, as less invasive and/or aggressive therapies (radiation and hormone therapy) become more common in men as they age.



Figure 6.5. Prostate cancer treatment, by age (2007-12)

When should patients be treated? The best evidence suggests, not surprisingly, that younger patients with higher-risk disease are most likely to benefit from treatment. A large trial in Scandinavia demonstrated that men under 65 years old and with higher-risk disease were most likely to have a survival benefit from surgery, though older patients might benefit from a decreased risk of metastatic disease.¹⁸ The Prostate cancer Intervention Versus Observation Trial (PIVOT), based in the Veterans Administration (VA) system in the United States, demonstrated that men with higher PSA values and intermediate-high-risk cancer were more likely to benefit from surgery rather than from observation.¹⁹ The take-away message of these trials—which require careful analysis based on their populations (i.e., Northern Europeans with palpable disease, and VA patients who are older with more baseline illness, respectively)—is that discussions with patients should be tailored to the patient's age and level of risk for significant cancer. Younger patients with higher-risk cancer are more likely to benefit from aggressive treatment, while those who are older with lower-risk cancer are most likely to benefit from observation.

Deciding which treatments are best when treatment is necessary

While first-line treatments for prostate cancer include radiation therapy and surgery, there are no evidence-based recommendations for "preferred" therapy. This is primarily due to the lack of strong evidence supporting one primary treatment versus another.¹⁹ This lack of evidence has resulted from the logistical challenges of a trial comparing treatment options, which would require long-term study (>10 years) to assess differences in effect and could not readily account for changes in therapies over time. While there are often patient factors that make one treatment more desirable (e.g., age, health status, disease risk, priorities regarding urinary and sexual function), many patients nonetheless struggle with the complexities of treatment decisions.

The lack of clear guidelines has led to regional variation in the treatment of prostate cancer. A 2010 analysis of national registry data demonstrated substantial variation in treatment that was attributable to the site of treatment rather than disease characteristics; this is considered unwarranted variation.¹⁶ Previous work by the Dartmouth Atlas showed that prostatectomy had the greatest local variation among the ten most commonly performed inpatient procedures in the U.S. The use of prostate surgery varied nearly tenfold between the hospital referral regions with the lowest and highest rates of prostatectomy (0.5 to 4.7 per 1,000 Medicare patients).²⁰



Figure 6.6. Prostatectomy per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries age 75 and under with prostate cancer by hospital referral region (2007-12)

Each blue dot represents the rate of prostate surgery in one of 306 hospital referral regions in the U.S. Red dots indicate the regions with the 5 lowest and 5 highest rates.



Map 6.3. Prostatectomy per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries age 75 and under with prostate cancer (2007-12) Rates are adjusted for race.

Contemporary Medicare data demonstrate considerable variation in prostatectomy rates by hospital referral region. In age and race adjusted analyses of Medicare patients age 75 and under, rates of prostatectomy varied more than eightfold across the United States. There were fewer than 80 procedures per 1,000 men in Ocala, Florida (54.8), Tulsa, Oklahoma (71.7), and Wilmington, Delaware (77.5); by contrast, there were more than 430 prostatectomies per 1,000 men in Munster, Indiana (479.5), Meridian, Mississippi (459.1), and San Angelo, Texas (437.1) (Figure 6.6). The national average rate was 189.3. Prostatectomy rates tended to be lower on the East Coast than in other regions (Map 6.3).

Other analyses have demonstrated that, in areas with higher Medicare spending, those enrolled in fee-for-service Medicare are more likely to undergo treatment rather than observation.²¹ For patients older than 75, there is marked variation in all types of treatment based on geographic region, though this is greatest for prostatectomy (Figure 6.7). Patients with more medical problems are less likely to be treated with prostatectomy, largely because of concern for surgical risks and competing risks of death (Table 6.3). Interestingly, black patients appear less likely to receive surgery or treatment overall,²² while Medicare data demonstrate wider variation in prostatectomy rates for black compared to non-black patients (Table 6.4). These findings may indicate racial disparities in the provision of care.



Figure 6.7. Variation in rates of prostate surgery and three non-surgical treatment options among male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer (2007-12)

The figure profiles the pattern of variation among male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 for four treatment options for prostate cancer: prostatectomy, radiation, hormone therapy, and no treatment or delayed treatment. Each dot represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States. The rates are expressed as the ratio to the U.S. average (plotted on a log scale).

For those who choose surgery: What kind of operation works best?

Patients electing for surgery must choose between traditional open surgery (through a larger single incision) and a less invasive approach. The latter consists most frequently of robotic prostatectomy, a form of laparoscopic surgery—through small incisions, guided by a camera—in which the surgeon controls robotic "wrists" within the abdomen. There is no rigorous evidence comparing outcomes for these approaches, although historical comparisons suggest similar rates of complications, complete removal of the tumor, and the need for additional cancer treatments.²³ Robotic surgery is associated with a decreased risk of blood transfusion and

Table 6.3. Prostatectomy per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries age 75 and under with prostate cancer among hospital referral regions by comorbidity status (2007-12)									
Fewer than 2 chronic	illnesses		2 or more chronic illnesses						
10 highest HRRs			10 highest HRRs						
Munster	IN	505.5	Munster	IN	403.1				
Memphis	TN	409.8	Little Rock	AR	242.2				
Nashville	TN	337.6	Memphis	TN	228.0				
Phoenix	AZ	326.7	Orange County	CA	207.1				
Little Rock	AR	315.9	Nashville	TN	191.1				
Birmingham	AL	311.0	Milwaukee	WI	184.7				
Milwaukee	WI	271.7	Birmingham	AL	180.1				
Orange County	CA	263.7	Los Angeles	CA	159.4				
St. Louis	MO	248.8	Phoenix AZ 15		154.6				
Los Angeles	CA	220.9	Springfield IL 151.6						
10 lowest HRRs 10 lowest HRRs									
Houston	TX	175.5	Miami	FL	139.3				
Cleveland	OH	175.0	Baltimore	MD	122.9				
Philadelphia	PA	163.2	Indianapolis	IN	114.5				
Detroit	MI	163.2	Orlando	FL	110.6				
Miami	FL	163.0	Camden	NJ	107.9				
East Long Island	NY	134.9	Detroit	MI	103.1				
Manhattan	NY	129.7	Washington	DC	100.4				
Baltimore	MD	128.0	Cleveland	OH	97.5				
Camden	NJ	123.8	East Long Island	NY	87.7				
Boston	MA	109.4	Boston	MA	72.8				

Non-black patients Black patients 10 highest HRRs 10 highest HRRs Temple ТΧ Meridian 436.6 500.0 MS Meridian MS 411.8 Memphis TN 407.1 Gulfport MS 407.4 Gulfport MS 383.0 Milwaukee WI 280.0 Temple ТΧ 383.0 Nashville Little Rock ΤN 224.1 AR 321.1 Cleveland OH 213.7 Nashville ΤN 310.7 Memphis ΤN 204.3 Birmingham AL 298.3 Birmingham AL 200.0 Milwaukee WI 257.5 Jackson MS 198.3 Jackson MS 247.9 DC 189.7 CA Washington Los Angeles 218.3 10 lowest HRRs 10 lowest HRRs Houston ТΧ 157.9 Durham NC 157.9 Dallas ТΧ 157.9 Richmond VA 155.6 East Long Island NY 142.9 Washington DC 146.0 Orlando FL 133.3 Cleveland OH 143.8 Philadelphia PA 131.1 Manhattan NY 142.9 129.3 Chicago IL Chicago IL 136.8 Los Angeles CA 122.8 Baltimore MD 135.9 Detroit MI 118.1 Detroit MI 132.3 Baltimore MD 82.1 Dallas ТΧ 130.3

Table 6.4. Prostatectomy per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries age 75 and under with prostate cancer among hospital referral regions by race (2007-12)

Rates are adjusted for race.

Rates are unadjusted.

NY

81.8

East Long Island

NY

116.7

Manhattan

shorter hospital stays.²⁴ There is ongoing discussion concerning whether robotic surgery was adopted too rapidly, given its unclear overall benefits compared to open surgery and significantly greater cost. Nonetheless, robotic prostatectomy has become the most common surgical treatment for prostate cancer in the U.S.

Role of non-surgical treatments: Hormone therapy

Androgen deprivation therapy (ADT), which suppresses physiological testosterone levels, is used for treatment of metastatic prostate cancer, or in conjunction with radiation therapy for treatment of higher-risk disease. While it is not appropriate as monotherapy (solitary treatment) for non-metastatic cancer, it has been used for this purpose.²⁵ Studies have demonstrated variation in the use of ADT for both appropriate and inappropriate indications, attributable to urologist practice styles and other non-medical factors.^{26,27} These data underscore the need for effective implementation of evidence-based guidelines, as well as scrutiny of practices by professional societies and other stakeholders to ensure appropriate care.

After surgery

Post procedure care and long-term outcomes

Side effects of surgery and radiation therapy vary, though each can impact patients' quality of life.²⁸ Detailed counseling prior to treatment is needed to ensure that patients have reasonable expectations regarding acute and chronic effects. Surgery in particular engenders risks of "stress urinary incontinence" (i.e., leakage of urine with coughing, sneezing, lifting) and erectile dysfunction (ED). These side effects often abate, and in many instances resolve over time. Risk of ED in particular is modulated by patient age, preoperative function, interest in sex, other medical problems, degree of "nerve-sparing surgery" (preservation of erectile nerves during the procedure), and the point in time postoperatively (recovery continues up to two years after treatment). Radiation side effects may include irritation of the bladder and rectum, leading to increased frequency and urgency of urination and bowel movements, as well as ED. Table 6.5 outlines common side effects associated with surgery and non-surgical therapies.

Table 6.5. Side	e effects of two treatment types
Treatment	Side effects
	Urinary incontinence
	Erectile dysfunction
Surgery	Surgical complications (bleeding, infection, adjacent organ injury)
	Urethral scar tissue
	Anesthesia-related complications
	Bladder inflammation
	Rectal inflammation
Radiation therapy	Erectile dysfunction
	Urethral scar tissue
	Increased risk of other pelvic cancers

This list is not exhaustive, and often side effects resolve with time. Rates and severity of complications vary based on patient, disease, and treatment factors.

Rates of retreatment or reintervention after surgery or radiation therapy are low, but additional procedures may be required for treatment of the side effects listed in Table 6.5. Rates of readmission following prostatectomy are low as reflected in recent Medicare data, but appear to be impacted by patient age and health status (Figure 6.8).





Figure 6.8. Risk of 30-day readmission following prostatectomy, by age (2007-12)

There are methodological challenges in estimating the risk of side effects after prostate cancer therapy. Outcomes depend largely on patient characteristics; for example, patients with impaired preoperative erectile function are more likely to have long-term compromise after treatment. Urinary effects are also modulated by age and preexisting urinary function. Furthermore, outcomes in the literature may not be representative of real-world practice. These outcomes may reflect publication bias (providers may be more likely to publish favorable results); self- or physician reports of side effects may be subject to bias; definitions of "incontinence" and "erectile dysfunction" may vary; and symptoms may be assessed at different time points in the healing process. Finally, side effects can have a variable impact on men—ED may be devastating for one man but inconsequential for another. These points highlight the challenges of counseling men regarding their risks and helping them make the best decision regarding treatment.

Beyond surgery

As demonstrated in this report, there is wide variation in screening and treatment practices for prostate cancer. While the lack of consensus on optimal practices will likely continue, the degree of variation also presents an opportunity to improve the quality of care for men.

How to reduce variation?

Shared decision-making is an approach to clinical care that explicitly incorporates patient preferences into treatment decisions. Shared decision-making is both a philosophy and a practical approach that includes decision aids: tools developed in various media that delineate risks and benefits of treatment options while addressing patient preferences. Decision aids been shown to improve the quality of decision-making and may reduce overuse of invasive treatments.²⁹ Shared decision-making is often used for prostate cancer treatment decisions given the uncertainties regarding benefits and harms of treatment for low-risk cancer. An "option grid" was recently developed for this purpose (Figure 6.9).

Use this Grid to help you and your healthcare provider talk about how best to treat your low risk localised prostate cancer. Localised prostate cancer - low risk

		0

grid

	Watch and wait	Active surveillance	Low dose brachytherapy	Radiotherapy and neoadjuvant hormones	Surgery
What does this treatment involve?	Treatment will aim to control symptoms. You will get regular checks and blood tests.	You will get regular checks with blood tests and prostate biopsies. If you change your mind or if the cancer changes, you will be offered treatment aimed at cure.	We try to cure your cancer. Small radioactive pellets are put into your prostate under general anaesthetic.	We try to cure your cancer. Radiation beams and hormone therapy are used together for 4 to 8 weeks, where you visit the hospital every weekday.	We try to cure your cancer. The prostate gland is removed under general anaesthetic. You will stay in hospital for at least one night.
How will this treatment affect long-term survival?	At around 10 years, approximately 85 in every 100 men (85%) will be alive.	At around 10 years, approximately 90 in every 100 (90%) men will be alive.	At around 10 years, approximately 90 in every 100 men (90%) will be alive.	At around 10 years, approximately 90 in every 100 men (90%) will be alive.	At around 10 years, approximately 90 in every 100 men (90%) will be alive.
Will I need additional treatment?	Perhaps. Other treatments may be needed to control your symptoms.	Yes, around 30 in every 100 men (30%) will need additional treatment.	Yes, some men benefit from using hormones to shrink the prostate before brachytherapy.	Most patients have hormone treatment for at least 3 months before radiotherapy.	Radiotherapy might be offered to you after surgery.
What are the side effects associated with this treatment?	Does not apply.	Symptoms generally occur in the first 2 weeks after biopsy, typically pain, and blood in sperm, urine or stools. 10 in every 100 men (10%) get a urine infection.	After the treatment, most men will pass urine frequently, and have bleeding. Some men will be unable to pass urine. After 6 months, around 30 in every 100 men (30%) will have problems with erections, some men may pass urine more often than before.	After the treatment, most men will pass urine frequently, have diarrhoea and tiredness. After 6 months or more, around 30 to 60 in every 100 men (30 to 60%) will have problems with erections. A few men become incontinent and have bowel problems.	Most problems happen immediately after surgery. Most men will have some incontinence for the first 3 months. After 6 months or more, around 40 to 70 in every 100 men (40 to 70%) will have problems with erections. A few men become incontinent.
How long before I return to usual daily activities?	Does not apply.	2 days.	2 weeks.	6 weeks.	3 months.
Editors: Joseph Jelsk	, Nick Burns-Cox, Alf Collins, V	Wendy Enticott, Karen Gordon,	Emma Gray, Marie-Anne Durand, Kat	.y Marrin, Glyn Elwyn.	

Creative Commons License: Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Unported (CC BY-NC-ND 3.0)

Source: The Option Grid Collaborative (www.optiongrid.org). Figure 6.9. Option grid for treatment of low-risk prostate cancer More information: http://www.optiongrid.org/about.php Last update: 15 December 13 Next update: 15 December 14 ISBN: 978-0-9926733-5-2

Evidence document: http://www.optiongrid.org/resources/lcplowrisk_evidence.pdf

Prostate cancer management discussions are ripe for this approach based on the diversity of reasonable options (Figure 6.10). At Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center, patients with newly diagnosed cancer are mailed written and online resources to facilitate comparison of treatment options prior to clinic visits. One particularly useful resource is a booklet from Health Dialog that provides an objective discussion of treatment options of potential side effects (Figure 6.11).

	Decisior			
Treatment Options	Patient Needs	Decision Support	Decision Quality	Patient Outcomes
Active surveillance/ observation Radical prostatectomy Radiation therapy (external beam and/or brachytherapy)	Clarification of individual values and preferences Knowledge of procedure risks, benefits, and other considerations	Continuously updated, patient- specific data regarding risks and benefits Guidance for the patient/surgeon interaction Other considerations	Assessment of patient knowledge and understanding Assessment of congruence with pre-specified values and preferences	Measurement of: Mortality Functional outcomes (e.g., erectile function, urinary function) Patient satisfaction Quality of life

Figure 6.10. Conceptual model for decision support tool

Multidisciplinary clinics are another tool to improve patient education and the quality of decision-making. These clinics are offered to patients with newly diagnosed cancer and typically include appointments with a surgeon, radiation oncologist, and potentially a medical oncologist. Their purpose is to provide different treatment perspectives and reduce bias in the counseling process. A number of centers routinely offer multidisciplinary clinics to patients, and increasingly this is considered a measure of quality in prostate cancer care.³⁰

Increased use of active surveillance and other observational strategies will be essential to reduce the health and psychological burdens of overtreatment. Longterm data from surveillance cohorts will help to mitigate concerns regarding safety. Improved tools to predict which cancers pose a greater threat (e.g., blood tests, genetic analysis) will help to ensure the appropriate men are treated. In the short term, improved education of both physicians and patients, and de-stigmatizing "low-risk" prostate cancer, are necessary to ensure that surveillance is considered for this subset of patients.



Figure 6.11. Health Dialog booklet concerning treatment choices for localized prostate cancer

Finally, regionalization of care may help to reduce variation in treatment quality. High-volume surgeons and institutions have been shown to achieve superior cancer-related outcomes with fewer side effects.³¹⁻³³ As such, it is concerning that low-volume surgeons are performing many prostatectomies.³⁴ Referral to higher-volume centers may ensure that quality of care is more uniform.

Summary and next steps

Despite many years of attention and study, variation in the diagnosis and treatment of prostate cancer persists in the United States. While some progress has been made—for example, screening practices are becoming more risk-based than population-based—new questions have arisen: for example, how best to counsel patients regarding their risk of cancer and the benefits and trade-offs of treatment; how to optimize outcomes related to treatment; and which patients are best treated with active surveillance. While these questions are being answered, clinicians and health systems need to strive to incorporate the best available evidence and shared decision-making into their efforts to detect and treat prostate cancer.

Chapter 6 Table. Rates of PSA t	esting, ir	ncidence of prostate	cancer, prostatecto	my, and non-surgi	cal treatment for p	prostate cancer amo	ong hospital referral	regions (2007-12)
HRR Name	State	Percent of male enrollees age 68-74 having PSA test	Incidence of prostate cancer per 1,000 male Medicare	Prostatectomy per 1, beneficiaries with pro	000 male Medicare ostate cancer	Radiation treatment per 1,000 male Medicare	Hormone therapy per 1,000 male Medicare	No treatment/ delayed treatment
		(2010)	beneficiaries	Age 75 & under	Over age 75	beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer	beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer	male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer
Birmingham	AL	36.9	9.4	286.5	35.9	364.6	391.9	207.9
Dothan	AL	41.4	5.6	281.4		267.8	298.6	376.4
Huntsville	AL	31.3	3.3	239.4		234.2	276.5	425.5
Mobile	AL	36.7	3.6	195.0		308.0	301.5	325.4
Montgomery	AL	44.9	3.3				468.5	
Tuscaloosa	AL	34.9	7.7			300.1	516.2	
Anchorage	AK	26.7	4.9	177.0				471.5
Mesa	AZ	39.4	5.1	340.7		277.6	246.7	311.7
Phoenix	AZ	40.3	6.5	298.6	96.2	306.4	271.1	324.6
Sun City	AZ	55.1	10.9	248.0	78.7	253.2	360.3	307.1
Tucson	AZ	38.6	6.5	150.3		234.7	256.3	439.3
Fort Smith	AR	29.5	6.8	234.2			418.5	378.1
Jonesboro	AR	29.1	2.4					
Little Rock	AR	43.6	19.3	300.2	68.9	253.3	319.4	358.8
Springdale	AR	40.4	7.7	118.9		297.0	259.3	443.7
Texarkana	AR	45.8	4.0	421.9				
Orange County	CA	47.2	7.3	253.8	73.4	161.1	326.5	439.2
Bakersfield	CA	36.8	5.6	174.0		251.9	453.1	183.3
Chico	CA	24.0	8.0	158.0		170.3	229.8	500.6
Contra Costa County	CA	16.5	6.2	129.9		205.5	334.4	365.4
Fresno	CA	34.8	3.3	201.1			466.1	268.6
Los Angeles	CA	46.2	8.3	207.7	93.2	191.6	322.8	392.3
Modesto	CA	31.4	4.7	175.0		233.5	355.1	353.4
Napa	CA	9.0	8.2	151.7		257.4	302.5	360.7
Alameda County	CA	31.3	6.9	137.6		344.8	234.4	352.6
Palm Springs/Rancho Mirage	CA	24.8	6.3	411.2		224.2	228.3	491.5
Redding	CA	30.2	5.3	309.0		211.0	330.6	394.2
Sacramento	CA	23.9	6.7	185.7		311.7	375.4	276.3
Salinas	CA	24.4	5.1				282.1	435.9
San Bernardino	CA	32.4	6.8	183.5	111.3	117.7	343.8	427.3
San Diego	CA	37.8	5.1	230.7	86.5	242.9	324.0	346.0
San Francisco	CA	17.7	10.5	153.4		244.4	238.9	483.7
San Jose	CA	38.8	5.4	101.7		296.3	277.8	402.9
San Luis Obispo	CA	29.4	5.9					483.3
San Mateo County	CA	21.2	7.2	177.1		299.6	208.9	453.5
Santa Barbara	CA	37.5	6.2	144.0		227.5	293.4	417.2
Santa Cruz	CA	38.5	5.8					462.0
Santa Rosa	CA	24.7	9.1	151.1		309.4	236.3	422.7
Stockton	CA	11.1	5.6	174.9				440.0



Chapter 6 Table. Rates of PSA t	esting, ir	ncidence of prostate	cancer, prostatecto	my, and non-surgi	cal treatment for p	prostate cancer amo	ong hospital referral	regions (2007-12)
HRR Name	State	Percent of male enrollees age 68-74 having PSA test (2010)	Incidence of prostate cancer per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries	Prostatectomy per 1, beneficiaries with pro Age 75 & under	000 male Medicare ostate cancer Over age 75	Radiation treatment per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer	Hormone therapy per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer	No treatment/ delayed treatment per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer
Ventura	CA	39.9	7.4	137.4		179.1	301.2	430.4
Boulder	CO	21.8	7.7					584.4
Colorado Springs	CO	19.3	4.2	158.6			442.8	390.2
Denver	CO	36.0	8.2	133.5		221.3	237.4	525.9
Fort Collins	CO	14.2	7.5	195.7				527.3
Grand Junction	CO	18.1	4.4					
Greeley	CO	17.0	3.1					
Pueblo	CO	39.3	5.5					500.9
Bridgeport	CT	33.0	5.6	192.6		265.7	379.9	341.8
Hartford	CT	30.2	6.4	178.1		261.2	333.2	350.0
New Haven	CT	30.8	4.8	137.6		216.4	413.3	347.2
Wilmington	DE	37.1	9.0	77.5		313.6	312.1	350.3
Washington	DC	41.2	7.6	178.7		312.8	311.9	358.7
Bradenton	FL	43.6	9.6			335.7	301.3	337.8
Clearwater	FL	41.1	5.2			245.3	456.6	280.8
Fort Lauderdale	FL	47.0	6.4	130.4		275.7	288.4	413.6
Fort Myers	FL	47.7	10.2	114.8		314.2	320.9	353.6
Gainesville	FL	40.9	6.6	89.2		203.3	360.0	393.2
Hudson	FL	46.0	10.8	97.3		241.1	296.7	417.1
Jacksonville	FL	35.3	11.0	123.6		424.1	299.2	248.1
Lakeland	FL	44.5	6.8			217.5	328.1	418.4
Miami	FL	58.4	6.8	156.6		201.9	393.7	364.3
Ocala	FL	47.1	10.0	54.8		203.2	290.8	490.2
Orlando	FL	44.9	8.9	164.9	33.2	236.0	359.1	371.7
Ormond Beach	FL	43.0	4.0				357.5	404.8
Panama City	FL	34.3	6.3			302.7	273.1	374.4
Pensacola	FL	26.9	4.0	166.1		327.7	259.8	401.8
Sarasota	FL	40.8	8.8	150.5		315.9	321.3	324.2
St. Petersburg	FL	42.9	4.3				390.3	387.8
Tallahassee	FL	40.2	3.7			543.5	324.5	
Tampa	FL	46.4	10.0	159.3		307.3	278.3	379.0
Albany	GA	37.5	10.9			603.7		
Atlanta	GA	41.8	4.7	90.7		221.8	319.0	441.6
Augusta	GA	36.3	13.3	118.6		370.7	297.4	316.0
Columbus	GA	48.3	6.3			389.4	388.3	
Macon	GA	36.4	5.6	176.3		234.5	446.2	279.3
Rome	GA	39.6	6.7			424.3	345.7	
Savannah	GA	45.0	6.9	165.3		279.8	276.1	416.1
Honolulu	HI	43.9	2.8	284.3		369.2	324.7	203.8

Chapter 6 Table. Rates of PSA t	esting, ir	ncidence of prostate	cancer, prostatecto	omy, and non-surgi	cal treatment for p	prostate cancer amo	ong hospital referral	regions (2007-12)
HRR Name	State	Percent of male enrollees age 68-74 having PSA test	Incidence of prostate cancer per 1,000 male Medicare	Prostatectomy per 1, beneficiaries with pro	000 male Medicare ostate cancer	Radiation treatment per 1,000 male Medicare	Hormone therapy per 1,000 male Medicare	No treatment/ delayed treatment per 1.000
		(2010)	beneficiaries	Age 75 & under	Over age 75	beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer	beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer	male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer
Boise	ID	21.7	7.9	340.1	169.2	305.6	336.1	185.5
Idaho Falls	ID	35.6	3.3					
Aurora	IL	32.5	3.3				792.2	
Blue Island	IL	36.3	4.7	198.6		294.4	375.4	242.2
Chicago	IL	29.2	6.1	148.7	49.2	235.5	313.0	402.7
Elgin	IL	32.9	12.6	239.3	65.9	310.4	359.9	263.0
Evanston	IL	35.1	6.3	184.4		319.5	346.9	306.0
Hinsdale	IL	34.8	4.4			363.3	294.4	317.5
Joliet	IL	26.2	7.9	178.5		415.4	315.6	222.3
Melrose Park	IL	26.0	5.1	104.5		217.5	449.2	292.6
Peoria	IL	14.8	15.4	171.8	52.2	273.9	451.2	222.9
Rockford	IL	17.2	10.7	276.3		303.4	519.7	144.6
Springfield	IL	26.3	9.4	173.9	42.4	198.0	479.0	281.6
Urbana	IL	20.3	12.0	343.6		417.3	340.8	178.8
Bloomington	IL	26.2	7.0					
Evansville	IN	14.6	11.2	218.0	75.0	237.0	484.9	203.3
Fort Wayne	IN	24.7	17.2	190.9		381.6	382.9	231.7
Gary	IN	23.4	9.3	285.2	90.5	195.3	440.3	273.7
Indianapolis	IN	25.8	6.8	175.5	37.6	362.2	324.8	274.7
Lafayette	IN	18.9	16.6	286.8		258.3	306.9	392.0
Muncie	IN	39.2	8.0				426.3	350.2
Munster	IN	25.5	12.7	479.5	105.9	300.5	345.5	247.8
South Bend	IN	35.7	5.7	208.0		167.1	452.6	281.3
Terre Haute	IN	41.5	8.5	278.7		364.6	451.7	
Cedar Rapids	IA	26.8	1.9					
Davenport	IA	37.5	3.8				584.8	300.6
Des Moines	IA	23.2	6.2	245.4	69.9	231.4	477.9	221.2
Dubuque	IA	46.9	4.1					
Iowa City	IA	23.2	7.9	336.0		209.4	387.8	346.8
Mason City	IA	5.8	25.9	107.9		375.3	461.3	150.6
Sioux City	IA	32.9	21.9	285.8		228.2	497.2	224.1
Waterloo	IA	11.0	6.5					
Торека	KS	37.4	10.2	226.4		244.7	472.6	261.5
Wichita	KS	36.1	9.6	225.4	32.3	198.3	590.5	181.1
Covington	KY	13.1	2.6					
Lexington	KY	31.5	4.2	130.8		295.9	414.9	272.3
Louisville	KY	36.5	11.9	116.8	32.8	409.7	320.9	236.5
Owensboro	KY	52.7	14.2	303.5		339.4	410.5	
Paducah	KY	38.4	6.8	236.1		220.0	462.1	222.6



Chapter 6 Table. Rates of PSA testing, incidence of prostate cancer, prostatectomy, and non-surgical treatment for prostate cancer among hospital referral regions (2007-12)								
HRR Name	State	Percent of male enrollees age 68-74 having PSA test (2010)	Incidence of prostate cancer per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries	Prostatectomy per 1, beneficiaries with pro Age 75 & under	000 male Medicare ostate cancer Over age 75	Radiation treatment per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer	Hormone therapy per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer	No treatment/ delayed treatment per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer
Alexandria	ΙA	33.4	83	238.2		315.9	417 1	ounoon
Baton Bouge		40.6	3.4	201.9		010.0	533.0	
Houma	LA	35.4	12.2	178.4		258.3	500.6	241.4
Lafavette	LA	30.9	4.8			258.7	523.2	215.1
Lake Charles	LA	32.7	6.9	187.9			451.3	423.5
Metairie	LA	24.3	7.2	233.1		334.0	427.9	
Monroe	LA	33.5	7.5	152.9			494.2	
New Orleans	LA	31.8	7.1	215.6			470.7	
Shreveport	LA	30.5	2.8			318.9	313.3	341.5
Slidell	LA	20.2	7.7	320.3			574.4	
Bangor	ME	16.1	8.4	274.2		180.9	513.8	221.6
Portland	ME	12.3	8.7	244.1		229.8	384.4	335.6
Baltimore	MD	39.3	8.2	127.5		211.2	314.6	446.7
Salisbury	MD	21.7	7.1	126.9		198.3	301.1	488.0
Takoma Park	MD	48.7	6.3	103.9		263.2	280.4	423.2
Boston	MA	21.1	5.8	102.9	24.5	246.2	244.5	484.8
Springfield	MA	15.1	5.7	124.8			275.5	581.3
Worcester	MA	11.2	5.6	142.2			380.0	445.0
Ann Arbor	MI	15.5	10.3	189.7		274.2	360.1	334.6
Dearborn	MI	24.7	10.2	198.3		175.4	352.7	398.4
Detroit	MI	26.6	8.2	144.7		239.7	320.7	399.9
Flint	MI	37.8	7.2	212.5		270.0	352.0	299.3
Grand Rapids	MI	19.1	6.1	284.7		203.4	376.8	352.6
Kalamazoo	MI	16.8	4.1	255.9		244.0	311.5	400.1
Lansing	MI	12.2	6.2	372.1	164.2	216.5	270.7	346.6
Marquette	MI	9.5	15.7	352.9			569.2	242.4
Muskegon	MI	8.6	11.5	328.3			465.5	357.4
Petoskey	MI	19.7	10.0			286.6	530.7	
Pontiac	MI	35.6	8.4			282.3	264.8	390.4
Royal Oak	MI	37.6	11.8	133.7		277.0	287.8	388.1
Saginaw	MI	15.2	6.2	282.2		257.1	337.0	356.5
St. Joseph	MI	14.2	7.2	264.8				
Traverse City	MI	24.4	10.7	155.9		306.8	213.0	423.3
Duluth	MN	13.8	11.8	277.7		231.0	459.3	256.0
Minneapolis	MN	25.6	11.7	346.7	53.6	241.6	431.4	273.8
Rochester	MN	28.7	16.6	257.3		323.7	452.4	179.8
St. Cloud	MN	31.7	10.8	385.9			381.5	352.0
St. Paul	MN	19.5	12.6	284.6	113.3	128.6	354.6	403.4
Gulfport	MS	12.4	17.3	402.3			443.8	299.1

Chapter 6 Table. Rates of PSA testing, incidence of prostate cancer, prostatectomy, and non-surgical treatment for prostate cancer among hospital referral regions (2007-12)								
HRR Name	State	Percent of male enrollees age 68-74 having PSA test (2010)	Incidence of prostate cancer per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries	Prostatectomy per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries with prostate cancer		Radiation treatment per 1,000 male Medicare	Hormone therapy per 1,000 male Medicare	No treatment/ delayed treatment
				Age 75 & under	Over age 75	beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer	beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer	male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer
Hattiesburg	MS	47.0	3.7					
Jackson	MS	35.1	6.6	254.6		211.4	403.4	330.5
Meridian	MS	44.5	11.9	459.1			409.6	394.3
Oxford	MS	42.1	12.0				425.8	313.8
Tupelo	MS	39.1	8.7	185.2		125.5	362.4	454.2
Cape Girardeau	МО	29.2	5.3	279.5			477.8	285.9
Columbia	МО	32.7	5.4	169.0		232.2	326.7	415.1
Joplin	МО	24.0	5.8	180.9		330.0	317.4	296.8
Kansas City	МО	37.9	5.9	217.9		257.7	350.8	363.9
Springfield	МО	37.3	3.0	163.5		194.8	380.2	410.6
St. Louis	МО	33.9	6.6	226.7	38.3	237.2	387.8	336.7
Billings	MT	10.6	13.2	350.3		300.7	261.4	371.1
Great Falls	MT	35.9	6.1					
Missoula	MT	31.4	10.5	225.4		282.9	228.1	465.1
Lincoln	NE	41.6	3.0	287.7		252.8	450.5	255.8
Omaha	NE	25.2	6.3	400.8	82.9	151.5	508.3	258.2
Las Vegas	NV	40.8	4.8	137.2		185.4	352.2	411.6
Reno	NV	22.4	6.2	136.2		245.0	331.7	400.6
Lebanon	NH	3.6	9.2	245.0		256.2	438.9	294.7
Manchester	NH	11.4	11.1	302.3		297.8	233.0	416.9
Camden	NJ	44.0	6.2	119.9		282.8	314.6	387.1
Hackensack	NJ	52.8	6.2	86.2		241.6	349.1	367.0
Morristown	NJ	47.5	5.9	141.0		161.6	323.7	485.4
New Brunswick	NJ	48.8	6.4	119.5		190.3	317.7	476.3
Newark	NJ	47.9	5.6	96.4		250.4	385.1	349.7
Paterson	NJ	53.7	3.0					
Ridgewood	NJ	49.3	5.6			216.0	348.3	382.5
Albuquerque	NM	19.1	6.2	212.0	92.4	172.3	292.0	442.8
Albany	NY	28.3	4.6	139.9		236.0	313.0	421.3
Binghamton	NY	7.2	7.9	134.1		284.0	446.7	206.6
Bronx	NY	41.8	6.2	133.5		254.3	392.6	331.3
Buffalo	NY	26.4	8.1	119.1		357.1	352.3	278.1
Elmira	NY	32.6	3.4				390.3	
East Long Island	NY	52.9	5.2	120.3	30.3	206.7	387.7	375.3
Manhattan	NY	51.5	7.3	133.7	62.1	223.5	268.1	446.9
Rochester	NY	12.7	5.9	253.5		320.6	226.7	440.7
Syracuse	NY	38.7	8.6	100.8		379.9	226.3	375.1
White Plains	NY	41.8	6.4	186.3		243.5	399.2	299.9
Asheville	NC	36.1	6.9	139.6		174.7	346.0	432.2



Chapter 6 Table. Rates of PSA testing, incidence of prostate cancer, prostatectomy, and non-surgical treatment for prostate cancer among hospital referral regions (2007-12)								regions (2007-12)
HRR Name	State	Percent of male enrollees age 68-74 having PSA test (2010)	Incidence of prostate cancer per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries	Prostatectomy per 1, beneficiaries with pro Age 75 & under	000 male Medicare ostate cancer Over age 75	Radiation treatment per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer	Hormone therapy per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer	No treatment/ delayed treatment per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer
Charlotte	NC	38.5	6.6	111.6		193.2	372.3	419.5
Durham	NC	43.4	5.4	171.3		268.4	290.8	425.4
Greensboro	NC	46.2	7.6			264.9	235.4	485.8
Greenville	NC	47.3	6.3	145.6		114.0	416.6	438.3
Hickory	NC	40.7	4.0					478.7
Raleigh	NC	49.2	5.3	155.6		184.3	307.4	484.3
Wilmington	NC	55.8	4.1			374.4		399.4
Winston-Salem	NC	39.4	5.8	143.1		179.4	367.7	424.5
Bismarck	ND	24.8	10.4	233.7		243.2	583.7	
Fargo/Moorhead MN	ND	34.9	24.8	284.3		320.0	437.0	232.4
Grand Forks	ND	10.9	18.8	197.3		240.8	449.6	270.8
Minot	ND	7.2	24.7	265.4		322.3	363.4	221.3
Akron	OH	19.1	6.7			349.4	404.3	231.7
Canton	OH	19.3	7.9			263.6	387.3	349.8
Cincinnati	ОН	31.0	8.6	161.3	72.4	235.3	472.2	219.9
Cleveland	OH	20.7	13.4	159.7	35.9	331.0	388.4	245.0
Columbus	OH	23.7	4.7	144.5		207.5	527.8	239.8
Dayton	OH	28.6	4.2	176.2		256.3	438.8	292.6
Elyria	OH	15.6	9.6	159.4			400.2	400.0
Kettering	OH	40.1	5.2				354.8	
Toledo	OH	18.7	13.9	167.5		220.3	507.1	253.1
Youngstown	OH	27.7	6.0	223.7		266.7	373.3	333.3
Lawton	OK	20.9	5.5					
Oklahoma City	OK	33.2	7.9	209.4	45.9	282.5	387.1	284.5
Tulsa	OK	40.1	4.4	71.7		290.6	318.9	374.5
Bend	OR	28.2	5.6					
Eugene	OR	37.5	10.7	235.0		275.6	410.0	222.5
Medford	OR	27.5	6.6	251.0		226.3	423.8	298.7
Portland	OR	24.1	6.8	299.9	73.8	241.9	295.6	388.0
Salem	OR	28.0	4.1					
Allentown	PA	29.5	6.9	134.5		269.8	412.8	282.4
Altoona	PA	13.0	7.6	211.7		302.5	588.1	
Danville	PA	12.7	8.7	112.4		153.1	519.7	309.8
Erie	PA	19.0	14.1	129.8		219.3	435.3	329.4
Harrisburg	PA	24.5	4.9	163.6		245.4	412.5	295.7
Johnstown	PA	18.1	5.4					
Lancaster	PA	18.4	7.7	151.4		231.5	263.5	486.0
Philadelphia	PA	42.5	5.6	159.1	52.5	294.9	308.2	345.5
Pittsburgh	PA	14.9	9.2	108.6	38.1	339.9	397.8	223.9

Chapter 6 Table. Rates of PSA testing, incidence of prostate cancer, prostatectomy, and non-surgical treatment for prostate cancer among hospital referral regions (2007-12)								
HRR Name	State	Percent of male enrollees age 68-74 having PSA test (2010)	Incidence of prostate cancer per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries	Prostatectomy per 1,000 male Medic beneficiaries with prostate cancer Age 75 & under Over age 75		Radiation treatment per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate	Hormone therapy per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate	No treatment/ delayed treatment per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries over
						cancer	cancer	age 75 with prostate cancer
Reading	PA	20.5	3.9			310.2	356.3	292.1
Sayre	PA	21.8	8.0			393.4	343.1	
Scranton	PA	20.4	10.2	128.4		159.5	555.6	287.8
Wilkes-Barre	PA	20.1	13.2	134.8		382.6	431.5	157.4
York	PA	10.7	6.2			328.3	356.6	301.5
Providence	RI	25.1	5.5	92.3		113.6	409.2	448.6
Charleston	SC	43.4	8.1	124.6		187.3	257.5	501.7
Columbia	SC	33.5	8.9	82.1		259.4	301.4	399.2
Florence	SC	44.3	8.7			394.2	315.6	278.8
Greenville	SC	35.3	5.1	126.5		199.9	412.7	375.0
Spartanburg	SC	37.9	4.4					462.0
Rapid City	SD	32.6	2.8					
Sioux Falls	SD	36.5	9.8	283.0	52.7	248.6	411.4	287.5
Chattanooga	TN	48.0	6.1	280.8		235.1	468.2	259.1
Jackson	TN	44.2	9.4	370.8			513.9	328.4
Johnson City	TN	32.2	5.0					434.1
Kingsport	TN	35.7	5.7	178.2		379.5	336.1	267.2
Knoxville	TN	45.1	4.0	231.7		197.0	328.1	406.3
Memphis	TN	45.6	15.9	375.3	83.3	179.3	425.4	311.4
Nashville	TN	39.3	5.7	301.0	72.4	183.1	404.7	339.7
Abilene	ТΧ	30.3	3.9	291.7			380.4	351.8
Amarillo	ТΧ	36.3	4.8				480.1	348.1
Austin	ТΧ	43.7	4.8	215.7		172.8	348.0	459.5
Beaumont	ТΧ	39.2	8.7	216.2		355.4	283.3	340.0
Bryan	ТΧ	28.4	4.0					
Corpus Christi	ТΧ	47.3	5.0				374.5	458.0
Dallas	ТΧ	49.9	5.1	136.2		290.0	344.9	345.3
El Paso	ТΧ	32.1	8.3	113.3		378.8	332.0	239.6
Fort Worth	ТХ	45.7	7.5	90.3	53.3	165.8	324.9	456.3
Harlingen	ТΧ	48.3	2.2					612.2
Houston	ТΧ	40.6	9.7	170.3	50.6	258.4	309.9	381.3
Longview	ТΧ	49.1	1.8					
Lubbock	ТХ	23.7	3.7	234.7		217.0	283.1	391.2
McAllen	ТΧ	53.5	2.5				504.1	
Odessa	ТХ	36.9	2.6					
San Angelo	ТΧ	48.4	5.4	437.1				482.4
San Antonio	ТХ	39.6	5.3	232.1		297.8	322.0	340.5
Temple	ТΧ	20.4	12.9	418.6		302.3	339.8	342.5
Tyler	TX	38.1	4.5	190.0		286.8	329.6	342.7


Chapter 6 Table. Rates of PSA t	esting, ir	ncidence of prostate	cancer, prostatecto	omy, and non-surgi	cal treatment for p	prostate cancer amo	ong hospital referra	regions (2007-12)
HRR Name	State	Percent of male enrollees age 68-74 having PSA test (2010)	Incidence of prostate cancer per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries	Prostatectomy per 1, beneficiaries with pro Age 75 & under	000 male Medicare ostate cancer Over age 75	Radiation treatment per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer	Hormone therapy per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate cancer	No treatment/ delayed treatment per 1,000 male Medicare beneficiaries over age 75 with prostate
						ounoor		cancer
Victoria	ТΧ	42.8	10.9	241.9		465.9	195.9	303.4
Waco	ТΧ	35.7	5.9	225.5				576.8
Wichita Falls	ТΧ	34.0	4.0	299.2				
Ogden	UT	27.8	13.0	214.2		430.5	277.6	217.8
Provo	UT	29.7	3.8					
Salt Lake City	UT	22.6	6.7	273.4		222.3	308.6	402.1
Burlington	VT	6.8	6.2	158.6		163.3	248.8	565.6
Arlington	VA	46.4	8.4	123.3		257.5	269.5	448.1
Charlottesville	VA	27.1	7.3	109.8		210.3	347.6	418.3
Lynchburg	VA	35.9	3.9					
Newport News	VA	50.9	7.7	206.8		309.5	163.5	508.2
Norfolk	VA	38.4	8.1	171.0		307.4	401.1	268.4
Richmond	VA	42.0	9.0	178.2	40.0	213.8	323.1	422.3
Roanoke	VA	46.0	5.1	105.1		314.2	392.3	271.9
Winchester	VA	29.5	4.7				491.8	342.1
Everett	WA	27.9	4.7	243.4			387.8	411.0
Olympia	WA	29.8	5.2	237.2				429.4
Seattle	WA	25.4	8.5	173.6	53.7	278.7	306.9	360.3
Spokane	WA	39.8	9.4	209.2	75.1	300.2	347.7	275.7
Tacoma	WA	19.8	8.4	227.5		352.7	302.6	269.1
Yakima	WA	37.9	5.1				392.1	306.1
Charleston	WV	32.3	7.2	218.2	108.8	328.7	316.5	244.4
Huntington	WV	19.9	11.6	203.2		293.7	520.7	176.1
Morgantown	WV	20.6	5.8	191.8		195.3	484.3	303.9
Appleton	WI	36.1	6.1				417.2	
Green Bay	WI	33.2	5.7	226.1			487.3	333.9
La Crosse	WI	19.6	7.0	268.0		295.7	428.1	277.0
Madison	WI	23.4	12.8	264.6	58.2	285.0	368.1	288.2
Marshfield	WI	34.3	2.4					
Milwaukee	WI	37.3	10.4	255.8		310.6	424.8	242.3
Neenah	WI	31.8	4.9					
Wausau	WI	27.2	2.5					
Casper	WY	10.1	6.0	428.8		402.2		
United States	US	34.5	7.4	189.3	44.2	258.4	358.3	339.1

Methods

CHAPTER 1: OBESITY

In this chapter, we examined secular trends in the rates of obesity, diabetes, bariatric surgery, and outcomes following bariatric surgery at the level of the hospital referral region (HRR) among Medicare beneficiaries age 65 to 99. To accomplish this, we studied all patients with evidence of diagnostic codes for diabetes and obesity, as well as procedure codes indicative of bariatric procedures. We also used data from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention to establish HRRlevel rates of obesity. All diagnostic codes indicative of diabetes and the procedure codes indicating bariatric surgery procedures are shown in Table A.

After establishing our inclusion criteria, we examined the incidence of each event over time between 2001 and 2011. We assessed rates by each year individually. The numerator for calculating the crude rates consisted of the number of procedures in each year selected as described above; the denominator consisted of the number of beneficiaries eligible as of June 30 for each year (a mid-year denominator). These rates were adjusted for changes in age, sex, and race occurring over time using the population during the year 2001 as the standard population.

After defining the rates of bariatric procedures over time, we assessed differences in outcomes. We used t-tests to compare rates between regions, and non-paramet-ric tests of trend were used to test significance across years; p values <0.05 were considered significant.

CHAPTER 2: CEREBRAL ANEURYSMS

In this chapter, we examined trends in the rates of ruptured and unruptured cerebral aneurysms, rates of clipping and coiling procedures, and outcomes following these procedures at the HRR level among Medicare beneficiaries age 65 to 99. We studied all patients with evidence of diagnostic codes for ruptured and unruptured cerebral aneurysms and treatment procedures; diagnostic codes indicative of cerebral aneurysms and the procedure codes indicating clipping and coiling are shown in Table A.

After establishing our inclusion criteria, we examined the incidence of each diagnosis and procedure over time between 2007 and 2012. We assessed rates by each year individually. The numerator for calculating the crude rates consisted of the number of index diagnoses or procedures between 2007 and 2012; the denominator consisted of the number of beneficiaries eligible across the same years. The rates were adjusted via the indirect method for age, sex, and race using the national standard Medicare population. After defining the rates of clipping and coiling over time, we assessed differences in outcomes.

CHAPTER 3: DIABETES AND PERIPHERAL ARTERY DISEASE

In this chapter, we examined trends in the rates of amputation and other pertinent outcomes among patients with diabetes and peripheral arterial disease at the HRR level among Medicare beneficiaries age 65 to 99. We included all patients with diagnostic codes for diabetes and peripheral arterial disease; diagnostic codes indicative of diabetes and PAD and the procedure codes indicating vascular interventions are shown in Table A.

After establishing our inclusion criteria, we examined the incidence of each event over time between 2001 and 2011. We assessed rates by each year individually. The numerator for calculating the crude rates consisted of the number of procedures in each year selected as described above; the denominator consisted of the number of beneficiaries eligible as of June 30 for each year (a mid-year denominator). These rates were adjusted for changes in age, sex, and race occurring over time using the population during the year 2001 as the standard population.

After defining the rates of vascular procedures over time, we assessed differences in outcomes. We used t-tests to compare rates between regions, and non-parametric tests of trend were used to test significance across years; p values <0.05 were considered significant.

CHAPTER 4: SPINAL STENOSIS

We examined the 100% sample of the Medicare Provider Analysis and Review (MedPAR) file for patients undergoing an initial inpatient lumbar spinal fusion or decompression operation for spinal stenosis from 2001 to 2011 among Medicare beneficiaries age 65 and older. We combined data from 2001 through 2011 to estimate age-, sex-, and race-adjusted trends in the rates of decompression and fusion operations for spinal stenosis per 100,000 Medicare beneficiaries.

Admissions associated with the surgical indication of spinal stenosis were identified using a previously published and validated hierarchical coding algorithm (www.researchgate.net/publication/257631899_SPINEDEF_%28Version_6%29_ Coding_definitions_for_characterizing_spine-related_medical_encounters). All inpatient admissions that involved an initial (incident) thoracolumbar, lumbar, or lumbosacral fusion or decompression operation for spinal stenosis from 2001 through 2011 were included. However, admissions that included codes for refusion, artificial disc replacement, corpectomy, osteotomy, and kyphectomy were excluded. We further excluded admissions that contained codes for non-degenerative lumbar spinal admissions, such as spinal fracture, vertebral dislocation, spinal cord injury, cervical or thoracic conditions, and inflammatory spondylopathy. Finally, we excluded admissions associated with codes for accidents, neoplasm, HIV or immune deficiency, intraspinal abscess, or osteomyelitis.

Orthopaedic device complications, wound problems, life-threatening medical complications, and repeat surgery were ascertained for each patient. To calculate the rate and difference in surgical risk between fusion and decompression, we performed a logistic regression for each type of complication, including variables for patient age, sex, race, comorbidity, and previous hospitalizations. Similarly, we examined differences in long-term rates of repeat spine operation between decompression and fusion. We used a Cox proportional hazard regression model to examine differences in the time until a first reoperation between patients undergoing initial decompression and fusion operations.

For the economic analyses presented in this report, we updated our previously published analysis of the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey with data through 2012 to estimate the treated prevalence and the economic burden of back and neck problems in the United States. MEPS is a household survey of medical expenditures weighted to represent national estimates. We focused on adults (> 17 years) with self-reported neck and back problems mapped to spine-related codes from the International Classification of Disease (ICD-9-CM). Inflation-adjusted, survey-weighted generalized linear regression models, adjusting for age-, sex-, and Charlson comorbidity, were used to calculate the incremental difference in health care costs between patients with and without spine problems.

CHAPTER 5: END-STAGE RENAL DISEASE

In this chapter, we examined the rates of end-stage renal disease (ESRD) in the Medicare population (age 18-99) and the proportion of ESRD treatments employed among both Medicare beneficiaries and the national ESRD population. We also examined the outcomes of mortality and 30-day readmission. To accomplish this, we first selected all patients with evidence of a procedure code for dialysis among Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries. We also obtained data on all ESRD patients in the United States from the United States Renal Data Registry (USRDS). USRDS includes information from CMS form 2728, which is completed at the time of the first dialysis procedure to gain Medicare eligibility. The form provides an accurate record of initiating dialysis type and access modality. Thus, information on the use of AV fistulas and grafts and hemodialysis catheters came from the renal registry, along with data on live and deceased donor kidney transplants. To track outcomes among ESRD patients in the Medicare population, we used both diagnosis and procedure codes for kidney transplantation. All diagnosis and procedure codes indicative of ESRD and kidney transplantation in Medicare claims are shown in Table A.

After establishing our inclusion criteria, we examined the incidence of ESRD and treatment outcomes between 2007 and 2010. For Medicare beneficiaries, we assessed ESRD rates by year and transplant referral region for the combined years 2007-10. Transplant referral regions (TRR) were constructed by aggregating patient residential ZIP codes into hospital service areas (HSAs), and HSAs into TRRs, after examining patterns of listing for kidney transplantation. Each of the 113 TRRs included at least one transplant center. Centers in the large metropolitan areas were assigned to one "super-provider" TRR.

The numerator for calculating the crude ESRD rates consisted of the number of patients initiating chronic dialysis (two or more encounters separated by three

months) between 2007 and 2010; the denominator consisted of the number of beneficiaries eligible across the same years. ESRD and death rates were adjusted via the indirect method for age, sex, and race using the national standard Medicare population.

CHAPTER 6: PROSTATE CANCER

In this chapter, we examined the rates of PSA testing, prostate cancer incidence, surgical and nonsurgical treatments for prostate cancer, and outcomes following surgical treatment at the HRR level among male Medicare beneficiaries age 65 to 99. We studied all patients with evidence of diagnostic codes for prostate cancer and examined whether they had undergone any of the following treatment options: prostatectomy, radiation therapy, hormone therapy or no treatment/delayed treatment (also identified based on diagnostic and procedure codes). All diagnostic and procedure codes indicative of prostate cancer diagnosis and treatments are shown in Table A.

After establishing our inclusion criteria, we examined the incidence of each diagnosis and procedure between 2007 and 2012. We assessed national rates by year and HRR-level rates for the combined years 2007-12. The numerator for calculating the crude rates consisted of the number of index diagnosis or procedures between 2007 and 2012; the denominator consisted of the number of beneficiaries eligible across the same years. These rates were adjusted via the indirect method for age and race using the national standard Medicare population. Additionally, we examined variation in treatment for beneficiaries age 75 and under and over age 75, black and non-black beneficiaries, and beneficiaries with two or more chronic conditions to show the prevalence of selected treatments by age, race, and comorbidity status. After defining the rates over time, we assessed differences in readmissions following prostatectomy.



Table A. Codes used to identify patients with surgical conditions and surgical procedures

All analyses were performed using SAS (SAS Institute, Cary, NC), and STATA (College Station, TX). To learn more about Dartmouth Atlas methods, please visit www.dartmouthatlas.org.

Codes used to identify patients with type II diabetes and bariatric surgery						
Measure	Codes	Inclusion/exclusion criteria				
Type II diabetes*	ICD-9 diagnosis codes 250, 357.2, 362.0, 366.41, 648.0 CPT visit codes: Outpatient: 92002-92014, 99201-99205, 99211-99215, 99217-99220, 99241-99245, 99341-99345, 99347-99350, 99384-99387, 99394-99397, 99401-99404, 99411, 99412, 99420, 99429, 99455, 99456 Non-acute inpatient: 99304-99310, 99315, 99316, 99318, 99324-99328, 99334-99337 Acute inpatient: 99221-92223, 99231-99233, 99238, 99239, 99251-99255, 99291 Emergency department: 99281-99285 Revenue center codes: Outpatient: 051x, 0520-0523, 0526-0529, 057x-059x, 082x-085x, 088x, 0982, 0983 Non-acute inpatient: 0118, 0128, 0138, 0148, 0158, 019x, 0524, 0525, 055x, 066x Acute inpatient: 010x, 0110-0114, 0119, 0120-0124, 0129, 0130-0134, 0139, 0140-0144, 0149, 0150-0154, 0159, 016x, 020x,021x, 072x, 080x, 0987 Emergency department: 045x, 0981	Beneficiary must be enrolled in Medicare Parts A & B for at least 11 months during the year and at year end. Diabetic diagnosis must be noted in at least two outpatient or one inpatient physician encounter(s).				
Bariatric surgery						
Gastric bypass	ICD-9 procedure codes 44.3, 44.31, 44.38, 44.39 CPT codes 43846, 43847, 43644, 43645, 43844, 43659, S2085	Primary/secondary diagnosis				
Adjustable gastric banding	ICD-9 procedure code 44.95 CPT codes 43770, S2082	of morbid obesity (ICD-9 codes 278.0, 278.00, 278.01, V77.8) and DRG code for				
Other procedure	ICD-9 procedure codes 43.89, 43.82, 44.68, 45.51, 45.9 CPT codes 43842, 43843, 43845, 43775	weight loss surgery (DRG 288: MSDRG 619-621)				
Codes used to identify patients with	cerebral aneurysms and clipping and coiling procedures					
Cerebral aneurysms						
Subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH)	ICD-9 diagnosis code 430.xx	Not in the same index admission as: A. 094.87 (syphilitic aneurysm) B. 437.4 (cerebral arteritis) 437.5 (Moyamoya disease) C. 39.53, 92.30, 747.81 (AVM) D. 800.0-801.9, 803.0-804.9, 850.0-854.1, 873.0-873.9 (traumatic hemorrhage)				
Unruptured cerebral aneurysm	ICD-9 diagnosis code 437.3					
Procedures						
Coiling	ICD-9 procedure codes 39.52 and 88.41 (excluding 39.51 in same hospitalization) 39.72, 39.79					
Clipping	ICD-9 procedure code 39.51					

*2011 Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) definition from the National Committee for Quality Assurance

Codes used to identify patients with type II diabetes and PAD, and vascular surgery							
Measure	Codes	Inclusion/exclusion criteria					
Type II diabetes*	ICD-9 diagnosis codes 250, 357.2, 362.0, 366.41, 648.0 CPT visit codes: Outpatient: 92002-92014, 99201-99205, 99211-99215, 99217-99220, 99241-99245, 99341-99345, 99347-99350, 99384-99387, 99394-99397, 99401-99404, 99411, 99412, 99420, 99429, 99455, 99456 Non-acute inpatient: 99304-99310, 99315, 99316, 99318, 99324-99328, 99334-99337 Acute inpatient: 99221-99223, 99231-99233, 99239, 99231-99255, 99291 Emergency department: 99281-99285 Revenue center codes: Outpatient: 051x, 0520-0523,0526-0529, 057x-059x, 082x-085x, 088x, 0982, 0983 Non-acute inpatient: 0118, 0128, 0138, 0148, 0158, 019x, 0524, 0525, 055x, 066x Acute inpatient: 0118, 0128, 0138, 0148, 0158, 019x, 0524, 0525, 055x, 066x Acute inpatient: 0114, 0119, 0120-0124, 0129, 0130-0134, 0139, 0140-0144, 0149, 0150-0154, 0159, 016x, 020x,021x, 072x, 080x, 0987 Emergency department: 045x, 0981	Beneficiary must be enrolled in Medicare Parts A & B for at least 11 months during the year and at year end. Diabetic diagnosis must be noted in at least two outpatient or one inpatient physician encounter(s).					
Peripheral arterial disease (PAD)	ICD-9 diagnosis codes 429.xx, 440-448xx, 451-454xx, 585, 709.8, 719.47, 727xx, 728xx, 730xx, 731xx, 733xx, 736xx, 821xx, 823xx & 824xx						
Vascular surgery							
Amputation	CPT codes 27590-27592, 27880-27882, 28805						
Endovascular procedure (therapeutic)	CPT codes 35452, 35454, 35472, 35473, 35481, 35482, 35491, 35492, 37205-37208						
Open bypass surgery	CPT codes 35351, 35355, 35361, 35363, 35521, 35537-35541, 35546, 35548, 35549, 35551, 35563, 35565, 35621, 35623, 35637, 35638, 35646, 35647, 35651, 35654, 35661, 35663, 35665						
Codes used to identify dialysis and k	ridney transplants						
Dialysis	CPT codes: Inpatient Part B: 90945, 90947, 90935, 90937 Outpatient: 90935, 90937 Outpatient <2009: G0317, G0318, G0319, G0321, G0322, G0323 Outpatient <2009: 90960, 90961, 90962, 90963, 90964, 90965, 90966 Home health: 99512						
Kidney transplant	ICD-9 code: V42.0 CPT code: 5569						
Codes used to identify patients with	prostate cancer and treatments for prostate cancer						
PSA testing	CPT codes G0103, 84153	Men who had any history of prostate disease (prostate cancer, prostate surgery, or diagnosis of elevated PSA in the prior three years) or who had symptoms in the three months before a PSA test that might have triggered a suspicion of cancer according to diagnostic codes billed on visits and hospitalizations were excluded.					
Prostate cancer	ICD-9 diagnosis code 185						
Treatment							
Prostatectomy	ICD-9 procedures codes 60.3-60.66, 60.69, 60.21, 60.29 CPT codes 55801, 55810, 55812, 55815, 55821, 55831, 55840, 55842, 55845, 55866						
Radiation therapy	ICD-9 procedure codes V58.0, V66.1, V67, 92.20-92.26, 92.28, 92.29 CPT codes 77261-77525, 77750-77799, 54521, 54535, 55859, 55860, 55862, 55865, 55875, 55876, 55920, C1715-C1719, C1728, C2632, C2636, Q3001, 76950, 76965, 76873, 79300, 79440, 79999, 4201F, 4210F, 4165F, 79200, 77014, G0174, G0242, G0243						
Hormone therapy	ICD-9 procedure codes 62.3, 62.4, 62.41, 62.42 CPT codes J1950, J9155, J9202, J9217, J9218, J9219, J9225, J9226, J141, J0128, J0970, J1000, J1056, J1380, J1390, J3315, 54251, 54520, 54522, 54530, 54535, 11980, C9216, C9430, G0356, S0165, S9560, 4164F, 96402 (drug administration code), 11980						
No treatment/delayed treatment	Diagnosis of prostate cancer and no record of prostatectomy, radiation therapy, or hormone therapy						

*2011 Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) definition from the National Committee for Quality Assurance

References

INTRODUCTION

- 1. Wennberg DE, Birkmeyer JD, eds. The Dartmouth Atlas of Cardiovascular Health Care. American Hospital Press, Chicago, IL: 1999.
- Birkmeyer JD, Sharp SM, Finlayson SR, Fisher ES, Wennberg JE. Variation profiles of common surgical procedures. *Surgery*. 1998;124:917-923.
- 3. Endarterectomy for asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis. Executive Committee for the Asymptomatic Carotid Atherosclerosis Study. *JAMA*. 1991;273:1421-1428.
- Wallaert JB, De Martino RR, Finlayson SR, Walsh DB, Corriere MA, Stone DH, Cronenwett JL, Goodney PP. Carotid endarterectomy in asymptomatic patients with limited life expectancy. *Stroke*. 2012;43:1781-1787.
- Goodney PP, Travis LL, Malenka D, Bronner KK, Lucas FL, Cronenwett JL, Goodman DC, Fisher ES. Regional variation in carotid artery stenting and endarterectomy in the Medicare population. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes.* 2010;3:15-24.
- O'Connor GT, Plume SK, Olmstead EM, Coffin LH, Morton JR, Maloney CT, Nowicki ER, Tryzelaar JF, Hernandez F, Adrian L, et al. A regional prospective study of in-hospital mortality associated with coronary artery bypass grafting. The Northern New England Cardiovascular Disease Study Group. *JAMA*. 1991;266:803-809.
- Cronenwett JL, Likosky DS, Russell MT, Eldrup-Jorgensen J, Stanley AC, Nolan BW. A regional registry for quality assurance and improvement: The Vascular Study Group of Northern New England (VSGNNE). J Vasc Surg. 2007;46:1093-1101.
- Khuri SF, Daley J, Henderson W, Hur K, Demakis J, Aust JB, Chong V, Fabri PJ, Gibbs JO, Grover F, Hammermeister K, Irvin G, 3rd, McDonald G, Passaro E, Jr., Phillips L, Scamman F, Spencer J, Stremple JF. The Department of Veterans Affairs' NSQIP: The first national, validated, outcome-based, risk-adjusted, and peer-controlled program for the measurement and enhancement of the quality of surgical care. National VA Surgical Quality Improvement Program. *Annals of Surgery*. 1998;228:491-507.
- Flum DR, Fisher N, Thompson J, Marcus-Smith M, Florence M, Pellegrini CA. Washington state's approach to variability in surgical processes/outcomes: Surgical Clinical Outcomes Assessment Program (SCOAP). Surgery. 2005;138:821-828.

CHAPTER 1: OBESITY

- 1. Adult Obesity Facts. *Overweight and Obesity*. August 16th, 2013; http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/adult. html. Accessed November 12th, 2013.
- Clinical Guidelines on the Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in Adults: The Evidence Report. NHLBI Obesity Education Initiative Expert Panel on the Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Obesity in Adults (US). Bethesda (MD): National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; 1998 Sep.
- Finkelstein EA, Trogdon JG, Cohen JW, Dietz W. Annual medical spending attributable to obesity: Payer-and service-specific estimates. *Health Affairs*. 2009;28(5):w822-w831.
- Hainer V, Toplak H, Mitrakou A. Treatment modalities of obesity: What fits whom? *Diabetes Care.* 2008;31(Supplement 2):S269-S277.
- 5. Tsai AG, Wadden TA. Systematic review: An evaluation of major commercial weight loss programs in the United States. *Ann Intern Med.* Jan 4 2005;142(1):56-66.
- Ritter S, Vetter M, Sarwer D. Lifestyle modifications and surgical options in the treatment of patients with obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Postgraduate Medicine*. 2012;124(4):168-180.
- Li Z, Maglione M, Tu W, et al. Meta-analysis: Pharmacologic treatment of obesity. Ann Intern Med. Apr 5 2005;142(7):532-546.
- 8. Holes-Lewis KA, Malcolm R, O'Neil PM. Pharmacotherapy of obesity. Am J Med Sci. 2013;345(4):284-288.
- 9. Moshiri M, Osman S, Robinson TJ, Khandelwal S, Bhargava P, Rohrmann CA. Evolution of bariatric surgery: A historical perspective. *Am J Roentgenol.* 2013;201(1):W40-W48.
- Buchwald H, Avidor Y, Braunwald E, et al. Bariatric surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. Oct 13 2004;292(14):1724-1737.

- 11. Ferchak CV, Meneghini LF. Obesity, bariatric surgery and type 2 diabetes--A systematic review. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* Nov-Dec 2004;20(6):438-445.
- Shah M, Simha V, Garg A. Review: Long-term impact of bariatric surgery on body weight, comorbidities, and nutritional status. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. Nov 2006;91(11):4223-4231.
- Buchwald H, Estok R, Fahrbach K, et al. Weight and type 2 diabetes after bariatric surgery: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Med.* Mar 2009;122(3):248-256 e245.
- 14. Stacey D, Bennett CL, Barry MJ, et al. Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2011(10):CD001431.
- Knops AM, Legemate DA, Goossens A, Bossuyt PM, Ubbink DT. Decision aids for patients facing a surgical treatment decision: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Surg.* May 2013;257(5):860-866.
- Arterburn DE, Westbrook EO, Bogart TA, Sepucha KR, Bock SN, Weppner WG. Randomized trial of a videobased patient decision aid for bariatric surgery. *Obesity*. Aug 2011;19(8):1669-1675.
- Pope GD, Birkmeyer JD, Finlayson SR. National trends in utilization and in-hospital outcomes of bariatric surgery. J Gastrointest Surg. Nov-Dec 2002;6(6):855-860; discussion 861.
- Trus TL, Pope GD, Finlayson SR. National trends in utilization and outcomes of bariatric surgery. Surg Endosc. May 2005;19(5):616-620.
- Nguyen NT, Masoomi H, Magno CP, Nguyen XM, Laugenour K, Lane J. Trends in use of bariatric surgery, 2003-2008. J Am Coll Surg. Aug 2011;213(2):261-266.
- 20. Santry HP, Gillen DL, Lauderdale DS. Trends in bariatric surgical procedures. *JAMA*. Oct 19 2005;294(15):1909-1917.
- Belachew M, Zimmermann JM. Evolution of a paradigm for laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding. Am J Surg. Dec 2002;184(6B):21S-25S.
- Hinojosa MW, Varela JE, Parikh D, Smith BR, Nguyen X-M, Nguyen NT. National trends in use and outcome of laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding. *Surg Obes Relat Dis.* 2009;5(2):150-155.
- Rubenstein RB. Laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding at a U.S. center with up to 3-year follow-up. Obes Surg. Jun 2002;12(3):380-384.
- Watkins BM, Montgomery KF, Ahroni JH. Laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding: Early experience in 400 consecutive patients in the USA. *Obes Surg.* Jan 2005;15(1):82-87.
- Edwards MA, Grinbaum R, Schneider BE, Walsh A, Ellsmere J, Jones DB. Benchmarking hospital outcomes for laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding. *Surg Endosc.* Nov 2007;21(11):1950-1956.
- National Coverage Determination (NCD) for Bariatric Surgery for Treatment of Morbid Obesity (100.1). Medicare Coverage Database [http://go.cms.gov/1heFT95]. Accessed December 3rd, 2013.
- Himpens J, Cadiere GB, Bazi M, Vouche M, Cadiere B, Dapri G. Long-term outcomes of laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding. *Arch Surg.* Jul 2011;146(7):802-807.
- Spivak H, Abdelmelek MF, Beltran OR, Ng AW, Kitahama S. Long-term outcomes of laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding and laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass in the United States. *Surg Endosc.* Jul 2012;26(7):1909-1919.
- Carlin AM, Zeni TM, English WJ, et al. The comparative effectiveness of sleeve gastrectomy, gastric bypass, and adjustable gastric banding procedures for the treatment of morbid obesity. *Annals of Surgery*. 2013;257(5):791-797.
- 30. Peterli R, Wolnerhanssen B, Peters T, et al. Improvement in glucose metabolism after bariatric surgery: Comparison of laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: A prospective randomized trial. Ann Surg. Aug 2009;250(2):234-241.
- Kehagias I, Karamanakos SN, Argentou M, Kalfarentzos F. Randomized clinical trial of laparoscopic Rouxen-Y gastric bypass versus laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy for the management of patients with BMI < 50 kg/m2. *Obes Surg.* Nov 2011;21(11):1650-1656.
- 32. Lee WJ, Chong K, Ser KH, et al. Gastric bypass vs sleeve gastrectomy for type 2 diabetes mellitus: A randomized controlled trial. Arch Surg. Feb 2011;146(2):143-148.
- 33. Woelnerhanssen B, Peterli R, Steinert RE, Peters T, Borbely Y, Beglinger C. Effects of postbariatric surgery weight loss on adipokines and metabolic parameters: Comparison of laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy--A prospective randomized trial. *Surg Obes Relat Dis.* Sep-Oct 2011;7(5):561-568.
- 34. Helmio M, Victorzon M, Ovaska J, et al. SLEEVEPASS: A randomized prospective multicenter study comparing laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy and gastric bypass in the treatment of morbid obesity: Preliminary results. *Surg Endosc.* Sep 2012;26(9):2521-2526.

- 35. Peterli R, Steinert RE, Woelnerhanssen B, et al. Metabolic and hormonal changes after laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy: A randomized, prospective trial. *Obes Surg.* May 2012;22(5):740-748.
- Schauer PR, Kashyap SR, Wolski K, et al. Bariatric surgery versus intensive medical therapy in obese patients with diabetes. N Engl J Med. Apr 26 2012;366(17):1567-1576.
- Zingmond DS, McGory ML, Ko CY. Hospitalization before and after gastric bypass surgery. JAMA. Oct 19 2005;294(15):1918-1924.
- Flum DR, Dellinger EP. Impact of gastric bypass operation on survival: A population-based analysis. J Am Coll Surg. Oct 2004;199(4):543-551.
- Flum DR, Salem L, Elrod JA, Dellinger EP, Cheadle A, Chan L. Early mortality among Medicare beneficiaries undergoing bariatric surgical procedures. *JAMA*. Oct 19 2005;294(15):1903-1908.
- 40. Liu JH, Zingmond D, Etzioni DA, et al. Characterizing the performance and outcomes of obesity surgery in California. *Am Surg.* Oct 2003;69(10):823-828.
- 41. Nguyen NT, Paya M, Stevens CM, Mavandadi S, Zainabadi K, Wilson SE. The relationship between hospital volume and outcome in bariatric surgery at academic medical centers. *Transactions of the ... Meeting of the American Surgical Association.* 2004;CXXII(&NA;):184-192.
- 42. Champion JK, Pories WJ. Centers of excellence for bariatric surgery. *Surg Obes Relat Dis.* Mar-Apr 2005;1(2):148-151.
- Pratt GM, McLees B, Pories WJ. The ASBS Bariatric surgery centers of excellence program: A blueprint for quality improvement. Surg Obes Relat Dis. Sep-Oct 2006;2(5):497-503; discussion 503.
- 44. Schirmer B, Jones DB. The American College of Surgeons bariatric surgery center network: Establishing standards. Bull Am Coll Surg. Aug 2007;92(8):21-27.
- 45. Livingston EH. Bariatric surgery outcomes at designated centers of excellence vs nondesignated programs. Arch Surg. Apr 2009;144(4):319-325; discussion 325.
- 46. Birkmeyer NJ, Dimick JB, Share D, et al. Hospital complication rates with bariatric surgery in Michigan. *JAMA*. Jul 28 2010;304(4):435-442.
- 47. Nguyen NT, Hohmann S, Slone J, Varela E, Smith BR, Hoyt D. Improved bariatric surgery outcomes for Medicare beneficiaries after implementation of the Medicare national coverage determination. *Arch Surg.* Jan 2010;145(1):72-78.
- Flum DR, Kwon S, MacLeod K, et al. The use, safety and cost of bariatric surgery before and after Medicare's national coverage decision. *Ann Surg.* Dec 2011;254(6):860-865.
- 49. Dimick JB, Nicholas LH, Ryan AM, Thumma JR, Birkmeyer JD. Bariatric surgery complications before vs after implementation of a national policy restricting coverage to centers of excellence. *JAMA*. Feb 27 2013;309(8):792-799.
- Nicholas LH, Dimick JB. Bariatric surgery in minority patients before and after implementation of a centers of excellence program. JAMA. 2013;310(13):1399.
- 51. National Coverage Analysis (NCA) for Bariatric Surgery for the Treatment of Morbid Obesity Facility Certification Requirement (CAG-00250R3). http://go.cms.gov/1diaZd1. Accessed December 16th, 2013.
- 52. Decision Memo for Bariatric Surgery for the Treatment of Morbid Obesity Facility Certification Requirement (CAG-00250R3). http://go.cms.gov/1k9j0Gl. Accessed December 16th, 2013.
- 53. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. http://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/obesity/facts.htm. Accessed June 1, 2014.
- 54. O'Connor GT, Plume SK, Olmstead EM, et al. A regional intervention to improve the hospital mortality associated with coronary artery bypass graft surgery. The Northern New England Cardiovascular Disease Study Group. JAMA. Mar 20 1996;275(11):841-846.
- 55. Ingraham AM, Richards KE, Hall BL, Ko CY. Quality improvement in surgery: The American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program approach. *Adv Surg.* 2010;44:251-267.
- 56. Share DA, Campbell DA, Birkmeyer N, et al. How a regional collaborative of hospitals and physicians in Michigan cut costs and improved the quality of care. *Health Affairs*. Apr 2011;30(4):636-645.
- 57. Guillamondegui OD, Gunter OL, Hines L, et al. Using the national surgical quality improvement program and the Tennessee Surgical Quality Collaborative to improve surgical outcomes. *J Am Coll Surg.* Apr 2012;214(4):709-714; discussion 714-706.
- 58. Birkmeyer NJ, Share D, Baser O, et al. Preoperative placement of inferior vena cava filters and outcomes after gastric bypass surgery. *Ann Surg.* Aug 2010;252(2):313-318.

CHAPTER 2: CEREBRAL ANEURYSMS

- International Study of Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms Investigators. Unruptured intracranial aneurysms
 -risk of rupture and risks of surgical intervention. International Study of Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms
 Investigators. N Engl J Med. 1998;339(24):1725-1733.
- 2. Jellinger K. Pathology of intracerebral hemorrhage. Zentralbl Neurochir. 1977;38(1):29-42.
- Jakubowski J, Kendall B. Coincidental aneurysms with tumours of pituitary origin. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1978;41(11):972-979.
- Rinkel GJ, Djibuti M, Algra A, van Gijn J. Prevalence and risk of rupture of intracranial aneurysms: A systematic review. *Stroke*. 1998;29(1):251-256.
- Nayar VV, Frerichs, K. Day, A.L. Management of Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms. In: Quinones-Hinojasa A, ed. Schmidek & Sweet Operative Neurosurgical Techniques; Indications, Methods, and Results. Vol 1. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier; 2012:812-822.
- Singh H, Bederson JB, Frontera JA. Subarachnoid hemorrhage. In: Frontera JA, ed. *Decision Making in Neurocritical Care*. New York, NY: Thieme; 2009.
- 7. van Gijn J, Kerr RS, Rinkel GJ. Subarachnoid haemorrhage. Lancet. 2007;369(9558):306-318.
- UCAS Japan Investigators, Morita A, Kirino T, et al. The natural course of unruptured cerebral aneurysms in a Japanese cohort. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(26):2474-2482.
- Wiebers DO, Whisnant JP, Huston Jr, et al. Unruptured intracranial aneurysms: Natural history, clinical outcome, and risks of surgical and endovascular treatment. *Lancet.* 2003;362(9378):103-110.
- Feigin VL, Lawes CM, Bennett DA, Anderson CS. Stroke epidemiology: A review of population-based studies of incidence, prevalence, and case-fatality in the late 20th century. *Lancet Neurol.* 2003;2(1):43-53.
- Molyneux A, Kerr R, Stratton I, et al. International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) of neurosurgical clipping versus endovascular coiling in 2143 patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms: A randomised trial. *Lancet*. 2002;360(9342):1267-1274.
- 12. Molyneux AJ, Kerr RS, Birks J, et al. Risk of recurrent subarachnoid haemorrhage, death, or dependence and standardised mortality ratios after clipping or coiling of an intracranial aneurysm in the International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT): Long-term follow-up. *Lancet Neurol.* 2009;8(5):427-433.
- Greving JP, Wermer MJ, Brown RDJ, et al. Development of the PHASES score for prediction of risk of rupture of intracranial aneurysms: A pooled analysis of six prospective cohort studies. *Lancet Neurol.* 2014;13(1):59-66.
- Knekt P, Reunanen A, Aho K, et al. Risk factors for subarachnoid hemorrhage in a longitudinal population study. J Clin Epidemiol. 1991;44(9):933-999.
- Korja M, Lehto H, Juvela S. Lifelong rupture risk of intracranial aneurysms depends on risk factors: A prospective Finnish cohort study. *Stroke*. 2014;45(7):1958-1963.
- Korja M, Silventoinen K, Laatikainen T, et al. Risk factors and their combined effects on the incidence rate of subarachnoid hemorrhage--a population-based cohort study. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(9):e73760.
- Sandvei MS, Romundstad PR, Müller TB, Vatten L, Vik A. Risk factors for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage in a prospective population study: The HUNT study in Norway. *Stroke*. 2009;40(6):1958-1962.
- Juvela S, Poussa K, Lehto H, Porras M. Natural history of unruptured intracranial aneurysms: A long-term follow-up study. *Stroke.* 2013;44(9):2414-2421.
- Chang TR, Kowalski RG, Caserta F, Carhuapoma JR, Tamargo RJ, Naval NS. Impact of acute cocaine use on aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke*. 2013;44(7):1825-1829.
- Gross BA, Frerichs KU. Stent usage in the treatment of intracranial aneurysms: Past, present and future. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2013;84(3):244-253.
- 21. Nichols DA, Brown RDJ, Meyer FB. Coils or clips in subarachnoid haemorrhage? *Lancet*. 2002;360(9342):1262-1263.
- Smith GA, Dagostino P, Maltenfort MG, Dumont AS, Ratliff JK. Geographic variation and regional trends in adoption of endovascular techniques for cerebral aneurysms. *J Neurosurg.* 2011;114(6):1768-1777.
- 23. Brinjikji W, Rabinstein AA, Lanzino G, Kallmes DF, Cloft HJ. Patient outcomes are better for unruptured cerebral aneurysms treated at centers that preferentially treat with endovascular coiling: A study of the national inpatient sample 2001-2007. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2011;32(6):1065-1070.
- 24. Brinjikji W, Rabinstein AA, Nasr DM, Lanzino G, Kallmes DF, Cloft HJ. Better outcomes with treatment by coiling relative to clipping of unruptured intracranial aneurysms in the United States, 2001-2008. AJNRAm J Neuroradiol. 2011;32(6):1071-1075.

- 25. Bekelis K, Missios S, MacKenzie TA, et al. Predicting inpatient complications from cerebral aneurysm clipping: The Nationwide Inpatient Sample 2005-2009. *J Neurosurg.* 2014;120(3):591-598.
- 26. Bekelis K, Missios S, Mackenzie TA, Fischer A, Labropoulos N, Eskey C. A predictive model of outcomes during cerebral aneurysm coiling. *J Neurointerv Surg.* 2014;6(5):342-348.
- 27. Bekelis K, Missios S, Labropoulos N. Regional and socioeconomic disparities in the treatment of unruptured cerebral aneurysms in the USA: 2000-2010. *J Neurointerv Surg.* 2013;[Epub ahead of print].
- 28. McDougall CG, Spetzler RF, Zabramski JM, et al. The Barrow Ruptured Aneurysm Trial. *J Neurosurg.* 2012;116(1):135-144.
- 29. Fisher ES, McClellan MB, Safran DG. Building the path to accountable care. *N Engl J Med.* 2011;365(26):2445-2447.
- 30. Bekelis K, Missios S, Labropoulos N. Cerebral aneurysm coiling: A predictive model of hospitalization cost. *J Neurointerv Surg.* 2014;[Epub ahead of print].
- 31. Bekelis K, Missios S, MacKenzie TA, Labropoulos N, Roberts DW. A predictive model of hospitalization cost after cerebral aneurysm clipping. *PLOS ONE*. 2014;in press.
- 32. The National Neurosurgery Quality and Outcomes Database (N²QOD). 2014; http://www.neuropoint.org/ NPA N2QOD.html. Accessed July 1, 2014.
- 33. NeuroPoint Alliance. 2014. Accessed July 1, 2014; http://www.neuropoint.org/.

CHAPTER 3: DIABETES AND PERIPHERAL ARTERY DISEASE

- 1. Kucharska E. Diabetes type 2--criteria concerning the recognition and prevention, as well as therapeutic targets in the light of research results and guidelines formulated by the American Diabetes Association in 2012. *Przeglad lekarski.* 2013;70:404-406.
- 2. American College of Cardiology Foundation(ACCF); American College of Radiology(ACR); American Institute of Ultrasound in Medicine(AlUM); American Society of Echocardiography(ASE); American Society of Nephrology(ASN); Intersocietal Commission for the Accreditation of Vascular Laboratories(ICAVL); Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions(SCAI); Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography(SCCT); Society for Interventional Radiology(SIR); Society for Vascular Medicine(SVM); Society for Vascular Surgery(SVS); American Academy of Neurology; American Podiatric Medical Association; Society for Clinical Vascular Surgery; Society for Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance; Society for Vascular Ultrasound; Peripheral Vascular Ultrasound, Mohler ER 3rd, Gornik HL, Gerhard-Herman M, Misra S, Olin JW, Zierler E. ACCF/AHA/ACR/SCAI/SIR/SVM/SVN/SVS 2010 performance measures for adults with peripheral artery disease. A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Performance Measures, the American College of Radiology, the Society for Cardiac Angiography and Interventions, the Society for Interventional Radiology, the Society for Vascular Medicine, the Society for Vascular Nursing, and the Society for Vascular Surgery (writing committee to develop clinical performance measures for peripheral artery disease). Developed in collaboration with the American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation; the American Diabetes Association; the Society for Atherosclerosis Imaging and Prevention; the Society for Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance; the Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography; and the PAD Coalition. Endorsed by the American Academy of Podiatric Practice Management. J Vasc Surg. 2010;52:1616-1652.
- 3. Hirsch AT, Haskal ZJ, Hertzer NR, Bakal CW, Creager MA, Halperin JL, Hiratzka LF, Murphy WR, Olin JW, Puschett JB, Rosenfield KA, Sacks D, Stanley JC, Taylor LM Jr, White CJ, White J, White RA, Antman EM, Smith SC Jr, Adams CD, Anderson JL, Faxon DP, Fuster V, Gibbons RJ, Hunt SA, Jacobs AK, Nishimura R, Ornato JP, Page RL, Riegel B; American Association for Vascular Surgery/Society for Vascular Surgery; Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions; Society for Vascular Medicine and Biology; Society of Interventional Radiology; ACC/AHA Task Force on Practice Guidelines. ACC/AHA Guidelines for the Management of Patients with Peripheral Arterial Disease (lower extremity, renal, mesenteric, and abdominal aortic): a collaborative report from the American Associations for Vascular Surgery/Society for Vascular Medicine and Biology, Society of Interventional Radiology, and the ACC/AHA Task Force on Practice Guidelines (writing committee to develop guidelines for the management of patients with peripheral atterial Disease) -summary of recommendations. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2006;17:1383-1397; quiz 1398.
- 4. Hirsch AT, Haskal ZJ, Hertzer NR, Bakal CW, Creager MA, Halperin JL, Hiratzka LF, Murphy WR, Olin JW, Puschett JB, Rosenfield KA, Sacks D, Stanley JC, Taylor LM Jr, White CJ, White J, White RA, Antman EM, Smith SC Jr, Adams CD, Anderson JL, Faxon DP, Fuster V, Gibbons RJ, Hunt SA, Jacobs AK, Nishimura R, Ornato JP, Page RL, Riegel B; American Association for Vascular Surgery; Society for Vascular Angiography and Interventions; Society for Vascular Medicine and Biology; Society of Interventional Radiology; ACC/AHA Task Force on Practice Guidelines Writing Committee to Develop Guidelines for the Management of Patients With Peripheral Arterial Disease; American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; Society for

Vascular Nursing; TransAtlantic Inter-Society Consensus; Vascular Disease Foundation. ACC/AHA 2005 Practice guidelines for the management of patients with peripheral arterial disease (lower extremity, renal, mesenteric, and abdominal aortic): a collaborative report from the American Association for Vascular Surgery/Society for Vascular Surgery, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society for Vascular Medicine and Biology, Society of Interventional Radiology, and the ACC/AHA Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Develop Guidelines for the Management of Patients With Peripheral Arterial Disease): endorsed by the American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; Society for Vascular Nursing; TransAtlantic Inter-Society Consensus; and Vascular Disease Foundation. *Circulation*. 2006;113:e463-654.

- Belch JJ, Topol EJ, Agnelli G, Bertrand M, Califf RM, Clement DL, Creager MA, Easton JD, Gavin JR, 3rd, Greenland P, Hankey G, Hanrath P, Hirsch AT, Meyer J, Smith SC, Sullivan F, Weber MA, Prevention of atherothrombotic disease N. Critical issues in peripheral arterial disease detection and management: A call to action. *Arch Intern Med.* 2003;163:884-892.
- Sumpio BE, Armstrong DG, Lavery LA, Andros G; SVS/APMA writing group. The role of interdisciplinary team approach in the management of the diabetic foot: a joint statement from the Society for Vascular Surgery and the American Podiatric Medical Association. J Vasc Surg. 2010;51:1504-1506.
- Goldberg JB, Goodney PP, Cronenwett JL, Baker F. The effect of risk and race on lower extremity amputations among Medicare diabetic patients. J Vasc Surg. 2012;56:1663-1668.
- Wallaert JB, Nolan BW, Adams J, Stanley AC, Eldrup-Jorgensen J, Cronenwett JL, Goodney PP. The impact of diabetes on postoperative outcomes following lower-extremity bypass surgery. J Vasc Surg. 2012;56:1317-1323.
- Goodney PP. Using risk models to improve patient selection for high-risk vascular surgery. *Scientifica*. 2012;2012:132370.
- Goodney PP, Holman K, Henke PK, Travis LL, Dimick JB, Stukel TA, Fisher ES, Birkmeyer JD. Regional intensity of vascular care and lower extremity amputation rates. *J Vasc Surg.* 2013;57:1471-1479; discussion 1479-1480.
- Goodney PP, Travis LL, Nallamothu BK, Holman K, Suckow B, Henke PK, Lucas FL, Goodman DC, Birkmeyer JD, Fisher ES. Variation in the use of lower extremity vascular procedures for critical limb ischemia. *Circulation. Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes*. 2012;5:94-102.
- Goodney PP, Beck AW, Nagle J, Welch HG, Zwolak RM. National trends in lower extremity bypass surgery, endovascular interventions, and major amputations. J Vasc Surg. 2009;50:54-60.
- McCraw WM, Kelley PW, Righero AM, Latimer R. Improving compliance with diabetes clinical practice guidelines in military medical treatment facilities. *Nursing Research*. 2010;59:S66-74.
- Fleming B, Silver A, Ocepek-Welikson K, Keller D. The relationship between organizational systems and clinical quality in diabetes care. Am J Manag Care. 2004;10:934-944.
- 15. Smith JJ. NCQA/HEDIS guidelines for diabetes. Managed Care. 2001;10:3-5.
- AMA, JCAHO, NCQA release. Common measures for diabetes care. Healthcare Leadership & Management Report. 2001;9:15-16.
- 17. Forbes JF, Adam DJ, Bell J, Fowkes FG, Gillespie I, Raab GM, Ruckley CV, Bradbury AW; BASIL trial Participants. Bypass versus angioplasty in severe ischaemia of the leg (BASIL) trial: Health-related quality of life outcomes, resource utilization, and cost-effectiveness analysis. *J Vasc Surg.* 2010;51:43S-51S.
- Bradbury AW; BASIL Trial Investigators and Participants. Bypass versus angioplasty in severe ischaemia of the leg (BASIL) trial in perspective. J Vasc Surg. 2010;51:1S-4S.
- Goodney PP, Travis LL, Brooke BS, DeMartino RR, Goodman DC, Fisher ES, Birkmeyer JD. Relationship between regional spending on vascular care and amputation rate. *JAMA Surgery*. 2014;149:34-42.
- 20. Taylor SM, York JW, Cull DL, Kalbaugh CA, Cass AL, Langan EM, 3rd. Clinical success using patientoriented outcome measures after lower extremity bypass and endovascular intervention for ischemic tissue loss. J Vasc Surg. 2009;50:534-541; discussion 541.
- Taylor SM, Kalbaugh CA, Blackhurst DW, Cass AL, Trent EA, Langan EM, 3rd, Youkey JR. Determinants of functional outcome after revascularization for critical limb ischemia: An analysis of 1000 consecutive vascular interventions. J Vasc Surg. 2006;44:747-755; discussion 755-746.
- Goodney PP, Likosky DS, Cronenwett JL; Vascular Study Group of Northern New England. Predicting ambulation status one year after lower extremity bypass. J Vasc Surg. 2009;49:1431-1439.
- 23. Simons JP, Goodney PP, Nolan BW, Cronenwett JL, Messina LM, Schanzer A; Vascular Study Group of Northern New England. Failure to achieve clinical improvement despite graft patency in patients undergoing infrainguinal lower extremity bypass for critical limb ischemia. J Vasc Surg. 2010;51:1419-1424.

CHAPTER 4: SPINAL STENOSIS

- 1. Deyo RA, Phillips WR. Low back pain. A primary care challenge. Spine. 1996 Dec 15;21(24):2826-32.
- Biering-Sørensen F. A prospective study of low back pain in a general population. III. Medical service--work consequence. Scand J Rehabil Med. 1983;15(2):89-96.
- Frymoyer JW, Pope MH, Clements JH, Wilder DG, MacPherson B, Ashikaga T. Risk factors in low-back pain. An epidemiological survey. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1983 Feb;65(2):213-8.
- Deyo RA, Mirza SK, Martin BI. Back pain prevalence and visit rates: estimates from U.S. national surveys, 2002. Spine. 2006 Nov 1;31(23):2724-7.
- Lawrence RC, Felson DT, Helmick CG, Arnold LM, Choi H, Deyo RA, Gabriel S, Hirsch R, Hochberg MC, Hunder GG, Jordan JM, Katz JN, Kremers HM, Wolfe F; National Arthritis Data Workgroup. Estimates of the prevalence of arthritis and other rheumatic conditions in the United States. Part II. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2008 Jan;58(1):26-35.
- Hart LG, Deyo RA, Cherkin DC. Physician office visits for low back pain. Frequency, clinical evaluation, and treatment patterns from a U.S. national survey. *Spine*. 1995 Jan 1;20(1):11-9.
- 7. Deyo RA, Cherkin D, Conrad D, Volinn E. Cost, controversy, crisis: low back pain and the health of the public. *Annu Rev Public Health.* 1991;12:141-56.
- Deyo RA, Tsui-Wu YJ. Descriptive epidemiology of low-back pain and its related medical care in the United States. Spine. 1987 Apr;12(3):264-8.
- 9. Martin BI, Deyo RA, Mirza SK, Turner JA, Comstock BA, Hollingworth W, Sullivan SD. Expenditures and health status among adults with back and neck problems. *JAMA*. 2008 Feb 13;299(6):656-64.
- 10. Is the growth in spine procedures in the United States finally beginning to tail off? *The Back Letter.* 2012 Aug;27(8):85-93.
- Freburger JK, Holmes GM, Agans RP, Jackman AM, Darter JD, Wallace AS, Castel LD, Kalsbeek WD, Carey TS. The rising prevalence of chronic low back pain. *Arch Intern Med.* 2009 Feb 9;169(3):251-8.
- 12. Martin LG, Freedman VA, Schoeni RF, Andreski PM. Trends in disability and related chronic conditions among people ages fifty to sixty-four. *Health Affairs*. 2010 Apr;29(4):725-31.
- Weinstein JN, Lurie JD, Olson PR, Bronner KK, Fisher ES. United States' trends and regional variations in lumbar spine surgery: 1992-2003. Spine. 2006 Nov 1;31(23):2707-14.
- 14. Schoenfeld AJ, Harris MB, Liu H, Birkmeyer JD. Variations in Medicare payments for episodes of spine surgery. *Spine* J. 2014 Jul 11. [Epub ahead of print]
- 15. Johnsson KE, Rosén I, Udén A. The natural course of lumbar spinal stenosis. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1992 Jun;(279):82-6.
- Kalichman L, Cole R, Kim DH, Li L, Suri P, Guermazi A, Hunter DJ. Spinal stenosis prevalence and association with symptoms: the Framingham Study. *Spine* J. 2009 Jul;9(7):545-50.
- Mamisch N, Brumann M, Hodler J, Held U, Brunner F, Steurer J; Lumbar Spinal Stenosis Outcome Study Working Group Zurich. Radiologic criteria for the diagnosis of spinal stenosis: results of a Delphi survey. *Radiology*. 2012 Jul;264(1):174-9.
- Suri P, Rainville J, Kalichman L, Katz JN. Does this older adult with lower extremity pain have the clinical syndrome of lumbar spinal stenosis? *JAMA*. 2010 Dec 15;304(23):2628-36.
- Steurer J, Roner S, Gnannt R, Hodler J; LumbSten Research Collaboration. Quantitative radiologic criteria for the diagnosis of lumbar spinal stenosis: a systematic literature review. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2011 Jul 28;12:175.
- Haig AJ. Correlation between disability and MRI findings in lumbar spinal stenosis. Acta Orthop. 2011 Oct;82(5):637; author reply 637-8.
- 21. Haig AJ, Tong HC, Yamakawa KS, Quint DJ, Hoff JT, Chiodo A, Miner JA, Choksi VR, Geisser ME, Parres CM. Spinal stenosis, back pain, or no symptoms at all? A masked study comparing radiologic and electrodiagnostic diagnoses to the clinical impression. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2006 Jul;87(7):897-903.
- 22. Geisser ME, Haig AJ, Tong HC, Yamakawa KS, Quint DJ, Hoff JT, Miner JA, Phalke VV. Spinal canal size and clinical symptoms among persons diagnosed with lumbar spinal stenosis. *Clin J Pain*. 2007 Nov-Dec;23(9):780-5.
- Jarvik JJ, Hollingworth W, Heagerty P, Haynor DR, Deyo RA. The Longitudinal Assessment of Imaging and Disability of the Back (LAIDBack) Study: baseline data. Spine. 2001 May 15;26(10):1158-66.
- 24. Boden SD, McCowin PR, Davis DO, Dina TS, Mark AS, Wiesel S. Abnormal magnetic-resonance scans of the cervical spine in asymptomatic subjects. A prospective investigation. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1990 Sep;72(8):1178-84.

- Deyo RA, Mirza SK, Turner JA, Martin BI. Overtreating chronic back pain: time to back off? JAm Board Fam Med. 2009 Jan-Feb;22(1):62-8.
- 26. Chou R, Huffman LH; American Pain Society; American College of Physicians. Medications for acute and chronic low back pain: a review of the evidence for an American Pain Society/American College of Physicians clinical practice guideline. Ann Intern Med. 2007 Oct 2;147(7):505-14.
- Chan AT, Manson JE, Albert CM, Chae CU, Rexrode KM, Curhan GC, Rimm EB, Willett WC, Fuchs CS. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, acetaminophen, and the risk of cardiovascular events. *Circulation*. 2006 Mar 28;113(12):1578-87.
- Kuijpers T, van Middelkoop M, Rubinstein SM, Ostelo R, Verhagen A, Koes BW, van Tulder MW. A systematic review on the effectiveness of pharmacological interventions for chronic non-specific low-back pain. *Eur Spine J.* 2011 Jan;20(1):40-50.
- Dersh J, Mayer TG, Gatchel RJ, Polatin PB, Theodore BR, Mayer EA. Prescription opioid dependence is associated with poorer outcomes in disabling spinal disorders. *Spine*. 2008 Sep 15;33(20):2219-27.
- Doverty M, White JM, Somogyi AA, Bochner F, Ali R, Ling W. Hyperalgesic responses in methadone maintenance patients. *Pain*. 2001 Feb 1;90(1-2):91-6.
- Chu LF, Clark DJ, Angst MS. Opioid tolerance and hyperalgesia in chronic pain patients after one month of oral morphine therapy: a preliminary prospective study. J Pain. 2006 Jan;7(1):43-8.
- McDonald DC, Carlson K, Izrael D. Geographic variation in opioid prescribing in the U.S. J Pain. 2012 Oct;13(10):988-96.
- Eriksen J, Sjøgren P, Bruera E, Ekholm O, Rasmussen NK. Critical issues on opioids in chronic non-cancer pain: an epidemiological study. *Pain.* 2006 Nov;125(1-2):172-9.
- 34. Chaparro LE, Furlan AD, Deshpande A, Mailis-Gagnon A, Atlas S, Turk DC. Opioids compared with placebo or other treatments for chronic low back pain: an update of the Cochrane Review. *Spine*. 2014 Apr 1;39(7):556-63.
- Sullivan MD, Edlund MJ, Steffick D, Unützer J. Regular use of prescribed opioids: association with common psychiatric disorders. *Pain.* 2005 Dec 15;119(1-3):95-103.
- 36. Chou R, Fanciullo GJ, Fine PG, et al.; for the American Pain Society and American Academy of Pain Medicine Opioid Guidelines Panel. Clinical guidelines for the use of chronic opioid therapy in chronic noncancer pain. *J Pain*. 2009;10(2):113–130.
- 37. Parker SL, Godil SS, Mendenhall SK, Zuckerman SL, Shau DN, McGirt MJ. Two-year comprehensive medical management of degenerative lumbar spine disease (lumbar spondylolisthesis, stenosis, or disc herniation): a value analysis of cost, pain, disability, and quality of life. J Neurosurg Spine. 2014 Aug;21(2):143-9.
- Scientific approach to the assessment and management of activity-related spinal disorders. A monograph for clinicians. Report of the Quebec Task Force on Spinal Disorders. Spine. 1987 Sep;12(7 Suppl):S1-59.
- Ammendolia C, Stuber K, de Bruin LK, Furlan AD, Kennedy CA, Rampersaud YR, Steenstra IA, Pennick V. Nonoperative treatment of lumbar spinal stenosis with neurogenic claudication: a systematic review. *Spine.* 2012 May 1;37(10):E609-16.
- Weinstein JN, Tosteson TD, Lurie JD, Tosteson AN, Blood E, Hanscom B, Herkowitz H, Cammisa F, Albert T, Boden SD, Hilibrand A, Goldberg H, Berven S, An H; SPORT Investigators. Surgical versus nonsurgical therapy for lumbar spinal stenosis. *N Engl J Med.* 2008 Feb 21;358(8):794-810.
- Friedly J, Chan L, Deyo R. Increases in lumbosacral injections in the Medicare population: 1994 to 2001. Spine. 2007 Jul 15;32(16):1754-60.
- Friedly J, Chan L, Deyo R.Geographic variation in epidural steroid injection use in Medicare patients. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2008 Aug;90(8):1730-7.

CHAPTER 5: END-STAGE RENAL DISEASE

- 1. Murray JE, Boston Medical Library. *Surgery of the soul: Reflections on a curious career.* 1st ed. Canton, MA: Published for the Boston Medical Library by Science History Publications; 2001.
- 2. Medawar PB. The immunology of transplantation. Harvey Lectures. 1956 (Series 52):144-176.
- Wolfe RA, Ashby VB, Milford EL, et al. Comparison of mortality in all patients on dialysis, patients on dialysis awaiting transplantation, and recipients of a first cadaveric transplant. N Engl J Med. Dec 2 1999;341(23):1725-1730.
- Freeman RB. Liver Allocation. In: Neuberger J FJ, Newsome P. N., ed. Liver Transplantation: Clinical Assessment and Management: Wiley-Blackwell; 2013.

- USRDS 2013 Annual Data Report: Atlas of End-Stage Renal Disease in the United States. National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases; 2013.
- Schnitzler MA, Whiting JF, Brennan DC, et al. The life-years saved by a deceased organ donor. Am J Transplant. Sep 2005;5(9):2289-2296.
- Brescia MJ, Cimino JE, Appel K, Hurwich BJ. Chronic hemodialysis using venipuncture and a surgically created arteriovenous fistula. N Engl J Med. Nov 17 1966;275(20):1089-1092.
- 8. Lok CE. Fistula first initiative: advantages and pitfalls. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. Sep 2007;2(5):1043-1053.
- Berenholtz SM, Pronovost PJ, Lipsett PA, et al. Eliminating catheter-related bloodstream infections in the intensive care unit. *Crit Care Med.* Oct 2004;32(10):2014-2020.
- Dhingra RK, Young EW, Hulbert-Shearon TE, Leavey SF, Port FK. Type of vascular access and mortality in U.S. hemodialysis patients. *Kidney Int.* Oct 2001;60(4):1443-1451.
- 11. Moist LM, Trpeski L, Na Y, Lok CE. Increased hemodialysis catheter use in Canada and associated mortality risk: data from the Canadian Organ Replacement Registry 2001-2004. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* Nov 2008;3(6):1726-1732.
- Fistula First Outcomes Dashboard. Version1.4: http://www.esrdncc.org/index/cms-filesystem-action/ fistulafirst2012. Accessed October 24, 2014.
- 13. KDIGO Clinical Practice Guideline for Acute Kidney Injury. *Kidney Int.* 2012;2(Suppl 1).
- Axelrod DA, Lentine KL, Xiao H, et al. Accountability for end-stage organ care: implications of geographic variation in access to kidney transplantation. *Surgery*. May 2014;155(5):734-742.
- Smart NA, Dieberg G, Ladhani M, Titus T. Early referral to specialist nephrology services for preventing the progression to end-stage kidney disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2014;6:CD007333.
- 16. Zarkowsky DS, Schneider E, Qazi U, Perler BP, Freischlag JA, Malas MB. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Incident Hemodialysis Access Types: Analysis of the United States Renal Data System. Podium presentation at New England Society for Vascular Surgery; September 28th, 2013; Stowe, VT.
- Kallab S, Bassil N, Esposito L, Cardeau-Desangles I, Rostaing L, Kamar N. Indications for and barriers to preemptive kidney transplantation: a review. *Transplant Proc.* Apr 2010;42(3):782-784.
- Ojo AO, Wolfe RA, Leichtman AB, Dickinson DM, Port FK, Young EW. A practical approach to evaluate the potential donor pool and trends in cadaveric kidney donation. *Transplantation*. Feb 27 1999;67(4):548-556.
- Axelrod DA, McCullough KP, Brewer ED, Becker BN, Segev DL, Rao PS. Kidney and pancreas transplantation in the United States, 1999-2008: the changing face of living donation. *Am J Transplant*. Apr 2010;10(4 Pt 2):987-1002.
- Segev DL, Gentry SE, Warren DS, Reeb B, Montgomery RA. Kidney paired donation and optimizing the use of live donor organs. JAMA. Apr 20 2005;293(15):1883-1890.
- Gentry SE, Montgomery RA, Segev DL. Controversies in kidney paired donation. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. Jul 2012;19(4):257-261.
- 22. University of Alabama. Celebrating the nation's longest kidney chain. 2014; http://www.uab.edu/ kidneychain/. Accessed August 19, 2014.
- 23. Malas MB, Hicks CW, Arhuidese IJ, Zarkowsky DS, Qazi U, Schneider EB, Black JH, Segev D, Freischlag JA. Decades after, incident fistulae fall short of recommendations; a current policy concern. *JAMA Surgery.* (accepted, pending publication) 2014.
- 24. Zarkowsky DS, Arhuidese IJ, Schneider E, Qazi U, Black JH, Freischlag JA, Malas MB. Arteriovenous Fistula Cannulation Rate at Index Hemodialysis Increased Over the First Five Years of the Fistula First Breakthrough Initiative. Podium presentation at Society for Clinical Vascular Surgery; March 20, 2014; La Costa Hotel, Carlsbad, CA.
- 25. Original Medicare (Part A and B) Eligibility and Enrollment. http://www.cms.gov/ Medicare/Eligibility-and-Enrollment/OrigMedicarePartABEligEnrol/index.html?redirect=/ origmedicarepartabeligenrol/01_overview.asp. Accessed August 11, 2014.
- 26. DI 11052.001 Initial End-Stage Renal Disease Medicare Cases. Program Operations Manual System: Social Security Administration; 2011.
- 27. Kimball TA, Barz K, Dimond KR, Edwards JM, Nehler MR. Efficiency of the kidney disease outcomes quality initiative guidelines for preemptive vascular access in an academic setting. *J Vasc Surg.* Sep 2011;54(3):760-765; discussion 765-766.
- Solid CA, Carlin C. Timing of arteriovenous fistula placement and Medicare costs during dialysis initiation. *Am J Nephrol.* 2012;35(6):498-508.

- Buchanan PM, Lentine KL, Burroughs TE, Schnitzler MA, Salvalaggio PR. Association of lower costs of pulsatile machine perfusion in renal transplantation from expanded criteria donors. *Am J Transplant.* Nov 2008;8(11):2391-2401.
- 30. Axelrod DA SM, Freeman R. Organ Specific Benefits of Transplantation: Outcomes and Economics. In: Kirk AD KS, Larsen CP, Madsen JC, Pearson TC, Webber SA, ed. *Textbook of Organ Transplantation*. Oxford, UK: John Wiley & Sons; 2014.
- Lee SH, Oh CK, Shin GT, Kim H, Kim SJ, Kim SI. Age matching improves graft survival after living donor kidney transplantation. *Transplant Proc.* Mar 2014;46(2):449-453.
- 32. United States Organ Transplantation OPTN & SRTR Annual Data Report. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration: 2013 edition.
- Katari R, Peloso A, Zambon JP, et al. Renal bioengineering with scaffolds generated from human kidneys. Nephron Exp Nephrol. 2014;126(2):119.
- Figliuzzi M, Remuzzi G, Remuzzi A. Renal bioengineering with scaffolds generated from rat and pig kidneys. Nephron Exp Nephrol. 2014;126(2):113.
- Manson RJ, Unger JM, Ali A, Gage SM, Lawson JH. Tissue-engineered vascular grafts: autologous off-theshelf vascular access? *Semin Nephrol.* Nov 2012;32(6):582-591.
- 36. Fissell WH, Roy S, Davenport A. Achieving more frequent and longer dialysis for the majority: wearable dialysis and implantable artificial kidney devices. *Kidney Int.* Aug 2013;84(2):256-264.

CHAPTER 6: PROSTATE CANCER

- SEER Stat Fact Sheets: Prostate Cancer. Accessed March 7, 2014 at http://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/ prost.html.
- Schröder FH1, Hugosson J, Roobol MJ, Tammela TL, Ciatto S, Nelen V, Kwiatkowski M, Lujan M, Lilja H, Zappa M, Denis LJ, Recker F, Páez A, Määttänen L, Bangma CH, Aus G, Carlsson S, Villers A, Rebillard X, van der Kwast T, Kujala PM, Blijenberg BG, Stenman UH, Huber A, Taari K, Hakama M, Moss SM, de Koning HJ, Auvinen A; ERSPC Investigators. Prostate-cancer mortality at 11 years of follow-up. *N Engl J Med*. 2012 Mar 15;366(11):981-90.
- Etzioni R, Tsodikov A, Mariotto A, Szabo A, Falcon S, Wegelin J, DiTommaso D, Karnofski K, Gulati R, Penson DF, Feuer E. Quantifying the role of PSA screening in the US prostate cancer mortality decline. *Cancer Causes Control.* 2008 Mar;19(2):175-81.
- Etzioni R1, Gulati R, Tsodikov A, Wever EM, Penson DF, Heijnsdijk EA, Katcher J, Draisma G, Feuer EJ, de Koning HJ, Mariotto AB. The prostate cancer conundrum revisited: Treatment changes and prostate cancer mortality declines. *Cancer*. 2012 Dec 1;118(23):5955-63.
- Draisma G, Etzioni R, Tsodikov A, Mariotto A, Wever E, Gulati R, Feuer E, de Koning H. Lead time and overdiagnosis in prostate-specific antigen screening: importance of methods and context. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2009 Mar 18;101(6):374-83.
- Andriole GL1, Crawford ED, Grubb RL 3rd, Buys SS, Chia D, Church TR, Fouad MN, Isaacs C, Kvale PA, Reding DJ, Weissfeld JL, Yokochi LA, O'Brien B, Ragard LR, Clapp JD, Rathmell JM, Riley TL, Hsing AW, Izmirlian G, Pinsky PF, Kramer BS, Miller AB, Gohagan JK, Prorok PC; PLCO Project Team. Prostate cancer screening in the randomized Prostate, Lung, Colorectal, and Ovarian Cancer Screening Trial: mortality results after 13 years of follow-up. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2012;104(2):125-32.
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for Prostate Cancer: Current Recommendation. Accessed September 11, 2014 at http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/prostatecancerscreening.htm.
- American Urological Association. Early Detection of Prostate Cancer: AUA Guideline. Accessed September 11, 2014 at https://www.auanet.org/education/guidelines/prostate-cancer-detection.cfm.
- Hayes JH, Barry MJ. Screening for prostate cancer with the prostate-specific antigen test: a review of current evidence. JAMA. 2014 19;311(11):1143-9.
- Drazer MW, Prasad SM, Huo D et al. National trends in prostate cancer screening among older American men with limited 9-year life expectancies: Evidence of an increased need for shared decision making. *Cancer.* 2014 May 15;120(10):1491-8.
- Jaramillo E, Tan A, Yang L et al. Research letter: Variation among primary care physicians in prostatespecific antigen screening of older men. JAMA. 2013;310(15):1622-24.
- 12. Bynum J, Song Y, Fisher E. Variation in prostate-specific antigen screening in men aged 80 and older in fee-for-service Medicare. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2010 Apr;58(4):674-80.
- So C, Kirby KA, Mehta K et al. Medical center characteristics associated with PSA screening in elderly veterans with limited life expectancy. J Gen Intern Med. 2011;27(6):653-60.

- Cooperberg MR, Carroll PR, Klotz L. Active surveillance for prostate cancer: Progress and promise. J Clin Oncol. 2011 Sep 20;29(27):3669-76.
- 15. Klotz L. Active surveillance for favorable risk prostate cancer. Pro. J Urol. 2009 Dec;182(6):2565-6.
- Cooperberg MR, Broering JM, Carroll PR. Time trends and local variation in primary treatment of localized prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010 Mar 1;28(7):1117-23.
- Jacobs BL, Zhang Y, Schroeck FR et al. Use of advanced treatment technologies among men at low risk of dying from prostate cancer. *JAMA*. 2013 Jun 26;309(24):2587-95.
- Bill-Axelson A, Holmberg L, Garmo H et al. Radical prostatectomy or watchful waiting in early prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(10):932-942.
- Wilt TJ, Macdonald R, Rutks I et al. Systematic review: comparative effectiveness and harms of treatments for clinically localized prostate cancer. Ann Intern Med. 2008 Mar 18;148(6):435-48.
- 20. Wennberg JE, Cooper MM, et al. *The Quality of Medical Care in the United States: A Report on the Medicare Program. The Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care 1999.* Chicago, IL: Health Forum, American Hospital Association, 1999.
- 21. Keating NL, Landrum MB, Lamont EB et al. Area-level variations in cancer care and outcomes. *Medical Care.* 2012;50(5):366-73.
- 22. Nambudiri VE, Landrum MB, Lamont EB et al. Understanding variation in primary prostate cancer treatment within the Veterans Health Administration. *Urology*. 2012;79:537-45.
- 23. Gandaglia G1, Sammon JD, Chang SL, Choueiri TK, Hu JC, Karakiewicz PI, Kibel AS, Kim SP, Konijeti R, Montorsi F, Nguyen PL, Sukumar S, Menon M, Sun M, Trinh QD. Comparative effectiveness of robot-assisted and open radical prostatectomy in the postdissemination era. J Clin Oncol. 2014 May 10;32(14):1419-26.
- 24. Gandaglia G, Abdollah F, Hu J, Kim S, Briganti A, Sammon JD, Becker A, Roghmann F, Graefen M, Montorsi F, Perrotte P, Karakiewicz PI, Trinh QD, Sun M. Is robot-assisted radical prostatectomy safe in men with high-risk prostate cancer? Assessment of perioperative outcomes, positive surgical margins, and use of additional cancer treatments. *J Endourol.* 2014 Jul;28(7):784-91.
- 25. Lu-Yao GL, Albertsen PC, Moore DF, Shih W, Lin Y, DiPaola RS, Yao SL. Fifteen-year survival outcomes following primary androgen-deprivation therapy for localized prostate cancer. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2014 Sep 1;174(9):1460-7.
- 26. Shahinian VB, Kuo YF, Freeman JL, Goodwin JS. Determinants of androgen deprivation therapy use for prostate cancer: role of the urologist. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2006 Jun 21;98(12):839-45.
- Shahinian VB, Kuo YF, Freeman JL, Orihuela E, Goodwin JS. Characteristics of urologists predict the use of androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2007 Dec 1;25(34):5359-65.
- 28. Sanda MG, Dunn RL, Michalski J, Sandler HM, Northouse L, Hembroff L, Lin X, Greenfield TK, Litwin MS, Saigal CS, Mahadevan A, Klein E, Kibel A, Pisters LL, Kuban D, Kaplan I, Wood D, Ciezki J, Shah N, Wei JT. Quality of life and satisfaction with outcome among prostate-cancer survivors. *N Engl J Med.* 2008 Mar 20;358(12):1250-61.
- 29. O'Connor AM, Llewellyn-Thomas HA, Flood AB. Modifying unwarranted variations in health care: shared decision making using patient decision aids. *Health Affairs.* 2004;Suppl Variation:VAR63-72.
- Schroeck FR, Kaufman SR, Jacobs BL, Skolarus TA, Hollingsworth JM, Shahinian VB, Hollenbeck BK. Regional variation in quality of prostate cancer care. *J Urol.* 2014 Apr;191(4):957-62.
- Begg CB, Riedel ER, Bach PB, Kattan MW, Schrag D, Warren JL, Scardino PT. Variations in morbidity after radical prostatectomy. *N Engl J Med.* 2002 Apr 11;346(15):1138-44.
- 32. Vickers AJ, Bianco FJ, Serio AM, Eastham JA, Schrag D, Klein EA, Reuther AM, Kattan MW, Pontes JE, Scardino PT. The surgical learning curve for prostate cancer control after radical prostatectomy. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2007 Aug 1;99(15):1171-7.
- Eastham JA. Do high-volume hospitals and surgeons provide better care in urologic oncology? Urol Oncol. 2009 Jul-Aug;27(4):417-21.
- 34. Savage CJ, Vickers AJ. Low annual caseloads of United States surgeons conducting radical prostatectomy. *J Urol.* 2009 Dec;182(6):2677-9.